# STATE OF NEW YORK PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

CASE 24-G-0248 - In the Matter of a Review of the Long-Term Gas System Plans of The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY, KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid, and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid.

ORDER REGARDING LONG-TERM NATURAL GAS PLAN AND REQUIRING FURTHER ACTIONS

Issued and Effective: September 18, 2025

## Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION
BACKGROUND4
DESCRIPTION OF LONG-TERM PLAN
Upstate Final LTP 10
Downstate Final LTP and Supplement 15
CONSULTANT REPORTS
PA Analysis of Upstate 31
PA Analysis of Downstate 37
NOTICE OF PROPOSED RULE MAKING 44
LEGAL AUTHORITY 45
DISCUSSION
Demand Forecast
Supply Forecast 52
1. Northeast Supply Enhancement Project 55
2. Greenpoint LNG Facility 83
Low Carbon Fuels 92
1. Renewable Natural Gas 92
2. Hydrogen 95
Peaking Services 97
Demand Response Programs 98
Energy Efficiency 99
Reliability Standards and Hydraulic Modeling 102
No Infrastructure Option and Non-Pipe Alternatives 105
Leak-Prone Pipe 109
Impacts on Low- and Moderate-Income Customers and
Disadvantaged Communities 111
Comparison of Alternatives 113
1. Benefit Cost Analysis 113
2. Estimated Bill Impacts and Net Present Value of Costs of Each Alternative
3. Emissions Impacts 119
Heat Pump Adoption/Pace of Electrification 124
Climate Leadership and Community Protection Act 126
Motion to Strike and Request for Additional Analysis 129
CONCLUSION
SCHEDULE OF PROCEEDING APPENDIX A
SUMMARY OF COMMENTS APPENDIX E

# STATE OF NEW YORK PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

At a session of the Public Service Commission held in the City of Albany on September 18, 2025

#### COMMISSIONERS PRESENT:

Rory M. Christian, Chair James S. Alesi David J. Valesky John B. Maggiore, dissenting Uchenna S. Bright Denise M. Sheehan Radina R. Valova

CASE 24-G-0248 - In the Matter of a Review of the Long-Term Gas System Plans of The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY, KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid, and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid.

ORDER REGARDING LONG-TERM NATURAL GAS PLAN AND REQUIRING FURTHER ACTIONS

(Issued and Effective September 18, 2025)

BY THE COMMISSION:

#### INTRODUCTION

In our Order Adopting the Gas System Planning Process, we required each gas local distribution company (LDC or utility) to file a long-term plan for its gas system for consideration through a stakeholder process. This Order addresses the long-term plan (LTP) filed in response to that order by Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY (KEDNY), KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid (KEDLI), and Niagara Mohawk

Case 20-G-0131, <u>Proceeding on Motion of the Commission in Regard to Gas Planning Procedures</u>, Order Adopting Gas System Planning Process (issued May 12, 2022) (Planning Order) (Gas Planning Proceeding).

Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid (NMPC) (collectively, National Grid or the Company). The Company engaged with Department of Public Service staff (Staff), a consultant, and stakeholders regarding the LTP through technical conferences and comments on the Company's initial LTP (Initial LTP), revised LTP (Revised LTP), final LTP (Final LTP), and an addendum that includes a supplemental report by National Grid (Supplement) and its appended study by Levitan & Associates, Inc. (LAI Study). The consultant, PA Consulting (PA), assisted Staff in reviewing the Company's three iterations of its LTP. PA provided an Initial Report, a Preliminary Report, and a Final Report regarding the Company's LTP filings and stakeholders' feedback. PA also filed a report concerning the Supplement (Report on the Supplement).

In addition to addressing the requirements of the Planning Order, National Grid's Long-Term Plan includes a chapter discussing the need for and potential decommissioning of the Greenpoint liquified natural gas (LNG) plant (Greenpoint). This reflects the agreement of the parties to the joint proposal the Commission adopted in the most recent rate order for KEDNY and KEDLI.<sup>2</sup> Further, as noted above, National Grid filed the Supplement in July 2025. The Supplement includes a discussion of a renewed proposal by Transcontinental Gas Pipeline Company, LLC (Transco) for the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project (NESE or NESE project), which would deliver an additional 400,000 dekatherms (dt) per day of firm transportation capacity to National Grid's Downstate service territory. In the Supplement, National Grid assessed the benefits and costs of NESE and

Cases 23-G-0225 et al., <u>KEDNY and KEDLI - Rates</u>, Order Approving Terms of Joint Proposal and Establishing Gas Rate Plans, with Minor Modification and Corrections (issued August 15, 2024) (2024 KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order), p. 76, Attachment 1 (Joint Proposal), pp. 27-29.

posited that NESE would cost effectively address significant reliability and resilience challenges facing the New York City and Long Island region.

As discussed below, the Commission finds that, although the Company's Final LTP and Supplement have many positive elements, several others could be improved.

Accordingly, by this Order, the Commission considers National Grid's Final LTP and Supplement, and directs the Company to take a number of further actions, including providing additional information in the coming months related to the Company's demand forecasting, providing updates on LPP mileage remaining, analyzing and "right-sizing' its supply stack, including the potential to decommission Greenpoint if the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project receives the necessary permits and is constructed, as well as providing customer bill impact updates.

These actions reflect the analysis performed by PA and Staff, as well as the significant stakeholder feedback. The actions directed in this Order constitute important steps in the process of maintaining safe and adequate service while decarbonizing National Grid's systems and toward achieving the greenhouse gas (GHG) emission reduction targets established in the Climate Leadership and Community Protection Act (CLCPA).

With regard to the Northeast Supply Enhancement
Project, as explained herein, the Commission has no formal role
in approving or permitting the construction of NESE. However,
in the context of the LTP, this Order considers the benefits and
costs of the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project and concludes
that the additional firm capacity and other aspects of the
Project would materially improve the reliability and resilience
of the Downstate gas system. We acknowledge there is a need for
the more reliable source of supply that NESE will provide if it
receives all required approvals and is constructed. Further,

the cost to the Company's customers associated with the Project, while arguably justified based on the reliability and resilience benefits it provides, would be significantly offset by several economic benefits, including the discontinuance of less reliable and more expensive supply alternatives. Finally, we note that the capacity provided by NESE would create an opportunity to further consider the potential for decommissioning the Greenpoint LNG plant and right-sizing National Grid's supply stack in the coming years.

#### BACKGROUND

In the Planning Order, the Commission adopted a long-term natural gas planning process to ensure that the State, customers, stakeholders, and other interested entities have the opportunity to understand and engage in the discussion regarding the future of natural gas service and infrastructure in the State. We explained that the intent of the gas system planning process is to "ensure that the Commission has the necessary information to consider the [LDCs] long-term plans and alternative solutions to ensure that New York's residents can continue to have safe, adequate, and reliable gas service as we transition to alternative energy sources to reduce GHG [greenhouse gas] emissions" and the process would be transparent with significant stakeholder participation.<sup>3</sup>

To effectuate this intent, the Planning Order required each of the State's major local delivery companies (LDCs) to file long-term gas system plans over a 20-year horizon, including annual and peak day load and any peak hour considerations, and to examine the impact of their plans on disadvantaged communities. The Commission also directed the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Planning Order, pp. 17-18.

LDCs to include adjustments to demand forecast scenarios that incorporate energy efficiency, electrification, demand response, non-pipes alternatives (NPAs), and other external impacts.<sup>4</sup> The Commission directed Staff to engage a consultant to work at the direction of Staff and to participate in stakeholder meetings, make requests of the LDCs and stakeholders participating in the long-term planning process, help evaluate the economic and environmental tradeoffs associated with different pathways, and work with the LDC to run a reasonable number of versions of the hydraulic modeling.<sup>5</sup> For this proceeding, Staff engaged PA.

The Commission has since opened separate dockets related to each of the major utilities' LTPs. This proceeding began with National Grid conducting an informational session on May 8, 2024, and the Company filed its Initial LTP on June 3, 2024. National Grid's long-term plan addressed the needs of all three of its operating companies, NMPC, KEDNY, and KEDLI.

NMPC's system can also be referred to as the "Upstate" system, and KEDNY and KEDLI's systems can be collectively considered the "Downstate" system.

Following National Grid's initial filing, this proceeding included multiple reports by PA and several rounds of comments and multiple technical conferences to ensure ample opportunity for stakeholder participation. PA filed its Initial Report on September 27, 2024, which was followed by stakeholder comments on the Initial LTP. National Grid filed its Revised LTP on October 23, 2024, followed by PA's Preliminary Findings Report on January 30, 2025. Stakeholders provided written comments on the Revised LTP on December 13, 2024, and submitted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Planning Order, p. 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Planning Order, pp. 26-27.

written comments on PA's Preliminary Findings Report on February 21, 2025.

Staff convened several technical conferences during the course of the proceeding, at which attendees discussed and attempted to reconcile differences among the Company and the stakeholders regarding the LTP and addressed other issues related to National Grid's long-term plan. National Grid filed its Final LTP on March 7, 2025. Written comments on the Company's Final LTP were received on April 3, 2025. Further, six virtual public statement hearings on the Final LTP were held. The public statement hearings were held at 1:00 pm and 6:00 pm on April 10, 2025, April 16, 2025, and April 17, 2025, respectively. PA submitted its Final Report on May 19, 2025.

On June 2, 2025, the Company filed a request to update its LTP to reflect Transco's May 29, 2025, petition to FERC requesting reissuance of a certificate of public convenience and necessity to construct and operate the NESE Project.<sup>6</sup> National Grid filed its Supplement on July 2, 2025. The Supplement to its Final LTP analyzes the impact NESE would have on the Downstate system, but "does not alter the content of the LTP itself or its recommendations." On July 18, 2025, several stakeholders<sup>8</sup> jointly filed a motion to strike National Grid's Supplement. PA filed its Report on the Supplement on August 6, 2025. Stakeholders provided comments addressing the Final LTP,

In the June 2, 2025, letter, National Grid requested that the Commission allow it to file a supplement to its Final LTP and that the Secretary issue a notice soliciting comments on the Final LTP after it filed the supplemental report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Supplement, pp. 5-6.

Environmental Defense Fund, Natural Resources Defense Council, New Yorkers for Clean Power, and Sierra Club.

PA's August 6, 2025, Report on National Grid's Supplement was itself a supplement to its May 19, 2025, Final Report.

Supplement, Final Report, and PA Report on the Supplement by September 5, 2025. Appendix A provides a summary and timing of the key events in this proceeding.

### DESCRIPTION OF LONG-TERM PLAN

According to National Grid, the Final LTP sets forth detailed analyses of the Company's "demand, supply, reliability infrastructure plans and alternatives" under three different planning scenarios. 10 The Supplement focuses on a discrete analysis of the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project's reliability impact and its overall costs and benefits. In the Final LTP, the Company provides an assessment of the potential bill impacts, benefit cost analysis (BCA) of the three scenarios and provided recommendations regarding policy and regulatory changes to achieve the CLCPA'S goals. The Company further states that the Final LTP "provides National Grid's recommended path forward to be at the heart of a clean, fair and affordable energy future." 11

National Grid evaluated three pathways that represent potential end states, referring to them as the Reference Case, Clean Energy Vision (CEV), and Accelerated Electrification (AE) scenarios. The Company makes clear that these scenarios are not supposed to be predictive of the future. The Company states that the Reference Case reflects the current trajectory, reflecting the existing legal and policy framework and would not achieve New York's climate goals or National Grid's goal of a "fossil free gas network by 2050." Further, National Grid states that the CEV represents its vision of the future and

<sup>10</sup> Final LTP, p. 1.

<sup>11</sup> Final LTP, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Final LTP, p. 16.

provides the best cost benefit ratio at the lowest consumer cost, while seeking to decarbonize the gas system. CEV is a hybrid approach that relies on a combination of electrification, energy efficiency, and low carbon fuels (LCFs). Also, the Company states that the AE scenario incorporates higher levels of electrification, but lower levels of LCFs than the CEV. The AE scenario is modeled on the Climate Action Council's (CAC) Scenario 3 from their integration Analysis. The Company states that the AE scenario contains a lower cost benefit ratio and a higher cost than the CEV.

National Grid's Final LTP anticipated a slowdown of the recent economic growth trend in its Downstate service territories. 13 The Company's preliminary analysis of the 2025 Gas Load Forecast showed lower demand than in its original analysis, indicating that a slowdown has occurred. However, the Company explains that it has received inquiries from large commercial and industrial customers who are interested in potentially seeking gas service. National Grid states that proposals from potential commercial and industrial customers would increase daily demand by approximately 16,000 dt/day. 14 The Company's Reference Case forecasts that its number of meters in KEDNY and KEDLI's service territories will grow from 1.910 million to 2.035 million. National Grid also forecasts an increase in annual retail volumes for the Downstate service territories, from 295 million Dt in 2023 to 380 million Dt in 2050.15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Final LTP, p. 37.

Supplement, p. 14. The value here represents a daily load value whereas National Grid had provided an hourly load value in its Supplement.

<sup>15</sup> Final LTP, p.43.

For its Upstate service territory, National Grid anticipates stronger economic growth, based in part on the semiconductor and nanotech industries. In the Reference Case, National Grid's historical meter count rose from 578,682 meters at the end of 2008 to 638,814 meters at the end of 2023, growing at a rate of 4,009 meters, or 0.66 percent, per year. National Grid forecasts the meter count to rise from 638,814 meters at the end of 2023 to 712,042 meters at the end of 2050, growing at a lower rate of 2,712 meters, or 0.40 percent, per year.

National Grid states that in New York City, 44 percent of census tracts and 59 percent of households are either in a disadvantaged community or low-income. Further, on Long Island, 14 percent of census tracts and 26 percent of households are either in a disadvantaged community or low-income. In its Upstate service territory, 35 percent of the census tracts and 47 percent of households in Central New York are either located in a disadvantaged community or are low income. KEDLI serves approximately 100,000 customers located within disadvantaged communities, while KEDNY and NMPC each serve approximately 400,000 customers located in disadvantaged communities. 16

National Grid states that its draft Equity and
Environmental Justice Stakeholder Engagement Framework indicates
its commitment to work together with stakeholders on New York's
clean energy transition. Furthermore, as part of the
Commission's rate plans for National Grid's Upstate and
Downstate service territories, National Grid must file an annual
Disadvantaged Communities Report including data regarding its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Final LTP, p. 7.

energy efficiency spending, demand response, and workforce development efforts in disadvantaged communities. 17

Regarding bill impacts, the Company produced analysis of the average overall monthly bill increases averaged over the three service territories for the three scenarios. The Reference Case features an increase from \$136 in 2023 to \$302 in 2050, whereas bills increase to \$442 in the CEV scenario and \$4,691 in the AE scenario over the same time period. The Company also estimated slightly lower increases in the delivery bill of \$257, \$368, and \$4,460 for the three scenarios. The AE scenario features larger reductions in customer numbers, according to the Company, leading to its cost of service being spread over fewer customers.

For both Upstate and Downstate, the Company states that it believes:

the balanced approach of the CEV is the 'preferred' scenario, while recognizing the policies necessary to put this into practice are not currently in place. Our analysis finds that overall benefits and costs are essentially the same for either the CEV or the AE scenario. However, a balanced approach like the CEV significantly mitigates the cost and equity risks of the transition for remaining gas customers compared to a high electrification approach like the AE scenario. 19

#### Upstate Final LTP

The majority of gas supplies for the NMPC service territory are delivered by Eastern Gas Transmission & Storage

<sup>2024</sup> KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order, Attachment 1 (Joint Proposal), pp. 46-51; Cases 24-E-0322 and 24-G-0323, NMPC - Electric and Gas Rates, Order Adopting Terms of Joint Proposal and Establishing Rate Plans (issued August 14, 2025) (2025 NMPC Rate Order), Appendix A (Joint Proposal), pp. 122-123.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Final LTP, p. 147.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Final LTP, p. 187.

(Eastern) and interconnects with Empire Pipeline (Empire),
Iroquois Gas Transmission System (Iroquois), and the Tennessee
Gas Pipeline (Tennessee). The Company has one compressed
natural gas (CNG) facility located in Moreau, NY. The Upstate
NY gas system is divided into an eastern division, often
referred to as the East Gate, serving the Albany, Troy, and
Schenectady areas, and a central division, often referred to as
the West Gate, serving the Syracuse, Watertown, and Utica areas.

NMPC has a number of firm non-core customers for whom it ensures sufficient facilities exist on its distribution system to provide reliable service, but for whom it does not acquire gas capacity or supplies. Also, NMPC has about 2,300 customers enrolled in its Energy Affordability Program and estimates that 37 percent of its customers are considered low-to moderate-income.<sup>20</sup> NMPC states its service territory is located in an area where incremental sources of gas are not readily available.

National Grid models its Upstate gas supply and distribution requirements based upon a Design Day average temperature of -10°F at Albany and Syracuse airports (i.e., 75 Heating Degree Days). The Company states that it creates econometric forecasts for the meter counts and average use-percustomer of different customer rate groups within the East Gate and West Gate regions of the Upstate service territory and adjusts those forecasts for funded demand-side management (DSM) savings, enacted local laws and legislation, and market saturation limits. National Grid states that following "a few tough years" in the aftermath of the pandemic, the Upstate New York economy is making solid gains again and growth in the semiconductor and nanotechnology industries will add jobs and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Final LTP, pp. 11-12.

revitalize local manufacturing.<sup>21</sup> National Grid asserts that there is more demand for housing Upstate than the supply of available units and that commodity price forecasts indicate that natural gas will maintain a cost advantage over other energy sources.<sup>22</sup>

At the time the Company created the demand forecast, it assumed that annual energy efficiency savings will continue to grow slightly through 2040 and annual incremental energy efficiency will occur at a slower rate later in its forecast because there are not presently approved energy efficiency programs or goals after 2030.23 NMPC states that the Reference Case models three kinds of heat pump installations: full electrification, full electrification of space heating, and partial electrification of space heating. The Reference Case also assumes the addition of about 2,700 meters per year Upstate, with retail demand growing about 0.45 percent per year. 24 The Company estimates that wholesale demand will grow about 0.9 percent per year. The CEV forecasts an average decrease of 8,624 meters per year or a 1.67 percent annual decrease predicated on the assumption that some gas customers will fully electrify or switch to pure hydrogen usage, and the AE forecasts an average decrease of 22,370 meters per year or a 10.21 percent annual decrease. NMPC projects that retail demand will decrease under the CEV by 2.4 percent per year through 2050 and by just over nine percent per year under the AE scenario.

NMPC states that Upstate NY had declining demand entering the 2013-14 winter season due to lingering impacts from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Final LTP, p. 38.

<sup>22</sup> Final LTP, p. 38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Final LTP, p. 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Final LTP, pp. 44-45.

the 2008 financial crisis. However, the East Gate, largely served by Eastern, had design hour constraints that have since been addressed by the ETS2 CNG facility and ensuring that large customers demonstrate access to firm capacity on very cold days. Since then, Upstate NY Design Day and design hour requirements have increased. The Company states that NMPC has many firm noncore customers and there continues to be a supply demand imbalance, which could be exacerbated by expanding the SC-8 D1 service, 25 considered a stand-by service for large industrial customers.

NMPC states that it is pursuing support for development of renewable natural gas (RNG) interconnections in the service territory totaling about 2,200 Dt/day and is interested in hydrogen supply demonstration projects. 26 NMPC has a CNG facility in Moreau through which BNOC can inject up to 2,200 Dt/hour for four hours, twice per day. NMPC plans to construct a second CNG site, located near Troy and referred to as Energy Transfer Site Number 2 (ETS2), with the same 2,200 Dt/hr decompression capability. ETS2 is needed to meet Design Day demand in the 2027/28 winter but is currently scheduled to be operational for winter 2026/27.

NMPC states that a supply-demand gap of 0.06 MDt/day is expected in Upstate NY in 2030/31 because of growing demand in the East Gate region without additional infrastructure investments, which reaches 83.4 MDt/day in winter 2049/50. The Company states that this gap reflects the expiration of 20,000

Final LTP, p. 60. Service Classification 8 is named "Gas Sales and Transportation Service with Standby Sales Service" and applies to eligible customers consuming at least 100,000 Dt annually. A D1 election in this service classification is the maximum daily quantity of standby sales gas that a customer may use.

 $<sup>^{26}</sup>$  Final LTP, pp. 62 and 75.

Dt/day of city gate peaking capacity after winter 2026/27 but otherwise assumes that all other contracts in the portfolio will be maintained or renewed. Also, the Company contends that it may need a moratorium on new or expanded gas service, without continued investment in the gas network, to ensure safe and reliable service to existing gas customers. However, supplydemand gaps do not appear under the CEV and AE scenarios. adds that additional capacity is available on the Empire Pipeline but that does not help with constraints at East Gate. Additional capacity may be available on Tennessee in the future to benefit the East Gate but National Grid would require additional infrastructure on NMPC's system to facilitate the transportation of this supply from the city gate. NMPC proposes to conduct an East Gate Reliability Assessment to determine how to alleviate the need for additional supply.<sup>27</sup> NMPC identifies a number of vulnerable locations in both the East and West Gate regions and states it is evaluating options to address incremental gas demand. 28 The 2025 NMPC Rate Order permits the Company to defer up to \$7.7 million of costs associated with the assessment if the Commission directs the Company to perform it in another proceeding, including but not limited to the gas planning proceeding or this proceeding.29

In addition to the energy efficiency program offerings National Grid provides, which are subject to Commission oversight in the energy efficiency and building electrification

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Final LTP, p. 81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Final LTP, p. 86.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> 2025 NMPC Rate Order, p. 58.

proceedings, 30 National Grid also offers firm customer demand response programs, including load shedding and load shifting programs for large non-residential customers and behavioral demand response and bring-your-own-thermostat programs for residential customers. The Company states that it pursues three types of NPAs, including new connection, leak prone pipe, and reliability and reinforcement. NMPC has also proposed two pilot utility thermal energy network (UTEN) projects, located in Syracuse and Troy, that are under review in Case 22-M-0429.31

The Company calculated BCA ratios for the Upstate service territory of 0.69 for the Reference Case, 0.70 for the CEV, and 0.76 for the AE.<sup>32</sup> NMPC also estimated emissions reductions for the three scenarios at 64 million metric tons CO2e for the Reference Case, 339 million metric tons for the CEV, and 370 million for the AE.

### Downstate Final LTP and Supplement

The Company's Downstate system receives supply at different city gates for the KEDNY and KEDLI service territories. KEDNY receives supply from the Tetco-Goethals, Transco-Narrows and Transco-Rockaway city gates, while KEDLI receives supply from the Transco-Long Beach and Iroquois-South Commack city gates. Additionally, the Company has a contract to

Case 18-M-0084, <u>In the Matter of a Comprehensive Energy</u> Efficiency Initiative; Case 25-M-0248, <u>In the Matter of the 2026-2030 Non-Low- to Moderate-Income Energy Efficiency and Building Electrification Portfolios</u>; and Case 25-M-0249, <u>In the Matter of the 2026-2030 Low- to Moderate-Income Energy Efficiency and Building Electrification Portfolio</u>.

Case 22-M-0429, Proceeding on Motion of the Commission to Implement the Requirements of the Utility Thermal Energy Network and Jobs Act, Syracuse UTEN Pilot Stage 2 Filing - Final (filed July 9, 2025) and Troy UTEN Pilot Stage 2 Filing and Appendices (filed July 10, 2025).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Final LTP, p. 156.

receive supply from the White Plains gate station operated by Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. (Con Edison). The Company has two LNG plants on its Downstate system, at Greenpoint and Holtsville, which together can provide up to 394,500 Dt/day. Also, National Grid has five CNG injection sites on its Downstate system. The CNG injection sites are located on Long Island at Glenwood, Inwood, Barrett, Farmingdale, and Riverhead.<sup>33</sup>

KEDNY and KEDLI interconnect with infrastructure jointly owned and operated with Con Edison called the New York Facilities System (NYFS) pursuant to the New York Facilities Agreement. The NYFS enables Con Edison and KEDNY/KEDLI to exchange a limited amount of supply from various pipelines. While the NYFS allows for supply to flow between both Con Edison and KEDNY/KEDLI, on a design day KEDNY/KEDLI are net takers and depend on Con Edison to transfer supply.<sup>34</sup>

The Company states that its Downstate energy efficiency programs have annual energy savings of approximately 13.6 million Dt. 35 These savings result from Company program offerings targeting different customer segments including, commercial and industrial, multifamily, and residential.

National Grid also provides incentives for weatherization to both residential and non-residential customers. The Company focuses on its low-to-moderate incomes customers by setting aside 20 percent of its energy efficiency funding for incomeeligible customers. Further, National Grid established a statewide multi-family program called the Affordable Multifamily Energy Efficiency Program (AMEEP). AMEEP focuses on encouraging

 $<sup>^{33}</sup>$  Final LTP, p. 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> PA Final Report, p. 53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Final LTP, p. 91.

customers to pursue comprehensive upgrades. As National Grid does not provide electric service in its Downstate service territories, the Company does not offer a heat pump program in those areas. However, it supports the electrification efforts of the local electric utilities - primarily Con Edison and the Long Island Power Authority/PSEG LI - by providing heat pump information to customers who request a new or upgraded gas connection.<sup>36</sup>

National Grid offers four firm demand response programs in its Downstate service territories, including a load shedding program, a load shifting program, a bring your own thermostat program that utilizes Wi-Fi connected thermostats to remotely lower the customer's temperature, and a behavioral demand response program. Additionally, the Company offers a non-firm demand response program to commercial and industrial customers. In the Downstate service territories National Grid initiates demand response events based on certain temperature thresholds. Across its KEDNY and KEDLI service territories, National Grid has over 2,000 non-firm demand response customers and their cumulative demand reduction can lower design day usage by approximately 140,000 dt/day.<sup>37</sup>

The Company's Final LTP indicated that the Downstate economy would see a decline in growth expectations, dipping to 1.3 percent growth in 2025. National Grid cited rising interest rates as one of the key factors impacting economic and job growth. National Grid also stated that Long Island's medical services sector would provide a positive impact on the economy. Under the Downstate Reference Case, National Grid forecasted meter counts increasing from 1.910 million meters in 2023 to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Final LTP, p. 96.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Final LTP, p. 104.

2.035 million meters in 2050. This represents a growth of 4,656 meters, or 0.24 percent, per year.<sup>38</sup> The Company's Reference Case showed a similar increase for retail volumes. Forecasted retail volumes increase from 295 million Dt in 2023 to 380 million Dt in 2050. This represents a growth of 3.15 million Dt per year or 0.94 percent each year.<sup>39</sup> Further, the Reference Case forecasts wholesale Design Day volumes of 1,094 MDt/day by 2050.

The CEV Scenario projects a meter count of 1.518 million customers in 2050. This represents a decrease of 14,507 meters each year or a 0.85 percent decrease each year from the Reference Case. Additionally, the Company's CEV scenario projects that the retail volumes will be 119 million Dt in 2050. This equates to a decrease of 6,530 Dt each year or a decline of 3.31 percent each year from the Reference Case. National Grid forecasts its wholesale Design Day volumes for the CEV Scenario to be 515 MDt/day by 2050, which is a decrease of 16.8 MDt/day each year or a 2.34 percent annual decrease.<sup>40</sup>

National Grid's DSNY AE Scenario projects a meter count of 98,448 meters in 2050. This represents a decrease of 67,085 meters each year which equals a 10.40 percent decrease each year. Also, the Company's DSNY AE Scenario projects that retail volumes will be 8.52 million Dt in 2050. This represents a decline of 10.61 million Dt each year or a decrease of 12.30 percent each year. Also, and a Scenario will be 77.3 MDt/day by 2050. This represents a decrease of 33.6 MDt/day each year or an annual decrease of 9.20 percent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Final LTP, p. 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Final LTP, p. 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Final LTP, p. 50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Final LTP, p. 47.

National Grid also provided its DSNY forecasted wholesale Design Day volumes for the Reference Case, CEV and AE scenarios. The Reference Case forecasted Design Day volume is 3,551 MDt/day by 2050. Under the CEV Scenario this decreases to 1,880 MDt/day by 2050, which equals a decrease of 37.1 MDt/day for each year or a 1.58 annual decrease. For the AE Scenario National Grid projects wholesale Design Day volumes to decrease to 143 MDt/day by 2050. This equals a decrease of 103.9 MDt/day each year or an annual decrease of 10.86 percent.<sup>42</sup>

Regarding its Greenpoint LNG facility, National Grid stated that the facility is needed to ensure the reliability of the Downstate gas system. Greenpoint contains two LNG storage tanks that help to meet periods of peak demand. Natural gas is liquified during off-peak periods and stored in the storage tanks. National Grid can then vaporize this LNG during periods of peak demand and inject it into the gas system. The Greenpoint storage tanks have a capacity of 1.6 billion cubic feet (equivalent to 1.6 million Dt). National Grid states that Greenpoint can supply up to 291,000 Dt/day.<sup>43</sup>

The Company states that the Greenpoint facility provides the ability to fill a short-term (i.e., a few days or less) supply gap in the event of interruptions at upstream pipelines. Greenpoint is capable of providing natural gas to 291,000 customers on a Design Day. Additionally, National Grid contends that the absence of Greenpoint and its supply could impact its ability to meet its Design Day demand. The Company argues that the inability to meet its Design Day demand would lead to customer curtailments (i.e., customer service gas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Final LTP, p. 48.

 $<sup>^{43}</sup>$  Final LTP, p. 118.

outages), and it would take a significant amount of time for National Grid to restore service to customers. $^{44}$ 

National Grid's Supplement includes the Company's analysis concerning the projected impact of Transco's May 29, 2025, petition to FERC to revive its application for the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project. 45 On August 28, 2025 FERC approved Transco's petition and reissued the certificate of public convenience and necessity for NESE. 46 National Grid requested that the Commission: 1) recognize the changed circumstances that are explained in its Supplement; 2) take notice of the Supplement's findings and conclusions; 3) confirm that the Supplement complies with the Commission's directives in the Planning Order and comprises a component of the Company's LTP; and 4) confirm that it is reasonable for National Grid to secure rights in the NESE project. 47

National Grid contends that NESE will benefit its
Downstate service territory by improving reliability and
relieving supply constraints. The Company states that NESE
would provide up to 400,000 Dt/day of firm supply to be
delivered to the Rockaway Transfer Point, then into Transco's
Rockaway Delivery Lateral where Transco interconnects with
National Grid's gas distribution system at Floyd Bennett Field.
In preparing the Supplement, National Grid considered reports
from the Northeast Power Coordinating Council and from the New

<sup>44</sup> Final LTP, p. 120.

FERC Docket No. CP17-101-007 et al., Northeast Supply Enhancement Project, Petition of Transcontinental Gas Pipeline Company, LLC for Expedited Reissuance of Certificate of Authority (filed May 29, 2025).

FERC Docket No. CP17-101-007 et al., Northeast Supply Enhancement Project, Order Issuing Certificate, (issued August 28, 2025).

<sup>47</sup> National Grid Letter (filed July 2, 2025).

York Independent System Operator (NYISO) regarding current and future electric sector reliability risks. Further, the Company considered known delays in offshore wind development and increased demand for electricity from multiple initiatives, which increase the need for gas-fired electric generation that provides electricity to residential and commercial customers.<sup>48</sup>

National Grid explains that the Downstate gas distribution system faces reliability challenges in the absence of additional supply. The Company states that the "gas network operates without a contingency margin, with no excess capacity reserved for emergencies like unexpected demand spikes or supply disruptions." National Grid describes its current reliance on CNG as a temporary solution that is not scalable beyond current operations. High-demand conditions can require up to 240 CNG truck deliveries per day during adverse weather conditions. The Company observes that this may require CNG trucks to traverse "ice- and snow-covered roads, an approach that is logistically complex, weather dependent, and inherently risk-intensive." 50

National Grid explains that Winter Storm Elliot, in December 2022, nearly led to disruptions in the Downstate gas system. The Company referenced comments by the CEO of the North American Electric Reliability Corporation who stated that warming weather on Christmas Day likely prevented disruptions in natural gas service in New York City. Service disruptions would have left customers without natural gas for an extended period of time because National Grid would have had to visit

<sup>48</sup> Supplement, p. 7.

<sup>49</sup> Supplement, p. 8.

<sup>50</sup> Supplement, p. 8.

<sup>51</sup> Supplement, p. 8.

each service location to manually restart gas service to ensure safety.  $^{52}$ 

Beyond addressing reliability concerns, the Company explains that NESE's additional supply will support New York's economic growth. National Grid references a study by the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis that states that New York's economy is growing faster than any state in the Northeast, notwithstanding the reduced demand forecast in the Supplement. This growth is driven by investments in energy-intensive sectors such as artificial intelligence, cloud datacenters, and advanced manufacturing.<sup>53</sup>

National Grid states that while the Iroquois ExC Project is expected to provide critical deliverability and reliability to the eastern end of KEDLI's service territory, NESE offers similar benefits to the western end of the system. National Grid offers the following benefits of the NESE project with the potential to generate net societal benefits of approximately \$4 billion or more between 2028 and 2043:54

- 1. NESE would increase the resilience and reliability of Transco's critical gas transmission system by adding compression and pipeline loops.
- 2. NESE would reduce the risk of supply shortfalls during peak demand by increasing firm supply by about 13

Supplement, p. 8. The submission referenced a report and analysis published by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and the North American Electric Reliability Corporation concerning Winter Storm Elliott (in December 2022) as well as reports on the loss of gas service and system recovery efforts on Aquidneck Island in Rhode Island (in January 2019). See, e.g., Supplement, pp. 8 and 19-20, nn. 24-27, 74-75, 79-82.

U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, (March 28, 2025). Gross Domestic Product by State and Personal Income by State, 4th Quarter 2024 and Preliminary 2024. https://www.bea.gov/sites/default/files/2025-03/stgdppi4q24-a2024.pdf

<sup>54</sup> Supplement, pp. 9-11.

- percent relative to current Downstate New York contracted capacity while reducing reliance on trucked gas.
- 3. NESE would enable additional gas supplies to be made available to generators during periods when firm gas customers do not require them, which would enhance fuel security and support electric system reliability.
- 4. NESE would help lower electricity bills for New Yorkers by as much as \$6\$ billion with \$2.75\$ billion in savings flowing directly to Downstate residents (Zones J-K).
- 5. NESE would also allow National Grid to avoid procuring supplies for three of its CNG sites, avoiding approximately \$48.3 million in annual gas supply costs.
- 6. NESE's project construction would support 3,186 direct and indirect job-years in the tri-state area and generate approximately \$22.7 million in state and local tax revenue and an estimated contribution of \$23.7 million to New York State's GDP.
- 7. NESE could reduce GHG emissions by approximately 13,000 tons from 2025-2042, the equivalent of taking 2,811 internal combustion cars off the road for a year, by enabling conversions from higher-emitting fuels like residual and distillate heating oil, and by reducing diesel fuel consumed by CNG delivery trucks, as well as reductions in air pollution.

As NESE is owned by Transco, not National Grid, its costs would not be recovered through National Grid's delivery rates. However, Transco would charge National Grid a demand charge for NESE, which would be part of the gas costs National Grid recovers from customers on the commodity portion of their bills. Additionally, National Grid has identified two capital projects it states it would need to construct to make full use of the capacity and supply provided by NESE. National Grid states that it would seek to include the costs of those two projects in its rate base, which would be recovered through delivery rates, if the Commission authorizes cost recovery in a future rate case. Although National Grid states NESE is expected to increase total bills for gas customers, it expects

NESE will result in cost savings for electric customers.

National Grid states that NESE will result in the average

National Grid residential gas customer's total bill increasing

by about 3.5 percent, or about \$7.50 per month. However,

National Grid states that NESE will provide significant

wholesale electric cost savings, which will benefit all New York

electric customers.<sup>55</sup> The Company goes on to explain that these

savings will benefit electric customers who are also National

Grid gas customers.

The Company also states that NESE does not alter National Grid's long-term plan for a cleaner energy future. It adds that NESE does not change the recommendations of the Company's Final LTP or its commitment to energy efficiency and non-pipe alternatives but rather addresses immediate reliability risks while aligning with long-term decarbonization goals. Further, National Grid explains that the NESE project complements its CEV scenario. The Company states that NESE will not "hinder progress toward CLCPA targets" and it "supports emissions reductions and air quality improvements by facilitating fuel-switching and avoiding the use of diesel trucks for CNG supply."56

National Grid states that its design day forecasts exclude gas used for electricity generation because most generators take interruptible service from National Grid, and these generators are capable of switching to alternate fuels, mainly distillate fuel or residual oil which have higher full fuel-cycle emissions using the fuel-cycle CO2e emission factors published by NYSERDA.<sup>57</sup> National Grid adds that a preliminary

<sup>55</sup> Final LTP, p. 11.

<sup>56</sup> Supplement, p. 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> LAI Report, p. 37.

analysis of its 2025 demand forecast suggests a slower rate of demand growth compared to its earlier forecasting, which may delay any supply gap until the winter of 2041/42. National Grid states that two major drivers for the change in the preliminary 2025 forecast are assumptions of lower regional economic growth rates and the impact of declining oil prices on fuel-switching behavior. Further, the Company adds that the most recent baseline demand scenario continues to show growth in design day demand, with a compound annual growth rate of 0.55 percent between 2025 and 2035 and 0.35 percent between 2025 and 2050.58

In spite of the lower demand forecast, National Grid states that it continues to receive inquiries from large commercial and industrial customers seeking new gas service for potential economic development initiatives. These proposals would increase demand by a total of approximately 700 Dt per hour, which is equivalent to 16,800 Dt/day. Also, National Grid is aware of more projects under consideration, with over a dozen other large-scale project developers looking for significant quantities of natural gas to support various applications. These projects include data centers, advanced manufacturing, civil infrastructure, transportation hubs, biomedical research facilities, hotels, casinos, convention centers, shopping malls, and large residential complexes.

National Grid explains that limitations affecting the natural gas system can also negatively impact the electric system. Natural gas powers several electric generation units, which means that negative impacts on gas supply into Downstate New York can threaten the reliability of the electric grid. 60

<sup>58</sup> Supplement, p. 13.

<sup>59</sup> Supplement, p. 14.

<sup>60</sup> Supplement, p. 20.

Further, National Grid points out that the NYISO projects winter electric demand will grow by between 6,700 MW and 14,000 MW by 2040, primarily due to building electrification initiatives and trends. $^{61}$ 

National Grid also explains that gas-fired electric generation plays a role in supporting the promulgation of renewable generation in New York. The NYISO expects the capability of gas-fired units to be dispatched to compensate for the variability of wind and solar to become even more critical as the share of intermittent renewables grows. 62 National Grid states that, in New York, electric market prices are strongly influenced by daily city gate spot gas prices, particularly during winter months, when solar output is reduced and natural gas units often set the marginal price. National Grid adds that the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project will reduce the need for generators to switch to oil and interrupting other non-firm gas customers. 63

As an appendix to its Supplement, National Grid provided the LAI Study, which quantifies benefits to electric customers. The LAI Study projects that NESE's delivery of 400,000 Dt/day would result in nominal average wholesale energy market cost savings for New York retail electric customers of approximately \$670 million per year from 2028 through 2042, with

<sup>61</sup> New York Independent System Operator, (2025, April), 2025 Load & Capacity Data Report: Lower Demand Scenario Tables I-3B-L. Retrieved from

https://www.nyiso.com/documents/20142/51231901/2025-Gold-Book-LowerDemand-Scenario-Tables.xlsx/32aa010a-b43f-f5b4-fde7-789f7b79a689 and 2025 Power Trends, The New York ISO Annual Grid and Markets Report (2025 Power Trends Report), p. 10.

<sup>62</sup> Supplement, p. 21.

<sup>63</sup> Supplement, p. 30.

45 percent of those benefits expected to accrue to electric customers in New York City and Long Island.

National Grid adds that, in addition to increasing total supply, the proposed Northeast Supply Enhancement Project would provide critical reliability benefits, including improved redundancy through a second delivery path between New Jersey and the Transco Rockaway Delivery Lateral, pressure support, and operational optionality by allowing for tank maintenance at Holtsville and extended pipeline maintenance windows. Each pipeline segment would be capable of transporting more than half of the total daily volume, reducing exposure to single-point failures along the Lower New York Bay Lateral. The NESE Project includes looping of existing pipeline, which adds a second path acting as a reinforcement, and providing additional compression, with no greenfield construction in New York State. The Company estimates avoided gas supply costs associated with CNG of approximately \$48.3 million per year, and the LAI Study notes there would be an additional \$1.7 million in operating savings per CNG site. 64 National Grid states that it will release capacity and/or engage in off-system sales transactions when possible and this will result in most revenues being returned to customers.65

The Company contends that NESE will provide both cost and reliability benefits to customers. National Grid projects that wholesale electric cost benefits and savings from avoided CNG will outweigh what customers will pay for the project. The Company forecasts that NESE will generate net benefits of between \$4 billion and \$4.5 billion and a benefit-cost ratio between 2.5 and 3. Also, National Grid states that NESE would

<sup>64</sup> Supplement, LAI Study, p. 50.

<sup>65</sup> Supplement, p. 31.

have improved system reliability if it had been in service during Winter Storm Elliott because the additional miles of pipeline and line pack would have improved pressure stability. 66 In addition, National Grid states that NESE will assist the Company's efforts to conduct maintenance at the Greenpoint LNG facility.

National Grid states that NESE will require National Grid to make two gas distribution infrastructure capital upgrades to ensure that it can deliver the full complement of incremental gas supply to customers. Specifically, National Grid identifies the Marine Park regulator station and additional flow control at the Lake Success metering facility infrastructure projects. 67 According to National Grid, the Marine Park regulator station will allow National Grid to increase the operating pressure on the Brooklyn Queens Interconnect so it may accept the additional supply from NESE. National Grid states that the upgrade to provide additional flow control at the Lake Success Metering facility will enable transportation of the additional NESE supply and ensure compliance with the New York Facilities Agreement flow limitations. National Grid projects the aggregate cost for both projects to be between \$50 and \$55 million and would propose them for consideration in a future rate case. 68

Regarding compliance with the CLCPA, National Grid states that the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project helps to facilitate progress towards New York's emissions reduction targets. According to National Grid, NESE's cost would not meaningfully affect the benefit-cost ratio of either the AE or

<sup>66</sup> Supplement, p. 30.

<sup>67</sup> Supplement, p. 36.

<sup>68</sup> Supplement, pp. 36-37.

CEV scenario, and the project would likely lower the net societal costs to achieve emission reduction goals.<sup>69</sup>

### CONSULTANT REPORTS

After the Company filed its Initial LTP on June 3, 2024, PA filed an initial report on September 27, 2024. The Company's Revised LTP, filed on October 23, 2024, was followed by PA's Preliminary Findings Report on January 30, 2025, and PA's Final Report on May 19, 2025, followed the filing of the Company's Final LTP on March 7, 2025. PA submitted its Report concerning the Supplement on August 6, 2025, following National Grid's submission of its Supplement on July 2, 2025.

In the Initial Report, PA notes that National Grid stated it was unnecessary to select a preferred scenario. Instead, National Grid encouraged a recognition that the "barriers to scenarios are the same over 'false choices between affordability and emissions reductions, or electrification and alternative fuels.'" PA also committed itself to working with the Company, the Department and stakeholders to analyze the Company's scenarios and their impacts, as well as provide recommendations and opportunities for improvement.

In its Preliminary Findings Report, PA notes that the Company discusses potential supply-demand shortfalls for Upstate and Downstate but when the Company's CEV and AE cases' design day demand forecasts are applied, no shortfall exists at any point in the study period for Upstate or Downstate. The Further, PA stated that it was important for the Company to explain how different factors impact the supply shortfall for the Company's

<sup>69</sup> Supplement, p. 34.

<sup>70</sup> PA Initial Report, p. 12.

<sup>71</sup> PA Initial Report, p. 15.

Reference Case. 72 PA points to "slowing to negative population growth," legislation prohibiting certain fossil gas fueled equipment and building systems, and federal and state incentives for electrification as reasons that National Grid may have overstated its annual retail volumes and design day demand forecasts. 73 PA adds that it is important to select a preferred case because of the potential that the Reference Case could result in short term supply shortfalls that could lead to investments in resources that could ultimately become stranded or, in the alternative, a moratorium on new connections for some period of time.

PA's Final Report contained several findings and recommendations, and includes additional observations focused on its final analyses, conversations with the Company and stakeholders. Further, PA's Final Report includes an assessment of filed comments and review of the Company's Final LTP, and updates some of its recommendations to reflect the Final LTP.

Concerning disadvantaged communities, PA encourages the Company to develop targeted analyses to consider the similarities and differences between disadvantaged community customers and other customers. The analysis should also consider barriers that prevent disadvantaged community customers from decarbonization, best practices to support disadvantaged communities in the energy transition, existing information gaps, and the funding required to support them. Further, PA recommends the Company develop programs and solutions to help disadvantaged communities and mitigate bill impacts.<sup>74</sup>

<sup>72</sup> PA Initial Report, p. 19.

<sup>73</sup> PA Initial Report, p. 12.

<sup>74</sup> PA Final Report, p. 31.

PA's analysis of LCFs indicates that they are unlikely to comprise a significant portion of National Grid's supply portfolio. Also, any forecasting of LCF costs contains a high level of uncertainty. PA states that it is likely National Grid is underestimating RNG and hydrogen costs because of the uncertainty surrounding them. In order to reduce capital costs, PA recommends that National Grid deploy LCFs in a targeted manner aimed at hard-to-electrify customers and promote electrification and NPAs.<sup>75</sup>

PA has made specific recommendations that aim to boost the development and deployment of NPAs in National Grid's service territories. PA recommended that National Grid consider instituting minimum investment thresholds for NPAs, which would require an NPA assessment if a proposed capital project reaches a specific financial and timeline threshold. PA also recommends that National Grid develop an NPA solicitation guideline. Based on its analysis, PA contends National Grid does not envision the possibility of materially scaling NPAs to the point where the Company can avoid replacing substantial miles of Leak Prone Pipe (LPP). 77

### PA Analysis of Upstate

PA's analysis indicates that the potential for a supply-demand shortfall is influenced by a variety of factors. PA notes that the Company states it may experience a supply-demand shortfall in Upstate in the winter of 2030/31. PA's analysis of the Company's Reference Case for NMPC demonstrates that a possible supply/demand gap exists in either the winter of 2030/31 or 2040/41. The emergence of this gap depends on the

<sup>75</sup> PA Final Report, p. 148.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> PA Final Report, p. 148.

<sup>77</sup> PA Final Report, p. 137.

timing of the ETS2 CNG project and the addition of incremental capacity on the Empire pipeline. Further, PA's adjustments to the Company's Reference Case Design Day demand forecast demonstrate that a shortfall is possible in the winter of 2032/33 if only ETS2 is present. However, the additional incremental capacity from Empire may mitigate the shortfall.<sup>78</sup>

Due to the potential shortfall in the winter of 2030/31, PA suggests how National Grid should analyze and address that risk. PA states that the Company should identify the elements of its portfolio that may be at risk and how it can alleviate that risk, including capacity contract expiration dates.

PA's review identified uncertainty in the volumetric forecast. While the Company's projected immediate increase in volumes is not supported by PA's own analysis of customer counts and use per customer, PA explains that this could change due to expected economic expansion. Pa Global Foundries and Micron have published plans to expand operations, which could impact the demand for natural gas. Additionally, PA states that although sales volumes may increase in the short term, they could begin to decrease by 2035 and decrease more rapidly in the early 2040s. Finally, the 2050 level of annual demand, at 147,770 MDt, is just under two percent below PA's estimate of the weather normalized level in 2023.

PA states that its adjustment for the Company's Upstate Reference Case Design Day forecast results in six percent lower demand of 1,028 MDt/day in 2050, compared to the Company's forecast of 1,096 MDt/day. Similarly, for the CEV scenario, PA's adjustments to the Company's Design Day demand

<sup>78</sup> PA Final Report, p. 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> PA Final Report, p. 27.

forecast for 2050 is six percent lower at 435 MDt/day, compared to the Company's forecast of 464 MDt/day. 80 PA points to a number of factors that will influence future gas demand, including New York's energy policies, likely higher costs for RNG and hydrogen than projected by National Grid, and the combination of lower volumes and higher commodity costs contributing to rate and bill increases.

PA identified an inconsistency concerning projects regarding heat pump installation. The Company's Reference Case indicates that it projects the majority of heat pump installations will be partial-heat units, resulting in just 7.2 percent or roughly 7,100 meters being decommissioned by 2050.81 However, PA explains that this projection contrasts with National Grid's filings for its Upstate Clean Heat Program. those filings, made from January 2023 through September 2024, National Grid indicates that 11.8 percent of heat pump installations will lead to decommissioning by the end of 2024. This amounts to a decrease of over 500 residential customers. By comparison, National Grid's Reference Case forecast indicates that level of decommissioning will not occur until 2037. PA's projections show that over 72,000 customers will decommission gas service by 2050. Additionally, PA expects fewer fuel oil, coal, and wood space heating customers to convert to natural gas than National Grid. Likewise, PA expects similar effects on commercial customer demand with the growing impact of electrification.82

The Company proposed an East Gate Reliability
Assessment (EGRA) in Case 24-G-0323. Although the Company's

<sup>80</sup> PA Final Report, p. 28.

<sup>81</sup> PA Final Report, p. 102.

<sup>82</sup> PA Final Report, pp. 105-107.

Initial and Preliminary Long-Term Plans referenced its request for funding for the EGRA in the rate case, its Final LTP indicates it is seeking Commission authorization to conduct the EGRA in this proceeding. Additionally, PA states that the Joint Proposal in the rate case, which the Commission has since adopted, provides the opportunity for approval of the EGRA in another proceeding (including, but not limited to, this proceeding). As part of its analysis in this proceeding, PA has reviewed the Upstate supply situation. Based on its analysis, PA finds that there is sufficient supply until the winter of 2032/33 with the installation of the ETS2 facility.83

National Grid's East Gate is divided into two primary distribution systems and smaller systems. The eastern part of the East Gate system contains the Albany Loop pipeline, which serves significant customer demand in the Albany and Troy areas.84 Eastern and Tennessee provide gas to the Albany Loop. Further, the western portion of the East Gate system provides service from the Schenectady area, north towards Moreau. eastern and western transmission laterals within the East Gate are not connected by the Company's pipe, which precludes the Company from moving gas between these two distribution systems. While PA's design day demand forecast is lower than National Grid's for the East Gate, PA's analysis still supports the need for the ETS2 CNG facility and the associated timing.85 PA points out that that the Albany Loop receives gas from Tennessee and Eastern in the southern part of the system and delivers it north to the Albany local distribution system and around the loop to Troy. The ETS2 CNG facility located in Troy will reduce stress

<sup>83</sup> PA Final Report, p. 32.

<sup>84</sup> PA Final Report, p. 68.

<sup>85</sup> PA Final Report, p. 69.

on three of the Eastern citygates (Wolf Road, Normanskill, and Troy) while providing adequate pressure throughout the Albany Loop on a Design Day based on the hydraulic models provided to PA through the 2029/30 winter season.<sup>86</sup>

PA provided numerous recommendations to address discrete areas of National Grid's LTP in order to improve future updates. For the Company's Upstate service territory, PA recommends that the Company provide the specific impact, if any, of new non-residential customers on its use per customer, sales, and design day demand forecasts in its annual updates. Also, PA recommends that the Company include updated hydraulic models reflecting any incremental demand related to new nonresidential customers in the annual updates. To reduce capital expenses, PA recommends that National Grid develop a targeted deployment of LCFs for hard-to-electrify customers, which will also help to promote electrification and NPAs.

Concerning electrification, PA provided suggestions to help the Company increase the adoption of NPAs and customer electrification. PA suggested that the Company consider enacting minimum investment thresholds for NPAs by requiring an NPA assessment if a capital project exceeds a certain financial and timeline threshold. Also, PA recommends that the Company develop strategies to identify and overcome barriers to the deployment of electrification across the service territories. Further, PA recommends that the Company should rapidly scale its deployment of NPAs to minimize system cost and ensure that rates and bills stay manageable for all customers.<sup>87</sup>

PA provided some recommendations that will enable the Company to gain more insight concerning the issue of

<sup>86</sup> PA Final Report, p. 68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> PA Final Report, p. 33.

affordability. Regarding disadvantaged communities, PA recommends that National Grid estimate a forecast of customers in disadvantaged communities and determine the level of low-income assistance funding needed to support customers if rates increase as projected under the AE and CEV cases. Also, concerning space heating in residential and small commercial buildings, PA recommends that National Grid determine the price point where blending RNG or hydrogen becomes more expensive than heat pumps.<sup>88</sup>

Regarding the East Gate reliability issue, PA recommends that the Company include an update regarding East Gate reliability in its annual LTP update and the next long-term plan filing. This update should include the implication of load growth impacts on the East Gate and the hydraulic modeling results.<sup>89</sup>

PA highlights the risk of cross subsidization among customer classes due to the possibility that certain customer classes may have no customers left in the future to pay that rate class's revenue requirement. PA states this topic needs further evaluation given economic and fairness implications. PA believes there are mechanisms that can be utilized to lower the bill impacts for all customers, including those who choose to remain on the gas system, including targeted deployment of electrification and LCFs, avoidance of unnecessary investments, and accurate accounting for the potential reduction in gas demand. PA states that the Company needs to more fully incorporate the reduction in demand resulting from legislative

<sup>88</sup> PA Final Report, p. 34.

<sup>89</sup> PA Final Report, p. 34.

<sup>90</sup> PA Final Report, p. 132.

initiatives limiting fossil fuel use in certain applications and warmer winters over the forecast period.

PA suggests that BCA results can be improved by utilizing a collaborative process to refine the inputs. This collaborative process will enable stakeholders to provide input that may enhance the quality of the Company's assumptions that are utilized in its BCAs. PA states that in its BCA analysis, National Grid may not have fully accounted for some benefits or underestimated them or potentially overestimated some costs. 91 Therefore, PA recommends that National Grid conduct additional assessment of certain costs and benefits.

#### PA Analysis of Downstate

In addition to PA's Final Report's analysis of the LTP's Downstate sections, 92 PA also analyzed National Grid's Supplement, which addressed the potential impacts of Transco's Northeast Supply Enhancement Project.

On August 6, 2025, PA filed its Report on the Supplement. In the Report on the Supplement, PA primarily focused on the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project's impact to National Grid's gas customers and its impact on system reliability. PA's Report on the Supplement also reviewed National Grid's supply forecast, capital expenditures (Capex), demand forecast and the economic and environmental impacts of NESE. Additionally, PA's Report on the Supplement made observations concerning the Supplement's references to NESE's potential impacts on the electric system and electric customers.

In its Final Report, PA provides its analysis concerning the potential demand/supply shortfall and the Greenpoint LNG facility. PA states that its demand forecast

<sup>91</sup> PA Final Report, p. 145.

<sup>92</sup> PA's Final Report was filed on May 19, 2025.

adjustments could delay the demand/supply shortfall date to 2032/33 or beyond. 93 Concerning the Greenpoint facility, PA reviewed specific criteria that National Grid included in its LTP pursuant to the 2024 KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order. 94 PA states that Greenpoint's need from a supply perspective is dependent on the specific planning scenario that is pursued. Additionally, PA states that Greenpoint's usefulness must also be considered from a reliability perspective, and the lack of a supply justification alone does not warrant the facility's retirement. 95

PA identified the need for additional analysis concerning a potential supply shortfall. PA states that National Grid's Reference Case does not adequately account for the limitations on gas appliances in new construction. These limitations include restrictions on gas furnaces in new construction in New York City, and statewide restrictions on the installation of fossil fuel systems or equipment in new construction up to seven stories tall in 2026, and all new buildings in 2029 onwards pursuant to the All Electric Buildings Act. 96

PA identifies the unique characteristics of the entire New York City and Long Island region gas system which relies on shared resources between Con Edison and National Grid. As discussed above, they jointly operate the New York Facilities System which allows exchange of supply from various pipelines. The NYFS Agreement governs how the shared pipeline system operates, specifies each utility's share of interstate pipeline

<sup>93</sup> PA Final Report, p. 12.

<sup>94 2024</sup> KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order, p. 76.

<sup>95</sup> PA Final Report, p. 25.

See generally Laws of 2023, Chapter 56, Part RR; see also NY State Energy Law, Article 11, State Energy Conservation Construction Code Act, Section 11-104.

capacity at each city gate and the maximum hourly volumes of gas that flow from one utility to the other. While gas flow is bidirectional at the Lake Success and Newtown Creek pipeline interconnections, on a design day gas flows from Con Edison to National Grid. 97 Additionally, National Grid relies on CNG, LNG, and delivered services to meet design day load. Further, National Grid has entered into a contract for capacity on the ExC project and would be the only shipper on the NESE project. PA notes that both ExC and NESE have the potential to be in service by November 2027.

Although National Grid and Con Edison work together to direct the flow of natural gas from pipeline interconnections, there are operational limitations on how the gas can flow. Con Edison cannot increase gas volumes to National Grid on a design day without jeopardizing the reliability of Con Edison's own gas system. The NYFS Agreement governs the Company's share of interstate pipeline capacity entitlements at each citygate. Additionally, the NYFS Agreement defines the maximum hourly volume of gas that may flow from one utility to the other. Beyond the limits in the NYFS Agreement, reliability issues, including equipment failures on interstate pipelines, may result in reduced natural gas deliveries. LNG facilities fill the gap by helping to mitigate the impact of a supply interruption on the interstate pipeline system. PA also provided analysis concerning other potential sources of gas supply.

In PA's Report on the Supplement, PA states that under the 2025 Forecast Reference Case Design Day demand forecast the portfolio of available supply is capable of serving demand through the end of the study period. However, PA states that

<sup>97</sup> PA Final Report, p. 53.

<sup>98</sup> PA Final Report, p. 71.

the supply portfolio carries some risk, including heavy reliance on long-distance trucking of CNG and the risk of renewal of contracts for CNG and peaking supplies. National Grid can bid to contract for peaking supplies on a short-term basis in a competitive market. If National Grid is outbid by another entity, it will be unable to resecure the gas supply provided by the peaking arrangement. PA adds that the degree to which there is unutilized capacity over time depends upon whether and when the Company is able to determine whether it can allow certain supply stack components to be eliminated, as well as whether and when design day demand related to power generation (along with organic demand growth) arises - PA states "the amount of unused capacity is subject to being pinched from both directions."99 This additional need could be met by Greenpoint vaporizers 13&14. However, although National Grid may be able to satisfy the 2025 Reference Case Design Day demand forecast with its existing supply portfolio and Iroquois ExC, operational, deliverability, and market risks remain due to current reliance on CNG. 100 PA adds that firm pipeline capacity projects like Iroquois ExC obviate the re-contracting and expense risks that come with incremental delivered services and the operational risks that are paired with CNG. PA states that incremental vaporization provided at Greenpoint in Vaporizers 13 & 14 would provide incremental reliability while also providing resiliency in the event of unexpected supply disruptions. 101

As noted by PA, firm pipeline capacity provides reliability benefits that cannot be provided by other incremental supply options like CNG or delivered services.

<sup>99</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 19.

<sup>100</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> PA Final Report, p. 71.

Although CNG and delivered services provide reliability benefits when firm pipeline capacity is not available, reliance on these supply alternatives also present reliability challenges.

Incremental firm pipeline capacity benefits include renewal provisions, the ability to be called upon readily during design day conditions, lower delivery risks than incremental supply options such as CNG and delivered services, and the ability to be retained in the supply portfolio until demand subsides. 102

Specifically regarding the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project, PA states that benefits include increased resilience, and the potential for a reduction in the reliance on CNG. 103 Further, PA states that the added resilience afforded by NESE could help in instances where pipelines experience operational issues or failures.

PA explains that CNG has risks associated with delivery during design day conditions. These risks include trailer availability and execution issues associated with calling on CNG to supplement the design day portfolio. The number of CNG delivery trucks required to match the firm pipeline capacity of a specific project can be high. For example, PA states that 170 CNG trucks would be required to match the delivery capacity of Iroquois ExC.

Regarding LNG, PA states National Grid has relied upon its LNG facilities to maintain system pressure and provide supply. National Grid's two LNG plants at Greenpoint and Holtsville can provide a total of 394,500 Dt of supply on a design day, which is equal to about 13 percent of design day

<sup>102</sup> PA Final Report, p. 24.

<sup>103</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> PA Final Report, p. 83.

supply for the most recent winter. 106 Regarding Greenpoint, PA states core components were installed over 50 years ago and that they require refurbishment. Additionally, PA recognizes that National Grid has made and continues to make significant investments in upgrades and replacements of critical infrastructure at Greenpoint. According to PA, KEDLI invested more than \$61 million at Holtsville during fiscal years 2018 through 2024 and is forecasting additional investments of more than \$330 million through fiscal year 2033 with the major future item being the Holtsville Plant Modernization Project. While many components of the LNG system have been upgraded or replaced, the projects that are underway and those yet to be started represent significant reinvestment in critical infrastructure that is otherwise nearing the end of its useful life. PA states that the absence of Greenpoint could have dire consequences:

if an extreme winter event occurs, and LNG is not available to meet peak demand (and no alternative supply sources exist or are available) customers will lose gas service. This could lead to human fatalities, extensive property damage (due to frozen water pipes), and several weeks of efforts by the Company to safely restore service to customers whose service was lost. 107

National Grid revised its demand forecast significantly between its Final LTP and its Supplement. In its Final Report, PA states that portions of the Company's forecast were inconsistent with PA's understanding of "certain impactful meter count dynamics, recent trends, and intrinsic market phenomena such as falling use per customer due to improving appliance efficiency and other energy efficiency measures." PA

<sup>106</sup> PA Final Report, p. 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> PA Final Report, p. 81.

<sup>108</sup> PA Final Report, p. 26.

determined that demand forecast was on the high side. PA recommended that the Company revisit its forecast analysis based on a more thorough assessment of macroeconomic factors and electrification and reflect these changes in the annual updates provided on May 31, 2026, and May 31, 2027. PA's proposed adjustments to the Reference Case design day forecast resulted in a significant reduction of approximately 14 percent to 3,101 MDt/day in 2050 as compared to the Company's forecast of 3,551 MDt/day. In the Supplement, National Grid revised its demand forecast based on lower regional economic growth rates and declining oil prices. 109 In the PA Report on the Supplement, PA also recommends that National Grid develop the Reference Case forecast for 20 years rather than the current 10 years, which would enable the forecast to reflect longer-term impacts. 110

PA evaluated the BCA calculations contained in National Grid's LTP and provided recommendations to improve them. The BCA ratio for the three scenarios for the two Downstate service territories are as follows:

Scenario	KEDNY	KEDLI
Reference	0.36	0.49
AE	0.48	0.65
CEV	0.50	0.68

Regarding bill impacts, PA states that National Grid projects commodity costs will increase at least 37 percent over the 20-year forecast period, driven in part by blending RNG and hydrogen.

PA states that National Grid forecasts KEDNY and KEDLI GHG emissions will decrease by about 85 million metric tons of CO2e and 75 million metric tons of CO2e, respectively, by 2050

<sup>109</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 43.

under the Reference Case, and by greater amounts for the AE and CEV scenarios. PA recommends that National Grid conduct an analysis to determine the price point where blending RNG or hydrogen exceeds the cost of using heat pumps in both residential and small commercial buildings. 112

### NOTICE OF PROPOSED RULE MAKING

Pursuant to the State Administrative Procedure Act (SAPA) §202(1), a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking was published in the State Register on June 18, 2024 [SAPA No. 24-G-0248SP1]. The time for submission of comments pursuant to the Notice expired on August 19, 2024. Moreover, the Secretary to the Commission issued Notices Establishing Comment Deadlines regarding various filings in this proceeding. On June 4, 2024, the Secretary issued a notice establishing a deadline of August 19, 2024, for stakeholders to submit initial comments on National Grid's Initial LTP and September 3, 2024, for reply comments. By notice dated July 24, 2024, the Secretary extended those deadlines to September 18, 2024, and October 3, 2024, respectively. On November 21, 2024, the Secretary issued a notice establishing a comment deadline on the Revised LT of December 13, 2024. On February 4, 2025, the Secretary issued a notice establishing a comment deadline on PA's Preliminary Findings report of February 21, 2025. On March 12, 2025, the Secretary issued a notice establishing a comment deadline on the Company's Final LTP of April 3, 2025. Additionally, on March 19, 2025, the Secretary issued a notice of Public Statement Hearings and Soliciting Comments announcing virtual public statement hearings at 1:00 pm and 6:00pm on April 10,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> PA Final Report, p. 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> PA Final Report, p. 34.

2025, April 16, 2025, and April 17, 2025. That notice also invited members of the public to file written comments on National Grid's Final LTP by April 18, 2025. Finally, on July 25, 2025, the Secretary issued a notice establishing a deadline of September 5, 2025, for comments on the Final LTP, Supplement, PA's Final Report and PA's Report on the Supplement. Comments were filed in this proceeding by numerous stakeholders. In addition, the Commission received over 3,700 comments from members of the public, which included both support for and opposition to the Company's filing. The comments are summarized in Appendix B to this Order, and particular comments are discussed as applicable in the Discussion section below.

#### LEGAL AUTHORITY

Public Service Law (PSL) §5(1)(b) provides the Commission with broad authority over "the manufacture, conveying, transportation, sale or distribution of gas ... for light, heat or power, to gas plants ... and to the persons or corporations owning, leasing or operating the same." Of particular importance to the Commission's action in this Order, PSL §5(2) also provides that "[t]he commission shall encourage all persons and corporations subject to its jurisdiction to formulate and carry out long-range programs, individually or cooperatively, for the performance of their public service responsibilities with economy, efficiency, and care for the public safety, the preservation of environmental values and the conservation of natural resources." PSL §65 requires that LDCs provide "service, instrumentalities and facilities as shall be safe and adequate and in all respects just and reasonable." Furthermore, PSL §66(1) states that the Commission has general supervision of all gas corporations. Additionally, PSL §66(1-a) provides that the Commission may order "such improvement in the

manufacture, conveying, transportation, distribution or supply of gas... or in the methods employed by such corporation as in the commission's judgment is adequate, just and reasonable."

### DISCUSSION

The Commission has considered long-term gas plan filings made by other of the State's LDCs in previous orders. 113 As we noted in the Con Edison/O&R LTP Order, the Commission's core responsibility at this time remains to ensure that the utilities provide safe and adequate gas service at just and reasonable rates. We also reminded stakeholders that no state laws require that existing customers and buildings discontinue using natural gas and disconnect from the gas distribution network. 114 We also recognized that gas planning will be an iterative process, with the Companies filing annual updates to this LTP and a new long-term plan in three years. 115 We recognize that this long-term plan represents significant differences from others we have considered, including potential capacity additions from new supply enhancement pipeline projects and consideration of the future of the Greenpoint LNG facility,

<sup>113 22-</sup>G-0610, National Fuel Gas Distribution Corporation - Gas System Long-Term Plan, Order Implementing Long-Term Natural Gas Plan with Modifications (issued December 14, 2023); Case 23-G-0147, Con Edison and O&R Gas System Long-Term Plan, Order Regarding Long-Term Natural Gas Plan and Requiring Further Actions (issued September 20, 2024) (Con Edison/O&R LTP Order); Case 23-G-0437, NYSEG/RG&E - Gas System Long-Term Plan, Order Regarding Long-Term Natural Gas Plan and Directing Further Actions (issued January 23, 2025) (NYSEG/RG&E LTP Order); 23-G-0676, Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corporation - Gas System Long-Term Plan, Order Regarding Long-Term Natural Gas Plan and Directing Further Actions (issued July 17, 2025) (Central Hudson LTP Order).

<sup>114</sup> Con Edison/O&R LTP Order), p. 31.

<sup>115</sup> Con Edison/O&R LTP Order, p. 32.

which are discussed in more detail below. Importantly, the Commission's core responsibility, the legal framework, and iterative planning process established in our other LTP orders are reflected here.

Unlike Con Edison and O&R, but similar to NYSEG and RG&E, National Grid chose a preferred scenario, the CEV. 116
National Grid stated in its Initial LTP that it believed the CEV scenario to be the best path forward, but that it did not seek "approval" of the CEV or for the CEV to be enabled to the exclusion of the AE scenario. National Grid added that "(p)icking a preferred scenario is unnecessary." National Grid filed its Initial LTP on June 3, 2024, before the Commission issued its Order on the Con Edison/O&R LTP on September 20, 2024, wherein we disagreed with a "no preference" approach. Thereafter, in its Final LTP, National Grid stated that the CEV scenario represents National Grid's preferred pathway but "the policies necessary to put this into practice are not currently in place." 119

National Grid is required to implement robust NPA education and outreach efforts as part of their currently effective rate plans. 120 The Commission recognizes that joint community and utility support and cooperation can create an opportunity to fully evaluate decarbonization strategies. The Commission remains optimistic that the right mix of community support, utility expertise, outreach and education, and funding

<sup>116</sup> NYSEG/RG&E LTP Order, p. 13; Final LTP, p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Initial LTP, p. 163.

<sup>118</sup> Con Edison/ORU LTP Order, p. 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Final LTP, p. 187.

<sup>120 2024</sup> KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order, Attachment 1 (Joint Proposal),
p. 44 and 2025 NMPC Rate Order, Attachment 1 (Joint Proposal),
pp. 108-109.

for alternatives can produce desirable NPA outcomes. We note that, although customers are funding certain authorized energy efficiency and electrification programs, utility ratepayer funding alone may not be sufficient; as such, it will be important to identify all available funding sources.

While the Planning Order indicated that the Commission "could adopt, reject, or modify the revised plan, in whole or in part," experience with other gas utilities demonstrates that it is not necessary or appropriate to approve a plan with this level of detail and a 20-year horizon this far in advance. Instead, as we have in orders regarding other utilities' longterm plans, we focus on actions the Company must take in the near future to advance the decarbonization of its systems and that are necessary to continue providing safe, adequate, and reliable service to customers. We will consider recovery of costs for specific proposals and actions associated with this LTP in the Company's rate filings, or when addressing specific filings as required as part of this proceeding. We note that if a rate case proposal relates to an element of the Company's LTP, such proposal will be subject to thorough review through the traditional rate case process, without any presumption as to the outcome.

In issuing this Order, the Commission has considered the comments received. We discuss specific issues below, including the further actions we direct the Company to take regarding the Final LTP. We note that the Commission has no role in the permitting of interstate pipeline projects. The role of the Commission is to ensure transparency in long-term planning by gas utilities, including how they ensure reliability, and this order provides that transparency.

#### Demand Forecast

The Planning Order requires LDCs to include adjustments to demand forecast scenarios that include energy efficiency, electrification, demand response, NPAs and other external impacts, and directed the LDCs to provide estimates of the expected sources of growth and/or reduction in peak demand resulting from demand-side investments, clarifying that qualitative discussion is not sufficient. We note that the Company serves some customers, including gas fueled electric generation units, through interruptible service classifications in all three service territories and peak day forecasts do not include these customers' demand.

Regarding the NMPC service territory, the Company forecasts relatively stable growth over the planning period for the Reference Case. Demand is projected by the Company to be lower in both the CEV and AE scenarios at the end of the forecast period. The demand forecast for the Downstate service territories changed significantly between the 2024 demand forecast used in the Final LTP and the 2025 demand forecast presented in the Supplement. The Company had projected that demand, in terms of retail volumes, would increase from 295 million Dt in calendar year 2023 to 380 million Dt in calendar year 2050, growing at a rate of 3.15 million Dt, or 0.94 percent, per year. 121 In the Supplement, the Company states that "the most recent baseline demand scenario continues to show growth in design day demand, with a compound annual growth rate of 0.55 [percent] between 2025 and 2035 and 0.35 [percent] between 2025 and 2050."122

<sup>121</sup> Note that these values have been converted to Dt from therms as provided by the Company.

<sup>122</sup> Supplement, p. 13.

Senator Julia Salazar submitted a letter stating that multiple independent analysts found National Grid's demand forecasts to be inflated and unsupported. That comment was echoed by Brooklyn Community Board No. 1. The City of New York (CNY) states that it "recognizes that forecasting demand is not a perfect science, but considering the importance of the demand forecast's role in determining capital investment and moratorium decisions, it is critical for stakeholders to have confidence in the chosen forecast." 124

In its Final Report, PA recognized the Company's demand forecast appeared higher than PA thought warranted, and recommended adjustments that delay or eliminate the supply/demand gap. Further, PA stated that its adjustments would delay the NMPC shortfall to 2032/33 or later and delay the Downstate shortfall date to 2032/33 or later, with the inclusion of Iroquois ExC in the supply stack. In its Report on the Supplement, PA states that the updated 2025 sales volume forecast is significantly lower than the 2024 Forecast. 125 National Grid attributed the downward shift to lower regional economic growth and the impact of declining oil prices on fuelswitching behavior. PA states that there are several factors, excluding the Covid pandemic, impacting gas usage and causing a structural change in the market. To improve its forecasting methodology, PA recommends that National Grid incorporate insights from observable near-term historical trends and standard macroeconomic drivers. 126

-

<sup>123</sup> Senator Salazar Comments (filed April 21, 2025), p. 2.

<sup>124</sup> CNY Comments (filed April 3, 2025), p. 4.

<sup>125</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 28.

<sup>126</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 42.

The Commission finds that National Grid's demand forecasts in the Final LTP contain some questionable results. The updated demand forecast contained in the Supplement appears to represent an improvement in forward-looking projections. updated 2025 demand forecast in the Supplement provides a more accurate projection of the Downstate gas system's supply needs, and, as a result, the Commission will rely on the updated demand forecast in this Order. However, the Company needs to take further steps to improve its demand forecasting. Among other things, these improvements need to include reviewing three years of data, instead of relying on the most recent year's data, to identify positive and negative trends in demand growth. Moreover, PA provided recommendations to improve the demand forecasting methodology and processes pertaining to macroeconomic, fuel conversions, and electrification assumptions. Accordingly, we direct National Grid to file a report within 90 days of the date of this Order describing the improvements it is making to its methodologies and processes for demand forecasting and estimating use per customer on a design day that incorporate the use of three years of data and PA's recommendations for the Company's use in future LTP and rate case filings. The report shall explain the Company's methodologies and processes for demand forecasting and for estimating use per customer on design day in full. Additionally, the report shall explicitly list and describe the improvements the Company is making to these methodologies and processes. Together with this report, National Grid shall file updated design day and annual demand forecasts for each of KEDNY, KEDLI, and NMPC that reflect the improvements and using the data available through the end of November 2025.

## Supply Forecast

Supply forecasts include the various assets used to meet design day load, including pipeline and storage capacity and peaking assets. In the Planning Order, the Commission accepted Staff's proposal that the LDCs' supply forecasts must align with the demand forecast, and emphasized that they "must be explicit regarding the level of demand-side programs included and must contain demand response programs." Furthermore, the Commission encouraged LDCs to explore novel approaches to meeting demand, such as using innovative rate design to reduce or shift demand through seasonal or peak day rates rather than simply acquiring more gas to meet the initial forecast of demand. 128

The Company provided several options to address the projected growth in the NMPC service territory and its identified 2030/31 supply gap. The first involves incremental capacity on Empire, which connects to a portion of National Grid's West Gate. However, Empire will not address the constraints on NMPC's East Gate because it does not connect to that portion of NMPC's system. 129 The second option involves securing capacity on Tennessee, which could be available in November 2042. The Tennessee option would require that National Grid construct additional infrastructure on its Upstate system to transport this supply from the city gate. As a third option National Grid proposes to undertake an East Gate Reliability Assessment, by which National Grid would assess how to alleviate the need for additional supply. National Grid proposes that it

<sup>127</sup> Planning Order, pp. 30-31.

<sup>128</sup> Planning Order, p. 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> Final LTP, p. 81.

would evaluate the use of NPAs that could alleviate the need for additional pipeline capacity. 130

NMPC's Reference Case shows the possibility of a supply gap on a cumulative basis for its entire service territory existing for either 2030/31 or 2040/41. This supply gap is dependent on when the Energy Transfer Station #2 (ETS2) CNG project begins operation and the addition of incremental capacity on the Empire pipeline, respectively. Based on PA's proposed adjustments to the Company's Reference Case Design Day demand forecast, a shortfall is possible in 2032/33 in a scenario where only ETS2 is present, but a shortfall may be mitigated across the study period if incremental Empire capacity is acquired.

For its Downstate service territories, the Company anticipates the addition of supply from the ExC project, which would provide 62,500 Dt/day, and also notes the possibility of the NESE project, which would provide 400,000 Dt/day. Both ExC and NESE have received certificates of public convenience and necessity from FERC and require state permits before the respective interstate pipeline companies can begin construction. Further, the Company recently increased its CNG injection capacity. National Grid completed its "fifth and final CNG injection site on [Long Island]" in June 2023. 131

Several stakeholders have submitted comments opposing the expansion of National Grid's supply portfolio. Community Board No. 1 opposes the Iroquois ExC project. Sane Energy Project (Sane) states that the abrupt reintroduction of NESE should not be accepted without a fully reopened proceeding, including new stakeholder input, rigorous modeling, and third-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Final LTP, p. 81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> Final LTP, p. 83.

party oversight. Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC) states that by "adopting a Reference Case that shows continued gas demand growth through 2050, the [Supplement] disregards statutory mandates to reduce emissions and electrify building heat", which undermines the credibility of the Supplement's demand projections and its case for NESE. 132

PA indicates the inclusion of NESE and ExC will provide National Grid with a sizeable amount of capacity to meet potential growth and increase the resiliency of the Downstate gas system. NESE's additional capacity has the potential to enable the Company to reduce its reliance on CNG, which is a "risk-prone and expensive supply component." If both ExC and NESE are constructed, National Grid may be able to reduce its reliance on, and potentially retire, three CNG injection sites.

PA states that firm pipeline capacity should increase the resiliency of the Downstate gas system by providing it with greater flexibility to address potential outages from older pipelines or potential failures. 134 ExC serves a different need, which NESE is unable to meet, by providing supply to the eastern Long Island portion of the Downstate gas system. With NESE and ExC in service, under the 2025 Forecast Reference Case, National Grid is able to meet is design day demand through the study period.

The Commission recognizes that some stakeholders note that New York State and especially New York City have decarbonization goals that emphasize the need for electrification of space heating in buildings. At this time, homeowners still have a choice of heating fuels, and the need to

<sup>132</sup> NRDC Comments on Supplement, p. 13.

<sup>133</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 21.

 $<sup>^{134}\,\</sup>text{PA}$  Report on the Supplement, p. 21.

ensure reliability and safety requires that a gas utility plan for current reasonable forecasts of demand growth until such time as there is confidence in forecasts of demand growth ending. The following sections specifically address the Greenpoint LNG facility and Northeast Supply Enhancement project.

# 1. Northeast Supply Enhancement Project

Richmond, New York, Kings, Queens, Nassau, and Suffolk Counties are situated on islands. Various submarine pipelines supply natural gas to the distribution system serving residential and commercial customers in those counties. For example, the Lower New York Bay Lateral pipeline conveys gas from Morgan, New Jersey, under Raritan Bay and Lower New York Bay, on to Long Beach, New York. Other submarine pipelines traverse the Arthur Kill, the Narrows, the Hudson River, the East River, and Long Island Sound. 135

Following construction of the Lower New York Bay Lateral, Transco developed, constructed, and completed the Rockaway Delivery Lateral in December 2015, which enabled Transco to make deliveries into National Grid's New York City distribution system at a new delivery point on the Rockaway Peninsula in Queens County, New York. The project included

See U.S. Dept. of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Ocean Service Coast Survey, Map 12327, New York Harbor, 109th Edition, January 2020 (last correction August 16, 2023); id. Map 12350, Jamaica Bay and Rockaway Inlet, 62nd Edition, February 2019 (last correction August 9, 2023); id., Map 12352, Shinnecock Bay to East Rockaway Inlet, 36th Edition, May 2020, Page "H" (last correction July 25, 2023); see also, N.Y. Dept. of State, Geographic Information Gateway, Natural Gas Interstate and Intrastate Pipelines (accessed Sept. 9, 2025).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> <u>See</u> generally, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, New York District, Public Notice, NAN-2012-00582-EHA, issued October 4, 2013), at 3 (describing Rockaway Delivery Lateral Project).

the addition of the offshore Rockaway Transfer Point connecting the Lower New York Bay Lateral and the Rockaway Delivery Lateral. The Rockaway Delivery Lateral takes gas from the Lower New York Bay Lateral on the Transco system, which as noted begins in New Jersey and ends at Long Beach on Long Island's south shore. The New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (NYSDEC) issued a section 401(c) water quality permit for the Rockaway Delivery Lateral on May 19, 2014, and determined the project met all New York State water quality standards. In addition, the U.S. Congress passed the "New York City Natural Gas Supply Enhancement Act." That legislation, signed into law by President Barack Obama, allowed construction and operation of natural gas pipeline facilities in the Gateway National Recreation Area, thereby permitting the construction of the Rockaway Delivery Lateral. 138

As noted above, Transco renewed its request for authorization to construct the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project, which would add compression to an existing station and reinforce existing pipe in Pennsylvania, construct a compressor station and reinforce pipe in New Jersey, and add pipe to loop the already-existing Lower New York Bay Lateral, which would reinforce Transco's connection from New Jersey to New York.

NESE would provide 400,000 Dt/day of firm pipeline supply into the Downstate natural gas system via the Rockaway Transfer Point. The proposed offshore segment would include 23 miles of submarine pipe running from Morgan, New Jersey, under Raritan Bay and Lower New York Bay, and connecting with the existing

\_

 $<sup>^{137}</sup>$  NYSDEC Section 401 Water Quality Certification, Permit ID #2-6309-00115 (effective date May 19, 2014).

 $<sup>^{138}</sup>$  Public Law 112-197 (112<sup>th</sup> Congress), 126 Stat. 1461 (November 27, 2012).

Rockaway Transfer Point. 139 Williams, Transco's owner, represents that it is "answering the call for energy reliability, security, and affordability, both domestically and internationally, while setting near-term goals for decarbonization that promote accuracy, transparency, and accountability. "140

FERC granted the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project a certificate of public convenience and necessity on August 28, 2025. 141 In doing so, FERC noted that NESE would help ease supply shortfalls and pipeline capacity constraints in the New York City area. NESE also requires permits from the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, and an Article 15 permit and a Clean Water Act Section 401 Water Quality Certification from the NYSDEC for potential impacts to the State's waters. NYSDEC provided a public comment period regarding the New York permit applications that ended on August 16, 2025. In its Supplement, National Grid provided analysis explaining that the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project will benefit New York by improving the reliability of the Downstate natural gas system and reducing wholesale electric costs.

The Commission does not have a formal regulatory permitting role to grant authority to construct the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project in Lower New York Bay. The Commission's primary statutory duty is to ensure that utilities, including gas corporations, operating in New York State are able to and do provide safe, adequate, and reliable utility service to their customers. We discuss this imperative throughout this

 $<sup>^{139}</sup>$  FERC, Order Issuing Certificate, 192 FERC  $\P61,184$ , at P 4 (August 28, 2025).

<sup>140</sup> https://www.williams.com/sustainability/climate-commitment/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> 192 FERC ¶61,184.

Order and find it appropriate to consider the NESE project in that context. As explained further below, we observe that the proposed Northeast Supply Enhancement Project is needed to ensure the continued provision of safe, adequate, and reliable gas service to customers in New York City and on Long Island.

The New York City and Long Island natural gas system has reliability concerns due to supply constraints. These constraints are due to inadequate pipeline capacity. The constraints result in limited supply, which poses challenges during extreme winter conditions. The need for natural gas is at its highest during the winter which exacerbates this challenge. Currently, National Grid relies on LNG, CNG, delivered services, and peaking supplies to meet any supply shortfall during the winter season. Additionally, although Con Edison and National Grid are able to exchange supply through the NYFS, there are limits to this arrangement. Con Edison cannot increase gas volumes to National Grid on a design day without jeopardizing Con Edison's own gas system and customers. 144

National Grid and Con Edison have undertaken yearslong efforts to address reliability concerns including, but not limited to, meeting forecasted design day demand through a number of programs to reduce demand on their distribution systems and through working with interstate pipeline companies to increase firm capacity into the Downstate gas system. These efforts have included the Texas Eastern delivery lateral into lower Manhattan in 2013; the Tennessee upgrade project in Pennsylvania and New Jersey in 2023, which brings firm gas supply into Westchester and allowed Con Edison to retire its CNG

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> PA Final Report, p. 70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> PA Final Report, p. 71.

facility in Yonkers; and the Iroquois Expansion by Compression project that would benefit both National Grid and Con Edison in 2027.

In 2017, Transco first submitted a Water Quality Certification application to NYSDEC for a permit necessary to construct NESE. NYSDEC denied that application without prejudice in April 2018. Transco submitted a new application in May 2018, which NYSDEC also denied without prejudice on May 15, 2019. That same day, National Grid announced a moratorium on new gas service installations in its KEDNY and KEDLI service territories, as National Grid asserted it had no other options to serve the anticipated increased demand for gas supply. The transco submitted a third application on May 17, 2019, which NYSDEC denied in May 2020. The submitted a third application on May 17, 2019, which

The Commission instituted a proceeding, Case 19-G-0678, to investigate National Grid's denials of service requests pursuant to this moratorium, which resulted in a negotiated settlement whereby National Grid agreed to lift the moratorium and to submit a Long-Term Capacity Report (2020 Report) in which the Company would analyze, "all reasonable available options, including pipeline construction, Liquefied Natural Gas and CNG facilities, renewable energy resources, and conservation strategies." National Grid's 2020 Report included all these

 $^{145}$  NYSDEC ID 2-9902-00109/00006, Notice of Denial of Water Quality Certification (issued May 15, 2020).

by National Grid USA, KEDNY, and KEDLI, Order Instituting Proceeding and to Show Cause (issued October 11, 2019), p. 1.

 $<sup>^{147}</sup>$  NYSDEC ID 2-9902-00109/00006, Notice of Denial of Water Quality Certification (issued May 15, 2020).

<sup>148</sup> Case 19-G-0678, <u>supra</u>, Order Adopting and Approving Settlement (issued November 26, 2019), p. 5. The Order provided for an Independent Monitor to review National Grid's actions.

elements and was reviewed by an Independent Monitor appointed by the Department for the purpose of evaluating National Grid's compliance with the negotiated settlement. National Grid's 2020 Report included descriptions of its previous use of CNG and indicated that the Company sought to expand this use to additional locations. The Company now has five CNG sites Downstate.

Overlapping with these events, National Grid had filed rate cases for its KEDNY and KEDLI service territories in late April 2019. These cases culminated in a joint proposal that the Commission adopted in August 2021. The Commission's 2021 KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order required National Grid to pursue significant demand response, electrification opportunities, and NPAs encapsulated in the "Capacity Demand Metrics" in an effort to offset demand and forestall the need for certain "Capacity Demand Projects." By Rate Year 2 of that rate plan, the 12 months that ended March 31, 2022, National Grid had met or exceeded the annual targets for all five metrics demonstrating its efforts to address reliability concerns through mitigating demand. Additionally, we note that the spread of the Covid pandemic beginning in 2020 dampened design day demand growth in National Grid's service territory.

<sup>149</sup> Case 19-G-0678, <u>supra</u>, National Grid Monitorship: Closing Report (filed September 14, 2021), pp. 2-18.

 $<sup>^{150}</sup>$  Case 19-G-0678,  $\underline{\text{supra}}$ , Natural Gas Long Term Capacity Report (filed February 24, 2020), p. 104.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> Cases 19-G-0309 et al., <u>supra</u>, Order Approving Joint Proposal, as Modified, and Imposing Additional Requirements (issued August 12, 2021) (2021 KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order).

<sup>152 2021</sup> KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order, pp. 113-116.

<sup>153</sup> Cases 19-G-0309 et al., <u>supra</u>, Greenpoint Vaporizers 13 & 14
Long Term Capacity Project Report (filed August 29, 2022),
p. 40.

Despite National Grid's pursuit of non-pipeline supply solutions, such as CNG, and demand mitigation efforts, and despite the impact of external forces such as the Covid pandemic, the Independent Monitor found in his 2021 final report that:

Despite substantive improvements on multiple fronts by National Grid, the alarming possibility nonetheless remains that National Grid's plans and projects underway toward meeting forecasted demand with sufficient supply capacity will fall short. 154

Now almost four years since the Independent Monitor's final report, we see that, despite National Grid advancing several supply-side and demand-side options for alleviating anticipated concerns, these solutions have yet to provide the reliability benefits for gas customers in the Downstate service territories that would have been provided by the Northeast Enhancement Supply Project.

Indeed, in the intervening time, the experience with Winter Storm Elliot in late December 2022 further demonstrated the critical importance of ensuring the reliability of the gas system in New York City and Long Island and the New York residential and commercial customers that depend on that system. In FERC's 2023 report on Winter Storm Elliott (FERC Report), FERC found that the storm primarily affected natural gas production in the Marcellus and Utica Shale formations. FERC observed that:

- (1) Marcellus Shale production volumes reached a low of 21,856 MDt/day on December 24, 2022 (a 23 percent decrease compared to maximum production on December 19);
- (2) Utica Shale production volumes reached a low of 3,017 MDt/day on December 26, 2022 (a 54 percent

154 Case 19-G-0678, <u>supra</u>, National Grid Monitorship: Closing Report (filed September 14, 2021), p. 1.

- decrease compared to maximum production on December 19); and
- (3) the largest natural gas production decreases in the Event Area occurred in Pennsylvania, Ohio, and West Virginia - whereas Louisiana production remained relatively unaffected.<sup>155</sup>

FERC also stated that Con Edison faced low pressures that threatened reliability and had Con Edison not activated its LNG facility and taken other emergency measures, or had the cold weather lasted longer, it could have faced large scale outages. 156 At a session of the Public Service Commission held on October 12, 2023, Staff reported to the Commission that the New York City and Long Island region experienced the greatest impact of the supply cuts during Winter Storm Elliott. 157 presentation addressed the steps National Grid and Con Edison took to maintain system reliability. As a result of the cold temperatures National Grid and Con Edison required their interruptible customers - including power generators - to transition to alternate fuels. Additionally, National Grid and Con Edison had developed contingency plans, which they implemented before and during the event. These contingency plans entailed calling on available gas supply from other pipelines, running LNG plants, and taking the extraordinary step of coordinating a public appeal for the reduced use of natural gas. 158 Had the supply reductions continued, National Grid and Con Edison's final available action would have been to curtail meaning shut off - firm customers.

<sup>155</sup> FERC, Winter Storm Elliott Report, p. 110.

<sup>156</sup> FERC, Winter Storm Elliott Report, p. 12.

 $<sup>^{157}</sup>$  Commission Session, October 12, 2023, Transcript, pp. 168-172, 223-224.

<sup>158</sup> Commission Session, October 12, 2023, Transcript, p. 169.

Even though, ultimately, these efforts to curb demand and fully utilizing available resources enabled National Grid and Con Edison to maintain service to their customers during Elliot, it is important to stress just how close the New York City and Long Island gas system came in December 2022 to suffering a catastrophic disruption that could have led to significant customer curtailments. The critical significance of this close call is further underscored by the fact that the system and weather were not near a design day. During the event, National Grid was less than 30 minutes from initiating curtailments of natural gas to an initial group of 30,000 customers, a first step in a series of actions that could have left many of the over 5 million households in New York City and Long Island without natural gas - potentially for months. 159 Once pressure from the pipelines began increasing, the company was able to avoid this action.

Unlike restoring service on the electric system after an outage, reinstating natural gas service after curtailment is a complex process involving visiting every location with gas service to ensure service is safely shut off prior to the reintroduction of natural gas to prevent accidental leakage, and revisiting every location to re-light the appliances when service is restored. This process can take days, weeks, or months depending on how many customers were impacted, may require importing workers from other utilities, requires coordination with law enforcement and locksmiths to access unoccupied homes and businesses, and will impose significant financial costs on the utility, its customers, and the local

159 Ross Turrini, Chief Operating Officer of New York Gas, National Grid, presentation to New York State Energy Planning Board, May 27, 2025.

<sup>160</sup> Commission Session, October 12, 2023, Transcript, p. 170.

economy. Extended outages and time-consuming restart efforts can potentially lead to property damage from frozen pipes, and hypothermia or other threats to human health and safety in very cold weather.

Multiple examples exist of the time consuming and costly ordeal of restoring gas service after a system outage. Recently, on February 19, 2025, Con Edison had to curtail gas service to 1,077 customers in the Williamsbridge neighborhood in the Bronx following a water main break that impacted gas mains. It took eight days to restore service to those 1,077 customers. One customer reported that it felt warmer outside than inside his home. Fortunately, while it was below freezing at the start of the outage, temperatures in New York City over the eight-day period gradually rose to a high of approximately 57 degrees. By luck, this was an inconvenient but not dangerous heating outage. 162

Additionally, during the winter of 2019, Aquidneck Island in southeast Rhode Island experienced a natural gas outage because of a low-pressure condition, which caused customers to lose service. The outage lasted seven days, causing the governor to declare a state of emergency. 163 It was

News 12 the Bronx, 'It's Warmer Outside than Inside.' Williamsbridge Residents Without Heat After Water Main Break (February 20, 2025), available at: https://bronx.news12.com/its-warmer-outside-than-inside-

https://bronx.news12.com/its-warmer-outside-than-inside-williamsbridge-residents-without-heat-after-water-main-break.

<sup>162</sup> National Weather Service daily temperatures in Central Park for February 2025, available at https://www.weather.gov/wrh/Climate?wfo=okx.

State of R.I. Div of Publ. Utilities and Carriers, Investigative Report: Summary Investigation into the Aquidneck Island Gas Service Interruption of January 21, 2019 (issued October 30, 2019) (Rhode Island Investigative Report), p. 4.

reported that 7,455 customers lost service due to the outage. 164 The curtailments were the result of low pressure caused by three related issues: (1) high demand due to the extreme cold weather; (2) shutdown of an LNG facility; and (3) the malfunction of a metering valve. 165 The LNG facility is a peak shaving facility that the utility used to maintain pressure on the system. Restoration of service required requests for mutual aid to assist in the gas relighting process, a laborious house-by-house endeavor. The Rhode Island Investigative Report recognized the danger to citizens and property that would occur from the "sudden return of flow into pilot-driven appliances that lost gas" and observed that a "virtual army of technicians and staff descended on the Newport area to complete the restoration process meter by meter in difficult conditions."166 The Aguidneck Island outage lasted seven days. 167 The cost to restore customers exceeded \$25 million, or an average cost of approximately \$3,350 per customer. 168

In January 2019 there was an outage near Keuka Lake in the Finger Lakes region that started on January 21 and ended on January 23 and impacted over 600 customers. Complicating the relights of impacted services was cold weather and snowpack. The wintertime restoration process, which took three days to complete, required over one hundred experienced personnel working on the effort to reestablish heating for those customers.

1 .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> Rhode Island Investigative Report, p. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> Rhode Island Investigative Report, p. 37.

<sup>166</sup> Rhode Island Investigative Report, pp. 33, 67.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Rhode Island Investigative Report, p. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> Rhode Island Investigative Report, p. 70.

Using the experience from the Aquidneck Island incident and considering inflation and relatively high costs in the Downstate New York service territories, if National Grid had to curtail 30,000 customers during Winter Storm Elliott, the costs to retore those customers would likely have exceeded \$100 million. In addition to the restoration costs, the loss of heat to this many households during very cold weather would potentially prolong the relighting process experienced in the Rhode Island and Bronx examples by several weeks depending on the number of utility workers, locksmiths, and law enforcement officers available for the restoration.

Thus, the Commission cannot emphasize enough the importance of maintaining the reliability of gas service in the Downstate New York service territories. As proposed, the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project would address natural gas system supply constraints and reliability concerns facing the Downstate natural gas system. NESE would alleviate these constraints by providing incremental supply into Brooklyn and, thereby, enhance the reliability of the system for customers.

In the event of a future Elliot-like event, NESE would provide National Grid with additional flexibility, and more time to stabilize the gas system before the Company would have to curtail firm customers. The NESE project would increase reliability by delivering a diverse supply source, which would limit the impact of a disruption to a single supply source. Additionally, as FERC explains in the FERC Report regarding Winter Storm Elliott, line pack is the volume of gas maintained or held within a pipeline system, and the more gas that is "packed" into the pipeline, the higher the pressure. FERC adds that system operators continually manage the amount of gas in their pipelines to ensure that customer demands can be met while

staying within safe and reliable pressure ranges, which vary from pipeline to pipeline. $^{169}$ 

In its comments, Sane states that NESE will not provide supply diversity because it will "only draw gas from the same supply basin that failed during [Winter Storm Elliott]."170 Similarly, NRDC states that NESE is a "redundant delivery lateral" that does not address the "real drivers of stress during Winter Storm Elliott ... upstream freeze-offs and local distributions limits."171 Such Stakeholder views, however, do not take into consideration the fact that NESE will facilitate access to supply sources throughout the country. Transco's transmission system extends from Texas, Louisiana, and the offshore Gulf of Mexico area, through Mississippi, Alabama, Georgia, South Carolina, North Carolina, Virginia, Maryland, Pennsylvania, and New Jersey, to its termini in the metropolitan New York City area. Because of this, the natural gas flowing on Transco's system can be sourced from several production regions in the United States, including the Marcellus and Utica shale plays in Appalachia but also production areas onshore and offshore in the Gulf of Mexico. The benefit of this diverse supply source is illustrated in FERC's analysis on Winter Storm Elliott, where FERC points out that the Appalachian production region was significantly affected. 172

The additional capacity provided by the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project would have partially mitigated the adverse operating effects during Winter Storm Elliott resulting from supply cuts. When Transco administers curtailments under

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> FERC Report, p. 74.

<sup>170</sup> Sane Comments (filed September 8, 2025), p. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> NRDC Comments (filed September 8, 2025), p. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> FERC Report, p. 19.

conditions of force majeure, such as extreme weather, it does so on an equiproportional basis across the affected supply chain. The additional 400,000 Dt/day provided by NESE would have increased both pressure and supply into the NYFS, all other things being the same.

Additionally, the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project would add compression on the Transco system upstream of New York State, which would improve overall system reliability. have been instances over the years where outages at compressor stations on the interstate pipeline system have reduced natural gas deliveries to parts of New York State, including New York City and Long Island. The additional compression provided by NESE will dilute the impact to National Grid's supply portfolio if a compressor outage occurs. The additional 23 miles of submarine pipe that NESE provides will increase the available line pack, which essentially serves as in-line gas storage. This benefits the overall gas system by stabilizing pressure during adverse events and assisting with efforts to restore the line to the desired service state because line pack represents parts of the pipe where pressure is higher and gas naturally flows from higher pressure to lower pressure, exactly where it is needed. In addition, NESE would run near the existing pipeline and reinforce it. This, in turn, would ensure more consistent pressure at the Transco facilities interconnected to National Grid's distribution system, resulting in more reliable line pressure during cold weather or other high-demand periods. On a design day, line pack and average pressure are key indicators of supply and system reliability, and NESE would improve both.

The Northeast Supply Enhancement Project, if placed into service, would also reduce National Grid's reliance on CNG supply in its Downstate service territory. As discussed above,

after NESE was previously proposed, but not constructed,
National Grid added CNG injection sites across its Downstate
service territories. The Company relies upon these to ensure
reliability in the absence of additional pipeline capacity.
Invariably, National Grid is required to rely on CNG when
temperatures drop very low. Additionally, National Grid uses
CNG for pressure support in the eastern part of the KEDLI
service territory.

Because the natural gas system is constrained, National Grid must obtain CNG from outside the Downstate region. This means that the CNG must be trucked over a long distance from sources outside New York City and New York State. Further complicating matters are restrictions preventing the trucking of tankers over bridges and through tunnels leading into New York City, requiring routes that skirt around New York City. Bridges close for truck traffic under windy and icy conditions. 173 National Grid must also request CNG ahead of time, with some requiring two hours' notice and others requiring up to 48 hours' notice to allow for preparing assets, bringing in truck drivers, and accounting for the travel time it takes to reach the CNG injection sites. This combination of factors limits the effectiveness of CNG as a viable resource during emergencies. In the 2024/25 winter season, National Grid contracted for 61,500 Dt/day of CNG. National Grid's reliance on CNG presents operational risks such as truck delivery navigating potential extreme winter weather during the coldest days, trailer availability, and scheduling requirements. 174

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> David Meyer, Wild Video Shows Verrazzano Bridge Heaving in 60-mph Winds, New York Post, December 2, 2020, available at: <a href="https://nypost.com/2020/12/02/wild-video-shows-verrazzano-bridge-heaving-in-60-mph-winds/">https://nypost.com/2020/12/02/wild-video-shows-verrazzano-bridge-heaving-in-60-mph-winds/</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> PA's Final Report, pp. 56 and 70.

Firm pipeline capacity is inherently more reliable than CNG incremental supply. The Adding the NESE project's 400,000 Dt/day of firm natural gas capacity to the Downstate system would provide continuous availability. This alleviates the risk associated with relying on CNG supply to fill the gap during peak periods and increase the overall reliability of the Downstate natural gas system. National Grid has projected that the additional gas supply provided by the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project will enable it to curtail its reliance on three of the five CNG sites in its Downstate service territory. The Adding the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project will enable it to curtail its reliance on three of the five CNG sites in its Downstate service

If placed into service, the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project will also provide associated benefits to the Con Edison gas distribution system. The New York Facilities Agreement between National Grid and Con Edison is an important mechanism to balance pressures between the two systems.

In conjunction with the NESE project, National Grid explains it would propose to install additional flow control at the existing Lake Success Metering Facility, which is an interconnection point on NYFS between Con Edison and National Grid. According to National Grid, this flow control will facilitate deliverability of incremental NESE gas and is critical to ensuring National Grid can comply with the New York Facilities Agreement flow limitations. As a result, National Grid states, less gas will be needed to flow from the Con Edison system to the National Grid system on design day, which also improves system supply and reliability for Con Edison. In addition, National Grid indicates that it has a distribution regulator that supports the distribution system in and around

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> PA's Final Report, p. 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> Supplement, p. 10.

Jamaica, Queens that experiences pressure fluctuations in hydraulic modeling that would benefit from the additional pressure support provided by NESE. Pressure fluctuations at a regulator station can jeopardize reliable delivery to customers.

Further, National Grid asserts that if NESE is placed in service, the Company expects that the additional supply would negate the design day need for the Greenpoint LNG Facility upgrades to Greenpoint Vaporizers 13/14 as described in the Greenpoint LNG Facility section of this order. The Company adds that if the Greenpoint LNG Facility were taken offline for maintenance, there would be no alternate local source of supply for the KEDNY network and NESE could serve as a partial contingency in that context. 177 For the Holtsville LNG plant the Company can utilize CNG as a backup to "offset a portion of daily output during non-peak periods or in the event of delays," however this option does not exist for the Greenpoint LNG Facility. 178 In its 2019 rate case filing, National Grid proposed a tank modernization project to empty Tank #2 at the Greenpoint LNG Facility, which was put in service in 1971, to perform a major tank upgrade but added that proceeding with that project was dependent on the NESE project. 179 Thus, NESE, if constructed, would provide more flexibility regarding the future of the Greenpoint LNG Facility. At the same time, we acknowledge that PA states that supply from the Greenpoint LNG Facility is delivered to some customers locally as well as to multiple regulator stations for further distribution to customers and any consideration of decommissioning the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> Supplement, p. 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> Supplement, p. 30.

<sup>179</sup> Cases 19-G-0309 et al., <u>KEDNY and KEDLI - Rates</u>, Direct Testimony of Gas Infrastructure and Operations Panel (filed April 30, 2019), p. 92.

Greenpoint LNG Facility would need to entail detailed hydraulic analysis of how the distribution system operates under a variety of conditions. As discussed in more detail in the next section, if NESE is permitted and constructed, it would allow further consideration of scenarios for decommissioning the Greenpoint LNG Facility.

Of course, we recognize that obtaining these gas system reliability benefits results in costs that would need to be recovered from National Grid's Downstate customers. National Grid estimates that NESE would result in the average National Grid residential gas customer's bill increasing by about 3.5 percent, or about \$7.50 per month, after factoring in reduced expenditures for CNG and peaking assets that will be unneeded as soon as NESE begins service. 180 National Grid would recover the costs of NESE capacity through the gas adjustment portion of customers' bills along with all other pipeline demand charges. As noted above, FERC has reissued the certificate of public convenience and necessity for the NESE project. The authorized costs that a developer may recover for interstate gas transmission projects are reviewed and established by the federal government. Consistent with the Natural Gas Act enacted by Congress, the federal government, through FERC regulation, will set the rates that Transco may charge National Grid to recover the costs of constructing the NESE project.

Additionally, National Grid has identified two onsystem projects that the Company asserts would enable maximizing the NESE capacity, the Marine Park regulator station and the Lake Success metering facility. National Grid estimates the costs of these two projects at approximately \$55 million, and

<sup>180</sup> Supplement, p. 11.

the Company would seek to include these costs in its capital budgets and recover them through base rates.

Based on these cost estimates, CNY comments that the Commission cannot address NESE outside of a proceeding regarding a "major change" in rates pursuant to PSL §66(12). CNY states that the "requirements of PSL §66 are arguably triggered by National Grid's request to recover the costs of the NESE project." However, the CNY misapprehends the import of this Order regarding National Grid's LTP. At this juncture, we are not authorizing cost recovery for either the NESE demand charges or the costs of the two identified on-system capital projects.

Regarding the NESE demand charges, National Grid has negotiated the rate with Transco, and it will be filed with FERC. All charges National Grid incurs for supply and capacity, such as, but not limited to, the NESE demand charges, are reviewed in the annual audit of gas costs, outside of a delivery rate proceeding. 182 In contrast, the costs of the two identified on-system capital projects are discussed here merely for awareness. If National Grid wishes to pursue cost recovery for those projects, it would need to present information about the projects and propose cost recovery in the context of a future rate proceeding. Thus, our action in this Order neither authorizes the Company to recover any costs in rates nor does it prejudge such future proceedings as may consider that issue. This is consistent with our previous orders regarding other utilities' long-term plans as well.

In this Order, we take note of the costs National Grid projects related to its potential use of the additional capacity NESE would provide. On the other side of the ledger, the NESE

<sup>181</sup> CNY Comments (filed September 5, 2025), p. 7.

 $<sup>^{182}</sup>$  Case 22-G-0464,  $\underline{\text{In the Matter of the Filing of Annual}}$  Reconciliation of Gas Expenses and Gas Cost Recoveries.

project would also provide significant benefits. While it is difficult to calculate the value of reliable natural gas service, the discussion above indicates the significant costs of having to restore and relight a gas system once its reliability is compromised. Recognizing this context, we address whether the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project is needed to ensure the safe and reliable operation of National Grid's Downstate gas system. Considering the significant reliability benefits NESE would provide to National Grid's distribution system and ultimately to the millions of New Yorkers who depend upon it, we conclude that NESE is needed and that a decision by National Grid's to proceed with it would be appropriate.

Further, we note that there are likely sources of savings for National Grid's gas customers to offset at least a portion of the costs associated with NESE. As mentioned above, National Grid included estimated savings of \$34 million in reduced CNG costs and \$8 million from an avoided peaking service which offset the gas cost impact of NESE's demand charges for customers. Additional savings are possible as National Grid should be able to shed other costly peaking services when the contracts expire. In addition, it is likely that National Grid will receive incremental revenue from capacity release, offsystem sales, and sales to electric generators and interruptible customers. Thus, the gas customer bill impacts National Grid presented are likely the ceiling. We require that National Grid carefully assess all potential savings it can provide to customers to mitigate future bill impacts to the greatest extent possible. Sources of potential savings include expensive supply sources that National Grid asserts it would avoid because of NESE. Also, we require National Grid to identify ways to mitigate bill impacts in its next rate case filing.

In addition to the aforementioned benefits for National Grid's gas customers, the Company provided the LAI Study, which identified benefits NESE can provide for the electric system in New York State, both in terms of improved reliability and through reduced wholesale costs.

Regarding reliability, we note that the gas supply constraints into the New York City and Long Island area also impact on electric generation resources and the larger electric system. Several recent reports have highlighted the negative impact of the New York City and Long Island region's constrained natural gas system on the electric system. In the 2025 Power Trends Report, the NYISO explained that it models operations on the presumption that gas generation will be limited during the winter season because of a constrained gas system. Also, a 2025 Northeast Power Coordinating Council report found that natural gas system constraints make oil-fueled generation "critical to ensure the reliability of the electric system in ... New York." 184

Both FERC and the NYISO have continued to raise concerns about the potential for significant electric system reliability challenges that could be caused by insufficient gas supply. In its 2025 Power Trends Report, the NYISO highlights how gas-fired electric generation remains critically important to New York's electric grid as it provides essential reliability

183 2025 Power Trends Report, p. 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> Northeast Gas/Electric System Study, Levitan & Associates for the Northeast Power Coordinating Council (January 21, 2025), p. 78.

<sup>&</sup>quot;Natural gas and electric industry coordination continues to be necessary to address the challenges of preparing for and responding to extreme cold weather." https://www.ferc.gov/media/report-january-2025-arctic-eventssystem-performance-review-ferc-nerc-and-its-regional

services that are not yet fully replaceable by renewable resources or storage technologies. 186

As the state retires older fossil-fueled plants to meet decarbonization goals, the remaining gas assets — especially dual-fuel units — offer dispatchability, flexibility, and dependable fuel sources, which are vital for balancing the grid during periods of high demand and when intermittent renewables are not reaching their full capacity or are unavailable. Gas-fired electric generation is particularly crucial during winter, when natural gas constraints can threaten reliability, and dual-fuel units can switch to oil to maintain supply. Based on these assessments it is clear that gas-fired resources will continue to play an essential role in preserving grid reliability throughout the transition to a cleaner energy system.

The impact of the New York City and Long Island region's constrained natural gas system on the electric system has been compounded by recent increases in natural gas use for electric generation outside New York State. Demand for natural gas in the Pennsylvania-New Jersey-Maryland Interconnection (PJM) system operator region has increased significantly since NESE was initially proposed and the increasing demand for natural gas upstream of New York State has further constrained the availability of supply, a result that was acutely apparent during Winter Storm Elliott in late 2022. In its Order Issuing Certificate for the NESE project, FERC stated that:

[w]hile it is true that natural gas supply decreased during Winter Storm Elliott, lower 48 state demand for natural gas set new records: December 23, 2022 demand for gas totaled 162.5 Bcf/d, exceeding the previous

<sup>186 2025</sup> Power Trends Report, p. 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> 2025 Power Trends Report, pp. 13-14.

<sup>188 2025</sup> Power Trends Report, p. 11.

record daily high of 137.4 Bcf/d set on January 1, 2018. The combination of additional "... demand volumes in conjunction with continuing supply shortfalls" led to low pressures on the interstate pipelines in the Northeast and "exacerbating pipelines" integrity issues was that some generators may have flowed in excess amounts over their confirmed nominations. 189

NYISO projects that electric demand could increase 4,000 megawatts by 2030, 190 which makes the need for reliable electric generation critically important. Electric usage is expected to rise in the winter due to conversions of home heating, which makes it critically important to have additional gas supply during the winter. The NYISO states that as New York becomes a winter-peaking electric system, the gas supply to electric generation plants is expected to be strained. 191

Referring to proposed large projects such as major manufacturing facilities, data centers, and chip fabrication plants, the NYISO states that since 2018, the number of load-related interconnection requests have grown from just one project with a proposed 500 MW load to more than 20 requests by spring of 2025, totaling nearly 4,200 MW.<sup>192</sup> As an example of this, it was recently announced that Stonybrook University (located in Suffolk County) will receive funding from New York State over the next three years to support artificial intelligence related efforts.<sup>193</sup> In its comments, the Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis (IEEFA) suggests

<sup>189</sup> FERC Docket No. CP17-101-007 et al., Northeast Supply Enhancement Project, Order Issuing Certificate (issued August 28, 2025), p. 19.

<sup>190 2025</sup> Power Trends Report, p. 5.

<sup>191 2025</sup> Power Trends Report, p. 22.

<sup>192 2025</sup> Power Trends Report, p. 26.

https://news.stonybrook.edu/university/governor-hochul-announces-5m-investment-in-ai-at-stony-brook/.

that customers may be placed at risk of subsidizing unneeded or speculative electric costs for data centers, contending that electric utilities are likely overbuilding fossil fuel infrastructure to meet the anticipated demand from data centers."194 However, we need not rely solely on the forecasts of utilities themselves, as the NYISO's projections demonstrate that it expects an increase in the number of data centers built in New York. NYISO states that the "microchip fabrication and data centers are projected to be major drivers of load growth."195 Further, NYISO notes that interconnection requests from large loads have "grown dramatically in just a few years," and this "increase in forecast demand poses a major challenge to grid reliability in New York." 196 That the NYISO is concerned about the electric grid's ability to meet the expected load growth from large projects, such as data centers, indicates that there is a real need to address growing electric demand.

Additionally, changes in federal policy have made it more critical to have continued access to natural gas. The Draft State Energy Plan released for public comment on July 23, 2025, highlighted these concerns by stating:

[t]he federal administration's energy and unpredictable tariff policies bring additional political and regulatory uncertainty, which threatens critical federal support for clean energy development and creates barriers to private investment. This includes the rollback of tax credits provided under the Inflation Reduction Act, planned denial of permits for wind generation, and attempts to remove state based clean car and clean truck rules.<sup>197</sup>

<sup>194</sup> Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis Comments (IEEFA Comments) (filed September 5, 2025), p. 16.

<sup>195 2025</sup> Power Trends Report, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> 2025 Power Trends Report, p. 6.

 $<sup>^{197}</sup>$  Draft New York State Energy Plan, Summary for Policy Makers, p. 3.

Recently, the Commission recognized that the change in federal policy will require it to "rethink the combination of reliability measures that will provide cost-effective solutions in the future." 198

As proposed, the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project would help to address these electric reliability concerns by increasing the natural gas supply to fuel dispatchable electric generation in New York City and Long Island region. The increase in natural gas supply will ensure that electric generators have access to a reliable and steady fuel supply.

NESE provides additional resilience to the NYFS, which may allow for a lower minimum required oil burn under the New York State Reliability Council's local reliability rules that are meant to ensure reliability during gas-side contingencies. In addition to increased reliability, the LAI Study estimates that adding the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project would avoid power sector emissions, ranging from approximately 23,200 to 88,800 short tons of CO2e, depending on the level of oil displacement in each year.

Based on the LAI Study, National Grid asserts that this increase in natural gas supply will result in costs savings for New York's electric customers. National Grid projects that retail electric customers will save approximately \$670 million a year. 201 Staff estimates the NYISO load-weighted statewide savings are projected to be about \$2 to \$4 per megawatt-hour

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> Case 22-E-0633, <u>Proposed Public Policy Transmission Needs-2022</u>, Order Withdrawing Public Policy Transmission Need (issued July 17, 2025), p. 15.

<sup>199</sup> Supplement, LAI Study, p. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> Supplement, LAI Study, p. 4. These figures do include 36 short tons of CO2e of emission reductions due to reduced CNG trucking.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> Supplement, p. 30.

based on figure 16 on page 35 of the LAI Study and this would equate to about \$1.20 to \$2.40 per month reduction on a typical 600 kWh bill or between \$14 and \$29 per year.

In its comments, IEEFA asserts that NESE's construction costs could be 17 percent higher than projected, and costs recovered from customers to support NESE would go to support out-of-state entities. 202 The cost of the project included in Transco's application to FERC, which is the basis of the negotiated rate National Grid will pay, has been adjusted for inflation. In the event NESE goes to construction it is our expectation that National Grid should review the actual costs and continuously to exercise appropriate oversight over costs. Additionally, all stakeholders, including the Department of Public Service may participate in FERC's final review of actual cost to determine the final rate. Further, there are additional ways to offset these costs that we require National Grid to explore and report on, including directing off system sales revenue to benefit ratepayers.

In its comments, NRDC maintains that National Grid gas customers would in effect subsidize electric customers statewide by funding the cost of NESE. Further, NRDC contends that National Grid's "affiliate relationships with gas-fired generators on Long Island ... raise conflict-of interest concerns and demand heightened scrutiny."203 The Commission takes the issue of affiliate transactions seriously as demonstrated by the strict Corporate Structure and Affiliate Rules that were approved in the 2024 KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order.204 Among other requirements, the Affiliate Rules ensure that

202 IEEFA Comments (filed September 5, 2025), pp. 7, 8, and 10.

<sup>203</sup> NRDC comments, (filed September 8, 2025), p. 17.

 $<sup>^{204}</sup>$  2024 KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order, Attachment 1 (Joint Proposal), Appendix 10.

Department Staff have full access to the books, records, and reports of National Grid's United Kingdom Holding Company, United States Holding Company, and its subsidiaries. Moreover, as noted above, the Commission concludes that NESE is necessary based on its contribution to ensuring that National Grid can continue to provide safe, adequate, and reliable gas service. We discuss the potential benefits to the electric system as incremental to those already sufficient gas reliability benefits.

The LAI Study estimates the average savings in wholesale electric energy prices during winter months in New York City and Long Island in the first five years is \$207 million per year, with average savings in Downstate New York over the 15-year period of the contract between National Grid and NESE at \$305 million. The LAI Study also estimates the average savings in the Capital District and Lower Hudson Valley in the first five years is \$97 million per year and the average savings across NYISO in the first five years is \$446 million per year. Overall, the LAI Study estimates the average statewide electric savings is \$673 million over the 15-year period.

The Real Estate Board of New York states that NESE is a critical enhancement of Transco's existing infrastructure, and "could not come at a more crucial time for New York City, as it continues to experience significant economic and population growth."205 The Energy Equipment and Infrastructure Alliance, Inc., stated that NESE represents a critical investment in the region's energy infrastructure and "it will help address the growing demand from residents, businesses, and emerging sectors such as high-performance data centers designed for artificial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Real Estate Board of New York Comments, p. 1.

intelligence applications."206 The New York Building Congress states that with NESE in place, gas that lands on Staten Island stays on Staten Island, and this "strengthens year-round reliability, cushions the system against disruptions at other supply points, and keeps essential facilities running smoothly."207 The Plumbing Foundation City of New York, Inc., states that "NESE aligns with the state's climate goals by reducing our dependency on oil. It is a pragmatic step forward that balances our immediate energy reliability needs with our long-term sustainability objectives."208

To conclude this discussion of the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project, it is required to ensure the provision of safe, adequate, and reliable gas service to customers in the New York City and Long Island region for both the Con Edison and National Grid service territories. If implemented as proposed, NESE would alleviate the risks inherent in trucking CNG supplies and provide supply diversity as Transco traverses many production areas in the country. Moreover, NESE would provide reliability benefits to natural gas and electric customers if it goes into service and would reduce electricity prices in the winter when natural gas is relied upon to generate electricity, and this dampening of prices should serve to make electrification options more attractive. National Grid is directed to report in its next long-term plan on the more expensive and/or less reliable supply sources that it will avoid as a result of NESE, if it is approved and constructed, and quantify those savings. National Grid will need to right-size its supply stack and consider what supply sources it may not

206 Energy Equipment and Infrastructure Alliance comments, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> New York Building Congress comments, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Plumbing Foundation City of New York comments, p. 2.

need to retain. In addition, National Grid is directed to provide ways to mitigate bill impacts when it files its next rate case, including potential increased revenues from offsystem sales, capacity release, electric generators, and interruptible gas customers. These additional sources of revenue can be used to reduce the bills paid by firm ratepayers. Based on the current state of the record in this proceeding, we conclude it is appropriate for National Grid to seek capacity on However, as noted above, this Order does not prejudge questions of cost recovery, which can be addressed in the appropriate future proceedings. Further, we note that the NESE project has yet to receive all necessary permits or begin construction. For that reason, National Grid is directed to develop a plan to reduce reliance on its risk prone, less reliable, capacity assets as noted in this Order and file that plan within 120 days of any decision by Transco to abandon the project or by November 1, 2028, whichever comes first.

# 2. Greenpoint LNG Facility

The 2024 KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order required National Grid to include specific information regarding Greenpoint in the LTP, which would "permit a comprehensive review of the necessity of the Greenpoint EC facility to continue to support gas system reliability." The specific information regarding Greenpoint included: demand and supply forecasts justifying the need for the facility; an analysis of the gas supply benefits and costs associated with the facility; an estimate of the reduction in the number of customers who could be served on a peak demand day if the facility is retired; a safety and reliability analysis; and a comparison of alternatives to Greenpoint."210

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> 2024 KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order, p. 76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> 2024 KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order, p. 76.

PA reviewed the information that National Grid supplied concerning Greenpoint and provided its analysis concerning the need for the facility. In its Report on the Supplement, PA assumed no added capacity from upgrades to the Greenpoint facility and a constant contribution to the design day supply stack using current levels. Based on its analysis, PA states that Greenpoint's benefits as a supply and reliability resource to the New York - Long Island area outweigh the risks associated with the facility's retirement. 211 Under the Reference Case, PA states that the current Greenpoint vaporizers will be required to meet design day needs. While PA states that Greenpoint could be decommissioned by 2034/35 under the AE and CEV scenarios, this only considers how Greenpoint contributes to National Grid's supply needs to meet Design Day demand. Further, PA said that the "Greenpoint LNG facility must also be considered in the context of service reliability."212

Although PA's analysis raises questions as to whether current alternatives can fill the need that Greenpoint now meets, the introduction of NESE to National Grid's supply portfolio raises the possibility that Greenpoint could be considered for decommissioning in the future. PA acknowledges that supply-side alternatives such as CNG could provide a buffer to the reliance on the Greenpoint LNG facility but cannot act as a full replacement. With regard to DSM programs replacing (or offsetting the need for) Greenpoint LNG, PA states that the historical trend indicates that these measures are also not feasible replacements and while DSM programs continue to develop, many rely on willing and consistent participation by customers, and thus are outside of the direct control of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> PA Final Report, p. 79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> PA Final Report, p. 25.

Company. Further, DSM programs likely will not be able to offset the natural demand growth that is occurring within the KEDNY service area in the near or even medium term. Regarding the possibility of fully shutting down Greenpoint, PA concludes that is unlikely before 2050 because National Grid is obligated to provide service without interruption. If NESE comes online, its actual impact on the Downstate natural gas system will need further analysis to assess the possibility of retiring the Greenpoint LNG facility.

PA's analysis of Greenpoint also focused on the facility's Capex. Concerning Capex, PA states the Company cannot delay making the forecasted capital investments in Greenpoint's current assets. National Grid's Capex forecast for Greenpoint focuses on projects that will enable the facility to act as both as source of supply and a reliability asset for the Downstate gas system. National Grid's Downstate LNG facilities, Greenpoint and Holtsville, serve as a crucial reliability asset, which provide needed supply and help to maintain system pressure during extreme weather events. The unavailability of these LNG facilities during an extreme weather event, coupled with the lack of suitable replacements, could lead to catastrophic results including, loss of life, personal injury, and extensive property damage.

PA also recommends that National Grid provide a more comprehensive evaluation of Greenpoint's health and environmental impacts on nearby communities in future iterations of the LTP. In this proceeding, the Company limited its analysis of health impacts to a consideration of the impact on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> PA Final Report, p. 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> PA Final Report, p. 79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> PA Final Report, p. 79.

health from the loss of service during an extreme weather event. 216 Regarding environmental impacts, National Grid did indicate that Greenpoint's retirement would lead to a reduction in localized pollutants, but did not provide additional context. Further, the Company provided a limited overview of Greenpoint's land use impacts, but PA indicated that National Grid should provide additional detail concerning Greenpoint's land use impacts on nearby communities in its future LTPs. Also, PA recommended that the Company explain how Greenpoint's operation impacts the average customer's bill and provide a comparison to the impacts of CNG, firm pipeline contracts, and delivered services.

PA had previously completed a report regarding
National Grid's proposal to add Vaporizers 13 and 14 to the
Greenpoint LNG facility in 2022.<sup>217</sup> In the 2022 Greenpoint
Vaporizer Report, PA explained that some of the vaporizers at
the Greenpoint LNG facility are connected to the 350 pounds per
square inch gas gauge (psig) system, whereas others are
connected to the 60 psig system. The distinction is important
because the 60 psig system is the local distribution system,
which serves the neighborhoods near the Greenpoint facility.
The 350 psig system is part of the NYFS, which provides pressure
support for the entire New York City and western Long Island gas
system, but is also crucial for ensuring reliability in
neighborhoods surrounding the Greenpoint LNG Facility in
Brooklyn and Queens.

In its Final LTP, the Company listed alternatives to the Greenpoint LNG Facility. On the supply side, these included

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> PA Final Report, p. 81.

<sup>217</sup> Cases 19-G-0309 et al., KEDNY/KEDLI - Rates, PA Consulting's
Review of National Grid's Greenpoint Vaporizer 13 & 14 Report
(filed October 27, 2022) (2022 Greenpoint Vaporizer Report).

LNG trailer trucks, CNG injection stations, RNG, and hydrogen. Each of these alternatives face significant hurdles. Company estimates that it would cost about \$850 million dollars to develop enough CNG to replace the Greenpoint LNG Facility. Also, LNG trucking faces significant regulatory hurdles because New York City's transportation regulations prohibit LNG transportation in cargo tanks. 218 The current scale of RNG and hydrogen production is not yet sufficient to replace the need for LNG facilities. As options to reduce demand, the Company identified energy efficiency, demand response programs, and heat pumps.<sup>219</sup> The Company estimates that over 291,000 households would have to fully electrify to replace the design day capacity of the Greenpoint LNG Facility, at an estimated cost of over \$9 billion based on costs per customer ranging from about \$28,000 to \$45,000.220 In its Final LTP, the Company maintains that its "analyses confirm that the Greenpoint LNG Facility Vaporizer 13 & 14 Project remains the best available solution to address the projected supply-demand gap in the time required and is consistent with New York's Net Zero goals."221

PA analyzed the available data concerning substitutes for the LNG supply. While PA's analysis found that supply-side alternatives such as CNG could provide a buffer to the use of LNG from the Greenpoint LNG Facility, they cannot serve as a full replacement. Further, regarding the ability of DSM programs to replace the Greenpoint LNG Facility, PA states that historical trends indicate they are not feasible. DSM programs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> Final LTP, P. 141.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> Final LTP, p. 131.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> Final LTP, P. 135.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> Final LTP, p. 85.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> PA Final Report, p. 80.

are reliant on the actions of customers and are not controllable by National Grid. However, PA acknowledges that the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project's additional supply "will provide National Grid with more peak day operational reliability and market flexibility."223 PA recommends that, in future LTP filings, the Company better quantify the costs associated with the Greenpoint LNG Facility assets, and ensure that those costs can be compared against potential alternatives on a \$/Dt of capacity basis. Further, PA states that quantifying the Greenpoint LNG Facility costs on this basis may help stakeholders understand if the Greenpoint LNG Facility is expensive compared to alternatives.

In the Supplement, National Grid states that its rapid deployment of LNG supplies at the Greenpoint LNG Facility narrowly avoided customer outages from Winter Storm Elliott in December 2022. Although National Grid acknowledges that NESE negates the design day supply need for the Vaporizers 13 and 14 project, the Company contends the vaporizers would still provide system reliability benefits. National Grid also states that NESE could serve as a partial contingency source of supply which would enable the Greenpoint LNG Facility to be taken offline for maintenance. 224 NESE's ability to serve as a partial contingency for the Greenpoint LNG Facility, even if National Grid only identifies it within the limited context of maintenance activities at Greenpoint LNG Facility, does raise the possibility that NESE may be able to support the permanent decommissioning of the Greenpoint LNG facility in the future, which we address in more detail in the following pages. Further, the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project, if it is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> Supplement, p. 30.

constructed, would provide significantly more supply volume than Vaporizers 13 and 14 and provides longer duration resilience benefits to meet demand, which negates the need for Vaporizers 13 and 14 based on the updated 2025 demand forecast.

NESE, if it is constructed, will significantly improve the supply of natural gas to the Downstate gas system and improve the system's reliability, which may address the risks associated with shutting down the Greenpoint LNG Facility based on the data contained in the 2025 demand forecast. National Grid projects that NESE will increase firm gas supply by 13 percent to the Downstate gas system. National Grid explained how the additional supply path provided by NESE would have helped alleviate the reliability concerns caused by Winter Storm Elliott. The Company states that "the existence of a parallel path to the Rockaway Delivery Lateral would have delayed pressure degradation and created additional time to respond to worsening conditions."225 Based on NESE's projected supply and reliability benefits, and the 2025 Demand forecast it is reasonable to consider whether NESE may be able to serve as a replacement for the Greenpoint LNG Facility in the future.

Several stakeholders submitted comments concerning the Greenpoint LNG Facility. Senator Julia Salazar states that we should be planning to shut down the Greenpoint LNG Facility and remediate the site for public benefit. Community Board No. 1 states that the Commission should reject the Company's claims for prolonging the life of its LNG depot at the Greenpoint LNG Facility. Newtown Creek Alliance expresses concern with the continued existence of the two LNG tanks and states that they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> Supplement, p. 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> Senator Salazar Comments (filed April 21, 2025), p. 2.

<sup>227</sup> Community Board No. 1 Comments (filed April 23, 2025), p. 3.

will impede the efforts to properly remediate the Newtown Creek, a federal Superfund Site for which National Grid is a primary Potentially Responsible Party.<sup>228</sup>

Additionally, Sane requests that the Commission require National Grid to submit a decommissioning plan for the Greenpoint LNG Facility that aligns with the CLCPA and PA's findings. Sane also requests that the Commission disallow all investments in the Greenpoint LNG Facility because they are likely to become stranded. 229 However, Sane's comment is not applicable here because the Commission is not considering or authorizing cost recovery in this Order. That said, for planning purposes, the Commission notes that utilities must consider the risk of stranded assets and right-size their supply stack investments accordingly, while continuing to make the necessary investments for maintaining safe and adequate service. Further, Margot Spindelman proposes that the Commission convene a Community Advisory Group, including neighborhood stakeholders to chart a path forward for the Greenpoint LNG Facility. Also, the Sierra Club comments that the LTP's "are well structured to pilot initial utility efforts to begin to prune the gas system."230 The Commission agrees that it is reasonable to consider which parts of the gas system may no longer be needed. To that end, it is appropriate to consider whether the addition of NESE, if it is approved, will enable National Grid to decommission the Greenpoint LNG Facility.

PA states that the Greenpoint LNG Facility should be considered in the context of service reliability and also considers it unlikely that the Greenpoint LNG Facility may be

<sup>228</sup> Newtown Creek Alliance comments, p. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> Sane Comments (filed September 8, 2025), p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> Sierra Club Comments (filed September 5, 2025), p. 32.

shut down before 2050 due to the Company's obligation to provide service without interruption.<sup>231</sup> However, the addition of NESE to National Grid's supply portfolio would provide supply and reliability benefits that could address the risks associated with decommissioning of the Greenpoint LNG Facility.

The need to assure reliable natural gas service in New York City requires that the Greenpoint LNG Facility continue to function for the near term, however the possibility that NESE may enable the Greenpoint LNG Facility to be decommissioned at some point should be explored. While some stakeholders contend that the Commission should initiate the process to decommission the Greenpoint LNG Facility in this Order, the record in this proceeding demonstrates that the Greenpoint LNG Facility serves a reliability need that cannot be met elsewhere for the time being. There is currently not a viable alternative that can provide a similar level of reliability benefits as the Greenpoint LNG Facility. However, National Grid's annual LTP updates will provide critical information concerning potential changes to the Downstate system's supply, demand, and reliability needs. In that context, we expect National Grid to address whether the future need for the Greenpoint LNG Facility has changed. Additionally, understanding NESE's actual impact on the supply and reliability of the Downstate gas system, if it is approved, will be critical to understanding whether NESE may allow for the decommissioning of the Greenpoint LNG Facility under real world conditions.

The Commission also agrees with commenters that increased interaction between National Grid and community members would provide opportunities to discuss and address local stakeholders' environmental and health concerns and help inform

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> PA Final Report, p. 25.

National Grid's operations and plans at the Greenpoint LNG Facility. National Grid is directed to contact Community Board No. 1 to determine when and how it can take part in its meetings. Based on its discussions with Community Board No. 1, National Grid shall develop a plan for interaction with it and file the plan with the Secretary within 90 days of the date of this Order. This already established and interested group can provide a conduit for National Grid to hear the community's concerns and attempt to address those concerns. Additionally, National Grid is directed to file a report with the Secretary to the Commission summarizing every Community Board No.1 meeting that it attends within 30 days of the meeting. National Grid is also directed to file information in its first annual update to this LTP on the impact to the environment of the local community from operation of the Greenpoint LNG Facility and information comparing the cost of LNG per Dt compared to other components of the supply stack, such as CNG and delivered services. Finally, in its next LTP filing, the Company is directed to include comprehensive analysis, including demand-side and supply-side alternatives with detailed and verified cost estimates, concerning NESE's ability to serve as a replacement for the Greenpoint LNG Facility and what would be required to ensure that NESE may allow for decommissioning of the Greenpoint LNG Facility, taking into consideration the most recent available forecasts for gas load growth and electrification efforts.

# Low Carbon Fuels

#### 1. Renewable Natural Gas

As the Planning Order notes, RNG remains a developing issue, and it should remain in consideration for planning purposes. The Commission also stated that each LDC should identify the potential for use of RNG in its long-term plan and the larger questions of studies or trading programs for RNG

would be deferred to a future phase of the Gas Planning Proceeding. National Grid's CEV scenario features a "100 percent fossil-free gas network" where National Grid asserts it will eliminate fossil fuels from the existing gas network by 2050. The Company anticipates accomplishing this by delivering significant amounts of RNG and green hydrogen to customers. The AE scenario assumes the use of RNG but in a more limited capacity than in the CEV scenario.

National Grid states that it currently receives RNG from the Newtown Creek Wastewater Treatment Facility, and the Company also anticipates the completion of an anaerobic digestion waste-to-energy facility on Long Island. This facility will be owned and operated by American Organic Energy, LLC. The Company states there are four additional RNG projects being developed in its Downstate service territories. These five projects are expected to collectively inject approximately 5,350 Dt/day, along with four RNG projects being developed in the NMPC territory totaling 2,200 Dt/day.

National Grid contracted with Guidehouse to conduct a study of RNG supply potential. Guidehouse found that the Company's share of the eastern United States' RNG supply potential would be 7.2 percent in 2050.234 This is equal to about 83 million Dt to 158 million Dt (low supply case vs. high supply case).235 National Grid also projects that the cost of RNG will drop significantly in the future. In 2020, RNG cost about \$43.53 per Dt. The Company projects that the cost will

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> Planning Order, p. 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> Final LTP, p. 18.

 $<sup>^{234}</sup>$  Final LTP, p. 70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> TBtu is trillions of Btus, with 1 dekatherm of natural gas equal to one million Btus, meaning 1 TBtu is 1 million dekatherms.

drop to \$13.54 per Dt by 2050.<sup>236</sup> National Grid adds that increasing in-state production of RNG will benefit farmers by providing them an additional revenue stream. Also, the Company claims that municipalities will benefit from the production of RNG from wastewater treatment and landfills.<sup>237</sup>

The stakeholders made several comments about RNG. CNY says that the CEV has unreasonable assumptions regarding the availability of RNG and it may only be a viable alternative to natural gas if it is produced locally and used specifically for hard-to-electrify end uses. AGREE states that if National Grid does not acquire and retire the environmental attributes, then any RNG National Grid purchases and delivers to its customers is not environmentally different from fossil gas because someone else who buys and retires the attributes will be claiming the environmental benefit. New Yorkers for Clean Power states that RNG does not provide the projected emissions reductions due to induced production of methane and fugitive emissions. 400

PA states that RNG will remain a premium product under the most optimistic scenario where the cost of LCFs declines significantly. Further, PA states the cost of LCFs will still be three to six times more than traditional natural gas.<sup>241</sup> PA recommends that National Grid analyze the practicality of securing its projected RNG market share of 7.2 percent of average potential RNG in the eastern United States. Further, PA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> Final LTP, p. 72.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> Final LTP, p. 166.

<sup>238</sup> CNY Comments (filed April 3, 2025), p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> AGREE Comments (filed December 13, 2024), p. 2.

 $<sup>^{240}</sup>$  New Yorkers for Clean Power Comments (filed September 8, 2025), p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> PA Final Report, p. 131.

recommends that the Company determine the price point at which blending RNG is more expensive than heat pumps for space heating in residential and small commercial buildings.<sup>242</sup>

National Grid is directed to include information on the amount of RNG it purchases on an annual basis in its updates to this LTP and in future LTP fillings. National Grid is also directed to calculate the price point at which blending RNG becomes more expensive than heat pumps for residential customers and how that compares the prices National Grid is paying for RNG on a per-dekatherm basis for each source of RNG in its next long-term plan filling, and clearly indicate if that price includes environmental attributes.

### 2. Hydrogen

The Company is also exploring the use of hydrogen for targeted industries and customers. National Grid also states that it expects RNG and green hydrogen to enable it to eliminate fossil fuels from the existing gas network by 2050. National Grid states that the CEV scenario projects that 11 percent of non-residential customers will switch to 100 percent hydrogen gas service by 2050. Further, the CEV scenario projects that hydrogen blending in pipeline gas will reach seven percent of the total blend (by energy) by 2050.<sup>243</sup> The Company states that it may seek Commission approval for hydrogen projects that will demonstrate their practicality and allow for an evaluation of their cost competitive features.<sup>244</sup> Regarding the cost of hydrogen, National Grid refers to a study that estimates the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> PA Final Report, p. 154.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Final LTP, p. 41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> Final LTP, p. 74.

cost of hydrogen will decline from \$28.95 per Dt in 2020 to \$17.81 per Dt in 2050.245

Various stakeholders submitted several comments about hydrogen. By way of example, Margot Spindelman contends the Company has been disingenuous when discussing both RNG and hydrogen. Community Board No. 1 recommends rejecting National Grid's "false solutions such as 'renewable natural' gas and hydrogen as viable alternatives to its fracked gas system."246 CNY states that hydrogen is not currently a viable alternative to natural gas because of its "high costs and the limited knowledge that we, as a State, have on its safety."247 The Environmental Defense Fund (EDF) states that hydrogen blending presents significant safety, environmental, and health concerns.248 New Yorkers for Clean Power states that renewable hydrogen is difficult and expensive to produce, poses safety issues, and is less energy efficient than heat pumps.249

PA states that hydrogen will be a premium product over the forecast period and will remain costly.<sup>250</sup> PA also mentions that hydrogen has other limitations on its use, which are dictated by technical considerations, such as the maximum safe level of hydrogen blending. Similar to its recommendation regarding RNG, PA recommends that National Grid conduct an analysis to determine the price point at which blending hydrogen is more expensive than heat pumps.<sup>251</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> Final LTP, p. 74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> Community Board No. 1 comments (filed April 23, 2025), p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> CNY Comments (filed April 3, 2025), p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> EDF Comments (filed April 2, 2025), p. 3.

 $<sup>^{249}</sup>$  New Yorkers for Clean Power Comments (filed September 8, 2025), pp. 9-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> PA Final Report, p. 131.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> PA Final Report, p. 154.

As mentioned above, in its final scoping plan the CAC stated that there is a potential role for low carbon fuels for hard to electrify customer sectors. The Commission acknowledges that RNG is already part of the natural gas supply in New York State. National Grid is directed to calculate the price point at which blending hydrogen becomes more expensive than heat pumps for residential customers and how that compares to the prices National Grid is paying for hydrogen on a per dekatherm basis comparable to the heat content of natural gas in its next long-term plan filing. The Commission will consider hydrogen projects if and when the Company may propose them, but shares the concerns of stakeholders regarding the safety and cost of using hydrogen in place of or blended with natural gas for mass market customers.

# Peaking Services

The Company states that its Downstate design day load relies on 153 Mdt/day of short-term peaking and cogenerator contracts and NMPC relies on 20 Mdt/day of citygate peaking and 13 Mdt/day of short-term peaking and cogenerator contracts to meet design day load. National Grid states that reliance on these types of contracts exposes the Company, and thus customers, to high city-gate pricing during peak days. The Company explains that this is because the "commodity costs when the peaking services are called upon are often the most expensive in the portfolio."253 National Grid states that its

Final LTP, pp. xviii and xix. (Some cogenerators allow National Grid to use their firm pipeline capacity to serve core customers during periods of high heating load in exchange for payment. It should be noted that these agreements are based on the assumption that the cogenerator will switch to an alternate fuel during those periods or not be called upon by the Independent System Operator as the electric system is currently summer peaking, but this may change in the future.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> Final LTP, p. 61.

reliance on peaking contracts "reflects a pragmatic approach to modern energy challenges, balancing immediate needs with long-term sustainability and cost-efficiency." 254

PA observed in its Final Report that the Company changed its supply forecasts in its Final LTP to reflect increased supply from newly acquired firm pipeline and city-gate peaking sources compared to its Revised LTP.<sup>255</sup> In its Final Report, PA references the limitations and risks associated with relying on delivered services and city gate peaking services.<sup>256</sup> In its Report on the Supplement, PA states that if NESE is constructed, National Grid would likely reduce its reliance on costly peaking services.

The Commission notes that delivered and city gate peaking services are an important component of meeting design day demand but are not assets over which the Company has as much control as its LNG, CNG, pipeline, and storage contracts. In its 2027 annual update to the LTP, the Company is directed to provide information quantifying the cost savings that it can achieve from shedding peaking services and CNG contracts, assuming NESE and ExC enter service as currently scheduled. Further, National Grid shall provide updates to that information in subsequent annual updates and future long-term plans as it actually sheds contracts for peaking assets.

### Demand Response Programs

The Commission has recognized that the utilities should continue to consider the utilization of interruptible gas service to minimize the need for new infrastructure, but should

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> Final LTP, p. 63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> PA Final Report, p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> PA Final Report, p. 21.

give priority to the development of innovative clean demand response programs. 257

National Grid states that its firm demand response programs are "the largest and most comprehensive of such programs in the country."<sup>258</sup> The Company lists load shedding and load shifting programs for commercial customers, a bring-your-own thermostat program for residential customers, and a behavioral demand response program in its Final LTP and states the programs have seen considerable year-over-year increases in customer adoption. The Company also notes that demand response is a flexible resource that it can also call on to reduce peak load during system emergencies, such as during Winter Storm Elliott in December 2022 when National Grid requested that gas demand response customers provide emergency load reductions.

The Commission notes that National Grid has a robust demand response program for both firm and non-firm customers. National Grid should continue to enroll customers in these programs and include updates on their effectiveness in future long-term plan filings.

# Energy Efficiency

In the Planning Order, the Commission required that LDCs adjust their demand forecast scenarios to reflect energy efficiency. 259 In its Final LTP, National Grid identified increased energy efficiency savings, stating that under "the state's New Efficiency: New York (NE:NY) transformation of utility energy efficiency programs, National Grid's total annual gas energy efficiency savings have grown year-over-year since

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> Planning Order, p. 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> Final LTP, p. 96.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> Planning Order, p. 29.

2021."260 Additionally, the Company states that its energy efficiency programs have achieved almost 13.6 million Dt of annual energy savings and engaged nearly 315,000 participants across its three gas service territories.<sup>261</sup> National Grid states that it created annual energy efficiency projections based on the Company's expected achievement of NE:NY goals through 2025, and basing the 2026 through 2030 annual savings on the Company's proposal in the Energy Efficiency and Building Electrification filing and NYSERDA's Low- and Moderate-Income state programs.<sup>262</sup> After 2030, the Company assumed that annual energy efficiency savings would continue to grow slightly through 2040 and eventually saturate (meaning that annual incremental energy efficiency still occurs, but at a slower rate) later in the forecast period. National Grid states that the current emphasis on strategic energy efficiency and building electrification measures will result in "a large decrease in the amount of annual gas energy efficiency savings that the Company is able to achieve."263 The Company states that energy efficiency accounts for 2,361 million Dt of demand reduction in both the CEV and AE scenarios between 2024 and 2050 which is more than 3.5 times greater than what it can achieve through current policies, regulations, and market dynamics as it forecasts in the Reference Case. The Company also discusses the use of energy efficiency in addressing vulnerable locations in its Upstate service territory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> Final LTP, p. xii.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> Final LTP, p. 91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> Case 18-M-0084, <u>In the Matter of a Comprehensive Energy</u> Efficiency Initiative. Proposals filed originally on November 1, 2023, and further supplemented and corrected between January 16 and 25, 2024.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> Final LTP, p. 106.

NYSERDA suggests that National Grid should conduct a sensitivity analysis in which costs for energy efficiency decline over time, as National Grid did not assume cost or efficiency changes over time.  $^{264}$ 

Regarding energy efficiency, PA states that electrification, energy efficiency, and DSM measures result in a reduction of volumes of gas delivered and customer count and puts upward pressure on gas rates but "if done properly (i.e., targeted and coordinated electrification), this pathway has the potential to reduce emissions while maintaining affordability." PA encouraged the Company and stakeholders to explore strategies focused on coordinated electrification that could maximize the value of electrification across the service territories.

The Commission recognizes that National Grid has been directed to take certain actions regarding energy efficiency and building electrification, particularly in the implementation of such programs and portfolios for 2026 through 2030.<sup>266</sup> In the Commission's May Orders within the EE/BE Proceedings, the Commission established EE/BE portfolio budgets for all three of National Grid's New York State service territories. Certain incremental and targeted energy efficiency or building

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> NYSERDA Comments (filed December 13, 2024), pp. 11-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> PA Final Report, p. 137.

<sup>266</sup> Case 25-M-0248, In the Matter of the 2026-2030 Non-Low- to Moderate-Income Energy Efficiency and Building Electrification Portfolios, Order Authorizing Non-Low- to Moderate-Income Energy Efficiency and Building Electrification Portfolios for 2026-2030 (issued May 15, 2025); and Case 25-M-0249, In the Matter of the 2026-2030 Low- to Moderate-Income Energy Efficiency and Building Electrification Portfolio, Order Authorizing Low- to Moderate-Income Energy Efficiency and Building Electrification Portfolio for 2026-2030 (issued May 15, 2025) (EE/BE Proceedings).

electrification measures may be considered and undertaken by National Grid as part of NPAs, which are discussed later in this Order.

# Reliability Standards and Hydraulic Modeling

In the Planning Order, the Commission adopted Staff's recommendations that long-term plans identify the methodology by which LDCs will forecast and measure reliability, and that design day standards be considered in each long-term plan and revalidated in a frequency proposed by the LDC.<sup>267</sup> The Company models a design day average temperature of 0 degrees Fahrenheit (°F) in Central Park, or 65 heating degree days (HDD), for its Downstate service territories. Additionally, National Grid models a design day average temperature of -10°F at Albany and Syracuse airports, or 75 HDDs, for the Upstate service territory. National Grid projects that Downstate design day gas demand would increase approximately 0.88 percent per year, from 2,829,000 Dt/day in the winter of 2023/24 to 3,551,000 Dt/day in the winter of 2049/50.<sup>268</sup> Further, the Company projects that Upstate design day gas demand will increase approximately 0.53 percent per year from 952,000 Dt/day in winter 2023/24 to 1,094,000 Dt/day in the winter of 2049/50.269 However, in the Supplement, National Grid revised the design day forecasts for Downstate, stating that the 2025 forecast suggests a slower rate of demand growth, which may delay the projected supply gap until 2041/42. Further, National Grid adds in the Supplement that they still project growth in design day demand, "with a compound

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> Planning Order, p. 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> Final LTP, p. XVI.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> Final LTP, p. xvii.

annual growth rate of 0.55 percent between 2025 and 2035 and 0.35 percent between 2025 and 2050." $^{270}$ 

As part of this proceeding, National Grid states that "unlike with the electric system, there is zero allowable contingency or reserve margin to guard against extreme weather or unexpected disruption to gas supply, gas infrastructure, or demand-side resource availability. Zero contingency means that the plans for balancing gas demand and supply have no supply contingency or reserve margin. In other words, the system is designed to balance supply and demand, assuming forecasted peak demand is not exceeded and that all available gas capacity resources will be available with no disruption."271 Thus, National Grid's downstate gas system as currently configured and supplied is fragile and vulnerable. Additionally, the Company is crucially dependent on CNG, LNG, and peaking services - all of which have finite volume and attendant risks. Moreover, the LNG supply is not replenishable during the winter season, as it must be filled during the summer months when demand for natural gas is lower.

As we observed in the earlier Con Edison/O&R LTP Order, Con Edison also does not have a reserve margin. Similar to National Grid, Con Edison was also relying on CNG and peaking contracts, and had imposed a moratorium on gas connections in parts of its service territory. To reduce this reliability risk, Con Edison's LTP reflected actions that company took to secure additional firm pipeline capacity of 115,000 Dt/day capacity from Tennessee (which came into service in 2023), and identified additional capacity from the Iroquois ExC project, which when placed in-service will provide additional firm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> Supplement, p. 13.

 $<sup>^{271}</sup>$  Final LTP, p. 15.

pipeline capacity of 62,500 Dt/day.<sup>272</sup> Based on the added firm pipeline capacity, the Commission noted that Con Edison planned to de-risk its supply stack, by phasing out and shedding riskier CNG and peaking contracts.<sup>273</sup> The actions taken by Con Edison to de-risk its supply stack in a near-zero margin operating environment are very similar to those proposed by National Grid.

Margot Spindelman comments that the Company has inflated its design day forecast and "has continued to plan for the Reference Case (business as usual) scenario, despite the fact that both the CEV and AE scenarios can be met without a supply shortfall."274 Newtown Creek Alliance expresses a concern about using data to determine design day that does not accurately reflect the current/actual climate and cold weather conditions present in New York City. AGREE maintains that in the context of human-induced global warming, it is unreasonable to base the design day on a temperature last observed 90 years ago. NYSERDA recommends that National Grid work with the Commission and potentially other utilities in the State to develop a framework for updating the definition of design day demand conditions to align with empirical data and the latest climate science.

PA also found that National Grid's Reference Case "Design Day (demand) do not fully reflect the expected impacts on usage from accelerated electrification and changes in heating degree days, among other factors." Additionally, PA states

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> Con Edison/O&R LTP Order, p. 36; FERC Docket No. CP20-48-00, Enhancement by Compression Project, Abbreviated Application of Iroquois Transmission System, L.P. for a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity (filed January 31, 2020), pp. 8-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> Con Edison/O&R LTP Order, pp. 36, 45.

<sup>274</sup> Spindelman comments (filed June 3, 2025), p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> PA Final Report, p. 13.

that the total contracted supply stack for the 2025/26 winter season stands at just over 2,992,000 Dt/day of design day capacity Downstate. PA adds that "under the 2025 Forecast Reference Case design day demand forecast, National Grid is able to serve design day demand for the remainder of the study period."<sup>276</sup> In this forecast, capacity exceeds forecasted demand by approximately 195,000 Dt/day in 2025/26, growing to a peak of 559,000 Dt/day in 2029/30 and thereafter shrinking to 391,000 Dt/d by 2049/50.

The Commission has noted in its orders regarding other LDCs' long-term plans that relying on the coldest actual weather experienced in a service territory is a reasonable basis for determining design day load.<sup>277</sup> Use per customer per under design day conditions is an evolving issue, as PA points out, given increased electrification and weatherization, as well as fewer HDDs over the course of a winter. National Grid is directed to include information on how it develops estimates of use per customer in the load forecasting report discussed above. No Infrastructure Option and Non-Pipe Alternatives

In the Planning Order, the Commission required that LDCs include a no infrastructure scenario but allowed an LDC to assert that a no infrastructure scenario may not be feasible for a particular project or portion of its long-term plan. 278 National Grid states in its Final LTP that a "no infrastructure" scenario is infeasible for any portion of its plan because the magnitude of the supply-demand gap cannot be resolved with demand response measures and other NPAs in time to avoid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> Central Hudson LTP Order, pp. 55-56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> Planning Order, pp. 35 and 37.

reliability impacts.<sup>279</sup> Also, National Grid states that it continues to seek new supply and demand options including pursuing market solicitations for NPAs. The Company adds that while "we evaluate NPAs to remove LPP segments, we have not to date secured the required level of customer participation necessary to implement such an NPA, underscoring the importance of identifying novel NPA approaches."<sup>280</sup>

The Company states that in its process to identify onsystem capital projects, it will evaluate potential NPAs for the identified projects and if an NPA cannot be implemented in time to maintain system reliability in a cost-effective manner, the project will move forward. The Company also states that it will evaluate leak-prone mains identified for removal for NPA feasibility. National Grid pursued an RFP to identify NPA proposals that could alleviate gas demand within the 2nd Ward of Queens. The Company stated that more than 100 entities were contacted as part of an RFI process, but only 12 entities expressed an interest in the RFP, with an additional two entities being added prior to RFP issuance. National Grid received only one bid, which was a combination proposal from several of the bidders that would only have removed 984 Dt of design day usage. This would have achieved only 17.6 percent of the targeted 5,600 Dt of design day usage that was required by the RFP. National Grid decided not to recommend an award for the bid. 281

The Company states that it will consider NPAs as part of its proposed Upstate East Gate Reliability Assessment. 282

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> Final LTP, p. 80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup> Final LTP, p. xxi.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> Final LTP, p. 82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> Final LTP, p. 86.

Also, National Grid states that it aims to rapidly scale the deployment of NPAs in a cost-effective manner for both society and its customers. National Grid describes three types of NPA programs in its Final LTP. These are programs address leakprone pipe, reliability and reinforcement, and new connections. The Company states it has completed three leak-prone pipe NPAs in its Upstate service territory and is in active discussions regarding other projects.<sup>283</sup>

CNY states that while National Grid asserts in its LTP that none of the pathways include "no infrastructure" options without "a suite of enabling policies," the Plan's failure to include a concrete strategy and commitments to scale NPA implementation even while the State implements enabling policies is in direct conflict with the Commission's directives in the Planning Order to use NPAs to present "no infrastructure" scenarios.<sup>284</sup> CNY adds that National Grid must be specific as to what sections of its plan require infrastructure upgrades and explain its reasoning.

Sane states that National Grid has refused to perform studies about demand response and NPAs.<sup>285</sup> NYSERDA recommends that National Grid work more proactively to implement all types of NPAs. NYSERDA also references an annual NPA Opportunities and Programmatic Success report and a stakeholder engagement meeting on LPP NPAs, which the Company has committed to in its recent Downstate rate case.<sup>286</sup> The Sierra Club states that "there are cost-effective alternatives to continuing to replace

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> Final LTP, pp. 101-102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> New York City Comments (filed September 18, 2024), p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> Case 24-G-0248, Sane Energy Response to National Grid Request to Amend GSLTP (filed June 3, 2025) (Request for Additional Analysis), p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> NYSERDA Comments (filed December 13, 2024), p. 2

the thousands of miles of leak prone pipe in New York."287
NYSERDA expects that these will be useful forums for National
Grid to document and improve its evolving NPA planning practices
and for stakeholders to provide constructive input on those
practices. Katherine Thompson states it would be irresponsible
for the Commission to accept National Grid's LTP without
redirecting customer resources that National Grid would invest
in more soon-to-be-stranded fossil fuel infrastructure toward
NPAs.

PA recommends that the Company include plans that aggressively pursue alternatives to adding customers to the gas system. PA states that if a single consumer decides to not connect to the gas system it will avoid the installation of a service line and the purchase of a new meter. Further, "targeted implementation of NPAs for specific parts of the distribution system could eliminate investment in multiple meters."288 PA also recommends that National Grid consider minimum investment thresholds for NPAs that would trigger an NPA assessment if a capital project exceeds a specific financial and timeline threshold. Further, PA recommends that the Company create quidelines that ensure sufficient time for NPA solicitation and deployment. National Grid states that the Reliability & Reinforcement NPAs already have minimum threshold criteria for cost and timeline, which were filed with the Commission. 289 PA also recommends that National Grid continue to consider solutions that would rapidly scale NPA deployment, minimize overall system cost, and keep rates and bills manageable for customers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> Sierra Club Comments (filed September 5, 2025), p. 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup> PA Final Report, p. 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> Final LTP, p. 99.

The Commission notes National Grid has had limited success in NPA deployment, despite solicitation attempts, which is similar to the experiences of other gas utilities in the State. As NYSERDA points out, the Company is taking measures to improve its NPA deployment Downstate pursuant to the 2024 KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order. Additionally, pursuant to the 2025 NMPC Rate Order, the Company agreed to several measures to improve the rate of NPA deployment in its Upstate service territory including: 1) prioritizing NPA opportunities that have the highest level of customer interest; 2) develop an NPA proposal targeting new gas service installations and service line replacements; 3) conduct an NPA related stakeholder engagement meeting; and 4) an NPA heat pump monthly credit to incentivize customer installation of heat pumps.<sup>290</sup> These rate plan measures should enhance the opportunities for successful NPAs. Company is directed to provide a thorough update on its NPA deployment in its next long-term plan filing, including listing all solicitations and their results. Regarding NMPC specifically, the Company is directed to include information on the East Gate reliability in its next long-term plan filing, which must be based on the updated demand forecast as described above and include the projected date of any supply-demand gap and a description of all alternatives considered including NPAs. Leak-Prone Pipe

The Planning Order directs LDCs to provide reporting in furtherance of LPP replacement with NPAs. Specifically, the Commission required the utilities to identify "specific segments of LPP that could be abandoned in favor of NPAs in the annual reports ... and to identify where infrastructure projects may be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> 2025 NMPC Rate Order, pp. 98-100.

required to maintain reliability."291 In its Final LTP, National Grid states that it defines LPP as all 12-inch and smaller diameter pipe that is unprotected bare or coated steel pipe, 12-inch and smaller diameter cast and wrought iron pipe, pre-1985 vintage Aldyl-A plastic pipe, and unprotected steel/wrought iron, copper, vintage HDPE, and Aldyl-A plastic services.<sup>292</sup> National Grid adds that by replacing pipes with high leak rates, such as cast iron and unprotected steel, the LPP Program has reduced GHG emissions by 18.5 percent avoiding 5,538,160 metric tons of CO2e since 2008. National Grid states that it has an NPA program that provides existing customers with an incentive to convert to a non-gas alternative if they receive gas service via leak-prone pipe. Further, the replacement of the LPP can be avoided if all customers on the segment of LPP accept the opportunity to convert to the NPA.<sup>293</sup>

PA notes that NPAs can be used to strategically reduce the need for LPP replacement:

by optimizing the replacement of LPP, and electrifying where possible, the Company could develop a view on the most crucial segments of pipe that must be replaced from a safety and resiliency perspective, identify segments of LPP that could be potential candidates for electrification, and ultimately limit their capital budget for LPP replacement.<sup>294</sup>

PA states that the cost estimate in the BCA analysis of all scenarios suggests that "the Company is not really envisioning any possibility in scaling NPAs to the point where a substantial portion of the LPP gas network will not be replaced."295

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> Planning Order, p. 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> Final LTP, p. 78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> Final LTP, p. 100.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> PA Final Report, p. 137.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> PA Final Report, p. 137.

The Commission notes that the 2024 KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order and 2025 NMPC Rate Order establish targets for LPP replacement for all three service territories. In addition, the rate orders require the Company to evaluate LPP for opportunities for NPAs. The Company is directed to provide information in the annual updates to this LTP, as well as in its next long-term plan filing, regarding the mileage of LPP remaining in each service territory and the results of solicitations for NPAs issued by the Company focused on retiring LPP.

# Impacts on Low- and Moderate-Income Customers and Disadvantaged Communities

The Planning Order directed LDCs to "identify the disadvantaged communities in their service territories, explain the impacts of any proposed projects on disadvantaged communities, and explain how the LDC will ensure that an appropriate portion of the benefits of any proposed NPAs accrue to disadvantaged communities." The Company states that it is:

working to ensure customers in (disadvantaged communities) benefit from improved infrastructure, expanded outreach to provide accessible, authentic engagement and representation in our processes, expanded participation in energy efficiency and affordability programs that can help customers manage their bills, and specific community economic benefits through programs such as workforce development grants as well as our shareholder-funded community initiatives.<sup>297</sup>

The Company states that 59 percent of the households in New York City either live in a disadvantaged community or are low-income and that 26 percent of households on Long Island either live in a disadvantaged community or are low-income.<sup>298</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> Planning Order, p. 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> Final LTP, p. xv.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> Final LTP, p. 7.

For Upstate, National Grid states the percentage of customers that live in a disadvantaged community or are low-income ranges from 35 to 47 percent across the six regions of New York State served by National Grid. Further, National Grid states it is in "active NPA discussions with a community center located in a disadvantaged community in Brooklyn."299

Sane suggests that the LTP should include a comprehensive reconsideration of CLCPA-compliant emissions and environmental justice impacts, including the cumulative burden on disadvantaged communities like North Brooklyn. Ocommunity Board No. 1 states that prioritizing the maintenance and expansion of its gas business primarily benefits National Grid's corporate shareholders at the expense of our goals and commitments to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and protect disadvantaged communities. Senator Julia Salazar states that the Greenpoint LNG Facility sits in a disadvantaged community. The Newtown Creek Alliance states that the actual threat of living next to the storage of LNG far outweighs the benefits for local disadvantaged communities including the New York City Housing Authority's Cooper Park Houses.

PA encourages the Company to analyze the similarities and differences between disadvantaged communities and the rest of the customer base. Further, PA suggests that this analysis include barriers to customer decarbonization, best practices to help communities with the energy transition, information gaps,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> Final LTP, p. 101.

<sup>300</sup> Sane's Response to National Grid's Request to Amend GSLTP (filed June 3, 2025), p. 1.

<sup>301</sup> Community Board No. 1 Comments (filed April 23, 2025), p. 2.

<sup>302</sup> Senator Salazar Comments (filed April 21, 2025), p. 2.

<sup>303</sup> Newtown Creek Alliance Comments (filed April 2, 2025), p. 5.

and the funding required to help these customers. 304 Information such as annual gas consumption, annual customer bills, and enduses for gas could help inform how disadvantaged communities would be impacted under the different decarbonization scenarios.

While recognizing the concerns of stakeholders about the long-term impacts of the LTP on disadvantaged communities, the Commission notes that National Grid has implemented programs that benefit disadvantaged communities and low- and moderateincome customers. While some stakeholders expressed concern about the location of some facilities, such as the Greenpoint LNG Facility, being in "environmental justice communities," it should be noted that natural gas infrastructure is omnipresent across New York City and Long Island as it must be to provide a necessary utility service to residents and businesses who depend on it for heating, hot water, and cooking. Staff has provided quidance on the reporting of investments benefitting disadvantaged communities through Clean Energy Guidance Document 12.305 As discussed above, until National Grid experiences significant reductions in design day demand, existing infrastructure is needed to ensure reliability. The Company is directed to provide updates on its investments benefitting disadvantaged communities in its annual updates to this LTP.

### Comparison of Alternatives

#### 1. Benefit Cost Analysis

The Planning Order did not modify previous Commission orders regarding the need for BCAs. Also, the Planning Order provides that the consultant, in this proceeding PA, is expected

<sup>304</sup> PA Final Report, p. 31.

<sup>305</sup> Clean Energy Guidance Document 12 is available on the Commission's website at: <a href="https://dps.ny.gov/clean-energy-guidance-documents">https://dps.ny.gov/clean-energy-guidance-documents</a>.

to "help evaluate the economic and environmental tradeoffs associated with different pathways."<sup>306</sup> The Company states that it compared its LTP scenarios through a BCA that utilized the BCA Framework Order's methodology. For NMPC, the ratios that resulted were 0.69 for the Reference Case, 0.70 for CEV, and 0.76 for AE. For KEDNY, the ratios were 0.36 for the Reference Case, 0.50 for CEV and 0.48 for AE. For KEDLI, the ratios were 0.49 for the Reference Case, 0.68 for CEV and 0.65 for AE.<sup>307</sup> National Grid did not update its BCA calculations in the Supplement despite revising the demand forecast for KEDNY and KEDLI.

AGREE states that for a fact-based comparison between scenarios, reasonable assumptions must be used in forecasts, and "if only the production cost of RNG is accounted for, then any BCA comparisons or consumer cost forecasts are a farce."308 AGREE adds that the health benefit of reduced fossil fuel combustion should be added to the BCA. NYSERDA states that a

robust BCA, inclusive of health benefits, would provide stakeholders with important context for evaluating the scenarios presented in the LTP. Omitting these benefits understates the benefits of scenarios that reduce the combustion by relying on greater electrification.<sup>309</sup>

PA states that all of the benefit cost ratios are below 1.0, "meaning the present value of costs outweighs the present value of benefits," and that "the BCA is built on a plethora of assumptions, some of which are speculative and uncertain, and therefore have not been monetized and included in

<sup>306</sup> Planning Order, p. 27.

<sup>307</sup> Final LTP, p. 156.

<sup>308</sup> AGREE Comments (filed December 13, 2024), p. 3.

<sup>309</sup> NYSERDA Comments (filed December 13, 2024), p. 10.

the BCA calculation."<sup>310</sup> PA believes that National Grid, stakeholders, and the Department can work collaboratively to refine the BCA inputs and estimates. PA hypothesizes that some benefits may not be fully accounted for or underestimated, or some costs may be overestimated, which warrants additional analysis of the costs and benefits.

The Commission notes that the Company, consistent with the BCA Framework Order, has ultimately produced benefit-cost comparisons of the scenarios within the realm of reasonableness. However, we do recognize stakeholders' expressed concerns regarding some assumptions and values used in the BCA calculations. When it files its next long-term gas plan in 2028, we expect that National Grid will refine its efforts to reflect expectations of reduced natural gas demand resulting from customers' movement toward less carbon intensive space heating options. The Commission also notes that the Avoided Cost of Gas Working Group is addressing potential guidance to gas utilities regarding future gas BCA calculations. 311 National Grid must reflect any resulting guidance from the Commission on that topic in future long-term plan filings.

# 2. Estimated Bill Impacts and Net Present Value of Costs of Each Alternative

The Planning Order directed the LDCs to present an annual bill impact and net present value for both a traditional solution and any alternatives, and that the analysis address various customer groups. Additionally, the Commission directed that LDCs include an alternative bill impact analysis that assumes the full value of any new gas assets is depreciated by

<sup>310</sup> PA Final Report, p. 30.

<sup>311</sup> Planning Order, pp. 62-63.

2050. $^{312}$  The Company estimates bill impacts across the three service territories and three scenarios as follows: $^{313}$ 

Service	Current	2050	2050	2050
Territory	Monthly	Monthly	Monthly	Monthly
	Bill	Bill,	Bill, CEV	Bill, AE
		Reference		
NMPC	\$85	\$170	\$344	\$2,280
KEDNY	\$168	\$413	\$513	\$6,413
KEDLI	\$156	\$323	\$470	\$5 <b>,</b> 380

The Company states that as the number of gas customers decreases, a smaller number of customers will be responsible for the cost of the operation and maintenance of the system, which will result in increasing per-customer bill impacts. 314 Further, National Grid says that it is "exploring multiple pathways to access additional funding streams in support of delivering benefits to customers at the lowest possible bill impact. "315 The Company states that it does not "anticipate bill impacts of the magnitude forecasted in either scenario will be acceptable to customers, regulators, or policymakers."316 In the Supplement, the Company states that incrementally over the lifespan of the NESE project, gas heating bills will increase \$7.44/month in KEDLI and \$7.61/month in KEDNY, a 3.5 percent increase.317

CNY states it is essential that the Company take an appropriate path forward that would minimize bill impacts, criteria pollution emissions, and public health impacts in a meaningful way and requests that the Commission direct National

<sup>312</sup> Planning Order, p. 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>313</sup> Final LTP, pp. 214-216.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> Final LTP, p. 116.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup> Final LTP, P. 117.

<sup>316</sup> Final LTP, p. 144.

<sup>317</sup> Supplement, p. 11.

Grid to proceed with the AE option after the costs associated with that option are scrutinized and materially reduced to mitigate the bill impacts associated with that pathway, particularly for the most vulnerable customers. The CNY adds that National Grid's bill impact analyses currently do not properly include bill mitigation tactics, nor do the analyses include the expected increases to electric bills as customers electrify. The NYSERDA states that the Company's bill impacts analysis only presents average gas bills and would be more informative if it reflected projected bills for representative customers with particular configurations of appliances.

PA listed certain assumptions that may have a significant impact on customer's bills. Further, PA states that National Grid "should consider revisiting these assumptions and further test the sensitivity of these assumptions in future long-term plans."320 PA expects that demand for natural gas will decrease over time with changes in energy policies in New York and technological advancements. PA also believes that National Grid has underestimated the future costs of low-carbon fuels, and the increase in gas bills illustrated above will further improve the economic favorability of heat pumps and result in higher electrification of various end use cases. PA also recommends that future bill impacts could be reduced if the Company and stakeholders "diligently focus on identifying investments that may run the risk of being underutilized over the next several decades and eliminating any unnecessary investments throughout the forecast period."321

 $<sup>^{318}</sup>$  CNY Comments (filed April 3, 2025), pp. 2-3.

<sup>319</sup> CNY Comments (filed September 18, 2024), p. 28.

<sup>320</sup> PA Final Report, p. 30.

 $<sup>^{321}</sup>$  PA Final Report, p. 138.

PA states in its Report on the Supplement that bill impacts presented in the LAI Study did not include improved gas system resilience, avoided GHG emissions, or benefits from the reduction in wholesale electric energy prices. PA also points out that the bill impacts as calculated by National Grid do not include savings per therm (and in absolute dollars) on the customer bill associated with reduced use of CNG, capacity release and AMA revenues, or discontinued delivered services contracts. PA recommends that the Company include a comprehensive analysis of bill impacts in its annual LTP updates and in future LTP proceedings "that consider all dimensions of the potential inclusion of NESE within the supply stack." 323

The Commission recognizes that the bill impacts the Company calculated under the AE and CEV scenarios are unacceptable, but also acknowledges the concerns brought up by PA and CNY regarding the Company's bill impact analysis. is significant uncertainty regarding the issues that will impact future natural gas bills. National Grid is directed to provide a bill impact analysis in its next LTP filing that includes a share-of-wallet calculation to reflect increased electric usage by customers choosing to electrify and provide sensitivities in bill impacts to reflect varying levels of electrification by its customers, from no electrification to a majority of customers completely electrifying their residences. In addition, the Company is directed to include impacts from all dimensions of the potential inclusion of NESE, if it is approved, within the supply stack in the bill impact analysis in its next LTP filing and the annual updates to this LTP that are filed after NESE is

<sup>322</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 9.

<sup>323</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 25.

placed into service, if that happens before National Grid's next LTP filing.

### 3. Emissions Impacts

The Planning Order requires LDCs to report the GHG emissions from all solutions, both supply-side and demand-side. Also, LDCs are required to include a calculation of the GHG emissions from each scenario in their LTP, and include carbon emissions in the BCA analysis as stipulated in the BCA Framework Order. 324 The Company states that the CEV scenario is its preferred pathway to achieve the CLCPA's emissions reduction targets. 325 The Company states that New York City's Local Law 97 imposes greenhouse gas emission limits on large buildings within New York City, requiring building owners to report their energy use and reduce emissions through energy efficiency, fuel switching, and decarbonization of fuels or face penalties for exceeding limits. The Company states that its inclusion of RNG in its system will reduce emissions, as will repairing leaks and replacing LPP.

National Grid utilized the Greenhouse Gas Reporting Program referenced in the New York State Oil and Gas Sector Methane Emissions Inventory to calculate GHG emissions. The Company states that its gas energy efficiency and heat pump programs have achieved lifetime GHG emissions reductions of

<sup>324</sup> Planning Order, p. 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup> Final LTP, p. 17.

<sup>326</sup> New York State Energy Research and Development Authority (NYSERDA), "New York State Oil and Gas Sector: Methane Emissions Inventory." Final Report, Report Number 22-38, (November 2022), Section 3.2.7.1 Distribution Pipelines; Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Fifth Assessment Report (AR5) Global Warming Potential over a 20-year time horizon (GWP20).

approximately 8.7 million metric tons of CO2e since 2016.<sup>327</sup> Additionally, National Grid acknowledges that the electrification of heat through the use of ground-source and air-source heat pumps can lead to significant greenhouse gas emissions reductions. The Company estimates emissions reductions in CO2e from its three scenarios for each service territory as follows:<sup>328</sup>

Service	Reference	CEV	AE
Territory			
NMPC	64,064,604	338,540,468	369,965,601
KEDNY	84,910,484	464,975,112	496,770,362
KEDLI	74,808,236	333,241,644	372,236,435

In the Supplement, the Company states that the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project could lead to GHG emissions reductions of approximately 13,000 tons from 2025 to 2042. This is equal to taking 2,811 cars off the road for one year. National Grid stats NESE can help to achieve this reduction by facilitating conversions from higher-emitting fuels like residual and distillate heating oil, and the reduction in diesel fuel consumed by CNG trucks. 329 Further, the Company states that oil-to-gas conversions and reduced trucking will help to "reduce air pollution, including emissions of particulate matter, nitrogen oxides, sulfur oxides, and mercury."330

CNY points out that National Grid's findings in its Final LTP note that both the CEV and AE scenarios achieve "substantial emissions reductions" and the incremental net societal cost per ton of said emissions reductions is the same for each scenario. 331 AGREE states that RNG is a foundational

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> Final LTP, p. 90.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup> Final LTP, p. 157.

<sup>329</sup> Supplement, p. 10.

<sup>330</sup> Supplement, pp. 10-11.

 $<sup>^{331}</sup>$  CNY Comments (filed April 3, 2025), p. 3.

component of the Company's plans to reduce GHG emissions in its CEV scenario and the Company's scenarios include the GHG emission reductions of RNG without paying for the environmental attributes. 332 EDF states that National Grid's Long-Term Plan must be consistent with New York climate policy, which mandates a reduced reliance on fossil energy systems, and with the GHG emission reduction targets established by the CLCPA and the policies articulated in the 2022 Scoping Plan issued by the CAC pursuant to the CLCPA. 333 EDF also states that the Commission should not approve a final long-term plan put forward by National Grid that is inconsistent with the CLCPA emissions reduction targets or the state's Scoping Plan. 334 NYSERDA states that using NPAs to avoid new connections can reduce GHG emissions and avoided criteria air pollutant emissions from reduced combustion generate substantial health benefits. 335 New Yorkers for Clean Power states that the CEV does not decrease or account for fugitive emissions, since the gas distribution network would not decrease in size, and states that fugitive emissions are underestimated. 336

PA encourages National Grid to use a multivariable optimization process in its next LTP filing. The multivariable optimization process can be used to identify the preferred pathway and examine the highest emissions reductions potential and lowest impact on affordability. PA states that the CEV and AE scenarios appear to be more effective at reducing GHG

<sup>332</sup> AGREE Comments (filed December 13, 2024), pp. 1-2.

<sup>333</sup> EDF Comments (filed December 13, 2024), p. 3.

<sup>334</sup> EDF Comments (filed December 13, 2024), p. 4.

<sup>335</sup> NYSERDA Comments (filed December 13, 2024), pp. 2 and 10.

<sup>336</sup> New Yorkers for Clean Power Comments (filed September 8, 2025), p. 7.

emissions but they "result in significantly higher bills for customers who remain on the gas network."  $^{337}$ 

PA notes it is encouraged that National Grid will conduct additional research concerning the "limited supply and high costs of LCFs and the practicality of achieving large reductions in emissions in an affordable manner throughout the forecast period." Further, PA states that "targeted and strategic deployment of electrification and LCFs will help the Company achieve emission reductions, while keeping the impact to customer bills low." 339

PA states that the Reference Case is not a reasonable scenario for consideration in the LTP because it does not achieve the emissions reduction goals stipulated in the CLCPA, local laws, as well as New York's decarbonization mandates.

Further, PA states that the Reference Case only provides a benchmark to see what the emissions could be in the business-asusual scenario." PA adds that National Grid will need a collaborative effort to improve emission reductions, including "collaboration with stakeholders from the state agencies, neighboring electric utilities, climate infrastructure and technology companies, and advocates." 340

In its Report on the Supplement, PA states that service interruptions to generators, who rely on interruptible services due largely to their lower cost, can lead them to use fuel oil, which is carbon-intensive. PA states that incremental gas capacity could limit the degree to which non-

<sup>337</sup> PA Final Report, p. 20.

<sup>338</sup> PA Final Report, p. 31.

<sup>339</sup> PA Final Report, p. 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>340</sup> PA Final Report, p. 150.

<sup>341</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 22.

firm customers are interrupted and the amount of fuel oil burned as a replacement, but acknowledges that providing firm service to more and diverse types of customers may be accompanied by a related risk of adding more demand to the Company's design day demand forecast and reducing the potential reserve margin afforded by NESE. PA references Company projections of emissions reductions of 13,000 metric tons of CO2e from 2025 to 2042. Also, PA mentions that the Levitan study estimated emission reductions from the power sector due to NESE of approximately 23,200 to 88,800 short tons of CO2e, dependent on the level of oil displacement per year. PA states that residential heating customers switching from fuel oil heating systems, despite the newly available gas supply, may opt for electric heating.

The Commission finds that National Grid has used acceptable methods for calculating emissions impacts from its scenarios. In addition, it is clear that some programs that result in reduced emissions are costly compared to traditional approaches, as evidenced by the higher costs of the CEV and AE scenarios. The Commission recognizes that the method of accounting for GHG emissions is a topic remaining under consideration in Case 22-M-0149.<sup>343</sup> As recommended by PA, the Commission directs National Grid to produce an optimization model as part of its next LTP filing due October 2, 2028. The optimization model would vary the application of various decarbonization measures and their associated costs to produce

\_

<sup>342</sup> PA Report on the Supplement, p. 22.

Case 22-M-0149, Proceeding on Motion of the Commission Assessing Implementation of and Compliance with the Requirements and Targets of the Climate Leadership and Community Protection Act.

scenarios that include various levels of emissions reductions and their associated bill impacts.

### Heat Pump Adoption/Pace of Electrification

The Company states that the CEV represents a balanced approach to gas decarbonization by accelerating electrification and the net benefits of the CEV scenario were greater than the net benefits of the AE scenario. The Company states that disadvantaged communities often face greater barriers to electrification and could face greater cost increases due to a transition to cleaner energy. In the Supplement, National Grid states that demand for electric vehicles and heat pumps will increase in the coming decades, straining electric resource adequacy and increasing the need for gas-fired generation. 344 National Grid states that the CEV includes hybrid electric-gas heating systems that pair electric heat pumps with their gas appliance. National Grid further states there is limited data available on the economics of heat pumps, and its heat pump usage assumptions align with an analysis of historical data from the New York State Clean Heat program, as well as the limited studies that have examined samples of customers who have adopted heat pumps. The Company states it will refine its approach as more data becomes available.

Sane recommends that the LTP include a full modeling of accelerated building electrification scenarios, which Sane contends is required by the CLCPA. Margot Spindelman states that hydrogen is expensive compared to heat pumps. Community Board No. 1 urges the Commission to ensure that customers stay warm in winter by promoting alternative solutions such as

<sup>344</sup> Supplement, p. 7.

<sup>345</sup> Sane's Response to National Grid's Request to Amend GSLTP, (filed June 3, 2025), p. 1.

<sup>346</sup> Margot Spindelman Comments (filed June 3, 2025), p. 3.

thermal energy networks, beneficial electrification, and energy efficiency. Senator Julia Salazar states that electrification "will reduce emissions, create good-paying jobs, and lower costs for working families." New York City states that RNG and hydrogen do not reduce in-City combustion and fail to achieve the air quality benefits that electrification and thermal solutions bring to New Yorkers. NYSERDA recommends that National Grid include a sensitivity analysis in which the costs for electrification and energy efficiency decline over time or as the number of completed projects increases, particularly for full-load air source heat pump and ground source heat pump systems.

PA opined that National Grid did not sufficiently reflect certain factors in its Reference Case. PA's Final Report indicated that National Grid's Reference Case does not reflect "evolving policy, macroeconomic and electrification factors in development of the customer count and volume forecasts across customer classes." Also, PA states that the Company's Reference Case use per customer, annual retail volumes, wholesale volumes and Design Day demand, "do not fully reflect the expected impacts on usage from accelerated electrification." 352

The Commission recognizes that KEDNY and KEDLI are not combination utilities and have limited insight into electrification programs operating in their service territories,

<sup>347</sup> Community Board No. 1 Comments (filed April 23, 2025), p. 3.

<sup>348</sup> Senator Salazar Comments (filed April 21, 2025), p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup> New York City Comments (filed April 3, 2025), p. 2.

 $<sup>^{350}\,\</sup>mathrm{NYSERDA}$  Comments on Revised LTP (filed December 13, 2024), p. 11.

<sup>351</sup> PA Final Report, p. 13.

<sup>352</sup> PA Final Report, p. 13.

but NMPC is a combination utility and is an administrator of the New York State Clean Heat program pursuant to the energy efficiency proceeding. PA and the stakeholders point out that the Company has not adequately reflected the impact of electrification and heat pumps going forward. The Company is directed to continue to monitor data on its system related to how many customers decommission their natural gas heating systems in favor of either geothermal applications, including thermal energy networks, or air-source heat pumps and how many of those customers terminate gas service completely and report this data as part of each annual update to its LTP, due May 15, 2026, and May 17, 2027, as well as its next LTP filing due October 2, 2028. In addition, the Company must include this data in the development of load forecasts for the planning period in its next LTP filing.

## Climate Leadership and Community Protection Act

The CLCPA seeks to reduce GHG emissions, increase renewable energy usage, and protect public health, promote employment, and strengthen the State's economy. To those ends, CLCPA \$7(2) requires all State agencies, including the Commission, to take into consideration whether certain specified final agency actions are inconsistent with or will interfere with the attainment of the statewide GHG emission limits established by the DEC under ECL Article 75. Section 7(2) further states that if a decision is deemed to be inconsistent with or interferes with the attainment of the statewide GHG emissions limits, the action agency (or office, authority, or division) must provide a detailed statement of justification as to why such limits may not be met and identify alternatives or

 $^{353}$  Case 18-M-0084, <u>In the Matter of a Comprehensive Energy</u> Efficiency Initiative.

GHG mitigation measures to be required where such project is located.

The Commission's action in this proceeding, considering the Company's long-term plan and requiring that National Grid take additional actions, is not inconsistent with nor would it interfere with the CLCPA. It is important to note that the Commission is not taking any final agency actions to approve any particular project identified in National Grid's long-term plan, including the construction of the NESE project, in this proceeding; rather, the Commission is acknowledging that there is a need for more reliable sources of capacity that will improve the reliability of the natural gas system, which NESE would provide, if it receives all necessary approvals and is constructed. To underscore that point, the Commission today does not approve, direct, or compel the construction of the NESE project. The intention of the gas planning process we initiated in Case 20-G-0131 is to provide public visibility into the planning for the provision of safe, adequate, and reliable gas service while charting a path forward to attaining the State's climate goals. The actions and directives in the body of this Order provide a framework for National Grid to take steps toward these goals while balancing the need to continue to provide safe and adequate service, which has remained a principal core component of the Public Service Law dating back one hundred years and continues to this day. 354 Accordingly, we determine that our actions in this Order are not inconsistent with CLCPA §7(2).

CLCPA §7(3) requires that in considering and issuing permits, licenses, and other administrative approvals and decisions, the Commission shall not disproportionately burden

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>354</sup> PSL §65(1); L. 1921, c. 134.

disadvantaged communities. CLCPA §7(3) also requires that all state agencies prioritize reductions in GHG and co-pollutants in disadvantaged communities. The Climate Justice Working Group adopted final criteria to identify disadvantaged communities, along with an interactive map of disadvantaged communities in the state. 355

Additionally, while the Commission is not approving or permitting the construction of any projects identified in the long-term plan in this Order, we note that the proposed Northeast Supply Enhancement Project seeks to augment the existing interstate Lower New York Bay Lateral submarine pipeline and the Rockaway Delivery Lateral submarine pipeline. If authorized, Transco will undertake the construction of NESE project under the Atlantic Ocean in Lower New York Bay. underwater NESE project area is not within a designated disadvantaged community area.

Moreover, while the Company's service territories contain disadvantaged communities, the types of projects and research to be initiated pursuant to the long-term plan and our directives in this Order do not disproportionately burden any specific disadvantaged communities. Energy efficiency, and LPP replacement programs, for example, will primarily benefit the communities in which National Grid implements those programs by improving safety, efficiency, and reducing GHG emissions in those areas, while providing broader safety, reliability, and climate benefits for customers and the State as a whole. consultation with Staff, the Company shall identify the programs and investments that are intended to benefit disadvantaged communities in its annual updates to this LTP, including an explanation of how these investments benefit disadvantaged

<sup>355</sup> See https://climate.ny.gov/Resources/Disadvantaged-Communities-Criteria.

communities and a quantification of the benefits. Additionally, the projected reduction in reliance on CNG and the trucking required to deliver it will reduce GHG emissions, which will benefit disadvantaged communities. Accordingly, the Commission finds that the action taken in this Order will not disproportionately burden a disadvantaged community.

## Motion to Strike and Request for Additional Analysis

On June 3, 2025, Sane submitted a request that any update of the LTP include a reconsideration of the planning obligations in the Planning Order and additional analyses (Request for Additional Analysis). On July 18, 2025, EDF, the Natural Resources Defense Council, New Yorkers for Clean Power, and Sierra Club (collectively, Movants) submitted a motion to strike National Grid's July 2, 2025, Supplement (Motion to Strike) that purported to conform to 16 New York Codes, Rules and Regulations §§ 3.5 and 3.6.356 For the reasons below, the Commission denies the Request for Additional Analysis and the Motion to Strike.

In the Request for Additional Analysis, Sane requests that any update to the LTP "must trigger a ... reconsideration of all planning obligations outlined in the [Commission's] Planning Order" and "identified in [PA's] review." Sane further claims that the Company's request to supplement its LTP "raises serious procedural, technical, and environmental concerns," which are at odds with the LTP proceeding. Sane also argues that analyzing the impacts of NESE "is not within the scope of this proceeding." Further, Sane contends that NESE's introduction into the LTP "should not be accepted without a

356 Case 24-G-0248, Joint Letter Motion to Strike National Grid Addendum (filed July 18, 2025) (Motion to Strike).

fully reopened proceeding, including new stakeholder input, rigorous modeling, and third-party oversight."357

Sane also requests that any update include a thorough analysis of several subjects. Such subjects and analyses, according to Sane, should include "[f]ull modelling of the accelerated building electrification" and "[d]emand response and [NPA] studies." Further, Sane requests that the Design Day methodology be reevaluated with updated energy usage and weather data. Sane also requests the update include a "[t]ransparent assessment of infrastructure retirement scenarios," including for the Greenpoint LNG Facility. Additionally, Sane states that the update should consider "CLCPA-complaint emissions and environmental justice impacts." Finally, Sane requests that the Company "be required to fully complete the studies and analyses outlined by PA Consulting and DPS staff," and the Commission withhold approval for an updated LTP until it complies with CLCPA mandates and contains "a full environmental and equity review."358

In the Motion to Strike, Movants request that the Commission bring this proceeding to a conclusion based only on the Final LTP, PA's Final Report, and comments submitted thereto. In the alternative, the Movants request that the Commission require National Grid to formally revise the Final LTP. In such revision, Movants propose that National Grid integrate the NESE project into its scenarios, forecasts, and infrastructure planning, and include the following: (1) analysis of "all relevant recent events potentially affecting the supply and demand of gas"; (2) analysis describing gas supply or other infrastructure projects that can be avoided or retired if NESE

<sup>357</sup> Request for Additional Analysis, p. 1.

<sup>358</sup> Request for Additional Analysis, pp. 1-2.

is added to National Grid's supply portfolio; and (3) more robust analysis supporting National Grid's assertion that the addition of NESE will reduce gas pricing.

Movants argue that, in the Company's June 2, 2025, letter, the Company requested to "update" the Final LTP. They maintain that National Grid's Supplement, however, "does not alter the recommendations of the Company's [2025] Long-Term Plan."359 Movants claim that the filing did not update the underlying assumptions or include alternative scenarios.

Movants further claim that it acts as a "procedural end-run" and an "advocacy document" which "deprives stakeholders of the opportunity to meaningfully assess how NESE fits within the Company's overall planning framework."360 Movants state that the process undertaken as a result of the Supplement does not allow for meaningful stakeholder engagement, does not allow for comparisons with NPAs, does not describe the pipeline's implications for emissions trajectories, and does not update the manner in which a preferred scenario can be selected.

National Grid responded to the Motion to Strike on July 28, 2025.<sup>361</sup> In its response, the Company claims that the Supplement's assessment provided necessary analysis regarding NESE's potential benefits and included an updated demand forecast.<sup>362</sup> Likewise, the Company states that the LAI Study provided necessary analysis regarding the reduced gas supply

<sup>359</sup> Motion to Strike, p. 3 (<u>citing</u> Supplement, p. 37, misquoting by omitting "2025").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>360</sup> Motion to Strike, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>361</sup> Case 24-G-0248, National Grid's Response to Motion to Strike Addendum to its Gas System Long-Term Plan (filed July 28, 2025) (Response to Motion to Strike).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup> Response to Motion to Strike, pp. 12-13.

congestion and reliability and resiliency benefits.<sup>363</sup> National Grid argues that the purpose of the Commission's Planning Order is to ensure safe, adequate, and reliable gas service while the State transitions to emission-free energy sources. The Company argues that the process was neither fixed nor static and, instead, was expected to evolve, and that the core principle of the process is that the utility submits a plan, and an independent consultant reviews such plan with an opportunity for stakeholder input.<sup>364</sup>

The Company claims that NESE will help to address gas system resiliency, and due to the timing of the proposed construction of NESE, "consideration must come in this long term planning cycle."365 National Grid further claims that the Supplement comports with the Planning Order because it provided timely notice of an emerging circumstance that could impact its gas system; filed the Supplement within a month of submitting its request to update the Final LTP; held a technical conference; PA conducted its review of the filing; and stakeholders had an additional month to provide comments on the submission. National Grid argues that this review process complied with the Commission's procedural requirements. 367

As an initial matter, we find ourselves in general agreement with National Grid's response and opposition to the purported "motion to strike." The Company appropriately brought the NESE matter forward here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> Response to Motion to Strike, pp. 9 and 12.

<sup>364</sup> Response to Motion to Strike, p. 11.

<sup>365</sup> Response to Motion to Strike, p. 12.

<sup>366</sup> Response to Motion to Strike, p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>367</sup> Response to Motion to Strike, pp. 12-13.

We also identify additional reasons to decline the invitation to strike. This proceeding, in accord with our Planning Order, is a notice-and-comment proceeding. The gas planning process requires the subject utility to file multiple iterations of its plan, provides for an independent consultant to review each iteration, and affords stakeholders many opportunities to engage with the subject utility and file comments on the utility's plans. Instead of being fixed and static, the process here is intended to be adaptable to changing conditions. In this proceeding, there is no statutory requirement for an evidentiary hearing, and there is not an evidentiary record as might be developed in an adjudicatory evidentiary hearing proceeding. Rather the record consists of the multiple, iterative filings by National Grid, PA, and stakeholders. The Commission's role is to consider all filings and comments, assess their relevance and import on the public interest, and issue a determination rationally supported by that paper record. In notice-and-comment proceedings, striking portions of filings runs contrary to that purpose because it limits the record, may artificially exclude material and evolving real world events, and could lead to less-informed determinations. Moreover, all stakeholders have been afforded ample opportunity to provide comments on National Grid's Supplement. The Commission has thoroughly considered those comments in this Order and striking any portion of the record would serve no useful purpose. Indeed, and contrary to Movants' contentions, the continued scarcity of reliable gas capacity could negatively impact New Yorkers residing or working within the Downstate service territories. The record developed since National Grid's filing of the Supplement will allow the Commission to make an informed determination.

We turn now to how National Grid's Supplement fits within the gas planning process. The Commission developed and adopted the gas planning process in part as a response to claims by LDCs of supply constraints that prevented or created concern about their ability to accept applications for new firm gas service. National Grid was one of the LDCs that raised such concerns. After permits for the NESE project were initially denied in 2019, National Grid instituted a moratorium for new firm service and for requests for additional firm load for thousands of new and existing customers. National Grid lifted this moratorium under a settlement agreement later in 2019.

In addition, the Commission's gas planning process is designed to be flexible and adapt to changing policies and needs. For example, the Commission issued the Planning Order on May 12, 2022, after the CAC published its Draft Scoping Plan, 371 but before the CAC published its final Scoping Plan in December 2022.372 The gas planning process was designed to be flexible to

<sup>368</sup> Planning Order, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>369</sup> Planning Order, p. 2-3; <u>see also</u> 2021 KEDNY/KEDLI Rate Order, pp. 11-15 (providing additional background information).

 $<sup>^{370}</sup>$  Case 19-G-0678, <u>supra</u>, Order Adopting and Approving Settlement (issued November 26, 2019).

<sup>371</sup> New York State Climate Action Council, Draft Scoping Plan (December 30, 2021), <a href="https://climate.ny.gov/-">https://climate.ny.gov/-</a> /media/Project/Climate/Files/Draft-Scoping-Plan-Overview.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>372</sup> New York State Climate Action Council, Scoping Plan (December 19, 2022).

incorporate recommendations in the Scoping Plan. The Scoping Plan. Likewise, the Commission has repeatedly stated that the Gas Planning Procedure is an iterative process wherein the filings and plans will evolve over time. The Scoping Plan.

The gas planning process has been in place for over three years and is designed to allow the Commission the flexibility to adapt the process to ensure that it is able to assess the need of maintaining safe and reliable service in a transparent and equitable way. The Commission and the public benefit from the analysis contained in the Supplement to National Grid's Final Report regarding the potential of NESE being added to National Grid's supply portfolio. Supplement, PA's analysis on the Supplement, and public comments on the Supplement are necessary and sufficient to reasonably assess National Grid's Final LTP and what is needed to ensure National Grid can continue to provide safe, adequate, and reliable gas service to its customers. Stakeholders have had ample opportunity to, and in fact have presented substantive comments regarding National Grid's Supplement. demonstrates that the process leading to this Order has resulted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>373</sup> Planning Order, pp. 19, 63-64 ("we will consider future phases of this proceeding when more guidance is available [from the CAC]"); see also New York State Climate Action Council, Scoping Plan (December 19, 2022), p. 56-57 (deferring questions of studies or trading programs for renewable natural gas for a future phase of the Gas Planning Proceeding), p. 63 (establishing the Avoided Cost of Gas working group, to help produce "accurate estimates of costs and benefits" for future LTPs).

See Case 23-G-0147, supra, Order Regarding Long-Term Natural Gas Plan and Requiring Further Actions (issued September 20, 2024), p. 32; Case 23-G-0437, supra, Order Regarding Long-Term Natural Gas Plan and Directing Further Actions (issued January 23, 2025), p. 32; Case 23-G-0676, supra, Order Regarding Long-Term Natural Gas Plan and Directing Further Actions (issued July 17, 2025), p. 37.

in analysis and public engagement envisioned by the Commission's Planning Order.

Additionally, we note that Transco's redevelopment of the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project was a circumstance that emerged in May 2025, approximately one year after the start of this proceeding, but before we had the opportunity to solicit comment on PA's Final Report. As such, Movants ask that we essentially either ignore this significant emerging impact on National Grid's gas system or indefinitely extend the process. It would be unreasonable to ignore these emerging events when they could be, and were, adequately addressed through the process afforded in advance of this Order. Alternatively, the Movants ask that we prolong indefinitely a process that has already developed substantial and sufficient information for Commission consideration. We conclude that there is not a compelling need to further extend this process or develop additional analyses in order to make the reasoned determinations contained in this Order.

Due to the importance of the analysis regarding NESE from National Grid, PA Consulting, and stakeholder comments, and in the interest of making an informed decision based on the record, the Commission finds it appropriate to exercise the flexibility afforded it within the gas planning process to consider all of the filings related to the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project in this matter. For all these reasons, we deny the purported Motion to Strike and Request for Additional Analysis on the merits as unfounded and also as academic.

#### CONCLUSION

In this proceeding, National Grid submitted a gas system long-term plan for its NMPC, KEDNY, and KEDLI service territories. Additionally, in its Supplement, National Grid

assessed the benefits and costs of Transco's renewed proposal for the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project. In this Order, the Commission addresses National Grid's Final LTP and acknowledges that there is a need for the more reliable source of supply that the proposed NESE project would provide if it receives all required approvals and is constructed. Accordingly, the Commission observes that based on the record in this proceeding, it is appropriate for National Grid to seek capacity from the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project to ensure it can continue to provide safe, adequate reliable service. However, as the Commission does not have a formal role in permitting or approving the construction of NESE, and unless and until NESE is constructed, National Grid must rely on less reliable and more expensive sources of supply on design day to meet customer demand. Upon consideration of National Grid's Final LTP and Supplement, PA's reports, and stakeholders' comments, the Commission directs the Company to make additional filings related to demand forecasting and meeting with Community Board No. 1 as described in the body of this Order. We also direct that the Company include certain information in its annual updates to this long-term plan, due May 15, 2026, and May 17, 2027, and in its next long-term plan filing, due on October 2, 2028.

#### The Commission orders:

1. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY, KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid, and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid are directed to file a report within 90 days of the date of this Order explaining their methodologies and processes for demand forecasting and developing estimates of use per customer on design day, and explicitly listing and describing the

improvements they are making to those methodologies and processes, consistent with the discussion in the body of this Order.

- 2. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY, KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid, and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid are directed to file, together with the report required in Ordering Clause 1, updated design day and annual demand forecasts for each of their operating systems that reflect the improvements described in that report and using the data available through the end of November 2025.
- 3. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY is directed to contact Community Board No. 1 to determine when and how it can take part in its meetings, develop a plan for interaction with Community Board No. 1, and file it with the Secretary within 90 days of this Order.
- 4. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY is directed to file information in its first annual update to this LTP on the impact to the environment of the local community from operation of the Greenpoint liquefied natural gas facility and information comparing the cost of liquefied natural gas per dekatherm compared to compressed natural gas and delivered services.
- 5. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY and KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid are directed to file a comprehensive analysis in their next longterm plan filing concerning the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project's ability to allow for the decommissioning of the Greenpoint Liquified Natural Gas facility, including demand-side and supply-side alternatives, cost estimates and available forecasts for gas load growth and electrification.

- 6. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY, KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid, and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid are directed to provide a thorough update on their non-pipe alternative deployment efforts in their next long-term plan filing, including listing all solicitations and their results.
- 7. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY, KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid, and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid are directed to provide information in their annual updates to this LTP, as well as in their next long-term plan filing, regarding the mileage of leak prone pipe remaining on each company's system and the results of solicitations for non-pipes alternatives issued by each company focused on retiring leak prone pipe.
- 8. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY, KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid, and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid are directed to provide a bill impact analysis in their next long-term plan filing that includes a share-of-wallet calculation to reflect increased electric usage by customers choosing to electrify and provide sensitivities in bill impacts to reflect varying levels of electrification by its customers.
- 9. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY and KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid are directed to include impacts from all dimensions of the potential inclusion of the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project, if it is approved, within the supply stack in the bill impact analysis, consistent with the discussion in the body of this order, in their next long-term plan filing and the annual updates to this long-term plan that are filed after the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project is placed into service.

- 10. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY and KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid are directed to develop a plan to reduce reliance on its risk prone, less reliable, capacity assets and file that plan within 120 days of any decision by Transco to abandon the Northeast Supply Enhancement Project or by November 1, 2028, whichever comes first.
- 11. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY, KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid, and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid are directed to produce an optimization model as part of their next long-term plan filing.
- 12. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY, KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid, and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid are directed to monitor data on its system related to how many customers decommission their natural gas heating systems in favor of either geothermal applications, including thermal energy networks, or air-source heat pumps and how many of those customers terminate gas service completely and report this data as part of each annual update to their LTP, due May 15, 2026, and May 17, 2027, as well as their next LTP filing due October 2, 2028.
- 13. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY, KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid, and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid are directed to provide information on the amount of renewable natural gas purchased on an annual basis in the annual updates to their LTP and in future LTP fillings.
- 14. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY, KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid, and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid are

directed to identify the programs and investments that are intended to benefit disadvantaged communities in its annual updates to this LTP, including an explanation of how these investments benefit disadvantaged communities and a quantification of the benefits.

- 15. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY, KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid, and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid are directed to calculate the price point where blending RNG or hydrogen becomes more expensive than heat pumps for residential customers and how that compares to the prices each is paying for RNG in their next long-term plan filing.
- 16. Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid is directed to include information on the East Gate reliability in its next rate case filing including the projected date of any supply-demand gap and a description of all alternatives considered including non-pipe alternatives.
- 17. The Brooklyn Union Gas Company d/b/a National Grid NY, KeySpan Gas East Corporation d/b/a National Grid, and Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation d/b/a National Grid are directed to file their next long-term plan by October 2, 2028.
- 18. The June 3, 2025, Request for Additional Analysis and the July 18, 2025, Motion to Strike are denied.
- 19. In the Secretary's sole discretion, the deadlines set forth in this Order may be extended. Any request for an extension must be in writing, must include a justification for the extension, and must be filed at least three days prior to the affected deadline.

20. This proceeding is continued.

By the Commission,

(SIGNED)

MICHELLE L. PHILLIPS
Secretary

# SCHEDULE OF PROCEEDING

Event	Date
Technical Conference	May 8, 2024 - Pre-Filing Educational
Company's Filing of Initial Long-Term Plan	June 3, 2024
Technical Conference	June 27, 2024 - Company's Presentation of Initial LTP
Technical Conference	July 17, 2024 - Downstate Joint Proposal and NMPC Rate Case
Technical Conference	July 30, 2024 - Demand Forecast
Technical Conference	August 28, 2024 - Clean Energy Programs
Technical Conference	September 5, 2024 - Low Carbon Fuels
Technical Conference	September 12, 2024 - Geothermal Applications
Initial Comments Due	September 18, 2024
PA Consulting Initial Report	September 27, 2024
Reply Comments Due	October 3, 2024
Technical Conference	October 10, 2024 - Bill Impacts and Affordability
Technical Conference	October 17, 2024 - Moratorium Management
Company's Filing of Revised Long-Term Plan	October 23, 2024
Technical Conference	November 20, 2024 & December 12, 2024 - LNG/Greenpoint
Comments Due	December 13, 2024
PA Consulting Preliminary Findings Report	January 30, 2025
Technical Conference	February 12, 2025 - PA Consulting's Preliminary Findings Report
Comments Due	February 21, 2025

Technical Conference	February 27, 2025 - Thermal Energy Network and District Geothermal
Company's Filing of Final Long-Term Plan	March 7, 2025
Comments Due	April 3, 2025
Public Statement Hearings	April 10, 16, 17, 2025
Comments Due	April 18, 2025
PA Consulting Final Report	May 19, 2025
Company's Filing of Supplement to Final Long-Term Plan	July 2, 2025
Technical Conference	July 22, 2025 - Company's Supplement to Final Long-Term Plan
PA Consulting Report on Supplement to Final Long-Term Plan	August 6, 2025
Comments Due	September 5, 2025

#### SUMMARY OF COMMENTS

#### Public Comments

Approximately 3,700 comments were received between September 5, 2024, and September 11, 2025, throughout all phases of the LTP process, that expressed opposition to the LTP and to the NESE pipeline (Multiple Commenters).

Multiple Commenters recommend that the Commission reject National Grid's LTP. Multiple Commenters recommend that the PSC require the Company to develop a new plan that solely focuses on gas reduction. Multiple Commenters recognize the Company's failure to reduce gas consumption as non-compliance with New York State Laws, in particular the CLCPA.

Multiple Commenters recommend safe and clean alternatives for heating and cooking such as thermal energy networks, demand response, electrification, and energy efficiency. Multiple Commenters recommend that the PSC direct National Grid to conduct a "true and transparent" cost-benefit analysis of Accelerated Electrification, Energy Efficiency programs, and NPAs.

Multiple Commenters note that the Company does not clearly evidence a need for additional gas infrastructure.

Multiple Commenters affirm that downstate New York faces no current natural gas shortage and will experience declining demand in the coming years. Multiple Commenters note that New York State has passed several laws that will significantly reduce natural gas use in the coming years such as the Advanced Building Codes, Appliance and Equipment Efficiency Standards Act, All-Electric New Buildings Act, and Green Affordable Pre-Electrification Fund. Multiple Commenters recognize that National Grid has adjusted its projected date for gas supply shortfall in downstate New York from 2028 to the 2040s.

Multiple Commenters urge the PSC to reject NESE. Multiple Commenters note that NESE has even less grounds for necessity than during its initial proposal in 2017 given efforts to reduce fossil fuel consumption in New York City and statewide with the adoption of Local Law 97 and the CLCPA in 2019. Multiple Commenters note that no electric generators have committed to purchasing gas from National Grid due to the prospect of NESE. Multiple Commenters also affirm that support for the wholesale electricity market remains outside the scope of National Grid's duties. Multiple Commenters note that NESE's estimated cost of \$3.2B, which includes a quaranteed 14 percent profit for Williams and still remains uncertain due to volatile steel prices and unpredictable federal tariffs, would impose exorbitant costs on ratepayers in Brooklyn, Staten Island, Queens, and Nassau and Suffolk Counties, many of whom already struggle with rising energy bills, which are set to increase by another \$30 in 2026, and would deepen energy insecurity. Multiple Commenters note that 30 percent of New York City households are struggling to pay bills or facing utility shutoffs. Multiple Commenters project that NESE would raise bills for National Grid's downstate customer by over \$7 per month.

Multiple Commenters claim that NESE's plans to increase methane combustion in downstate New York violate the CLCPA and undermine the constitutional right to a healthful environment in New York State. Multiple Commenters assert that NESE will worsen extreme weather in New York, which is already encountering record-breaking downpours, lethal heat waves, and rising sea levels. Multiple Commenters note that the proposed pipeline path for NESE risks rupture by crossing an earthquake-prone area off of the coast of Coney Island. Multiple

Commenters affirm that this pipeline would excavate six feet of seabed for over 23 miles off New York's shores, which would stir up decades-old toxic industrial pollutants including arsenic, lead, PCBs, and Dioxins. Multiple Commenters note that toxins would threaten not only human health but also the resurgence of marine life. Multiple Commenters note that construction noise, vibrations, ship traffic, and water turbidity would disorient marine animals, disrupt migrations, reduce fish feeding and breeding success, and put endangered species at further risk. Multiple Commenters also note that the NESE project distracts from flaws with the Company's Final LTP.

Multiple Commenters recommend the development of a community-led stakeholder group to plan for the retirement of the Greenpoint LNG Facility. Multiple Commenters affirm that this facility perpetuates the Company's disproportionate pollution of Black and Brown communities. Multiple Commenters recommend that the PSC disallow cost recovery from ratepayers for this facility.

Multiple Commenters recommend that the PSC deny National Grid's proposal to expand and prolong the life of the Iroquois Pipeline. Multiple Commenters claim that the Company's proposals for gas system expansion primarily benefit corporate shareholders.

Multiple Commenters note that the Final LTP's focus on low-carbon fuels such as RNG and hydrogen conflicts with the Climate Action Council's focus on efficient electric air- and ground-source heat pumps and thermal energy networks. Multiple Commenters also note that National Grid's plan for RNG relies on overly optimistic projections for availability. Multiple Commenters additionally note that the Final LTP incorporates

inflated demand forecasts to justify significant investments in the gas pipeline system.

# Comments on Initial Long-Term Plan (LTP):

# City of New York (CNY or City)

CNY recommends a systematic transition off of fossil fuels. The City emphasizes that National Grid must be clear about the limitations and lifecycle emissions of technologies considered for decarbonization. The City advocates for grounding short and medium-term commitments in gas alternatives that are currently zero-emissions, market-ready, safe, and affordable, with decarbonization achieved in the most cost-effective way through data-driven planning undertaken in collaboration with the City, neighboring electric utilities, and communities. The City urges National Grid to operate its existing decarbonization programs efficiently, prioritizing easy-to-electrify assets, leveraging capital repair and replacement needs, and investing significantly in Disadvantaged Communities (DACs).

The City argues that Non-Pipe Alternatives (NPAs) must be at the forefront of the gas transition and advocates for their increased implementation. While the Commission directed utilities to integrate NPAs into their standard gas system planning processes, the City believes National Grid has not sufficiently scaled NPAs. The City recommends that National Grid include a "no infrastructure" scenario in its plan, and if not feasible, be specific about the sections of the plan requiring infrastructure upgrades and explain the reasoning. Additionally, the City recommends incorporating oil to electric conversions as a best practice and adopting mechanisms to

prioritize these conversions over oil to gas conversions as part of the overarching NPA strategy.

According to the City, thermal energy networks can play a critical role in long-term planning and encourages the Company to build capacity to install and expand district thermal systems. The City has been a strong advocate of KEDNY's utility thermal energy network pilot project located at a New York City Housing Authority campus, which will deliver substantial benefits to a Disadvantaged Community. The Company must make a concerted effort to build capacity to install and expand deployment of district thermal systems, including the proposed thermal network pilot projects. The City requests that the Company's final Plan identify what characteristics of a geography or building make thermal systems or networks a viable solution to decarbonization, what project components must be the focus of cost reduction efforts, where the current workforce capacity must be grown to meaningfully implement projects, and other barriers and opportunities to scaling thermal projects.

The City also emphasizes the importance of electrification and weatherization efforts. Issues relating to the costs of weatherization and electrification efforts must be addressed through different relevant proceedings, and the Plan must address these funding gaps and delays to ensure continuity for customers and scale to meet the need over time. Moreover, these programs should target and stack incentives to low-income New Yorkers and affordable housing, where building investments improve quality of life for the City's most vulnerable residents. National Grid must also rapidly scale up heat pump deployment due to the emissions impact of these devices.

Furthermore, the Company must create a more detailed plan

addressing how they will accelerate the installation of heat pumps and increase the rate of heat pump adoption by customers.

The City argues that National Grid's "Clean Energy Vision" cannot rely on imported Renewable Natural Gas and Hydrogen. The Clean Energy Vision scenario in the Plan relies heavily on a large-scale increase of renewable natural gas (RNG) and hydrogen use to support decarbonization. While the City supports the use of certain sources of RNG and is partnering to bring renewable biofuels made from local organic waste feedstocks into the gas system, it does not support importing large volumes of RNG from outside the region or RNG made from non-waste feedstocks. As such, the City supports the use of RNG as a viable alternative to natural gas, specifically in hard-to-electrify end uses, but only if such RNG is produced locally from existing organic waste streams to encourage beneficial use of captured methane and to avoid upstream greenhouse gas emissions.

Additionally, while the City has been clear that hydrogen is not currently a viable solution to replace natural gas, the Company has not addressed the City's safety concerns or demonstrated that hydrogen can be produced at scale with zero lifecycle greenhouse gas (GHG) and criteria air emissions. To help develop locally-produced RNG into a more feasible and economically viable choice as an alternative fuel, the City recommends that the Commission define specific requirements for RNG attributes, including requiring local attribute sales and retirement of attributes to hard-to-electrify critical safety and public health assets/economic drivers, and encouraging development of a local or statewide market for attributes.

CNY recommends that the Commission scrutinize National Grid's demand forecasts. The City states that National Grid

projects continued demand growth, which will result in a near-term supply/demand gap. As a result, the Company relies on a number of proposed infrastructure solutions, including the Iroquois ExC project and the Greenpoint LNG Facility vaporizer project. The City requests that DPS Staff closely scrutinize the Design Day forecast for downstate New York, stating that the Design Day forecast is a major driver of infrastructure investments, but the Design Day is based on the actual observed air temperature conditions on February 9, 1934, and New York City has not experienced Design Day conditions since that date 90 years ago.

The City questions the Company's forecast that customers (meter counts) increase all the way to 2050. Specific questions include: Who are these new customers? Why is the growth of annual usage greater than the growth of new customers? Why is the design day demand growth greater than the growth of both the number of meters and the annual usage? What causes this increase in usage per customer? These fundamental questions about demand projections are critical to understanding whether the proposed infrastructure investments are truly necessary.

The City's scrutiny of demand forecasts reflects broader concerns about the accuracy and methodology of projections that drive significant infrastructure investments. The reliance on historical weather data from nearly a century ago raises questions about the relevance of such benchmarks in contemporary planning, particularly given climate change and evolving building efficiency standards. The City's detailed questioning of customer growth patterns suggests a need for more granular analysis of who these future customers will be and what will drive their gas consumption patterns.

CNY recommends maintenance of a safe, reliable, and resilient system. The City states that National Grid has made strides in reducing its gas leak backlog, but KEDNY and KEDLI continue to have the largest backlog of all the New York gas utilities. The Plan does not address the leak backlog, nor how any of the infrastructure investments that are related to reducing the backlog could be replaced with NPAs. The City recommends that National Grid address this issue in the next filing of this Plan. Safety and reliability remain critical priorities, and it is essential that the Plan preserve safety and reliability for ratepayers without sacrificing the imperative of replacing leak prone pipes ("LPP") with NPAs.

The City recommends that greater emphasis be placed on the retirement of gas mains and conversion of customers to heating and hot water systems that do not rely on fossil fuels. Rebuilding an aging gas system risks extending reliance on carbon-intensive infrastructure and creating stranded assets.

The City recommends National Grid continue to look for ways to reduce the miles of LPP to be replaced annually, with the percentage of LPP being taken out of service incrementally decreasing each year. They assert this approach would align infrastructure replacement with the broader goal of transitioning away from gas dependence.

The City notes that a critical component of long-term gas planning is avoiding infrastructure investments that would prolong the life of the gas system. Demand response programs have proven to be an effective and efficient tool to minimize the need to connect to upstream gas pipelines and/or localized gas production and have been generally successful since inception and should be expanded upon to reap maximum benefits. The City also recommends assessing LPP areas that are

appropriate for NPAs with data about age of building systems fueled with natural gas and their mortgage terms to align implementation with a building system's capital and mortgage cycle.

The City expects that a detailed study of the Greenpoint Facility will be conducted by PA Consulting, per the terms of the Joint Proposal. The City reserves comments on the Greenpoint Facility pending results of that study and National Grid should be exploring options for the near-term beneficial re-use of portions of the Greenpoint Facility site through pilot or demonstration on-site solar, storage, or thermal network projects, and seeking immediate- and short-term opportunities for emission reductions from onsite operations. The City also recommends extending the commitment to perform preliminary NPA analysis to all new and expanded gas service requests.

CNY recommends that the Company ensure that gas rates remain affordable. The City states effective energy policy can play a critical role in promoting fairness and equity, reducing burdens on DACs, and encouraging successful and equitable economic development, public health, sustainability, and resiliency. The City indicates a commitment to identifying pathways to reduce the energy cost burden as many New York City residents struggle to pay their utility bills and programs will become even more critical as the clean energy transition continues because those who cannot afford to move off the gas system quickly will see increased gas bills as other customers are able to move off of the system.

The City states that the current Plan is deficient because it includes bill impacts based on the scenarios presented, rather than bill impacts based on sufficient bill mitigation tactics used in concert with the proposed pathways.

The Plan must also place more responsibility on National Grid to ensure that remaining gas customers do not disproportionately shoulder increased energy cost burdens as the gas system shrinks. The City also calls on National Grid to proactively and significantly increase the number of customers that are eligible for low-income discount programs but are not currently enrolled. The City recommends surveying available bill mitigation and rate design tactics that have been proposed nationally to reduce energy cost burden and effectively enroll low-income rate payers.

The City indicates that benefits must be equitably distributed to Disadvantaged Communities. It is imperative that any actions taken by the State to reduce the reliance on fossil fuels "should prioritize the safety and health of disadvantaged communities, control potential regressive impacts of future climate change mitigation and adaptation policies on these communities and prioritize the allocation of public investments in these areas." As such, National Grid's Plan should be designed to have a significant impact on improving the air quality and, concurrently, the health of the residents in these communities. The City also recommends assessing and identifying the reasons why eligible New Yorkers are not enrolled in energy assistance programs and developing solutions to make these programs more accessible.

The City further recommends exploring transformative rate design, corporate governance, and regulatory reform strategies to ensure that higher costs resulting from winding down gas infrastructure over the coming decades do not disproportionately burden remaining customers. This comprehensive approach to affordability recognizes that the transition away from gas must be managed carefully to avoid

creating additional financial hardships for vulnerable populations who may be the last to transition off the gas system.

CNY notes that specific legislative and policy changes are needed. The City states that neither the State nor individual utilities like National Grid will be able to efficiently and cost-effectively transition from natural gas infrastructure to other power sources without legislative and/or regulatory changes to support them. One of the key changes that has been discussed in various proceedings before the Commission and the State as a whole is whether or not the "100-foot rule" should be modified and/or eliminated. National Grid briefly addresses the "100-foot rule" in its discussion of proposed statutory or regulatory changes that should be considered, but does not provide a distinct recommendation as to whether the rule should be modified or eliminated altogether.

The City strongly supports the elimination of this rule, as it pertains to gas service and not electric service, to mitigate this obstacle to the transition away from gas service, and calls on National Grid to present a formal position on how this rule should be modified and/or eliminated as a means to prevent future extension of gas infrastructure and encourage electrification. This regulatory change would remove a significant barrier to electrification by eliminating the requirement to extend gas service to properties within 100 feet of existing gas mains.

The City largely supports the Company's proposal of establishing a framework for RNG accounting to make it more financially competitive in New York State. The City supports the use of RNG as a viable alternative to natural gas, specifically in hard-to-electrify end uses, but only if such RNG

is produced locally from existing waste streams to encourage beneficial use of captured methane and to avoid upstream greenhouse gas emissions. This framework would help create market mechanisms that properly value locally-produced renewable gas while avoiding the environmental concerns associated with imported alternatives.

The City agrees that enhanced coordination and planning between electric and gas utilities, particularly those with neighboring and/or overlapping service territories, will be essential to maximizing efforts and efficiently transitioning customers off the gas system, and should already be in place. The Commission should conduct coordinated planning between electric and gas utilities, including by, but not limited to, aligning rate case and long-term gas plan proceeding timing. The City also notes that more must be done after National Grid makes the referral to ensure that gas customers convert to electrification through enhanced, close coordination to encourage better results from the referral process.

between the Climate Action Council's recommendations and the Company's Plan that should be rectified. The Plan's Clean Energy Vision assumes that "by 2050, over 40 percent of residential and commercial buildings will transition to hybrid heating systems that combine an electric [air source heat pump ("ASHP")] with a gas-fired heating system." This proposal is inconsistent with the Scoping Plan's clear directive to reduce emissions from both the transportation sector and gas sector and finding that the use of RNG must not result in increased emissions.

CNY recommends that the Company reconsider its gas network depreciation strategy. The City urges the Company to

reconsider its approach to the depreciation and decommissioning of its gas network assets as outlined in the Plan. Under both the Clean Energy Vision and Accelerated Electrification scenarios, certain gas network assets with potential for alternative and viable uses are being marked down for complete retirement as though they have zero remaining useful life after the accelerated depreciation schedule, which seems premature and does not take into account the potential for these assets to support the clean energy transition in innovative ways.

The City recommends that the Company conduct a thorough review to explore potential alternative uses for these assets, such as repurposing the gas network for hydrogen or biomethane distribution, integration into district thermal heating systems, utilization for energy storage solutions like compressed air energy storage, or adaptation for transporting biofuels and synthetic gases. This review could uncover opportunities to repurpose existing infrastructure in ways that align with clean energy goals, thus potentially mitigating the need for expedited cost recovery and reducing the financial burden on remaining customers.

The City notes that the aforementioned examples would need to be thoroughly vetted to ensure feasibility and alignment with clean energy goals—and the City's recommendation for this exploratory analysis is not an endorsement of these technologies and is not counter to the above—stated comments. This careful approach recognizes that while alternative uses for existing gas infrastructure may provide value, any such repurposing must be consistent with overall decarbonization goals and not serve to extend the life of fossil fuel infrastructure beyond what is necessary for an orderly transition.

The depreciation strategy represents a critical financial and policy decision that affects both utility shareholders and ratepayers. By exploring alternative uses for existing assets, National Grid could potentially avoid stranded asset costs while contributing to the clean energy transition. However, the City's cautious approach ensures that such exploration does not become a justification for delaying the fundamental transition away from fossil fuel dependence.

## Environmental Defense Fund (EDF)

EDF states that the LTP Plan must align with New York's climate policy mandating reduced reliance on fossil fueled energy. EDF claims that natural gas use and production must decline to meet New York's climate goals. EDF affirms that the Initial LTP presents National Grid's "Clean Energy Vision" scenario (CEV) as the preferred pathway towards decarbonization. EDF disputes National Grid's justification for this pathway preference. EDF claims that National Grid justifies this preference by observing overlaps between this and the "Accelerated Electrification" scenario (AE), which the LTP derives from the Climate Action Council's (CAC) Scoping Plan. EDF notes National Grid's emphasis on overlaps between the nearterm enabling policies required for each. EDF, however, observes notable differences between these two pathways. EDF recognizes that the Accelerated Electrification scenario models significantly greater reductions in Design Day Volume by 2044. EDF correspondingly suggests that the "Clean Energy Vision" deviates from the Scoping Plan's guidance on downsizing the natural gas system despite this pathway's high-level consistency with this plan. EDF recommends that the Commission not approve the LTP without the following changes: improve NPA programs;

remove plans to inject hydrogen into the natural gas system; and reduce planned reliance on RNG.

EDF states that the Company must strengthen its NPA framework. EDF recognizes the LTP's high-level commitment to aggressive NPA pursuit but recommends the following improvements to National Grid's NPA framework: identify demand needs as early as possible; consider NPAs for all supply, capacity, and capital projects; seek solutions through an open and transparent RFP process; incorporate the climate and health benefits of avoiding gas infrastructure into project evaluation; maintain a robust and transparent record or decision-making process for NPA evaluation and implementation.

EDF recommends that National Grid expand the scope of its NPA program by better defining this program's criteria for "reliability." EDF notes the frequency with which National Grid invokes "system reliability" as a criterion for denying NPA eligibility and views this as a sign and symptom of this term's vaqueness in National Grid's framework for NPA evaluation. recognizes that National Grid's downstate affiliates denied NPA eligibility for 85 out of the 183 capital projects which they cumulatively reviewed in their 2023 rate case according to reasons of "system reliability" while Niagara Mohawk invoked this reason to deny NPA eligibility for 27 capital projects in its 2024 rate case. EDF recommends that National Grid only employ this term during NPA review for instances of an urgent need that pose a safety risk or threaten immediate system failure. EDF also recommends that National Grid remove the time thresholds from its NPA framework to ensure that all capital projects undergo a feasibility analysis for NPA implementation.

EDF states that hydrogen blending is not a viable decarbonization strategy. EDF addresses National Grid's

hydrogen proposals by first comparing those found in the LTP's CEV and AE scenarios. EDF notes that CEV proposes systemwide blending at a 20 percent volumetric blend rate, or 7 percent energy load relief, by 2050, as well as 100 percent hydrogen networks dedicated to servicing one-fifth of commercial buildings and two-thirds of industrial customers by 2050. EDF notes that AE assumes the deployment of significantly less hydrogen and reserves this for cement, iron and steel facilities.

EDF proceeds to describe various safety, climate, and health risks with hydrogen blending. EDF affirms a higher leakage rate for hydrogen than methane (1.3 to 3 times faster) according to the lower mass and higher diffusivity of the former. EDF recognizes a greater fire risk than methane according to hydrogen's higher/wider explosive limit, lower ignition energy, and lower flame visibility. EDF notes that hydrogen's higher flame temperature also contributes to greater production of nitrous oxide (NOx) than methane. EDF also notes that hydrogen itself is an indirect greenhouse gas (GHG) that increases the concentrations of short-lived GHGs through its reaction with and concomitant reduction of hydroxyl radicals (OH), or naturally occurring atmospheric oxidants which act as key sinks for methane. EDF asserts that a 20 percent hydrogenblend would only reduce emissions associated with natural gasheated buildings by 5.1 percent while the renewables needed to produce the same amount of energy as this blend could achieve three times these reductions if used to support building electrification via heat pump deployment. EDF additionally challenges the accuracy of the scholarly research performed by National Grid to support the safety of 20 percent hydrogenblending. EDF notes that National Grid supports this with a

2022 study on hydrogen-blending which the California Public Utilities Commission study directed the University of California Riverside to conduct; EDF asserts that this study only supported a blend rate of 5 percent and reserved blend rates between 5 to 20 percent for demonstration projects rather than deployment. EDF then affirms that the National Renewable Energy (NREL) issued a 2022 study to problematize any limit generalization on hydrogen blending and essentially retract its 2013 study in generalized support of a 5 to 15 percent hydrogen-blend. EDF also notes that the Pipeline Safety Trust, a national organization advocating for pipeline safety policies, recommended against blending hydrogen into local gas distribution systems under any circumstances.

EDF then challenges the energy efficiency of hydrogen relative to natural gas and building electrification. EDF affirms that hydrogen yields less than energy than natural gas according to a lower energy density per unit of volume and subsequently higher requirements for velocity and input energy per unit of volume. EDF affirms that building electrification via heat pumps requires 70 percent less renewable electricity to produce the same amount of energy as green hydrogen and 87.2 percent less renewable electricity to produce the same amount of GHG emission reduction. EDF correspondingly notes that the production of climate-beneficial hydrogen would divert a significant amount of clean energy from cleaning the electric grid. EDF additionally recognizes that the Climate Justice Working Group (CJWG), which the Climate Leadership and Community Protection Act (CLCPA) created to provide recommendations on environmental justice concerns to CAC, imbues hydrogen with the potential to increase GHGs in the environment and localized pollution concentrated in environmental justice communities.

EDF ultimately offers the following recommendations regarding hydrogen proposals in the Company's LTP: remove hydrogen-blending from the CEV scenario; remove assumptions of near-term deployment of hydrogen-blending; remove assumptions that anticipate serving commercial customers with hydrogen; assess the cost-effectiveness and energy efficiency of hydrogen relative to electrification for industrial customers and, if this assessment favors hydrogen, develop a pilot program for industrial hydrogen deployment. EDF also offers the following recommendations for considering hydrogen projects in general: compare the costs and benefits with alternatives, including electrification and NPAs, as well as the status quo in sufficiently granular manner for the evaluation of various end uses and end users; demonstrate the cost-effectiveness, comparative technological feasibility, and environmental benefits according to the best available data gathering technology; consider hydrogen leakage rates to the safety and climate impact; examine infrastructure and end-use degradation; reserve hydrogen for circumstances without any more viable option available.

EDF states that biomethane or RNG presents significant climate and safety concerns. EDF proceeds to address the LTP's proposals for RNG. EDF affirms that the CEV proposes significant reliance on RNG, whereby 41 percent of residential and commercial buildings will rely on hybrid heating systems that receive a mixture of 80 percent RNG and 20 percent hydrogen by volume. EDF also observes significant reliance on RNG in AE. EDF asserts that this proposal deviates from most decarbonization recommendations, including the Scoping Plan, and ignores the supply constraints of climate-beneficial RNG. EDF notes that the greatest amount of RNG deployment in the Scoping

Plan involves a 9 percent RNG blend by volume, which appears in the "Strategic Use of Low Carbon Fuels" scenario. EDF also notes that the Scoping Plan likens the pollutant emissions from the combustions of RNG and natural gas. EDF limits the availability of climate-beneficial RNG to between 1.4 and 12 percent of U.S. natural gas demand according to analyses from the American Gas Foundation, Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC), and NREL. EDF accordingly recommends that the Company reserve RNG for hard-to-electrify sectors rather than system blending.

#### Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis (IEEFA)

IEEFA's comments for the Initial LTP focus on the green hydrogen portion of the plan. IEEFA asserts that National Grid's LTP should not rely on hydrogen for homes or buildings. IEEFA notes that hydrogen is hard to manage, requires enormous infrastructure development and significantly expanded monitoring, and will likely have limited impact on carbon dioxide emissions in blended form. IEEFA recommends that National Grid reconsider its proposal regarding hydrogen and hydrogen-blending.

IEEFA asserts that hydrogen is not an efficient source of energy by volume. IEEFA notes that a 100 percent hydrogen substitution for natural gas would provide only 35 percent of the previously provided energy.

IEEFA asserts the limited availability of large volumes of hydrogen. IEEFA notes that petrochemical and fertilizer industries use most of the 10 million tons of hydrogen annually produced in the U.S. IEEFA references the Renewables 2023 report from the International Energy Agency (IEA), which discusses the slow pace of bringing planned hydrogen projects to financial close due to a lack of off-takers

and the impact of inflation on production costs. IEEFA states that the costs of hydrogen production remain a challenge for the Initial LTP's proposed reliance on hydrogen even though National Grid proposes to be the off-taker.

IEEFA asserts that the Initial LTP does not rule out the use of methane-based, or blue, hydrogen if green hydrogen, which is produced from water through electrolysis, is unavailable. IEEFA asserts that blue hydrogen is neither clean nor low-carbon. IEEFA claims that the GREET model (Greenhouse gases, Regulated Emissions and Energy use in Transportation), which the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) uses to evaluate CO2-equivalent (CO2e) emissions from methane-based hydrogen, significantly understates the likely emissions associated with blue hydrogen. IEEFA recommends using a 2.5 percent methane fugitive emission rate rather than the 1 percent rate employed by the GREET model.

IEEFA asserts that pipeline transport of hydrogen presents a challenge. IEEFA states that National Grid's plans for hydrogen would require an undetermined amount of new pipeline construction because the U.S. only has about 1,600 miles of hydrogen-dedicated pipelines, nearly all of which are concentrated in Texas and Louisiana. IEEFA challenges the Initial LTP's assertation that existing gas networks can transport a 20 percent hydrogen blend. IEEFA notes the stress that hydrogen can place on plastic and steel piping as well as pressure regulators to confront hydrogen's high leakage rate relative to methane.

IEEFA expresses concern with increased nitrous oxide (NOx) emissions from hydrogen combustion. IEEFA notes that NOx interacts with volatile organic compounds in the atmosphere to form tropospheric ozone pollution.

IEEFA asserts that hydrogen-methane blends in pipelines and homes or buildings poses safety risks and uncertainties. IEEFA notes that hydrogen has a broader range of conditions under which it will ignite. IEEFA also asserts that maintenance costs for distribution systems under hydrogen service will likely increase because these systems would require more frequent inspections, additional leak detection systems, and the elimination of all remaining LPP.

IEEFA challenges the likelihood of National Grid's projection that 67 percent of industrial energy use by 2050 will be 100 percent hydrogen. IEEFA references a 2020 report from McKinsey & Company which found that roughly 49 percent of fuel used for industrial activity could be replaced by electrification from extant technologies.

while battery technology offers better certainty as an energy storage resource. IEEFA asserts that only three underground salt cavern hydrogen storage facilities operate in the U.S., all of which reside in Texas. IEEFA also expresses concern with hydrogen loss through cap rock in underground storage. IEEFA notes leakage and safety issues with National Grid's plan to store excess hydrogen within its pipeline system. IEEFA confirms that battery storage in the power sector was the fastest-growing commercial energy technology worldwide in 2023 and that battery costs have dropped 90 percent since 2010.

# Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC)

NRDC identifies major risks associated with the Company's preferred pathway, the Clean Energy Vision (CEV).

NRDC finds the heavy reliance on renewable natural gas and hydrogen in the building sector to be risky, likely incompatible with CLCPA targets, and highly uncertain with respect to price,

supply, emissions impact, and technical feasibility. Also, NRDC states that National Grid's LTP deviates from the Scoping Plan's path in its assumptions on electrification and alternative fuels.

NRDC raises concerns about the CEV scenario's heavy reliance on hydrogen and RNG. These concerns are based on overly optimistic assumptions regarding RNG's availability, the retention of RNG's environmental attributes, understated price assumptions and operational concerns. RNG availability faces significant barriers, including competition for it from combined heat and power systems, significant capital costs to build production facilities, and competition for RNG supply from non-residential gas-using customers. Also, NRDC states that RNG is not emission free, releasing pollutants when it is combusted. Without policy changes, RNG is expected to cost three times as much as fossil gas.

NRDC also raises significant concerns about National Grid's proposed reliance on hydrogen. NRDC states that the technology and market infrastructure to support hydrogen are underdeveloped. NRDC also expresses concerns about National Grid's ambitious proposal to blend hydrogen with fossil gas, noting that studies indicate that significant system retrofits are required. Additionally, NRDC states that hydrogen does not have scalable technologies to service demand from the gas network.

NRDC challenges the LTP's modeling assumptions for building electrification, particularly those for heat pump performance and backup fuel usage thresholds. NRDC notes that electric heating is already more affordable than gas, especially for new construction. NRDC expects full electrification to become increasingly cost-effective and gas service to become

more expensive over the full plan horizon. Further, NRDC states that hydrogen combustion for heating in buildings is inefficient compared to electric heat pumps, with hydrogen boilers requiring 5.5 times more energy than electric heat pumps to produce an equal amount of heat. NRDC states that even though National Grid predicts ambitious cost decreases for hydrogen by 2050, the cost of hydrogen still remains more expensive than fossil gas.

NRDC also highlights the underutilization of non-pipe alternatives (NPAs). NRDC raises concerns with National Grid's process for utilizing ten criteria to determine the suitability of LPP projects, which resulted in approximately 90 percent of the projects failing to pass the screening process.

NRDC recommends strengthening the NPA identification and planning process, potentially through use of analytical tools such as Pacific Gas and Electric's Gas Asset Analysis Tool, to support targeted system downsizing. NRDC views the Company's ongoing investments in pipe replacements as a source of future stranded costs and suggests that NPA screening criteria should be broadened to enable electrification-based decommissioning of aging assets.

NRDC's analysis highlights the financial and equity risks associated with continued capital investment in a shrinking gas system. NRDC references new modeling by Synapse Energy Economics showing that gas delivery rates and bills would rise significantly under a Customer Defection scenario in which customer departures exceed the Company's projections.

NRDC ultimately concludes that the CEV scenario is not a viable long-term strategy because it would likely result in unaffordable bills, higher-than-expected customer defection, and substantial stranded costs. NRDC states that widespread partial building electrification is not a viable strategy to meet

emissions targets. NRDC asserts that maintaining the full gas system for intermittent use, whether for backup combustion or alternative fuels, would increase system risk, raise customer costs, and likely fall short of the Company's stated emissions reductions. NRDC also disputes the similarities that the Company notes between the early-stage actions under the LTP's CEV and Acceleration Electrification (AE) scenarios; NRCD notes that CEV involves continued infrastructure expansion while AE scales back investment. NRDC notes that AE still falls short of CLCPA alignment; NRDC asserts that partial electrification and near-term alternative fuel reliance are unlikely to deliver the required emissions outcomes.

NRDC recommends that the Company reorient its planning to accelerate electrification, avoid new infrastructure lock-in, fully utilize non-pipe alternatives, and reconsider the role of alternative fuels as a long-term solution.

#### New Yorkers for Clean Power (NYCP)

NYCP flags the following concerns with the Initial LTP for PA to note: inaccurate emissions accounting in CEV related to fugitive emissions from National Grid's gas distribution network; and inaccurate alternative fuel assumptions.

NYCP disputes the assumption in CEV that GHG emissions reductions are proportional to the volume of gas delivered.

NYCP asserts that gas demand reduction with no system shrinkage will increase the real carbon intensity of the gas remaining on the system and that fugitive emissions depend on the size of the distribution network.

NYCP also questions the downstream fugitive emissions factor of 2.2 percent from the 2022 NYS Statewide GHG Emissions Report by noting that several research institutions from across the U.S. support a factor of approximately 0.4 percent. NYCP

additionally supports the significance of fugitive emissions in New York according to the age of building stock in the state.

NYCP further questions the emission reduction benefits of LPP replacement. NYCP attributes the minimal difference that it observes between LPP and modern pipe to underestimated leakage coming from real downstream leakage. NYCP observes comparably high emission levels from the Boston gas distribution system, which features a significant amount of leak prone cast iron pipe, and from the Indianapolis gas distribution system, which is vastly comprised of modern plastic pipe.

NYCP questions the assumption that RNG is carbon negative for many RNG feedstocks and sources. NYCP characterizes RNG production as a carbon and energy intensive process due to the life-cycle energy inputs required for procuring the necessary crops. NYCP notes that RNG emissions factor from the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation does not incorporate supply chain and production emissions but rather only counts downstream fugitive methane emissions. NYCP acknowledges challenges to accurate assessments of supply chain and process emissions for RNG production; however, NYCP notes the carbon intensity of intentionally produced RNG begins to rival that of fossil natural gas when modeled with the median leakage rate of 5 percent from the 2022 NYS Statewide GHG Emissions Report. NYCP questions the climate benefits of RNG produced from both thermal gasification and anerobic digestion given that both extract methane that would not otherwise exist in free form. NYCP ultimately implicates gas system plans with heavy reliance on RNG as well as hydrogen in efforts to circumvent gas system downsizing rather than meaningfully reduce GHG emissions.

NYCP recommends against the inclusion of hydrogen blending in any LTP as a means to achieve CLCPA-compliant GHG reductions. NYCP discusses the complexities and expenses involved in producing green hydrogen that qualifies as zero emission. NYCP provides an overview of the three criteria endorsed by American Clean Power and the European Union to qualify green hydrogen as zero emission: additionality, regionality/deliverability, and hourly matching. NYCP recommends reserving zero-emission hydrogen for difficult-toelectrify industrial uses, displacing current supplies of gray hydrogen in industrial and manufacturing applications, and long duration energy storage. NYCP asserts that a comparison of hydrogen and electricity for home heating finds the former less economical, less efficient, more resource intensive, more environmentally harmful, and ultimately uncompetitive with the latter.

NYCP concludes by challenging CEV as a realistic option for not only CLCPA-compliant emission reduction but also implementation in general. NYCP supports the Scoping Plan's assertion that deep electrification combined with dramatic shrinkage of the gas distribution system represents the only realistic option for achieving the CLCPA's emission reduction targets for 2050.

#### Sane Energy Project (Sane)

Sane recommends that the Commission reject National Grid's LTP. Sane disagrees with National Grid's prioritization of investment in gas infrastructure rather than renewable energy solutions and energy efficiency measures. Sane proposes increased investment in energy efficiency programs, demand response, and technological solutions such as thermal energy networks and heat pumps in lieu of the Company's proposals to

utilize hydrogen and RNG. Sane claims that these RNG and hydrogen proposals are insufficient and derive the lack of incentive for KEDNY and KEDLI to facilitate decreases to gas demand as gas-only distribution companies.

Sane claims that National Grid justifies the need for new or constant gas infrastructure expansion or repair with inflated gas demand projections. Sane proposes that the Commission should explore grounds for revoking National Grid's ability to operate in New York.

Sane critiques the Gas Planning Procedure at large according to its consideration of gas and electricity in isolation, which discourages the integration of energy services. Sane urges National Grid to develop a new plan that is all inclusive rather than gas-only. Also, Sane urges the Commission to work collaboratively with stakeholders to develop a plan that prioritizes the health and safety of New Yorkers and helps to achieve a sustainable clean energy future. Sane then urges the Commission to issue the following three orders for the National Grid LTP: decommission and remediate the Greenpoint Energy Center; align National Grid's business model with the state's current climate goals; investigate gas demand projections.

Sane calls for the establishment of a working group including National Grid, Department of Public Service Staff, and other interested parties to specifically address the long-term viability of the Greenpoint LNG facility through 2050. Sane cites a variety of conditions that support the case to decommission Greenpoint including increasing volatility of natural gas due to increased LNG exports, New York City and New York State carbon reduction mandates, developments of alternatives to gas heating such as geothermal, and the increasing risk of failure for the aging infrastructure of the

natural gas system. Sane also asserts that the Greenpoint facility does not address: gas demand and supply considerations in the context of modified demand; gas supply and delivery rates in the context of modified demand; or gas supply and delivery alternatives in the context of increased volatility and costs for traditional service. Sane notes that National Grid's downstate design day temperature of 65 heating degree days (HDDs) is at a level not seen since 1932 and that using the peak HDDs from the past 30 years, which is 61, or the peak from the past 10 years, which is 58, would reduce the design day demand requirement by 120,000-210,000 Dt. Sane then notes that National Grid's downstate demand forecast from 2023 shows a significantly lower design day forecast in 2029/30. additionally asserts that the Greenpoint facility does not address potential rate shocks, safety risks, or environmental justice.

Sane acknowledges the Company's defense of the Greenpoint LNG facility, which affirm that the facility provided 105,000 Dth of deliverability on 24 December 2022 during Winter Storm Elliot when pipeline volumes did not materialize at city gates as expected. Sane rebuts this defense by asserting that a combination of delivery commitments through flowing supplies and curtailment of cogen deliveries would have been sufficient to cover the downstate system. Sane adds that the maximum daily send-out of the Greenpoint facility over the past decade was 36 percent of total capacity and that the facility's total utilization in any one-year period was 28 percent. Sane also recognizes the ability of upstate utilities to serve design day demand without LNG in their supply portfolios. Sane additionally limits National Grid's ability to arbitrage gas by liquifying in the Summer, given that the maximum annual

deployment for LNG was 460,000 Dth, or less than 0.5 percent of the total annual throughput of the downstate system.

Sane notes the proposed capital expenditures of \$297M over the next four years to support the Greenpoint facility and the Company's proposed alternatives, which include LNG trailer trucks, CNG injection stations, and demand-side alternatives. Sane points out that National Grid provided a cost estimate for the CNG injection stations and not the LNG trailers and demandside alternatives. Sane then raises concerns with the Company's \$11B cost estimate for the hypothetical alternative of full building electrification and weatherization. Sane notes that the National Grid assumes full-electrification of 291,000 households as the only alternative to Greenpoint and does not account for thermal dispatch models. Sane also claims that National Grid may overestimate both the cost of increased electrical capacity and the revenue requirement for avoided gas infrastructure. Sane additionally affirms that this estimate excludes site remediation costs.

Sane recommends that the Commission evaluate its capacity to require gas demand and infrastructure reduction plans to align with the CLCPA. Sane calls for collaboration between Con Edison, LIPA and NYPA to develop a "decommissioning plan" for the KEDNY and KEDLI service territories.

Sane supports Iroquois Pipeline retirement rather than the Company's proposed ExC Project to increase compression capabilities of two existing compressor stations in Athens and Dover Plains, New York. Sane raises concerns regarding environmental impacts on disadvantaged communities from these projects in accordance with the CLCPA. Sane's last concern regarding these projects is the communication between the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation and

Department of Public Service regarding the role of Iroquois in ensuring safe and reliable service for gas system.

Sane proposes an investigation into National Grid's projections regarding hydrogen and renewable natural gas. Sane recommends that the Commission consider revoking National Grid's certificate of public convenience and necessity if the utility does not actively participate in long-term planning that aligns with Sane's proposed orders.

#### Sierra Club (SC)

SC appreciates National Grid's recognition that consensus around an LTP will prove elusive and National Grid's efforts to identify enabling actions for decarbonization on a CLCPA-compliant timeline. SC, however, still seeks demonstration that the near-term options proposed by National Grid for CLCPA-compliant decarbonization pathways are "no regrets" options for customers and that these pathways are consistent with the CAC's Final Scoping Plan. SC argues that National Grid's scenario modeling was not structured in a way that enables the Company to definitively identify "no regrets" policies and that National Grid mischaracterizes CAC Scoping Plan Recommendations.

SC agrees with National Grid's affirmation that the Company should follow the Scoping Plan for the gas transition but disagrees with National Grid's interpretation of decarbonization for New York's buildings. SC affirms that the Scoping Plan limits the role of hybrid heat pump systems with gas back-up and offers no role for either RNG or hydrogen. SC claims that National Grid proposes much larger roles for both RNG and hydrogen than the Scoping Plan.

SC also claims that National Grid's scenario modeling does not validate increased investment in low-carbon fuel as a

"no regrets" policy. SC notes National Grid's contention that any action common to the LTP's two policy scenarios, CEV and AE, are "no regrets." SC disagrees with this contention on the grounds that National Grid separately developed these scenarios and overstates their commonalities, especially regarding the role of LCFs. SC notes that hydrogen-blending investment through 2051 in CEV is \$5B but \$400M in AE. SC also notes that RNG plays almost no role by 2050 in AE but peaks by 2025 in CEV.

SC questions the necessity of RNG for decarbonization in National Grid territories by noting that RNG represents 1MDth/day of the Company's combined Upstate and Downstate portfolio total of 3,961 MDth/day and that estimated RNG production at Newtown Creek stands at 2/3rd of a MDth/day. SC notes the lack of regulatory framework that would permit National Grid to procure RNG in a competitive manner. SC also notes that RNG from Newtown Creek cannot be classified as RNG since the environmental attributes are being commodified for sale outside of NYS. SC contends that National Grid has not demonstrated the cost-effectiveness of RNG because National Grid bases RNG cost estimates on production cost rather than procurement cost. SC claims that RNG procurement costs could exceed \$37/MMBtu while National Grid estimates production costs at \$16.03/MMBtu. SC asserts that National Grid's RNG cost estimates may not consider the potential for increased RNG competition in the event of statewide adoption for a cap-andinvest program, which would drive RNG prices higher.

SC contends that National Grid has not demonstrated the viability or cost-effectiveness of hydrogen as a component of a deep decarbonization strategy. SC notes that National Grid provides no analysis to demonstrate the safety of the proposed 20 percent systemwide hydrogen-blend. SC cites a report from

Switchbox that claims manufacturing the green hydrogen required for a 20 percent blend would require an additional 48 TWh of electricity, or the entire power demand of New York City, and consume eight times as much electricity to achieve the same emissions reductions from heat pumps.

SC provides recommendations for National Grid's scenario modeling assumptions based on analysis provided by Current Energy Group (Current) at SC's request. SC recommends that National Grid decrease the annual CapEx and OpEx forecasts at the same rate as the declining peak demand in AE scenario. SC recommends that National Grid shift its design day from the coldest day on record to the coldest day in the past 40 years. SC recommends that National Grid quantify the following electrification benefits: reduction of asthma related ER visits, reduction in child mortality risk, and reduction of calls to fire departments related to natural gas leaks. SC recommends that the Company model cold climate heat pump operations on an hourly basis rather than daily and assume heat pumps operate down to 15F from 2030-2035 and down to -5F from 2035-2042.

SC provides a list of additional concerns with the LTP that includes issues with forecast methodology and the viability of LPP replacement as a climate strategy. SC claims that National Grid does not adequately support its forecast of robust customer and load growth through 2050. SC seeks clarity on how National Grid's econometric modeling incorporates incentives for electrification or impacts on the cost of electric versus gasbased systems according to a cap-and-invest program. SC notes that new construction drives the Company's modeling even after the implementation of Local Law 154 and the All Electric Buildings Act in 2029. SC's challenges the modeling's continued growth in use per customer for non-residential and multifamily

buildings by noting state and federal incentives for weatherization and efficiency incentives. SC notes that National Grid observes significant GHG emission reductions from LPP removal without addressing the cost or how this compares to the costs of other GHG reduction strategies. SC notes that National Grid's 2020 gas rate case values the cost emission reduction at \$5,000 per ton of CO2E for LPP replacement and \$240 per ton for gas efficiency programs. SC correspondingly challenges the Company's proposal to remove 4,500 miles of LPP as a good use of ratepayer funds. SC affirms that NPAs can offer an effective alternative to LPP replacement once the state removes the obligation to serve; however, SC also observes difficulties in scaling NPAs. SC encourages National Grid to pursue NPAs but urges the Company consider alternatives to full LPP replacement such as pipeline repair, which can cost between  $1/10^{th}$  and  $1/100^{th}$  of a full replacement per the D.C. Department of Energy and Environment. SC cites Groundwork Data's findings that a managed transition away from pipeline gas in phases through pruning and frontloaded investments in low to moderate income households and DACs could avoid ballooning costs and minimize ratepayer burden. SC affirms that a desirable outcome from this LTP docket would be a targeted downsizing of National Grid's gas system.

SC concludes its comments by reiterating a shared desire for gas utilities to move forward with implementation of recommendations for the decarbonization of the gas system as detailed in the final Scoping Plan. SC affirms that CEV presently stands in tension with the Scoping Vision and that AE does not fully reflect the Scoping Plan, especially given its reliance on both RNG and hydrogen-blending. SC urges

modification to National Grid's scenario modeling based on technical issues identified by Current.

#### Spindelman, Margot

Spindelman affirms that National Grid cannot effectively implement New York State's energy transition because KEDNY and KEDLI are gas-only utilities. Spindelman claims that National Grid's approach to electrification is inadequate and that its discussions on leaving emissions decisions to the consumer only extend reliance on the gas system.

Spindelman states that the use of RNG and hydrogen (H2) are false solutions to address decarbonization. Spindelman references a 2019 American Gas Foundation that cites the cost of natural gas at \$3.67 per MMBTU, the median cost of RNG for 44 percent prospective RNG projects at \$18 per MMBTU, and the cost of RNG for the remaining 56 percent of RNG projects at prices over \$20 per MMBTU. Spindelman asserts that the cost of RNG is an irresponsible expense since it is chemically identical to traditional natural gas and presents the same health risks. Spindelman also states that RNG should be reserved for difficult-to-electrify industries or energy intensive businesses since the amount of procurable RNG is too small to be used on a large-scale.

Spindelman expresses concern with the consideration of hydrogen as a feasible pathway in the LTP. Spindelman affirms hydrogen's incompatibility with pipeline distribution and combustion according to its smaller particle size and higher propensity for leakage relative to methane. Spindelman also affirms that hydrogen is more energy intensive than methane because it needs to be super cooled more than methane for storage and only provides one-third of methane's energy content per volume. Spindelman ultimately asserts that the

LTP's proposals for hydrogen and RNG will not achieve New York State energy goals and will only serve to keep gas and, in turn, Company profits flowing through the pipes.

Spindelman disagrees with National Grid's advocation for full funding of the Greenpoint Energy Center and the Iroquois pipeline; Spindelman cites this infrastructure's age, history of leaks, and long-term health risks. Spindelman advocates for alternatives to this infrastructure, such as thermal energy networks, which simultaneously negate gas need and reduce electrical grid load. Spindelman accentuates the urgency of pursuing alternatives by recognizing the disproportionate and lethal effects of this infrastructure in Black, Indigenous, and People of Color (BIPOC) communities.

Spindelman states that we need to change the public service law so that GSLTP discussions consider all fuels and strategies rather than focus on gas. Spindelman disagrees with the recent National Grid downstate rate case as a win for customers, given the \$67 increases to monthly bills allotted for the rate case term end. Spindelman ultimately disagrees with the proposals in the National Grid LTP and recommends that the Public Service Commission reject the LTP.

#### Reply Comments on Initial LTP

# National Grid

National Grid responds to PA's concerns that the Company's forecasted meter count increases conflict with Moody's forecasted decreases to population and households in both Upstate and Downstate New York. National Grid notes Moody's forecasted increases to the number of housing units--which is the economic variable used by National Grid to forecast residential customers, given that meters are associated with

housing units. National Grid also recognizes an overall national trend in lower numbers of population per housing unit and population per household.

National Grid disagrees with PA's concern that forecast values for the Company's usage per customer (UPC) modeling demonstrate a jump relative to historical values. National Grid asserts that PA does not accurately represent normalized historic values and references Figures 7-10 through 7-17 from PA's Initial Report. National Grid also disagrees with PA's concern that the Company's UPC values do not fully reflect impact and trends from 2023. National Grid asserts that PA does not support its claims regarding demand-side trends from 2023. National Grid additionally challenges the notion that one-year's data represents a trend.

National Grid disagrees with PA's claim that the LTP's customer count forecasts do not adequately reflect evolving policy, macroeconomic, and electrification factors across classes. National Grid affirms that it accounts for impacts from full and partial electrification and anticipates reduced customer counts and usage through DSM programs. National Grid also affirms that it accounts for impacts from the All-Electric Building Act and Local Law 154, including exemptions from each, and plans to accordingly incorporate these impacts as it continues to gather information on them.

National Grid disagrees with the recommendation from NRDC and SC that the Company assume a lower switchover temperature for partially electrified customers with dual-fuel capabilities. National Grid defends its assumption of 30 degrees Fahrenheit for an average switchover temperature as reasonable according to a recent study which supports this

temperature as the average for switchovers from natural gas customers in Massachusetts and Connecticut.

National Grid disagrees with the scrutiny recommended by CNY, Sane, and SC regarding the Company's Design Day forecast. CNY recognizes that the Company bases the DNY Design Day on conditions from 1934 that haven't occurred since, while Sierra Club recommends using the coldest temperature from the most recent 40 years for Design Day. National Grid defends its Design Day according to a lack of sufficient scientific evidence indicating that severe cold outbreaks cannot occur in a warming climate.

National Grid disagrees with CNY's recommendation to update the period used for calculating the average number of Heating Degree Days (HDDs), which is currently six years old. National Grid affirms that it updates this period at the time of its rate cases and seeks to keep its LTP analysis consistent with its rate case methodology.

National Grid addresses SC's concern that CEV and AE assume greater reliance on LCFs in the LTP than their corollary scenarios in the Climate Action Council's Scoping Plan.

National Grid notes that all CLCPA-compliant scenarios in the Scoping Plan use significant amounts of LCFs. The Company then asserts that this concern conflates CEV with the Company's ultimate LTP. The Company affirms that CEV and AE are not forecasts but rather assumptions of requisite LCF levels for CLCPA-compliance under different electrification scenarios. The Company's Scenario Analysis also reflects SC's concern by finding that the LCF volumes required by either CEV or AE cannot be achieved without new policy and regulatory frameworks which enable utility procurement of LCFs, accurate accounting of associated emission reductions, and incentivized production.

The Company also affirms that electrification and efficiency accordingly denote the primary decarbonization solutions in CEV and AE.

The Company's ultimate position on LCFs is that they should be enabled to the extent which they can deliver costeffective emission reductions and that policies and regulations should be established for LCF use to ensure their lifecycle emission reductions and support of CLCPA objectives. The Company also advocates for policies and regulations that appropriately reflect the carbon abatement values of all decarbonization technologies in the prices customers pay and enable customers to choose the most cost effective and feasible mix of these technologies for their particular circumstances. The Company affirms the consistency of this position with the Scoping Plan's recommended course of action and research agenda.

National Grid addresses PA's concern that the Company underestimates LCF costs. National Grid welcomes alternative data points around these issues. National Grid notes that the decarbonization scenarios reflect potential scaling of heat pump adoption from policy and electrification incentives and that the Reference Case reflects policies and programs supporting electrification.

National Grid addresses the recommendation from PA and CNY that the Company target LCFs to difficult-to-electrify customers. National Grid contends that this approach over the long-term would likely hinder cost-effective emission reductions and foster greater dependence on fossil fuels. National Grid suggests instead to maximize targeted electrification and the broad adoption of technologies for gas demand reduction while using LCFs to reduce the carbon intensity of all remaining gas load. National Grid supports targeted LCF deployment in the

near term as part of the Scoping Plan's recommended agenda to inform development of a comprehensive suite of LCF-enabling frameworks.

National Grid responds to concerns from EDF, NRDC, CNY, NYCP, and SC regarding the viability and safety of hydrogen in the existing natural gas system. National Grid references its exceptional track record of safe operations dating back to 1849 along with scientific evidence that supports hydrogen-blending's compatibility with large portions of the gas distribution system, such as those with modern high-density plastic pipeline. National Grid also asserts that it bases its proposed 20 percent hydrogen blend rate on impacts to customer appliance reliability rather technical limitations of infrastructure and that the Company's LPP Replacement program ensures the compatibility of new infrastructure with hydrogen-blending.

National Grid acknowledges the validity of concerns from EDF and the Institute for Energy Economics Financial Analysis (IEEFA) about the limited supply and high cost of green hydrogen. National Grid, however, also notes efforts to increase clean hydrogen production from the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law, the Inflation Reduction Act, Plug Power, and Linde. National Grid additionally notes efforts to reduce the cost of clean hydrogen from the Department of Energy's Hydrogen Shot initiative.

National Grid disagrees with PA's recommendation to include UTENs and 100 percent hydrogen network costs in gas customer bill impacts. National Grid asserts that doing so is not consistent the Company's strategy or current regulatory policies. National Grid affirms that final regulatory cost recovery frameworks for these types of networks remain

unestablished, which renders premature any assumption that customers remaining on the legacy gas system will bear costs for these types of networks.

National Grid agrees with PA's recommendation that the Company provide a more robust assessment of opportunities to right-size the gas system through targeted electrification and with CNY's recommendation to do so through coordinated gas and electric planning. National Grid notes that it is in the early stages integrated energy planning in areas where it serves as the gas LDC and EDC.

National Grid responds to NRDC's recommendation that the Company perform a sensitivity analysis utilizing standard accounting for in-state RNG and gross-accounting for all out-of-state RNG. The Company affirms that its approach to RNG accounting fully adheres to New York's established approach and employs emissions factors defined by NYSERDA for all emissions sources. The Company excludes biogenic CO2 emissions and does not take credit for upstream methane abatement from RNG production. The Company welcomes additional discussion around the State's existing approach to quantifying gross emissions. The Company supports the development of lifecycle assessment (LCA) accounting approaches to protect against GHG leakage and ensure that New York's decarbonization policies do not increase out-of-state emissions.

National Grid acknowledges stakeholder challenges to RNG as a truly low-carbon fuel according to methane leakage associated with RNG production and transportation. National Grid would support excluding RNG from purpose-grown energy crops and only allowing RNG produced from waste.

National Grid challenges SC's recommendation that the Company include indoor air quality costs into their BCA.

National Grid asserts that SC has provided neither substantive support for the benefit estimates cited around the health impacts of gas or gas-related emergencies nor any serious consideration of how to appropriately integrate these benefits into a BCA methodology. National Grid disagrees with stakeholder questions regarding the consistency of AE with Scenario 3 from the CAC's Integration Analysis (CAC3). National Grid affirms that AE represents how natural gas demand from National Grid customers would evolve through 2050 by applying the resource mix from CAC3 to the Company's system.

National Grid responds to PA's recommendation that the Company detail initiatives to minimize cross-subsidization impact among customer classes to avoid the risk of disproportionate burdens. National Grid affirms that it based the revenue allocation among the service classifications used in its bill impacts on most revenue allocations approved in the Company's most recent rate cases.

National Grid responds to CNY's recommendation that the Company continue engagement in relevant proceedings to overcome perceived funding gaps and delays in EE deployment as well accelerate heat pump installation. National Grid notes that it is in the process of relaunching its residential weatherization program with the goal of enrolling contractors and processing rebate applications in Q1 2025. National Grid also notes that it filed EE and building electrification program proposals for 2026-2030 under Case 18-M-0084.

National Grid responds to CNY's recommendation that the Company develop a more robust referral process that tracks their work with overlapping electric utility partners. National Grid notes that it has executed a memorandum of understanding with the LIPA in 2022 to coordinate weatherization and other EE

programs and share program data to understand customer participation and cross-utility referrals.

National Grid responds to PA's recommendation that the Company develop a view on how the economics of heat pumps for residential and small commercial space and water heating in the Company's service territories will change as gas rates increase over time. National Grid recognizes the importance of understanding heat pump adoption economics for individual customers but also asserts that the scope of the GSLTP proceeding does not encompass the coordination and data sharing with overlapping electric utilities necessary to develop a more informed view on the individual economics of heat pump adoption.

National Grid responds to recommendations from PA, NRDC, and CNY that urge the Company to develop strategies for mitigating bill impacts and barriers to electrification for vulnerable customers who remain on a shrinking gas system. National Grid supports the development of IEP tools to ensure that remaining gas customers who face barriers to electrification are not unduly burdened by gas system transition. National Grid also notes that rate design alone cannot solve the affordability challenges of decarbonization.

National Grid responds to NRDC's assessment of residential customer bill impacts which concluded that annual energy costs for customers who fully electrify through 2050 are less expensive than for customers who do not or who partially electrify. National Grid claims that it could not evaluate this analysis due to a lack of workpapers and sufficient detail on modeling assumptions. National Grid seeks further clarity on NRDC's source for electric supply costs, use of the Annual Energy Outlook to determine baseline growth for delivery rates,

and expectations for how potential electric bill impacts of EE program investments will scale to support electrification.

National Grid responds to the recommendation from EDF and NRDC that the Company evaluate capital projects for NPA feasibility without rigid timelines or filters on project types or quotas. National Grid affirms that the goal of NPA feasibility criteria is to maximize the potential number of projects screened. National Grid states that it will provide updated NPA Screening and Suitability criteria in its annual NPA reporting and future GSLTP iterations.

National Grid responds to recommendations from CNY and NRDC that urge the Company to prioritize various electrification-based NPAs. National Grid notes that its work to develop IEP capabilities will provide insight into system areas where the deployment of electrification-based NPAs will have the lowest probability of necessitating electrical infrastructure build-out.

National Grid responds to CNY's recommendation that the Company provide additional strategy and commitments to scale NPA implementation. National Grid notes that its recent NMPC JP includes NPA commitments similar to those from the latest KEDNY/KEDLI JP. National Grid notes its commitments to enhancing its NPA processes as reflected in the recent KEDLI/KEDNY Order, which the Company received after filing the Initial LTP. National Grid states that it will file an Implementation Plan within 120 days of the KEDLI/KEDNY Order.

National Grid responds to the recommendation from CNY and NRDC that the Company prioritize NPAs in DACs to avoid future bill impacts to those customers. National Grid notes that it proposed to increase the value of avoided cost in DACs by 20 percent from a BCA perspective in the recent NMPC rate

case. National Grid also agrees to work closely with its implementation contractor and local community groups to increase NPA receptivity.

National Grid responds to PA's recommendation that the Company address the inherent risks and potential costs to customers for relying on delivered services supplies. National Grid notes that the chief risks for these supplies include: commodity cost, given that the pricing structure of delivered services contracts are often tied to daily city gate price indices; uncertainty in the Company's ability to recontract for supplies, given that marketers also take service under pipeline tariffs and can continue to hold capacity without any obligation to sell to the Company; and new contract pricing, given the appeal of multi-year arrangements to avoid re-contracting risk. National Grid notes that the delivery risk for its current levels of delivered services is very low, given that these pipeline resources are backed by primary firm capacity.

National Grid responds to PA's recommendation that the Company explicitly discuss the risks of using incremental CNG injection sites to meet Design Day demand. National Grid notes that CNG truckers may encounter thoroughfare closures since they deliver during peak weather conditions. National Grid also notes difficulties with retaining a trained and capable workforce since CNG injections are meant for a limited number of days during the winter.

National Grid responds to PA's recommendation that the Company explicitly explain the possibility of viable alternatives to the Iroquois Exc project and emphasize the degree to which KEDNY and KEDLI are reliant on this project to mitigate the supply-demand gap projected by the Company for 2027-28. National Grid asserts that there are no alternatives

to this project. National Grid notes that the Company's Long-Term Gas Capacity Report series from Case 19-G-0678 documents the Company's assessment of alternatives such as Greenpoint Vaporizers 13/14 and incremental CNG. National Grid asserts that this assessment gave the best chance of closing the gap to supply projects already under development. National Grid affirms that ExC was the only project capable of closing the gap already under development. National Grid notes that the Department of Public Service submitted a letter to NYSDEC on 26 February 2024 which confirms the need for the ExC project to support the safety and reliability of the New York gas system.

#### Sane

Sane supports the CNY's recommendation to position NPAs at the forefront of the gas transition. Same equally contends that the LTP's approach is not conducive for the adoption of NPAs. Sane reiterates CNY's recommendation that National Grid point to specific projects or sections of the Plan where NPAs were considered and rejected or develop a scenario that assumes the implementation of enabling policies while calling for the Commission and legislature to adopt these policies. Sane agrees with the CNY's recommendations that National Grid prioritize oil-to-electric conversions rather than oil-to-gas conversions; assess LPP areas that are appropriate for NPAs according to building systems data and mortgage terms; align NPA implementation with a building system's capital and mortgage cycle; and extend the Company's commitment to perform preliminary NPA analysis to all gas service requests.

Sane additionally agrees with CNY's support for the role of thermal energy networks in decarbonized heating. Sane reiterates CNY's concerns regarding the design day forecast methodology being based on a one-in-90 observation. Sane

supports CNY's recommendations that National Grid place greater emphasis on retirement rather than replacement of main rather than replacement and that National Grid explore the use of the Greenpoint site for alternative technologies such as solar, storage, or thermal network projects.

Sane supports NRDC's recommendations that the Company conduct a review of the system, expand the type of projects eligible for NPA consideration, make screening criteria less restrictive, improve customer outreach and education, and pursue NPAs for easy-to-convert areas and low-income communities.

Sane supports EDF's NPA framework that identifies demand needs as early as possible; considers NPAs for all supply, capacity, and capital projects; seeks solutions through open and transparent RFPs; evaluates projects using, among many factors, the climate and health benefits of avoiding gas infrastructure; and maintains a robust and transparent record of decision-making processes in evaluating and implementing NPAs.

Sane agrees with Sierra Club's contention that the LTP overstates HDD design criteria are overstated and the methodology for developing these criteria demands serious analysis. Sane also raises issue with the Design Day calculation being a 1 in 90-year occurrence.

Sane agrees with PA's assessment that the Company does not appear to adequately reflect evolving policy, macroeconomic, and electrification factors in development of customer count forecasts. Sane also agrees with PA's contention that the LTP overstates Design Day Demand. Sane, however, disagrees with PA's assessment on the importance of LNG assets at Greenpoint and Holtsville.

Sane disagrees with National Grid's justification for the continued operation of the Greenpoint LNG Facility. Sane

states that National Grid's LTP did not include any discussion about why the downstate system's needs could need be met without the LNG facility. Further, Sane states that National Grid did not provide cost estimates for all of the alternatives to Greenpoint that were listed in the LTP.

Sane contends that Greenpoint does not represent a significant commodity cost-saving opportunity, and the Company has not demonstrated that Greenpoint has provided the system with the needed supply on peak days. Also, Sane states that the BCA for Greenpoint is based on faculty assumptions about the need to completely electrify a massive number of residences. Finally, Sane states that the Company should be ordered to convene a working group to consider the potential retirement of Greenpoint.

Sane also urges the Commission to issue an Order aligning National Grid's business model with 21st century climate goals. Same states that the Order should ensure that the Company adheres to our climate commitments and discourage gas growth proposals. Additionally, Sane states that the Iroquois pipeline must be retired. Sane states that Con Edison, LIPA and NYPA should collaborate to develop a decommissioning plan for KEDNY and KEDLI to avoid the chaos of a death spiral. collaboration should prioritize investments in energy efficiency programs, demand response initiatives, and proven technological solutions, such as thermal energy networks. Sane states that it is deeply concerned about the communication between DEC and DPS concerning Iroquois, when the conclusion seems misguided and imprudent, leaning on National Grid's projections of gas growth, all while seeming to keep public comment out of the decisionmaking process for their communities. Sane requests that the NYS DPS, PA Consulting, the City of New York, and other

influential Parties to this case thoughtfully consider our argument for retiring the Greenpoint facility.

CNY

The City's reply comments to National Grid's Long-Term Plan (LTP) assert their original positions with renewable natural gas (RNG) as a focal point. The concerns brought up by the City's stakeholders were the availability, economic viability, emissions potential, alignment with CLCPA goals and the counting of environmental attributed associated with RNG which is included in the plan's Clean Energy Vision. While the City wants to make the concerns of stakeholders known, they reiterate their support in the limited use of locally produced RNG derived from waste feedstocks.

The City claims National Grid did not conduct due diligence when citing such a high volume of RNG in their Clean Energy Vision scenario which include demonstrating that local sources of RNG are available, cost effective, produced and transported in a manner that reduces lifecycle GHG emissions, and that such combustion of RNG will not negatively impact New York City air quality. The city maintains its position that RNG large volumes of RNG should not be imported from outside the region or derived from non-waste feedstocks.

The City states that the specification for locally produced RNG from waste feedstocks is critical since the emissions benefit from RNG is realized through the non-emission of methane into the atmosphere. As such, the city believes that only RNG locally produced will have a meaningful benefit to the emissions in the region.

The City believes the commission should take steps to establish an in-state RNG attributes market in which they believe will facilitate the proper accounting of RNG emissions

reduction in the state. They express concern that not having an in-state RNG attribute market prevents RNG emissions benefits from being recognized in the state. Specifically, the City recommends the Commission (1) require local attribute sales and retirement of attributes to hard-to-electrify critical safety and public safety end uses; (2) encourage development of a local or statewide market for attributes; (3) acknowledge the impact of RNG on upstream emissions reductions; (4) allow RNG from local feedstocks to count towards emission reduction goals in the short-term (i.e., until 2030), in recognition of market and affordability constraints; (5) incorporate a Lifecycle Assessment methodology, as noted above, that accounts for methane abatement and the reduction of upstream emissions; and (6) post-2030, require the attributes to be sold either locally or retired to ensure that RNG can count toward emissions reductions.

#### Comments on Revised LTP

# Alliance for a Green Economy (AGREE)

AGREE asserts that the LTP understates RNG costs up to a factor of three from 2030 and beyond by excluding purchases of environmental attributes associated with anticipated RNG procurement during this period. AGREE requests the incorporation of appropriate RNG environmental attribute purchases because scenarios from this LTP claim GHG emission reductions from procured RNG and the U.S Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) tracks claims to environmental benefits from RNG production according to purchases of associated attributes. AGREE challenges National Grid's production-based approach to RNG cost from 2030 and beyond; AGREE does not

observe any evidence-based reason to expect significant changes to the environmental attribute market in the next five years.

AGREE supports NYSERDA's recommendation that National Grid incorporate health benefits from reduced fossil fuel combustion into benefit costs analyses. AGREE notes NRDC calculated that fossil fuel combustion costs each person in the U.S. roughly \$2500 per year.

AGREE supports Sane's proposal for a working group to transparently and critically assess the necessity of National Grid's Greenpoint Energy Center. AGREE notes that many stakeholders question the necessity of this facility, which serves Design Day demand, by questioning the reasonableness of National Grid's Design Day forecast for DNY, which derives from a temperature measured on 9 February 1934. AGREE also notes that the facility will cost \$364M in the next four years alone.

# Canepa, Judith K.

Canepa states that climate change poses serious risks to elderly and disabled residents living in adult care facilities across New York City. Canepa affirms that these individuals face disproportionate harm during extreme weather events; Canepa notes that these individuals often reside in outdated buildings within flood zones like the Rockaways, Coney Island, and Staten Island. Canepa cites Superstorm Sandy as a key example of systemic failure during extreme weather response wherein delayed evacuations and inadequate post-storm support left residents in dangerous and chaotic conditions. Canepa notes that little has changed in the years since.

Canepa critiques National Grid's LTP, particularly the proposal to continue replacing leak-prone pipes. Canepa asserts that this strategy prolongs dependency on fracked gas and exacerbates methane emissions. Canepa identifies methane as a

critical climate threat. Canepa notes that methane produces significantly more heat than carbon dioxide over a twenty-year span and contributes to increasingly unstable weather patterns.

Canepa challenges National Grid's suggestion to pair electrified heat pumps with gas backup as misleading. Canepa claims that modern, high-efficiency heat pumps can already perform well in cold climates and that continued investment should go toward electrification and renewable energy technologies instead of fossil fuel infrastructure.

Canepa claims that the proposals to use hydrogen and renewable natural gas are technically flawed and environmentally harmful. Canepa advocates for scaling up proven solutions such as ground- and water-source heat pumps, thermal energy networks, energy storage, efficiency improvements in buildings and appliances, and subsidies to support low-income households through the energy transition.

Canepa ultimately calls for an urgent and equitable shift away from gas infrastructure and toward a clean energy future. Canepa frames the gas system transition as not only a matter of climate responsibility but also an issue of justice for frontline communities.

#### EDF

EDF asserts that the Revised LTP incorporates some changes that represent improvement and some changes that are inadequate. EDF also contends that many elements of the Revised LTP are the same as the Initial LTP.

EDF continues to recommend that the LTP align with CLCPA targets for GHG emission reduction and New York State mandates for reduced reliance on fossil energy systems. EDF appreciates that National Grid removed hydrogen-blending from AE; however, EDF recognizes that the CEV, National Grid's

preferred pathway, still assumes systemwide hydrogen-blending and a 100 percent hydrogen network for the building sector. EDF also recognizes that CEV reduces its projection for nonresidential participation in a 100 percent hydrogen network from 20 to 11 percent; however, EDF continues to critique CEV's assumption that commercial customers participate in this network and recommends reserving hydrogen for difficult-to-electrify industrial customers. EDF mainly reiterates its comments for the Initial LTP regarding the climate, health, and safety risks of hydrogen blending. EDF additionally notes that the Revised LTP supports the safety of this blending with a non-public analysis, which the Company declined to provide upon EDF's request for copyright reasons. EDF further supports its recommendation against the Company's hydrogen-blending proposal according to this lack of disclosure and subsequent hindrance to stakeholder review of this proposal. EDF ultimately recommends that the Commission not approve any final long-term plan which includes hydrogen-blending.

EDF also reiterates its comments for the Initial LTP that urge the Company to both strengthen and enhance the flexibility of its NPA approach in anticipation of a statewide NPA framework currently under development in Case 20-G-0131. EDF nevertheless appreciates the Revised LTP's addition of a more detailed plan for developing thermal energy networks (TENs) as a positive step toward strengthening this approach and as a responsive integration of the comments provided by the City of New York for the Initial LTP. EDF still urges the Company to expand and concretize its plans for TENs by focusing on difficult-to-electrify buildings, which the City also recommends.

#### NRDC and SC

NRDC and SC disagree with the Company's heat pump switchover temperature in the Initial and Revised LTP of 30 degrees Fahrenheit (°F). Both NRDC and SC's initial comments propose that the Company adopt a 10°F switchover temperature consistent with rated specifications for all existing subsidized heat pumps in the State. NRDC and SC contend that the Massachusetts and Connecticut Heat Pump Metering Study upon which National Grid bases its defense of the 30°F switchover does not justify this temperature but rather points out reasons why this number is inflated. NRDC and SC affirm that this study maintains an average heat pump Coefficient of Performance (COP) value ranging from 1.6 and 2.3 at temperatures below 5°F. and SC also note that this study observes a lack of integrated controls to automatically manage the transition between heat pumps and backup system, which can lead to inefficient manual operation by customers. NRDC and SC notes this study's demonstration that the majority of heat pump customers who adjust internal controls chose to lower the switchover temperature to enable greater heat pump use. NRDC and SC conclude that National Grid should adopt a lower switchover temperature assumption in their modeling and that a 10F switchover temperature more accurately reflects the capabilities of modern heat pumps.

# New York State Energy Research and Development Authority (NYSERDA)

NYSERDA recommends that National Grid develop more proactive practices to identify and implement NPAs. NYSERDA appreciates the NPA reporting and stakeholder engagements stipulated by the Joint Proposal from the 2023 KEDNY and KEDLI rate cases (Case 23-G-0225 and Case 23-G-0226), and NYSERDA

expects these provisions to support its recommendations to improve National Grid's NPA processes. NYSERDA notes that National Grid has pursued implementation for only one of the 72 new connection requests which have met the Company's NPA threshold criteria to date. NYSERDA also notes that National Grid performs outreach on only five LPP segments per operating company per year for avoided replacement NPAs and that National Grid reports a low number of bids for reliability and reinforcement NPAs.

NYSERDA recommends that National Grid proactively avoid new connections and low-use heating upgrades. NYSERDA recommends that National Grid do so by leveraging the analysis conducted by the Company to estimate an upper limit on future oil-to-gas conversions and support LTP scenario modeling design. NYSERDA notes that this analysis identifies non-customer structures and evaluates their respective distances to the nearest gas main; NYSERDA subsequently suggests that National Grid could employ this analysis to identify off-system customers and target them for electrification incentives. NYSERDA correspondingly recommends that National Grid's downstate affiliates collaborate with local electric distribution companies to promote avoided new connection NPAs.

NYSERDA recommends that National Grid proactively identify and facilitate avoided replacement NPAs. NYSERDA appreciates that National Grid screens all LPP removal projects for NPA feasibility and performs NPA outreach to affected customers; nevertheless, NYSERDA qualifies these procedures as reactive. NYSERDA recognizes the Commission's present collaboration with local distribution companies to develop a comprehensive NPA framework for New York State, as well as the realities of NPA adoption barriers; however, NYSERDA affirms

that the Gas Planning Order still requires the LTP of each gas utility to identify specific LPP segments for NPA implementation. NYSERDA recommends that National Grid do so by further developing its May 2022 whitepaper with the Rocky Mountain Institute (RMI) on NPAs and using site-specific data to identify LPP segments with: high estimated replacement costs; low customer counts; reliability or hydraulic impacts; available headroom on corresponding portions of the electric system; customer loads capable of electrification; location in a disadvantaged community; and a schedule for replacement.

NYSERDA appreciates this whitepaper's prioritization of outreach for LPP NPAs with relatively longer periods of time before replacement.

NYSERDA recommends that National Grid proactively identify reliability and reinforcement NPAs. NYSERDA qualifies National Grid's current approach to screening for these NPAs as reactive, given its exclusive focus on areas already identified for near-term reinforcement needs. NYSERDA recommends a systemwide assessment to identify medium-term (10 years) reinforcement needs, as well as the methodology for doing so developed in the LTP for Central Hudson (CH). This holistic methodology forecasted high gas loading and demand growth for over 40 subsystems in the CH territory and incorporated winter loading factors for electric transmission areas, substations, and circuit feeders. CH also estimated the potential sub-system reinforcement cost based on the size, timing, and location of the upgrade to produce an expected value of reduced peak demand (\$/Ccf-year) metric. CH additionally proposed avoided capacity expansion NPA pilots from an analysis of yearly and hourly load relief requirements, estimated infrastructure upgrade costs and deferral value, and estimated load relief potential.

NYSERDA recommends that National Grid provide further characterization and justification for the assumptions framing the LTP's hydrogen-blending proposal and thereby refine the proposal's implications for technical feasibility, safety, and cost. NYSERDA claims that National Grid has not yet demonstrated the feasibility of the proposed 20 percent systemwide hydrogen-blending nor identified requisite system investments. NYSERDA recommends that National Grid provide a more substantive assessment of anticipated technical and safety issues such as elevated risks of leaks and explosions, higher pipeline maintenance and leak detection costs, recalibration and replacement of appliances and behind-the-meter piping, and increased NOx pollution. NYSERDA also notes that National Grid offers no basis for the CEV's assumption of 11 percent nonresidential customer participation in a 100 percent hydrogen network. NYSERDA notes that the LTP does not provide information about the character and location of these customers, their energy requirements, and the suitability of their end uses for hydrogen. NYSERDA notes that the geographic proximity of these customers represents an important factor in developing a network of this sort.

NYSERDA recommends that National Grid develop a framework to update its definition of design day conditions to reflect long-term extreme weather patterns. National Grid appreciates that the Revised LTP updates the Company's normal year by changing the range of weather data averaged to determine this from 1988-2013 to 2014-2023; however, NYSERDA notes that National Grid does not similarly update its methodology for determining design day conditions. NYSERDA asserts that National Grid's design day criterion is 0°F for KEDNY and KEDLI and -10°F for NMPC. NYSERDA claims that the technical chapters

of New York State's Climate Impact Assessment project a decline in the number of days below 0°F in National Grid's service territories by the 2040s. NYSERDA notes that these chapters only forecast temperatures below 0°F; however, NYSERDA assumes the decline in these temperatures to indicate a decline in even colder temperatures. NYSERDA recommends that National Grid work with the Commission and potentially other utilities to develop a framework to update its design day conditions.

NYSERDA notes that National Grid's BCA methodology does not incorporate health benefits from avoided criteria air pollutants and recommends that National Grid's BCA calculations reflect these. NYSERDA recognizes that National Grid attributes the absence of these benefits from BCA calculations in the Revised LTP to difficulty in quantifying these benefits.

NYSERDA acknowledges the complexity of this quantification but also its possibility. NYSERDA notes that the Climate Act recommends the consideration of public health benefits in energy planning decisions. NYSERDA asserts that omitting these benefits understates the benefits of LTP scenarios that reduce combustion through greater reliance on electrification.

NYSERDA recommends that National Grid provide additional information in its bill impacts analysis. NYSERDA notes that National Grid's bill impacts analysis only presents average bills. NYSERDA recommends that National Grid reflect projected bills for representative customers with particular configurations of appliances. NYSERDA suggests providing projected bills for customers that do not electrify, customers that fully electrify, customers that partially electrify, and different combinations of full or partial electrification of space heating and non-space heating loads. NYSERDA asserts that this analysis would help stakeholders understand tradeoffs

between the scenarios and identify customer types at high risk of untenable cost burdens.

NYSERDA recommends that National Grid conduct a sensitivity analysis in which costs for electrification and energy efficiency decline over time or as the number of completed projects increases, particularly for full-load ccASHP and GSHP systems. NYSERDA notes National Grid's acknowledgement that unit costs are the same for all scenarios. NYSERDA recognizes that National Grid's approach of holding costs constant (in real dollars) over time may be defensible as a baseline assumption; however, NYSERDA claims that a sensitivity analysis to reflect the inherent uncertainty of projecting future equipment costs remains warranted. NYSERDA recommends that National Grid reference the Scoping Plan's Integration Analysis to conduct this analysis.

# Onserud, Hélène Filion

Hélène Filion Onserud is a social worker who has lived and worked in downstate New York for over 30 years. Onserud observes continuous climate warning signs, such as the Canadian wildfires that affected New York City during the summer of 2023, and includes fossil fuel emissions among the causes for these unprecedented events. Onserud underscores the urgency of the climate crisis by affirming that its pace has accelerated beyond that predicted by scientists a couple of decades ago.

Onserud affirms that DPS can offer innovative and transformative leadership on the climate crisis for the rest of the country by earnestly pursuing CLCPA goals in its review of the LTP. Onersud claims that the LTP currently falls short of CLCPA goals by not curbing infrastructure expansion or prioritizing NPA investment.

Onserud hopes that DPS will direct National Grid to abandon its LTP. Onserud claims that this plan only postpones the inevitable; negatively affects a great number of people's health, particularly in areas with a history of environmental racism; and contributes to higher rates of poor health conditions for communities of color. Onsersud ultimately urges DPS and the Company to pursue healing for communities and the environment through renewable energy, thermal heat pumps and energy networks, and decreases to fossil fuel infrastructure, pollution and emissions.

#### Sane

Sane requests a redline version of changes between the Initial LTP and Revised LTP. Sane contends that National Grid did not incorporate recommendations or input provided by Parties or the public during the comment period and did not provide an explanation for their exclusion. Sane asserts that it is unacceptable to exclude the integration of stakeholders' collective input until the Final LTP. Sane urges National Grid to ensure that all voices are heard, considered, and integrated into the Final LTP. Sane emphasizes the importance of health, safety, and climate resiliency in utility planning.

# Spindelman

Spindelman comments on the Revised LTP through a fictional story-telling excerpt to address two scenarios in the year 2050. Spindelman illustrates how pursuing UTENs will provide a cleaner, healthier, and more reliable future than one in which people continue to rely on the gas system.

The fictional story on the left-side column discusses a theoretical future in which UTENs are pursued and gas is abandoned. Spindelman claims through this story, that there would be improved resilience of the energy grid against severe

weather events and that UTENs would encourage other forms of green infrastructure to take place.

The fictional story on the right-side column discusses a theoretical future in which the existing gas system continues to operate in North Brooklyn. Spindelman uses this scenario to bring up concerns about the long-term reliability of gas infrastructure, such as leaks at the Green Point Energy Facility. She also uses this narrative to bring up the resilience of gas infrastructure against severe weather events which she believes is vulnerable to catastrophic failure in an imaginative extreme hurricane scenario. Furthermore, Spindelman uses the story to discuss how rate payers will burden everincreasing costs as gas infrastructure becomes more expensive to repair or replace with fewer customers paying rates decades into the future.

Other areas of concern she brings up is the long-term feasibility of hydrogen projects citing that the energy-intensive processes to generate and use the hydrogen is unsustainable in a future with greater energy needs. Additionally, she raises issues with RNG investments in a scenario where the population of North Brooklyn declines such that there is not enough feedstock for RNG waste sites to generate enough methane.

# Thompson, Katherine Conkling

Thompson claims that the LTP falls short of CLCPA goals. Thompson cites the LTP's plans to expand the Greenpoint LNG facility as evidence of the LTP's inconsistency with the CLCPA. Thompson recommends that National Grid redirect ratepayer resources from fossil fuel infrastructure toward significant NPA investment to support a robust transition from fossil fuel dependency, as well as reduce the risk of stranded

assets. Thompson promotes full electrification as a decarbonization strategy. Thompson claims that the feasibility of this strategy depends on reducing electrical grid load through geothermal heat pumps, thermal energy networks, and energy from wind, solar, and hydro sources. Thompson emphasizes the urgency of a transition from fossil fuels by aligning the success of this transition with the survival of the human species.

# Comments submitted on PA's Preliminary Findings Report National Grid

The Company's comments focus on two key areas in the Preliminary Findings Report: PA's observations that the reliability of the gas system is essential to ensuring public health and safety, and PA's findings regarding the Company's demand forecast. The Company will subsequently file its Final Gas System Long-Term Plan ("GSLTP") addressing more fully the findings and recommendations in the Preliminary Findings Report, as well as stakeholder comments.

While the Company does not agree with all findings and conclusions in the Preliminary findings report, the Company strongly supports PA's overarching observation that the Company's primary focus must be to ensure that the appropriate investments in the gas system are made to maintain safe, reliable, and adequate service to customers who continue to rely on gas to meet their energy needs. This finding supports the need for continued investment in gas infrastructure in the coming years, and that PA acknowledges that critical reliability-related assets, such as the Greenpoint LNG Facility, are needed for the foreseeable future.

The Company notes that PA provides a high-level analysis of the Company's load forecast and includes recommendations on potential adjustments, though does not attempt to replicate the comprehensive forecast the Company produces.

The Company, by stating that PA's forecast values are within the uncertainty bands of the company's analysis and that the Company is ultimately responsible for the safe operation of gas networks, conclude that their forecast must be used to inform future investments and other long-term planning considerations.

Because the gas networks will play a critical role in serving customers' energy needs for the foreseeable future, PA concludes that it is reasonable to assume that under any set of planning assumptions, the Company will be required to continue to invest in the gas delivery system well into the future. The Preliminary Findings Report is generally supportive of National Grid's capital investment programs, including the leak prone pipe replacement and reliability projects discussed in the report.

National Grid states that the Preliminary Findings
Report also emphasizes that National Grid's LNG facilities are
essential for maintaining adequate gas supply during peak demand
periods and extreme weather events. Further, the Company notes
that the Preliminary Findings Report concludes that these onsystem assets are vital to preventing service interruptions that
could lead to prolonged gas outages, and this is additionally
noted in FERC's inquiry into the performance of the bulk power
system during Wister Storm Elliot.

National Grid states that PA's report highlights the benefits of capital investments to upgrade the existing LNG

facilities, such as the proposed Vaporizers 13/14 Project, as it is an asset given near term projections of demand from both a supply and reliability perspective. While stakeholders may disagree on the trajectory of future gas demand, and whether new supply resources are needed, PA is clear that the reliability benefits of projects like the vaporizers are not fully captured simply by evaluating high level supply-demand shortfalls on a Design Day.

According to the Company, the Preliminary Findings
Report appropriately concludes that considerations of public
health and safety demand that the Company maintain reliable gas
networks and sufficient gas supplies for the customers it has
committed to serve, which fully supports the Company's approach
to modernizing infrastructure and upgrading existing facilities
in a manner that balances the costs and reliability benefits.

The Company states that it has developed a consistent, proven, and data-driven forecasting methodology that adheres to econometric best practices to meet its obligations to customers. This process involves rigorous model selection that minimizes reliance on subject matter expert judgment. Instead, models are chosen based on their economic sensibility, their ability to pass comprehensive diagnostic tests, and their high out-of-sample prediction accuracy. The Company states that its forecast has a proven accuracy of +/-2 percent.

The Company disagrees with PA's assumptions around the forecast of long-term demand, as well as the impacts of the existing regulatory framework and future policy uncertainties. PA's proposed adjustments to the Company's forecast yield results within the Company's uncertainty bands however, thus the Company sees alignment with PA on the need for incremental supply projects to bolster gas system reliability.

National Grid notes that while PA's analysis suggests the potential for a slightly lower forecast than the Company forecast, the numbers are comparable given the Company's calculated uncertainty range. The Company states that PA's analysis is essentially a low sensitivity on the Company's forecast and shows what happens if NY has poorer economic performance than forecasted. The Company agrees that it is a possible outcome, though states that the state could also outperform expectations, so uncertainty should extend in both directions.

The Company states that it uses a quantitative, datadriven approach to model the Reference Case and associated uncertainty bands. This process is proven with a historical accuracy rate of +/- 2 percent and unbiased, with roughly equal chances of actuals coming in higher than forecast vs. lower than forecast. It captures evolving trends to account for factors such as energy efficiency, demand response, electrification of heat, saturation of off-system conversions, and relevant public policies. These forecasts are updated annually. In contrast, PA has proposed several selective adjustments to National Grid's forecast with minimal data-driven support. These adjustments fall within the uncertainty bands of the Company's existing models, but PA has not developed an alternative forecast suitable for gas planning purposes. Therefore, the Company believes it would be inappropriate and unnecessary to replace its forecasting methodology with PA's approach.

#### CNY

The City highlighted significant discrepancies between PA Consulting's and National Grid's demand forecasts, particularly regarding population growth assumptions. The City noted that PA Consulting assumes less population growth

downstate than National Grid, resulting in less gas demand in later years than the Company forecasted. However, the City's own population forecasts differ from both. Specifically, PA Consulting assumes a decline in population for New York City, whereas the New York City Department of City Planning's population projections prepared for the New York Metropolitan Transportation Council show an increase in New York City's population over the next few decades.

The City requested closer analysis to determine which population assumptions are accurate and which forecasts should be followed, given the varying results in expected shortfalls. The City emphasized that PA Consulting's Report underscores their prior request for the Commission to closely scrutinize National Grid's demand forecast.

The City supports PA Consulting's recommendation that National Grid provide additional analysis on a potential moratorium and urges National Grid to include this in the final version of the Plan to determine if the forecast for a moratorium is accurate.

The City strongly supports PA Consulting's recommendation that National Grid select a preferred pathway in its final Plan. The City noted that the fact that National Grid has not chosen a preferred pathway is inconsistent with both the point of this proceeding (i.e., planning toward decarbonizing the gas system) and Commission guidance. The Commission has made it clear in its decisions regarding other utility long-term gas plans that selecting a preferred pathway is critical to properly assessing infrastructure needs and bill impacts.

National Grid has presented three different pathways that each result in different supply-demand shortfalls, as well as drastically different bill impacts.

The City expressed concerns about the assumptions underlying the CEV pathway, noting that it has unreasonable assumptions regarding the availability of renewable natural gas and the expected usage of hydrogen. The City reiterated that renewable natural gas may only be a viable alternative to natural gas if it is produced locally and used specifically for hard-to-electrify end uses.

The City supports PA Consulting's recommendation that National Grid provide updated, accurate bill impact analyses. The City also emphasized that National Grid must identify mechanisms to proactively and significantly increase the number of customers that are eligible for low-income discount programs but are not currently enrolled.

The City recommended that National Grid address affordability issues by: (1) Providing analyses that illustrate the bill impacts to customer service classifications under multiple scenarios using varying increments of a decreased customer base and accompanying gas sales; (2) Surveying available bill mitigation and rate design tactics that have been proposed nationally to reduce the energy cost burden and effectively enroll low-income ratepayers; (3) Assessing and identifying the reasons why eligible New Yorkers are not enrolled in energy assistance programs and developing solutions to make these programs more accessible; (4) Proposing and forecasting costs of scalable programs to fund electrification of low- and moderate income 1-4 family and multifamily buildings to prevent inequitable future cost distribution; and (5) Exploring transformative rate design, corporate governance, and regulatory reform strategies to mitigate the higher costs resulting from winding down gas infrastructure over the coming decades.

# Comments on Final Long-Term Plan:

# Letter signed by 36 New York State Legislators

A letter was submitted, signed by the following members of the New York State Legislature: State Senators Julia Salazar (D. 18), Jabari Brisport (D. 25), Nathalia Fernandez (D. 34), Brad Hoylman-Sigal (D. 47), Cordell Cleare (D. 30), Kristen Gonzalez (D. 59), Robert Jackson (D. 31), Liz Krueger (D. 28), James Sanders Jr. (D. 10), Luis R. Sepúlveda (D. 32), and Jose M. Serrano (D. 29); and signed by State Assemblymembers Claire Valdez (D. 37), Khaleel Anderson (D. 31), Alex Bores (D. 73), Noah Burroughs (D. 18), Robert Carroll (D. 59), Maritza Davila (D. 53), Harvey Epstein (D. 74), Phara Souffrant Forrest (D. 57), Emily Gallagher (D. 50), Deborah Glick (D. 66), Jessica González-Rojas (D. 34), Dana Levenberg (D. 95), Zohran Mamdani (D. 36), Marcela Mitaynes (D. 51), Steven Raga (D. 30), Karines Reyes (D. 87), Linda Rosenthal (D. 67), Amanda Septimo (D. 84), Sarahana Shrestha (D. 103), Jo Anne Simon (D. 52), Tony Simone (D. 75), Michaelle Solages (D. 22), Yudelka Tapia (D. 86), Emerita Torres (D. 85), and David Weprin (D. 24).

The letter urges the Commission to: (1) reject National Grid's LTP, and launch a new proceeding that acknowledges the urgency of the climate crisis and requires the Company to address the need for gas reduction only; (2) prioritize clean alternatives such as thermal energy networks, beneficial electrification, and energy efficiency; and (3) deny National Grid's claims to prolong the life of its LNG depots in Greenpoint and Holtsville, oppose the expansion of the Iroquois Pipeline, and reject National Grid's false solutions like RNG and Hydrogen.

The letter states that PA consistently found National Grid's assertions regarding the necessity for additional gas infrastructure lack solid evidence.

The letter also states that the Order in the recent rate cases for National Grid's downstate region approved a \$5 billion expansion of fracked gas infrastructure, resulting in bill increases of \$30 per month, increasing to more than \$65 per month over the next three years. The letter states that the Commission's decision in the rate cases undermine the CLCPA and threatens our progress towards a sustainable and equitable future. The letter states, "The time is now for New York State to adopt a 21st-century perspective on energy infrastructure and policy, not to continue to promote the outdated and dangerous reliance on natural gas."

The letter states that National Grid's gas network perpetuates racist and harmful legacies of polluting Black and brown communities, contribute to the climate crisis, and cause significant health crises for many in environmental justice communities.

# Brooklyn Community Board #1 (BCB1)

BCB1 urges the PSC to reject National Grid's Final LTP. BCB1 challenges National Grid's justification for: continued operation at the Holtsville and Greenpoint LNG facilities; the expansion of the Iroquois pipeline; and the viability of hydrogen and RNG as solutions to fracked gas. BCB1 cites PA's concerns regarding National Grid's demand forecast to challenge National Grid's justification for these proposals. BCB1 also notes that the Iroquois pipeline expansion would double the compression in the nearly 40-year old pipeline in Greene and Dutchess Counties. BCB1 ultimately contends that prioritizing the maintenance and expansion of National Grid's

gas business primarily benefits National Grid's corporate shareholders at the expense of state goals and commitments to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and protect disadvantaged communities. BCB1 affirms that these proposals increase already prevalent risks to health and safety in minority, working class, and environmental justice communities; and impose unjustified and harmful additional financial burdens on BCB1's constituents through increased utility bills. BCB1 promotes alternative solutions such as thermal energy networks, beneficial electrification, and energy efficiency.

#### Caiazza, Roger

Caiazza claims that there is insufficient consideration to the challenge of the CLCPA transition to a zero-emissions energy system in the Final LTP. Caiazza states the calculation of avoided GHG emissions is incorrect.

Caiazza claims that the LTP, which Caiazza characterizes as a renewable energy plan, should not be implemented until the Commission establishes "metrics for affordability and reliability" through a hearing, pursuant to PSL Section 66-p(4). Caiazza states that such hearing should establish a definition of safe and adequate electric service. Caiazza states that there are electricity deliverability issues associated with extreme weather events that are not present with gas deliverability.

Caiazza states that weather variability risks will continue to be an issue as long as New York's electric system is dependent on wind and solar resources. Caiazza states that electric reliability calculations are questionable because they are based on the performance of conventional power plants. This calculation is questionable because it does not consider the loss of multiple power plants at the same time.

Caiazza states the Societal Cost Test (SCT) methodology overestimates the benefits of the societal impacts of GHGs. Caiazza claims that calculations of avoided emissions benefits consider reductions over some time frame, and that it is inappropriate to claim the benefits of an annual reduction of a ton of greenhouse gas over any lifetime or to compare it with lifetime avoided emissions. Caiazza claims that the correct societal benefit can be no more than the current GHG emissions times the social cost of carbon, as using cumulative values counts those values over and over.

#### EDF

EDF asserts that the Final LTP repeats many elements from the Initial and Revised LTP; however, EDF's comments for the Final LTP exclusively discuss this plan's duplication of hydrogen-blending proposals from prior LTP iterations. EDF notes that the Final CEV maintains: 1) the systemwide 20 percent volumetric hydrogen blend rate included in the Initial and Revised CEV; and 2) the 100 percent hydrogen network for 11 percent of non-residential customers included in the Revised CEV to update the 20 percent non-residential participation rate which the Initial CEV assumes for this network. EDF accordingly reiterates its comments for the Initial and Revised LTP regarding hydrogen-blending's safety, climate, and health risks.

EDF supports these concerns by citing PA's review of the LTP, which challenges both hydrogen-blending and 100 percent hydrogen networks as effective decarbonization strategies. EDF also notes PA's concerns regarding the cost of requisite infrastructure modifications for hydrogen combustion and PA's corresponding recommendation to reserve hydrogen use for difficult-to-electrify commercial and industrial end-uses. EDF alternatively prefers electrification for commercial

decarbonization and accordingly recommends that PA's Final Report for the LTP further explore the safety and climate risks of servicing commercial buildings with hydrogen gas. EDF ultimately recommends that the Commission not approve any final plan that invests in systemwide hydrogen blending, or a costly buildout of hydrogen-dedicated pipelines, given the availability of more affordable and feasible options for building decarbonization.

### The Newtown Creek Alliance

The Newtown Creek Alliance (NCA) maintains a strong stance against any investment, rate increases, or long-term planning at the Greenpoint Energy Center that fails to prioritize site cleanup and transition away from hazardous operations. The organization specifically opposes any planning that does not prioritize a cleanup of the site and a transition away from the storage of hazardous Liquified Natural Gas and processing of fracked gas. This opposition stems from their broader environmental and public health concerns regarding the facility's current operations and their impact on the surrounding community.

A significant portion of NCA's critique focuses on what they perceive as inadequate climate data analysis within the LTP. The organization expresses serious concern with the lack of temperature forecasting within the LTP that reflects current winters and predictably warming climate conditions. They argue that National Grid's reliance on outdated weather data undermines the validity of their planning assumptions.

Specifically, NCA points to problematic data usage, noting that the Company uses a 65 HDD (Heating Degree Day), which is problematic since this is an occurrence that was last experienced in 1934. The organization references testimony from

Mark D. Kleinginna in Case 23-G-0225 to support their position on climate data concerns. According to NCA's analysis, the 5-year moving average of annual heating degree days has dropped by almost 8 percent over the past 30 years, indicating a clear warming trend that should be reflected in long-term planning.

NCA challenges National Grid's use of Winter Storm Elliott as justification for maintaining and expanding Greenpoint LNG operations. They argue that one of the main arguments within the LTP for the benefit of not just maintaining, but even expanding operations at the Greenpoint LNG storage is Winter Storm Elliott. However, NCA contends that this storm was not unprecedented and that the value of Greenpoint LNG is based on failures within the gas delivery system rather than genuine necessity. The organization characterizes this approach as fear-mongering and recommends that the PSC should reject this hypothetical.

NCA raises concerns about National Grid's financial motivations regarding the Greenpoint facility. They argue that by framing the long-term necessity of Greenpoint LNG as an essential part of a transition off of fossil fuel, the company is able to utilize their 117 acre facility as a long term revenue source. The organization believes this approach allows National Grid to maintain profitability while avoiding environmental responsibilities.

Furthermore, NCA contends that by keeping Greenpoint LNG active for the foreseeable future, National Grid will not just be able to earn revenue through rate-payer funded capital investments, but also delay, defer, and potentially avoid the much needed cleanup of their state superfund designated facility. This concern reflects their broader worry that

continued operations will impede necessary environmental remediation efforts.

The organization expresses specific concern about National Grid's plans for facility expansion. NCA states they are concerned that the Company has indicated plans to again seek approval to construct Vaporizers 13 and 14. They note that this plan was outright denied by NYS DEC less than 4 years ago, and there is no clear rationale as to why NYS would consider it differently now. This opposition reflects their broader stance against any expansion of LNG operations at the site.

NCA criticizes the LTP's treatment of environmental justice concerns, particularly regarding Disadvantaged Communities. They argue that it is misleading to include a map showing Disadvantaged Communities serviced by the Greenpoint LNG within the LTP without acknowledging the actual direct impacts that local Disadvantaged Communities have been and are currently exposed to by living next to the Greenpoint Energy Center. This criticism highlights their concern that the plan emphasizes potential benefits to these communities while downplaying the ongoing environmental and health burdens they face from the facility's operations.

### CNY

The City expressed significant concerns about National Grid's selection of the CEV as its preferred pathway. The City cites the PA Consulting report which found the CEV had unreasonable assumptions regarding the availability of RNG and the expected usage of hydrogen. The City recommended that if the Company pursued the CEV as their preferred pathway, it should be revised to limit the use of these fuels.

The City was extremely concerned about affordability and in-city air quality. The City noted that RNG and hydrogen

do not reduce in-City combustion and fail to achieve the air quality benefits that electrification and thermal solutions bring to New Yorkers. The City emphasized that it was essential for the Company to take the right path forward that would minimize bill impacts, criteria pollution emissions, and public health impacts in a meaningful way.

The City also noted that there had been no explanation for why the cost of the CEV had increased so drastically, or why the cost of the AE pathway had decreased.

On balance, the City preferred the AE over the CEV, but remained concerned about the high projected costs of either pathway. The City requested additional analysis specific to the projected costs of the AE pathway to understand not only the true costs of the pathway itself, but also how these costs could be mitigated for vulnerable populations such as low-income customers or those residing in Disadvantaged Communities.

The City formally requested the Commission to: (1) reject National Grid's proposed selection of the CEV unless it could demonstrate that it could proceed without reliance on hydrogen and RNG and mitigate criteria air pollution impacts; and (2) direct National Grid to proceed with the AE option after the costs associated with that option were scrutinized and materially reduced to mitigate bill impacts, particularly for the most vulnerable customers.

National Grid's demand forecast had been a focus of concern throughout the proceeding. Concerns were raised by the City and stakeholders in response to the Company's initial Plan, and PA Consulting made significant adjustments to the forecast in its Report. Those changes resulted in different investment needs and delayed the projected supply/demand gap for several years. Despite these adjustments and concerns raised by

stakeholders, National Grid held firm to its forecast and the assumptions used to develop it in the Final LTP.

Under National Grid's forecast, a projected supply/demand gap would arise in the winter of 2028-2029, while PA Consulting did not project a supply/demand gap until at least the winter of 2030. In fact, PA Consulting projected an oversupply under both the CEV and AE pathways using certain assumptions.

The City requested that the Commission closely scrutinize both forecasts to ensure that the Commission-approved Plan reflected the needs of New York City residents.

Considering the importance of the demand forecast's role in determining capital investment and moratorium decisions, it was critical for stakeholders to have confidence in the chosen forecast.

# Senator Salazar, Julia (Senator Salazar)

Senator Salazar represents the 18<sup>th</sup> State Senate
District in North Brooklyn, home of the Greenpoint LNG facility.
Senator Salazar opposes National Grid's Final LTP. Senator
Salazar states that the LTP does not comply with the CLCPA.
Senator Salazar states that this plan does not offer relief to ratepayers' utility bills and funds infrastructure which should be deprecated in accordance with the CLCPA.

Senator Salazar proposes investing in alternatives to fossil fuels such as thermal energy networks, waste heat recycling, and energy efficiency and building electrification. Senator Salazar supports the proposed NY HEAT Act, which would "[c]ap utility bills at 6 [percent] of income," "[e]nd gas subsidies," and "[f]und clean energy upgrades for low-income households."

Senator Salazar calls for the decommissioning of the Greenpoint LNG Facility. Senator Salazar describes the Greenpoint LNG facility as dangerous and underutilized. Senator Salazar cites that PA claim that Greenpoint could be safely retired by 2034-2035 under a clean energy transition. Senator Salazar also states that PA claims that the Final LTP's demand forecasts were inflated and unsupported. Senator Salazar argues against the expansion of National Grid's gas infrastructure, including Greenpoint and the Iroquois Pipeline. Senator Salazar asserts the broader environmental injustices related to the pollution of Black and Brown communities by National Grid's gas networks.

Senator Alazar raises concerns about transparency and access in the LTP process. Senator Salazar notes that the Commission offered only virtual, and no in-person, public statement hearings. Senator Salazar states that only allowing a virtual option created difficulties and confusion regarding the registration process, and that many impacted residents were shut out as a result.

Senator Salazar ultimately calls for the PSC to reject National Grid's Final LTP, launch a new, just planning process, and prioritize a reduction in gas use while protecting affordability and uplifting disadvantaged communities.

# Spindelman

Spindelman raises several objections to the Final LTP. First, Spindelman states that PA found that National Grid did not choose a scenario among the three offered. Spindelman cites PA's statement that there are "significant path dependencies in this long-term planning, meaning an action taken today will limit the range of options available to the Company and the favorability of these options in the future."

Spindelman asserts that the company inflated its design day forecast and continued to plan for the Reference Case scenario (which Spindelman describes as "business as usual"), even though both the CEV and AE scenarios can be met without a supply shortfall. In support of this claim, Spindelman references PA Consulting's proposed adjustments which reveal discrepancies in National Grid's forecasting. For the Reference Case, PA's proposed adjustments to the Design Day forecast result in 3,101 MDth/day in 2050, compared to National Grid's forecast of 3,551 MDth/day-a difference of 14 percent lower. For the CEV scenario, PA's proposed adjustments result in Design Day demand of 1,673 MDth/day in 2050, compared to National Grid's forecast of 1,733 MDth/day-4 percent lower than the company's forecast. In addition, Spindelman states that National Grid has inflated its demand forecast by miscalculating future customer counts, again citing the PA report.

Spindelman highlights the "extraordinary amount of money" National Grid expects to spend to maintain Greenpoint. Spindelman cites Table 5-1 of the PA Report, which states that the company forecasts spending \$603 million from fiscal years 2025 to 2033 on the Greenpoint LNG Facility. Spindelman argues that this massive expenditure should end, and instead there should be "a plan to responsibly decommission the Greenpoint Energy Center, not a bill to keep lining the pockets of shareholders while funding a project whose useful life is coming to a close, as demanded by our State climate law."

Regarding hydrogen initiatives, Spindelman notes that PA Consulting discovered National Grid is "first targeting green hydrogen blending on areas of the gas system that were or will be replaced as part of the LPP program." Spindelman cites PA's observation that the HyGrid pilot includes blending hydrogen for

delivery to residential and small commercial customers who may be better suited for decarbonization through electrification, given the price premium of hydrogen when compared to heat pumps.

Regarding RNG, Spindelman criticizes National Grid's approach, noting that "in spite of the high cost and low availability forecast for Renewable Natural Gas going forward, the Company still clings to RNG, as it will enable them to maintain their gas pipe system." Spindelman states that PA Consulting takes issue with National Grid's assumptions about RNG volumes, questioning the reasonableness of assumptions that are "speculative and highly unlikely."

Spindelman also points out that National Grid has failed to present a moratorium scenario and has been disingenuous when discussing both RNG and hydrogen. Based on these comprehensive concerns, Spindelman objects to the Long-Term Plan and asks that the PSC reject it and fight for a sustainable and rapid energy transition going forward.

# Reply Comments on Final LTP

## Sane

Sane recognizes that PA's Final Report made important and necessary corrections to National Grid's assumptions but recommends deeper analysis to further strengthen PA's findings. Sane states that the Final Report validates concerns regarding demand projections, especially with respect to design day, and failure to fully consider viable non-gas alternatives. Sane also states that the report observes a feasible retirement for the Greenpoint LNG facility in 2035 along with no credible nearterm gas supply shortfall.

Sane continues to call for the Commission to reject the Final LTP and direct National Grid to: conduct rigorous

analysis into feasible gas alternatives; develop a clear timebound roadmap for the retirement of Greenpoint; engage with impacted communities overburdened by industrial pollution and environmental injustice; and align all infrastructure investments with CLCPA mandates.

# Comments on the Final LTP, the Supplement to the Final LTP, PA's Final Report, and PA's Report on the Supplement

# Letter to the Governor, Commissioner Lefton, and Chair Christian

Kim Fraczek filed a letter signed by New York State
Senator Liz Krueger (District 28, Manhattan), New York State
Assemblymember Khaleel Anderson (District 31, Queens), New York
City Comptroller Brad Lander, as well as leaders of the
organizations Sane, 350Brooklyn, Rockaway Women for Progress,
and the Natural Resources Protective Association. This letter
was directed to Governor Hochul, Department of Environmental
Conservation Commissioner Lefton, and Department of Public
Service Chair Christian.

The letter resubmits a report on NESE from the Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis (IEEFA), and states that the NESE fracked gas pipeline is "unwanted, unnecessary, and unjustifiable - posing an economic threat that New Yorkers cannot afford." The letter states that NESE's current estimated cost is \$1.25 billion, which will be pushed higher by construction overruns, and that ratepayers will be saddled with those costs. The letter states that NESE would deliver no permanent jobs to New York, and only 9 percent of temporary construction jobs would occur in-state. Further, the letter states that the majority of profits would go to Williams, a Tulsa-based company, while New Yorkers pay the tab.

The letter also states that National Grid is incorrect in its claim that NESE would lower electric bills, claiming that short-term reductions would be offset by massive costs the project would impose, which will hurt downstate families and businesses.

The letter states that there is no looming gas shortage, and that National Grid's own analysis shows there is no supply-demand gap until at least 2041. The letter states that the "crisis" NESE claims to solve is manufactured, and that it will merely lead to more profit for National Grid and shackle New Yorkers to decades of unnecessary fossil fuel costs.

The letter states that building NESE violates the CLCPA and undermines the law.

# First Street Companies, The Plumbing Foundation, the Long Island Contractors' Association, and the Suffolk County Alliance of Chambers, Inc.

First Street Companies, The Plumbing Foundation, the Long Island Contractors' Association, and The Suffolk County Alliance of Chambers, Inc. submitted substantively identical comments in support National Grid's Final LTP Supplement and the proposed NESE Project. The commenters believe the LTP addendum will be positive for Long Island by making energy more affordable and reliable.

The commenters state that the NESE project is a critical investment in New York's energy infrastructure by increasing supply, which helps address growing demand from homes, businesses, and emerging sectors like data centers, and ensures resilience in the face of future weather and supply disruptions. The commenters state that NESE is the only major infrastructure in the next fifteen years capable of addressing the region's escalating reliability risks.

The commenters state that NESE offers economic and environmental benefits. The commenters support this by citing an unspecified independent analysis, claiming that such analysis shows that New Yorkers could save up to \$6 billion in electricity costs over 15 years, nearly half of which directly benefiting Downstate residents. Additionally, the commenters state that NESE will reduce reliance on diesel-fueled truck deliveries, which will lower GHG emissions. The commenters also state that NESE aligns with the state's climate goals by reducing dependency on oil, and balances immediate energy reliability needs with long-term sustainability objectives.

### NYCP

NYCP states that National Grid's GSLTP is based on wildly inaccurate and unreasonable assumptions and assertions to support investments in and the longevity of the gas distribution infrastructure. This GSLTP is incompatible with the CLCPA's goals and with some of the key objectives of this proceeding. Company and industry practices call for caution on the part of Staff and the Commission and call for in-depth scrutiny of all of Company's claims and assertions.

National Grid's preferred pathway, the CEV is discussed as being similar to all other gas utilities' preferred decarbonization pathways as it follows a blueprint similar to one released by the American Gas Association in 2021. NYCP states this blueprint is designed to feign emissions reductions while maintaining or expanding the size of gas distribution infrastructure.

A significant and vastly undercounted amount of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from the fossil gas system are the result of downstream fugitive methane emissions from the gas distribution system. NYCP notes that the Company's CEV pathway,

which is endorsed in the GSLTP, relies on reducing gas delivered through energy efficiency, partial electrification and RNG with relatively small shrinkage in the gas distribution system. None of these reduce downstream fugitive methane emissions.

The CEV assumes GHG emissions reductions in proportion to the volume of gas delivered, which is incorrect as these emissions depend on the size of the distribution system and not the amount of gas consumed. Additionally, as gas demand declines, the carbon intensity of the remaining gas on the system continues to increase because the leakage to consumption ratio continues to increase. Therefore, the CEV will not achieve the claimed GHG emissions reductions as downstream fugitive emissions rates are underestimated, and all downstream leakage is unaccounted for.

NYCP notes that a large and growing body of research shows that methane emissions from the distribution network for natural gas and its on-site use in buildings in New York are significant and are vastly underestimated based on results from recent top-down measurements. Fugitive emissions from heating and cooking appliances and from leaks inside buildings have typically been ignored in downstream emissions estimates and are likely to be significant in New York due to aging building stock. NYCP states the average downstream emissions rate would be closer to about 2.2 percent, like other similar cities, versus the current EPA estimates and DEC's current overall emissions factor of 0.41 percent. Atmospheric remote sensing data also points to this general underestimation in areas such as Los Angeles and when comparing ages of systems in Boston and Indianapolis. NYCP states that LPP replacement only results in a very small percentage of emissions reductions. Further, NYCP states that only a significant downsizing of the distribution

network can achieve significant GHG emissions, and these emissions also boost the case for non-pipe alternatives that the GSLTP underutilizes.

NYCP states that procuring truly zero-emission hydrogen capable of displacing fossil natural gas to reduce emissions for compliance with the CLCPA is neither simple nor inexpensive. Without zero-emissions conditions, hydrogen production from grid-connected electrolyzers can be worse than fossil fuel derived hydrogen.

Zero-emission hydrogen must be reserved for hard-to-electrify industrial uses for displacing current supply of gray hydrogen in industrial and manufacturing applications, and for long duration energy storage, according to NYCP. In best case scenarios, hydrogen would displace less than 4 percent of methane gas in a distribution system for delivering the same amount of energy. Additionally, hydrogen itself acts as a greenhouse-effect enhancing agent.

NYCP notes the Company's proposals to blend hydrogen in utility gas are entirely untenable and do not pass scientific, technical, or economic muster. There are metal embrittlement and leakage risks that also increase the risk of fires and explosions in homes. 32 independent studies found hydrogen is worse than electricity for heating homes, and hydrogen demand in buildings will be close to zero in 2050 according to many of the studies.

Using clean electricity to electrolyze water to generate clean hydrogen, piping it int homes and burning it to produce heat consumes five to six times more energy than using the same clean electricity to operate heat pumps. Hydrogen would cost at least four times as much as natural gas and transporting it would be expensive as well. NYCP calls hydrogen

for domestic heating "uncompetitive." New York and Massachusetts regulators are also seemingly ready to reject roles of hydrogen to replace gas.

NYCP states that given the strength and success of the fossil fuel industry, the hydrogen proposals are poor, especially given that the Company has sufficient technical expertise and the same access to research that the rest of us do, yet continue to propose hydrogen as a solution. This calls into question the sincerity and legitimacy of this and other aspects of the GSLTP.

RNG is another fuel, according to NYCP, that overstates its GHG emissions reductions, as the RNG production process extracts vastly more methane than the same feedstock would naturally release. Significant quantities of methane are being created that wouldn't be there otherwise. The methane becomes intentionally produced from thermal gasification sources that would naturally only release minimal amounts. This is also the case for anaerobic digesters, which are then being designed to optimize methane production versus practices to minimize.

The DEC statewide GHG emissions report in 2022 amplifies these claims, and in summary, either a bulk of RNG that the gas industry claims that it can inject into the gas distribution system does not exist, or if it does, then it mostly consists of methane that wouldn't be produced otherwise, i.e., it is just as emissions intensive as fossil gas. The RNG industry and National Grid cannot claim to avoid methane emissions that do not exist in the states' GHG inventory.

Additionally, the supply chain, production and distribution of RNG is energy-intensive and is disposed to significant methane releases. Any use of energy crops for any biofuel, including RNG, would always be carbon intensive due to

significant life-cycle energy inputs required for producing these crops. Energy inputs and associated emissions for RNG production are generally well understood, but accurately assessing supply chain and process emissions for RNG production can be challenging. A growing body of research suggests that methane emissions from the supply chain and production are substantial and have been underestimated. At the median leakage rate, the carbon intensity of RNG rival that of fossil fuel gas.

None of these fairly significant methane emissions related to the supply chain and production of RNG are currently included in the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation's emissions factor associated with RNG.

Massachusetts rejected a change in their gas supply procurement policy to enable inclusion of RNG, citing cost, availability, and emissions concerns.

NYCP finds the long-term gas demand forecasts used in the GSLTP to be unrealistic from the perspective of accelerating atmospheric warming. The weather-normalization in Use Per Customer models is also inappropriate and doesn't reflect real world data. NYCP urges the Commission, through this proceeding, to help shape the gas demand trajectory that supports the state's policy objectives rather than accepting and supporting National Grid's aspirations turned into forecasts of continued high demand in the coming decades.

NYCP urges the Commission to direct Staff to work with a consultant to make major modifications to National Grid's GSLTP so that its emissions reduction trajectory is compatible with the CLCPA's targets and it follows a cost-efficient decarbonization pathway, which would involve curtailing gas infrastructure investments, strategic downsizing of the gas system, pursuing beneficial electrification and non-pipe

alternatives, and rejecting hydrogen and RNG as possible fuels for space and water heating delivered through the gas distribution network.

NYCP states that in the absence of specific and quantitative direction from the Commission for accomplishing key objectives, gas LDCs continue to submit plans that mostly serve to legitimize their aspirations of continuing to draw immense profits from investments in the gas distribution network in the coming decades. This is incompatible with the CLCPA and the objectives of the Gas Planning order, but detrimental to New Yorkers. National Grid's Final LTP and their usurpation of this proceeding to boost the NESE Project are examples of this.

An important long-term driver of rising home energy costs is the amount of infrastructure investment in the energy transmission/transportation and distribution system, according to NYCP. Many investments in electric infrastructure are due to its age, the transition towards a singular energy system in taming investment-driven increases in energy costs was cited by none other than the Commission Chair Rory Christian during his 2025 budget testimony. Moreover, heating electrification would continue to use unused system capacity during winter months for more than a decade, thus improving system utilization and spreading cost recovery over more kWhs.

The failure of the gas LDCs to produce GSLTPs compatible with the state's climate and affordability objectives has long been predicted by multiple stakeholders. LDCs continue to fail to make good faith efforts to prepare LTPs compliant with the Gas Planning Order and the CLCPA, despite ample opportunity to pivot towards a more sustainable business model.

NYCP repeats their plea that the Commission learn from the gas LDCs' inability or unwillingness to produce CLCPA-

compliant GSLTPs and modify the process to add requirements to adhere to reasonable utilities-specific GHG emissions reduction trajectories that are compatible with CLCPA's emissions reduction targets, to pursue a deep strategic downsizing of the gas distribution system as recommended in the Climate Action Council's Scoping Plan, and to exclude any use of hydrogen or differentiated methane and the use of significant volumes of RNG in the plans. Setting some basic parameters for the LTPs will not only help yield plans that broadly comply with the CLCPA and are consistent with goals of the Gas Planning Order, but will also result in a more efficient process in which Staff, LDCs, and the stakeholders aren't rehashing the same issues repeatedly in each LDC's plan.

## Vision Long Island

Vision Long Island states support for the NESE project. Vision Long Island's submitted comments that are substantively identical to those of First Street Companies, The Plumbing Foundation, the Long Island Contractors' Association, and The Suffolk County Alliance of Chambers, Inc. In addition, Vision Long Island states that over 10 thousand units of multifamily housing and commercial growth in the coming years relies on the energy provided by NESE.

### Greater Jamaica Development Corporation

The Greater Jamaica Development Corporation states that it has partnered with National Grid to communicate local development and housing growth in Southeast Queens. The commenter states that five large-scale projects were recently shared with National Grid to assist in planning. The commenter states that reliable energy service is critical to revitalization and population growth. The commenter states that National Grid's Long-Term Plan was formed and guided by

stakeholder outreach and should be approved by the Public Service Commission.

# The Partnership for New York City

The Partnership for New York City states that it is a nonprofit organization with over 330 members who including business leaders and companies. The commenter supports NESE, stating that it is a pragmatic reliability solution that complements, but does not compete with, New York's energy transition. The commenter states that NESE provides supply which adds meaningful buffer on peak days, improving reliability and reducing reliance on trucked fuels. The commenter states that it would make electricity more affordable for homes, small businesses, and energy-intensive sectors like life sciences, finance, and AI computing. The commenter states that renewables are not sufficient or consistent enough to meet peak needs, and NESE is necessary to maintain reliability during decarbonization. Last, the Partnership for New York City claims that NESE makes efficient use of existing corridors, using an existing interstate energy transportation system.

# Teamsters Joint Council 16 (JC-16)

JC-16 states that it represents 120 thousand workers in downstate New York and Puerto Rico. JC-16 supports the NESE Project, and states the NESE project is critical to strengthen the reliability of the region's energy network. JC-16 cites a New York Times article which states that the downstate region relies heavily on natural gas and that gas and electricity prices are high because of insufficient pipeline capacity. JC-16 also cites the New York State Energy Planning Board, which stated that continued investment in natural gas is necessary to assure reliability. JC-16 states that there is insufficient electricity without adequate supply of natural gas. JC-16

asserts that the NESE project aligns with the state's allencompassing approach to energy, using natural gas as a "bridge" to a clean energy future.

#### IEEFA

IEEFA asserts that downstate New Yorkers would subsidize the following for NESE: higher-than-projected construction costs, operation and maintenance costs, volatile gas throughput prices, new distribution infrastructure, and developer profits from return-on-equity (ROE) at a rate of 15.34 percent. IEEFA adjusts National Grid's estimate for NESE of \$1.06B to \$1.25B according to the rate of construction inflations. This adjustment does not include the potential impact of trade or economic disruptions such as tariffs on foreign-made materials or the inability to obtain rights-of-way, skilled labor, equipment, materials, or permits. IEEFA notes National Grid's plans to pay \$2.2B to \$2.5B to Transco over 15 years through a negotiated agreement.

IEEFA affirms that: NESE would provide no direct permanent jobs in New York; only about 9 percent of the temporary construction jobs would be sited in New York, with the remainder in New Jersey and Pennsylvania; and NESE profits would largely go out of state given that the project developer, Williams Company, is based in Tulsa, Oklahoma and locates its other major offices in Houston, Pittsburgh, and Salt Lake City. IEEFA notes that the non-pipeline approach from the Final LTP would fund local installation and maintenance of locally-sited renewable energy or local energy efficiency services.

IEEFA questions NESE's potential to reduce electricity bills by abating congestion at gas gathering points and NESE's potential to provide benefits to downstate New Yorkers that offset its costs. IEEFA asserts that only \$2.75B in savings

from lower electricity bills would flow directly downstate residents while pipeline costs inclusive of infrastructure improvements may range from \$2.16B to \$2.59B. IEEFA notes that any reductions to New York's electricity prices from lower gas system congestion may be short-lived given New York policies designed to lower natural gas demand and require emission-free electricity generation by 2040. IEEFA affirms that national gas pricing trends are more consequential than local gas system congestion for electricity prices. IEEFA also notes that the U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA) reveals a weak correlation between the prices that New York electric utilities pay for gas and the prices that industrial consumers (a proxy for wholesale prices) pay for electricity. IEEFA additionally asserts that the pipeline could raise demand and produce higher year-round expenses, even in terms of reduced investment in energy efficiency and renewable energy, which would have lower overall costs relative to a new pipeline.

IEEFA asserts that downstate New Yorkers do not face an urgent need for more gas because the 2025 forecast indicates that a supply-demand gap would not be imminent before 2041/42. IEEFA recommends strategic planning for energy efficiency and demand management to meet peak demand in downstate New York. IEEFA notes that National Grid makes no claims regarding past or imminent failure of its existing peak demand management plan and supply systems. IEEFA affirms that both increases and decreases to gas prices could lower gas demand to levels which could render NESE into a stranded asset.

IEEFA asserts that ratepayers should not bear the cost of supporting new data centers, which National Grid cites as a benefit from NESE. IEEFA claims that data centers raise economic and environmental concerns. IEEFA's research indicates

that the utility industry is planning for about 50 percent more data center demand than the tech industry is projecting.

# International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Local Union 1049 (IBEW 1049)

IBEW 1049 writes in support of NESE's timely advancement on behalf of over 4,000 members who work on Long Island. IBEW 1049 affirms that NESE would strengthen energy reliability during peak demand and extreme weather events in IBEW 1049's region for households, small businesses, and larger employers. IBEW 1049 states that NESE would stimulate job creation in construction and long-term operations. IBEW 1049 claims that unspecified independent analysis asserts that NESE would reduce energy costs by billions of dollars over the next 15 years and nearly half of these benefits will accrue to downstate residents. IBEW 1049 states that NESE would help to reduce emissions and improve air quality by lowering reliance on diesel deliveries and older, less efficient heating fuels.

#### Long Island Board of Realtors

The commenter states that the Long Island Board of Realtors represents nearly 29,000 members across Queens, Nassau, and Suffolk Counties and advocates for private property rights, housing access for consumers, and infrastructure development. The commenter states that reliable energy supply is critical to addressing housing needs, reversing youth outmigration, supporting intergenerational wealth, and enabling seniors to remain in the region. The commenter states that the Final LTP addresses environmental and economic concerns while New York works toward CLCPA goals. The commenter states that unnecessary regulations and uncertainty in energy supply should be avoided. The commenter states that the Final LTP, including the NESE

project, deserves full and favorable consideration by the Public Service Commission.

## Independent Power Producers of New York, Inc. (IPPNY)

IPPNY states it is a not-for-profit trade association representing the independent power industry in New York State. IPPNY states the NESE Project is "critically needed" to maintain downstate gas system reliability and enhance reliability of downstate electric markets. IPPNY states that NESE is the only option currently available to support gas system reliability in the western portion of its downstate service territory, which is close to several electric generation facilities in New York City. IPPNY states that FERC's reissuance of the certificate to construct and operate NESE reflects the gas system reliability needs.

IPPNY states that the LAI Report supports the claims that NESE will produce substantial electric market savings which will benefit New Yorkers. IPPNY states that the LAI Report shows NESE could save New Yorkers up to \$6 billion in electricity costs over 15 years.

IPPNY states that, until renewable and zero-emissions technologies, including dispatchable emissions-free resources, become "commercially viable solutions to fully meet customer needs," gas-powered facilities are a necessary part of the energy system.

# Long Island Association (LIA)

LIA strongly supports the Company's GSLTP and the proposed NESE project. LIA states the Final LTP and NESE should serve to further these goals by making energy on Long Island more reliable and affordable.

LIA states that Long Island needs stable, costeffective and abundant energy sources to enable businesses to

expand and create jobs. LIA states that the LTP and NESE present this opportunity and could help address growing demand for now and for future needs in the face of challenges including extreme weather and supply disruptions.

LIA states that NESE would enhance the entire downstate region's energy reliability for homes and businesses and stabilize electric generation. LIA states that NESE may be the only major infrastructure project in the next fifteen years to address reliability risks.

LIA states that NESE has environmental benefits, such as reducing reliance on diesel fueled trucks and decrease dependency on oil.

LIA urges the PSC to give full and favorable consideration to the GSLTP and advance NESE as it is a critical resource for a reliable energy future.

#### NRDC

NRDC's comments: 1) identify violations of procedural norms due to the eleventh-hour timing of the Addendum's filing; 2) detail issues in both the Addendum and the LAI Study; 3) highlight continuing issues with the Final LTP; and 4) underscore the necessity of a geospatial NPA analysis.

NRDC claims that the NESE would impose long-lived and unjustified costs at odds with New York's climate and affordability goals. NRDC claims that the Addendum's case for NESE relies on outdated forecasts and speculative claims, obscures risks to customers, misreads winter reliability lessons, and ignores statutory clean energy mandates. NRDC recommends that the Commission: 1) strike or disregard the Addendum as procedurally improper; 2) reject National Grid's request to pre-approve the prudence of entering into the NESE precedent agreement outside of an adjudicated rate proceeding;

3) direct National Grid to remedy demand-forecasting and NPA deficiencies; and 4) require National Grid to adopt and implement a geospatial analysis and robust NPA screening framework.

NRDC challenges the Addendum's claim of near-term supply need by noting that the 2025 Gas Load Forecast shows reduced demand and no constraints until the 2040s. NRDC supports PA's observation that the Addendum fails to update its scenarios from the 2024 Gas Load Forecast. NRDC supports Synapse's observation that the Addendum relies on outlier heating degree day values from late December 2017 through early January 2018, which artificially elevates forecasted demand and accelerates the appearance of supply constraints. NRDC supports Synapse's claim that the Addendum inflates projected winter gas demand by assuming a 30F switchover temperature for heat pump customers. NRDC supports Synapse's claim that the Addendum disregards CLCPA mandates to reduce emissions and electrify building heat by showing continued gas demand growth through 2050. NRDC claims that the Addendum fails to account for upstream methane leakage and relies on oil-to-gas conversions rendered implausible by New York city's Climate Mobilization Act (LL97), improving heat pump economics, and declining grid emissions.

NRDC contends that NESE's provision of interstate pipeline capacity would not address the main drivers of stress during Winter Storm Elliott (WSE), upstream freeze-offs and local distribution limits related to intra-system pressure.

NRDC notes the LAI assessment's observation that National Grid's peak-day risk management pivots around city-gate peaking measures such as compressed natural gas (CNG) rather than contracted interstate receipt points. NRDC affirms that NESE

does not diversify away from Appalachian freeze-off risk in the manner of projects that transport gas from diverse basins like Iroquois ExC. NRDC acknowledges PA's claim that National Grid would receive proportionally more gas than other utilities during system-wide curtailments since NESE ties into Transco's mainline, which sources gas beyond Marcellus; however, NRDC affirms that proportional upstream allocations are meaningless if localized distribution constraints prevent additional volumes from reaching end-users. NRDC challenges NESE as an electric-system hedge by noting that NYISO did not enter an energy emergency and was able to assist neighboring balancing authorities.

NRDC claims that the Addendum minimizes true ratepayer exposure by ignoring construction overruns, rising commodity prices due to surging LNG exports and international gas demand, and the risk of future FERC-approved rate increases. NRDC limits NESE's benefits to uncertain, winter-only wholesale electric cost reductions driven by and assumed reductions in Transco Z6-NY/TETCO M3 gas indices. NRDC underscores this uncertainty according to Synapse's claim that the LAI Assessment also relies on outdated demand projections, extreme weather-year assumptions, and unrealistic heat pump switchover temperatures. NRDC supports PA's observation that several offsetting gas-side portfolio optimizations such as reduced peaking services, capacity release, and AMA revenues are unquantified or speculative. NRDC also affirms that downstate gas customers would face higher bills to underwrite speculative statewide electric market benefits and subsidize National Grid's gas-fired generation on Long Island, which raises conflict-of-interest concerns. NRDC states that Synapse estimates annual costs and electric savings for a typical downstate gas customer to fund

NESE at \$90 and \$43, respectively. NRDC affirms that the Addendum offers no credible or lawful mechanism to resolve this allocation problem.

NRDC cites the PSC's Order for the Con Edison and Orange and Rockland LTP from Case 23-G-0147 to affirm that gas planning proceedings are not appropriate venues for detailed assessments of prudence or cost recovery to pre-approve specific proposals. NRDC also cites the Con Edison and Orange and Rockland LTP Order to affirm that adjudication for specific proposals should rather occur in rate or other proceedings, subject to stakeholder comment and the due process protections of the SAPA process.

NRDC asserts that the Addendum undermines the procedural quardrails established by the Commission to prevent selective and opaque filings and circumvents the notice-andcomment framework essential to meaningful stakeholder review. NRDC notes that the Addendum does not revise but rather supplements the Company's Final LTP scenarios and thereby contradicts National Grid's June 2 request to update its Final LTP. NRDC asserts that the Addendum's focus on near-term system reliability is relevant to the LTP but outside the scope of the Company's LTP filing. NRDC states that the Addendum selectively presents the benefits of an unpermitted supply project without integrating it into the GSLTP's demand forecasts, infrastructure investment plan, or scenario modeling. NRDC claims that the Addendum deprives stakeholders of the opportunity to transparently assess how NESE would compare with NPAs or other fossil gas infrastructure proposed by the Final LTP to solve the same alleged supply shortfall. NRDC counters National Grid's claim that striking the Addendum would deny stakeholder the opportunity to review new supply options by noting that

stakeholders cannot meaningfully assess NESE absent its integration into demand forecasts and scenario modeling.

NRDC asserts that an actionable and CLCPA-compliant long-term plan must begin with a geospatial and systemwide NPA analysis which identifies specific main segments and service areas where targeted electrification, efficiency, demand response, and other NPAs can avoid or defer pipe investments and support strategic downsizing. NRDC notes that the Synapse geospatial analysis tool whitepaper illustrates how a transparent, proactive, and map-based process can systematically identify NPA opportunities.

# New York Building Congress (NYBC)

NYBC represents more than 500 member organizations and 250,000 skilled tradespeople and professionals. NYBC writes in support of NESE as a pragmatic effort to balance immediate energy reliability needs with long-term sustainability objectives. NYBC states that there are gas network supply constraints and demand growth. NYBC asserts that NESE would save customers up to \$6B over the next 15 years and direct \$2.75B of these savings to downstate residents. NYBC contends that NESE would free up capacity on the Texas Eastern Transmission (TETCO) line that currently must be directed from Staten Island to Brooklyn and Queens. NYBC correspondingly contends that extra local supply on Staten Island would strengthen reliability for essential facilities and lower electricity for Staten Island households by shaving peak gas prices. NYBC states that NESE would generate thousands of union construction jobs, support data center build-out, and spur housing development.

CNY

The City of New York submitted comments expressing significant concerns about the proposal to authorize National Grid to proceed with the NESE Project. The City maintains its strong support for maintaining a safe and reliable gas system but raises substantial objections to both National Grid's Addendum and PA Consulting's findings on multiple grounds.

The City's primary argument centers on procedural concerns, asserting that the Long-Term Gas Planning Proceeding is not the appropriate venue for authorizing National Grid to proceed with the NESE Project. Instead, the City contends that such authorization should be considered in National Grid's next rate case, which is expected to be filed in the coming months. This position is reinforced by the City's observation that National Grid has fundamentally inverted the original intent of the proceeding, transforming it from one focused on a long-term transition away from gas system expansion to one now focused on expanding the gas system in both the near- and long-term.

Regarding the technical and analytical foundations of the proposal, the City identifies significant gaps and concerns with the demand forecast underlying the Company's justification for the NESE Project. The City notes that in the Addendum, the Company previewed potentially significant reductions in future demand in their next iteration of their demand forecast, which is not yet finalized but will be complete by the Company's next rate filing, highlighting the importance of waiting for this key piece of information. Additionally, the City challenges the unproven assertion that the NESE Project will solve the reliability issues highlighted by Winter Storm Elliot, noting that neither the Addendum nor the PA Report contains a substantive discussion on how the NESE Project would solve the

upstream infrastructure issues that arose during Winter Storm Elliot, such as freeze-ups at the compressor station.

The City raises substantial concerns about the financial impact and cost-effectiveness of the proposed project. According to National Grid, the costs of the NESE Project are forecasted to increase the average residential bill by \$7.61 and \$7.44 per month for KEDNY and KEDLI, respectively, which equates to a 3.5 percent increase per month for each company. The City characterizes this as wholly unacceptable, particularly given that the city faces an affordability crisis that threatens the ability of families and small businesses to live comfortably and healthily in New York City. Furthermore, the City criticizes National Grid for failing to conduct a benefit-cost analysis to inform whether the extraordinary cost of this project is necessary or whether it will help avoid the upstream equipment failures that occurred during Winter Storm Elliot.

From a climate policy perspective, the City argues that the NESE Project represents a material leap backwards from the City and State's climate goals, as it would construct an estimated \$1.4 billion asset, the costs of which National Grid proposes to impose on its customers over several decades. The City contends that the Addendum contravenes the stated purpose of the proceeding, the goals and commitments of the Commission, and the mandates set forth in the Climate Leadership and Community Protection Act (CLCPA). The City emphasizes that the Addendum is not a good faith effort to tackle the monumental challenge of transitioning off fossil fuels, which is necessary to protect human health and the environment.

The City notes that National Grid had previously identified solutions to reliability concerns in the Long Term Gas Plan but offers nothing now to explain why building NESE

should be a preferred alternative. Without a thorough assessment of forecast project and gas costs and resulting climate damage, including a robust analysis that considers less expensive solutions with shorter useful lives, the City states it cannot condone any action by the Commission that would directly or indirectly support the construction of such a significant gas pipeline. The City also points out that the NESE Project is not yet fully permitted, making any approval for National Grid to proceed with this project premature. The City argues that such approval would only serve to bolster the project to the benefit of its private sector developers.

In conclusion, the City argues that more analysis is needed to fully analyze the potential reliability benefits of the NESE Project, and such benefits should be weighed against the potential costs to customers and the failure to aggressively address CLCPA goals. The City requests that the Commission defer a decision until National Grid's next rate case, where these issues can be more appropriately addressed.

# New York State Laborers' Organizing Fund (NYSLOF)

NYSLOF represents over 40,000 union members and 24 local unions. NYSLOF offers support for the Addendum and NESE. NYSLOF asserts that NESE would create career-track jobs in construction, reduce energy costs for ratepayers, and assist the state in realizing CLCPA goals. NYSLOF states that natural gas provides a necessary bridge to a clean energy future by reducing dependence on oil and diesel truck deliveries. NYSLOF states that NESE would save billions in electricity costs for New Yorkers over the next 15 years.

Real Estate Board of New York

REBNY writes in support of the NESE project as they see it as a critical expansion of Transco's existing

infrastructure and makes natural gas more reliable for New York City via the safest method of energy transportation. They credit increased displacement of fuel oils by natural gas for New York City experiencing its cleanest air in over 50 years, and state the project will continue the progress NYC has made in improving its air quality.

REBNY states timing as a factor, as significant economic and population growth continues in NYC. The NY State Energy Plan cites the challenge of addressing the increased demand, and that the State acknowledges that it does not expect to meet its renewable energy goals as those projects face hurdles. Increasing the availability of gas to meet the demand allows the city to sustain and build on positive momentum and ensure growth can be managed without reliance on dirtier energy sources.

#### Sane

Sane recommends that the Commission take the following actions regarding National Grid's Final LTP. First, do not approve National Grid any expenditures for rate base placed into service based on the Company's "questionable" load forecasts.

Sane proposes that any expenditure based on the Company's forecasting may not be paid out through rate bases, specifically Sane directs this belief towards Greenpoint. Second, Sane requests the Commission to declare that the National Grid LTP is incomplete and must not be used by any regulatory body or the Company as a justification for any action; and that the docket should remain open due to insufficient analysis. Third, Sane states that the Commission should disallow any cost recovery from NESE and that there is insufficient justification for this project to receive a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity. Fourth, Sane requests that the Commission order

National Grid to identify a clear, preferred pathway to decarbonization. Last, Sane requests that the Commission issue an order requiring a binding decommissioning plan for the Greenpoint LNG facility.

Sane provides a list of its observations that they draw these recommendations from. The first observation is Sane's assessment that National Grid did not conduct its LTP in a manner consistent with industry practice. Specifically Sane argues that the Company's design day calculation utilized an exogenous design condition rather than the widely used 30- or 40-year peak day. Sane continues by pointing out that the Company's 40-year design day is about 80,000 Dt/day lower than Company's projected design day and the 30-year design day is 160,000 Dt/day lower. Sane concludes that more "standard" design day would show that the Company would not need either NESE or Greenpoint. Sane disagrees with the Company's stance that without Greenpoint the impacts of Winter Storm Elliot would have been even worse on the grounds that Greenpoint's deployment was due to a "freeze-off" in the Company's gas supply being the driver of this shortfall.

Sane does not support the Company's use of the electrification scenario in the cost-benefit analysis of the Greenpoint facility. The Company's analysis proposes that to completely electrify the total deliverable capacity of Greenpoint the Company would need to electrify 291,000 customers. Using these conditions the Company estimated the total present benefit is \$9.1 billion compared to the total present value cost of \$20.1 billion for a Societal Cost Test ratio of 0.45. Sane lists its concerns with this analysis: (1) the Company's approach to electrify 291,000 households is likely the most expensive pathway; (2) the Company's use of the 1 MMBtu

usage per household is not substantiated; and (3) the Company estimated photovoltaic costs to include \$13.6 million in electric upgrades, which according to Sane is not consistent with conversations with electric utility. Sane believes that these issues should disqualify the Company's societal cost test, and that National Grid prepare a new societal cost test for the Greenpoint LNG Facility.

Sane points out the Company doesn't include potential impacts of New York Law 8888's potential elimination of the 100-foot rule in its model. In addition, Sane states that the Company's modeling does not incorporate a moratorium scenario. While the Company proposes in its LTP that a moratorium on natural gas service could be the result of proposed gas supply and infrastructure plans failing there is no modeling of a moratorium scenario.

Sane states that NESE would not meet the criteria for National Grid to commit 400,000 Dth/d to peak load due the Company currently holding enough resources to meet design day until 2042. Sane disagrees with the Company's assessment that NESE would be a useful gas supply resources and points to the Company's estimated costs of between \$215 million and \$258 million per year, which could be more in the range of \$300 million due to inflation. Same states that National Grid included an analysis of NESE's potential benefits to NYS electric customers in the Addendum, but did not previously consider impacts to electric markets anywhere else in the LTP. Sane states that National Grid should not be able to use its natural gas ratepayers to fund a project that benefits the New York State electric market. Sane states that LAI Consulting's analysis shows a reduction of electric prices of \$35/MWh in January and \$4/MWh in February. Three issues that Sane raises

related to the Company's modeling is: (1) due to the weatherdependency of electric and gas prices, a warmer winter could
lead to no cost benefit for power generation; (2) Sane believes
it is unclear if LAI considered that on extreme days this gas
capacity would still need to serve gas-heating customers; and
(3) Sane states that it is unclear whether the cost benefits, if
they exist, would actually go to electric ratepayers, not to the
electric generators.

Sane reiterates their claim that National Grid's planning scenarios are not aligned with New York State Law.

Sane states that National Grid failed to adhere to the Order in the Company's last rate case, which Sane claims required the Company to examine and plan for retirement of the Greenpoint Facility. Sane presents requirements that it believes the Company are not in compliance with and why in a table. Sane states that: the Company's forecasts are not in compliance with proper utility practice; the Company failed to analyze costs and benefits of continued operation of Greenpoint or NPAs using the total resource cost formula; the Company did not provide examples of NPAs as alternatives to Greenpoint; the Company did not estimate the reduction in customers served if Greenpoint were removed; the Company did not model system, health, land-use, and environmental impacts of decommissioning the Greenpoint facilities; and the Company did not assess the risks evaluate the bill impacts of decommissioning Greenpoint.

SC

Sierra Club states that over the 15 months of the proceeding, the Company's goals and focus shifted. In its Initial LTP, the Company described the Climate Action Council's Scoping Plan as a roadmap for the gas transition and urged implementation. The commenter notes that in the Initial LTP the

Company emphasized "no-regrets" near term actions rather than a single planning scenario.

SC states that in the Final LTP the Company departed from this approach. The Company moved away from characterizing the Scoping Plan as the roadmap, instead selectively referencing it, and formally endorsed its Clean Energy Vision as the preferred scenario. The commenter highlights that this eliminated the prior tenet that near-term actions under Clean Energy Vision and Accelerated Electrification scenarios were the same.

The commenter explains that in the July 2025 Addendum, the Company unveiled a revised load forecast that reduced claims of near-term supply shortfall and simultaneously promoted the NESE Project. The commenter argues that the NESE Project is not the subject of this proceeding, its need is undermined by the Company's revised load forecasts, its climate benefits are overstated, and its primary economic benefits accrue to electric ratepayers rather than gas customers.

The commenter identifies the following concerns with the Final LTP and Addendum: reliance on alternative fuels, including hydrogen blending, which the commenter states is contrary to the Scoping Plan and Draft State Energy Plan; inadequate focus on NPAs and pipe repairs/re-lining to avoid costly leak-prone pipe replacement; assumptions regarding availability, cost, and emissions impacts of RNG; assumptions that understate the benefits and overstate the costs of electrification; overstated gas demand and insufficient attention to implications of reduced demand forecasts for supply portfolio plans, including NESE, Iroquois ExC, and LNG vaporizers; and lack of demonstrated need, substantiated emission benefits, or cost-effectiveness for the NESE Project.

SC states that both the Climate Action Council's final Scoping Plan and the State Energy Planning Board's Draft State Energy Plan provide guidance regarding the State's strategies for decarbonizing buildings. The commenter argues that the Company's Clean Energy Vision, which relies on hydrogen blending, RNG substitution, and continued pipe replacement, is in substantial tension with these strategies.

The commenter states that CEV relies on blending hydrogen into the gas pipeline system, reaching 20 percent by volume, with more than \$5 billion in expenditures through FY 2051. The commenter argues that hydrogen blending is not a viable or cost-effective strategy, is inconsistent with the Scoping Plan, and is expressly rejected by the Draft State Energy Plan.

The commenter explains that hydrogen blending poses safety, leakage, and efficiency concerns. Hydrogen requires substantially more electricity to provide the same heating, making it inefficient compared to direct electrification. The commenter notes that hydrogen is a potent indirect greenhouse gas.

The commenter states that the Scoping Plan envisioned only negligible hydrogen blending for buildings, limited to a residual role in Con Edison's district steam system. The commenter further states that the Draft State Energy Plan explicitly determined that blending hydrogen into the natural gas system is infeasible and not a pathway New York will pursue. The commenter concludes that the Company's LTP must be modified to eliminate hydrogen blending.

The commenter states that the Company's reliance on RNG as a primary decarbonization strategy is inconsistent with the Scoping Plan, Draft State Energy Plan, and PA Consulting's

recommendations. The commenter argues that electrification is the primary pathway identified in State planning, while RNG is reserved for limited residual use.

SC notes that the Scoping Plan envisions rapid adoption of heat pumps, systematic phase-out of fossil fuel appliances, and RNG limited to remaining de minimis pipeline gas needs. The commenter explains that onsite biogas use is preferable to biomethane injection.

Energy Plan identifies electrification as primary, with delivered fuels more cost effective than pipeline based RNG. The commenter notes that PA recommends RNG be limited to hard to electrify end uses, consistent with Commission precedent. The commenter concludes that the Company's proposed widespread RNG blending is inappropriate and should be limited to residual use after widespread electrification.

The commenter states that the Company should avoid large scale replacement of LPP and instead expand reliance on NPAs, repair, and relining. The commenter explains that full replacement will cost tens of billions of dollars and create long term obligations that burden ratepayers.

The commenter notes that the Draft State Energy Plan urges avoidance of unnecessary capital investment and that PA Consulting recommends reducing such spending. The commenter highlights that the Company owns more than 4,500 miles of LPP and that Synapse Energy Economics estimated tens of billions in replacement costs.

SC states that the Company has completed only three NPAs to date, retiring just over one-tenth of a mile of pipe, which is not sufficient given the systemwide scale of LPP. The commenter argues that repair and relining should be considered

as cost-effective interim measures, consistent with the Draft State Energy Plan.

The commenter concludes that the Commission should ensure that the Company maximizes NPAs, repairs, and relining as alternatives to full pipe replacement.

The commenter states that the Company has built its long-term gas system decarbonization strategy around procuring large amounts of RNG from outside its service territory to substitute for fossil methane. The commenter argues that the assumptions underlying this strategy are not realistic. The commenter states that it is not likely the Company will be able to obtain the quantities required at the projected price, and that emissions are greater than assumed.

SC notes that the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities recently rejected a proposal to modify gas supply procurement policy to include RNG due to concerns regarding cost, availability, and uncertain emissions status. The commenter concludes that RNG should not be treated as a primary decarbonization strategy and should be limited to hard-to-electrify uses.

The commenter states that to achieve its Clean Energy Vision, the Company would require 98.5 TBtu/year of RNG by 2050. The commenter explains that all proposed RNG projects in the Company's New York service territories would yield only 3 TBtu/year. The commenter notes that the Company assumes entitlement to 7.2 percent of all RNG available east of the Mississippi River. The commenter states that PA Consulting described this assumption as speculative and highly unlikely, and noted if possible, RNG would come at a cost premium.

The commenter states that the Company assumes it can obtain RNG at its production cost. The commenter explains that

RNG has a market for its renewable attributes, which must be purchased to claim decarbonization value. The commenter states that the Company's projected prices are significantly below current attribute values. The commenter notes that PA Consulting described the Company's price assumptions as highly speculative and likely underestimated, with low-carbon fuels expected to retain a substantial cost premium over traditional gas.

The commenter states that the climate benefit of RNG depends on capturing methane that would otherwise escape, but that in practice many production pathways result in additional methane generation and leakage which reduces or eliminates the benefit. The commenter notes that few RNG sources planned by the Company provide significant climate benefits. The commenter states that PA Consulting questioned whether the Company adequately accounted for upstream emissions and transport processes.

SC states that the Climate Action Council's final Scoping Plan identifies electrification through ASHP and GSHP and deployment of thermal energy networks as the primary pathway to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from buildings. The commenter explains that the Scoping Plan shows building energy demand shifting predominantly to electricity by 2050 and that fossil emitting appliances are phased out between 2025 and 2035.

The commenter notes that PA Consulting affirms the electrification pathway can reduce emissions while maintaining affordability if targeted and coordinated. PA Consulting encourages the Company and stakeholders to explore strategies to remove barriers and maximize electrification value.

SC argues that the Company's GSLTP downplays electrification and makes it appear less attractive relative to

fuel based strategies by using assumptions that understate its benefits and overstate its costs. The commenter states that PA Consulting highlights additional benefits of electrification, such as improved grid firmness, transport electrification, resilience, and health benefits, which are not represented in the Company's BCA.

The commenter states that the Company further increases the apparent relative cost of its Accelerated Electrification scenario by assuming similar capital spending and pipe replacement costs across all scenarios. The commenter notes that PA Consulting observed the Company only accounted for minimal avoided infrastructure spending, and that LPP replacement costs remain nearly identical between Clean Energy Vision and Accelerated Electrification scenarios. The commenter argues that this suggests the Company does not anticipate scaling NPAs to levels that would avoid substantial LPP replacement.

The commenter states that New York's electrical system remains strongly summer peaking, with excess winter capacity available to support additional electrification. The commenter references PA Consulting's finding that excess winter capacity could support electrification of hundreds of thousands of homes, and that further electrification potential can be achieved with energy efficiency, demand management, and demand response.

SC concludes that to fairly compare electrification and pipeline based decarbonization strategies the Company must use "even handed" assumptions. The commenter states that the Company's assumptions currently overstate the feasibility of alternative fuels while understating electrification benefits and that these must be corrected before concluding that the Clean Energy Vision is preferable.

The commenter states that both its own prior comments and PA Consulting's reports raised significant concerns with the Company's demand forecast. The commenter explains that in its July 2025 Addendum, the Company substantially revised the forecast downward, closer to PA Consulting's recommendations. The commenter states that while this addressed some issues, other concerns remain unresolved, such as the effect of climate change on heating degree days. The commenter further argues that the Addendum does not adequately address how reduced demand affects supply portfolio planning.

The commenter states that the Final LTP fails to account for climate change impacts on heating degree days. The commenter notes that heating degree days in New York declined significantly between 1960 and 2021. The commenter references a chart showing historical and projected heating degree day trends.

SC explains that PA Consulting observed the Company likely did not account for continued declines, resulting in overestimation of delivered gas volumes.

The commenter further argues that the Company's forecast relied on unrealistic macroeconomic and customer assumptions. The commenter notes that PA Consulting flagged issues such as population trends, electrification of space heating, local prohibitions on fossil fuel equipment in new construction, and customer forecasts that diverge from historical data. The commenter highlights that the Company assumed significant exemptions from gas restrictions and forecast rising use per customer for multifamily customers. SC noted that PA Consulting found inconsistent with recent trends. The commenter references charts showing PA's adjusted forecasts compared to the Company's Reference Case.

The commenter states that the Company's revised 2025 forecast is substantially lower than prior forecasts and closer to PA's adjusted projections. The commenter explains that the revisions were driven by lower assumed economic growth rates and changes in fuel-switching assumptions. The commenter notes that PA Consulting found the reductions largely attributable to revised use-per-customer forecasts.

The commenter states that the revised forecast is more realistic but still fails to incorporate reduced heating degree days due to climate change. The commenter explains that the Company instead cited the potential for unprecedented extreme events, but argues that reduced annual heating needs remain relevant to supply planning and rate impacts. The commenter references PA Consulting's statement that adjusting for reduced heating degree days would increase upward pressure on gas rates across all scenarios.

SC states that despite revising demand forecasts, the Company continues to strongly endorse the NESE Project, which would provide 400,000 dekatherms per day of capacity. The commenter references a chart illustrating supply demand balance with and without NESE.

The commenter explains that even without NESE, no shortfall is projected through 2050, and that the revised forecast delays any potential gap until 2041/42. The commenter argues that this undermines the Company's claims of urgent need.

The commenter states that the NESE Project represents a multibillion dollar investment that would impose significant costs on customers. The commenter notes that PA Consulting recommended the Company pursue alternatives to adding new gas customers and deploy targeted NPAs to avoid new investments.

The commenter concludes that the Addendum fails to show that NESE is necessary or cost effective given reduced demand.

SC states that on June 2, 2025, the Company requested additional time to update its Final LTP to assess the NESE Project, and on July 2, 2025, the Company filed an Addendum along with a report from Levitan & Associates assessing potential economic benefits. The commenter explains that the Addendum focuses primarily on NESE but also reveals that the Company has recently revised its demand forecast, which undermines the asserted need for the project.

The commenter states that the Addendum does not meaningfully update the Final LTP as promised. The commenter argues that the Addendum does not sufficiently address how the supply portfolio would change if NESE became operational and defers determinations about compressed natural gas to ongoing planning. The commenter also states that the Addendum does not address how long-term capacity contracts will interact with flexibility to de-contract if demand declines.

SC expresses concern that the Company is using the Addendum to make the proceeding into a referendum on NESE, despite the project not pending approval before the Commission. The commenter notes that while an unusual number of supportive comments have been filed, the Company has not meaningfully addressed how NESE fits with revised forecasts.

The commenter states that the Company presents a skewed view of NESE's benefits, including overstated greenhouse gas reductions. The commenter explains that claimed benefits are tied to oil to gas switching and references assumptions about incremental customer conversions. The commenter notes that recent legislation eliminating the subsidy for the first 100 feet of gas main and service will affect oil to gas

conversions, reducing climate benefits. The commenter further states that if conversions occur at the expense of oil to electric switching, claimed reductions could be eliminated or reversed.

The commenter argues that the Company's BCA is flawed. The commenter states that the analysis counts societal benefits to electric customers statewide while costs are borne by Downstate gas customers. The commenter notes that PA Consulting found it difficult to verify suppressed price benefits and highlighted risks that gas customers would subsidize infrastructure benefiting generators. The commenter further explains that solar capacity assumptions in the Company's analysis are conservative, which inflates the value of NESE.

The commenter states that long term NESE contracts would reduce supply flexibility and increase the risk of stranded costs if demand trends downward. The commenter notes that PA Consulting recommended caution regarding new capacity commitments and highlighted the value of defining a decontracting approach.

The commenter concludes that NESE is inconsistent with the State's broader decarbonization strategy, which seeks to reduce natural gas use. The commenter notes that the project's claimed climate benefits depend on expanding gas use, contrary to policies such as New York City's Local Law 154 and the All-Electric Buildings Act. The commenter states that the Addendum fails to explain why NESE would be required in addition to other supply side resources such as the ExC and LNG vaporizers at Greenpoint and urges the Commission to carefully review the cost implications of reduced portfolio flexibility.

The commenter agrees that existing policies inhibit cost effective building decarbonization. The commenter states

that while not all issues can be addressed by the Commission without legislative action, the Commission should advance supportive changes within its authority and endorse broader reforms where legislative action is required.

The commenter states that in its Initial LTP the Company acknowledged that the obligation to serve is a barrier to cost effective electrification and suggested eliminating or modifying it. The commenter notes that in the Final LTP the Company shifted its position, instead emphasizing customer choice. The commenter expresses disappointment in this shift, pointing out that the Company previously recognized that policy changes are needed to evolve the utility business model.

The commenter states that the obligation to serve restricts the Commission's ability to require NPAs and hampers the Company's ability to implement them. The commenter highlights that to date the Company has achieved only approximately 586 feet of pipe retirement through NPAs. The commenter argues that the Commission should help educate legislators on the value of modifying or eliminating the obligation to serve.

The commenter emphasizes that affordability is important, and that electrification should be paired with building envelope upgrades and appropriate rate designs. The commenter references analysis from Massachusetts showing that heat pump economics improve significantly under alternative rate structures, and urges further investigation in New York.

The commenter states that decommissioning parts of the gas network is essential for a low-cost transition. The commenter notes that the Draft State Energy Plan envisions utilities identifying which areas will remain part of the gas system and which may transition away.

SC supports the Commission's initiation of a "tabletop" exercise in another utility docket to identify criteria for system decommissioning. The commenter urges the Commission to extend this process to additional utilities.

The commenter agrees with the Company that coordination between gas and electric utilities is required for an orderly transition. The commenter notes that the Draft State Energy Plan sets out key components of such coordination, including data sharing, linking of analyses, mapping of assets, restructuring of planning teams, and identifying electrification zones. The commenter cites examples from Massachusetts, where the Department of Public Utilities has initiated compliance planning dockets and the Company has begun collaborating with electric utilities on transition planning. The commenter recommends that the Commission require similar coordination in New York.

The commenter expresses concern with the Company's recommendations regarding cross-utility cost coordination. The commenter explains that while the Company seeks to avoid leaving costs behind for remaining gas customers, shifting costs to electric customers creates moral hazard and slows the transition away from gas.

SC states that gas utilities have pursued major capital investments despite clear signals of declining demand. The commenter states that between 2011 and 2021 gas utilities expanded distribution systems and replaced thousands of miles of pipe at high cost. The commenter argues that utilities will make more prudent investment decisions if not assured of cost recovery through cross subsidization.

The commenter states that the Company recommends a gas utility decarbonization performance standard to reduce the

carbon intensity of delivered fuel and support procurement of RNG and hydrogen. The commenter argues that this proposal is inconsistent with the Scoping Plan and Draft State Energy Plan, which reject hydrogen in the gas system and limit RNG to residual uses. The commenter concludes that such a program would lead to costly and inefficient investments.

The commenter notes the Company's recognition that a potential Cap-and-Invest program would affect planning but disagrees with its recommendations. The commenter explains that the Company seeks to provide no-cost allowances to gas utilities to support affordability but argues that this would disproportionately burden LMI households who remain on the gas system.

The commenter states that Cap-and-Invest revenues should instead be used to facilitate electrification and pre-electrification for LMI households, consistent with recommendations in the Draft State Energy Plan. The commenter emphasizes that disadvantaged communities must have equitable access to clean energy and not bear disproportionate burdens in the transition.

SC states that gas utilities have a critical role in helping New York achieve its climate mandates cost effectively. The commenter explains that the buildings sector remains the largest contributor to emissions and that effective planning is necessary to transition away from gas.

The commenter argues that the Company's Final LTP and Addendum and they rely on hydrogen blending, RNG substitution, and pipe replacement, all of which are inconsistent with the Scoping Plan, Draft State Energy Plan, and the independent consultant recommendations. The commenter emphasizes that

electrification should be the primary pathway, supported by NPAs, repairs, and relining to reduce unnecessary investments.

The commenter concludes that the Commission should require substantial modifications to the Company's plan, reject reliance on NESE, and ensure that gas system planning is aligned with New York's statutory climate targets.

Association for a Better Long Island, Long Island Association,

Long Islanders Builders Institute, Long Island
Contractors Association, Hauppauge Industrial
Association of LI, Long Island Board of Realtors, and
Commercial Industrial Brokers Society of Long Island

Combined, the coalition of commenters (Coalition) represents thousands of businesses, large and small, hundreds of thousands of employees, and over \$25 billion in assets across Long Island. The Coalition states that investing in critical infrastructure projects will protect the region's economic viability by making energy more reliable and affordable. Following the federal government's recent changes to offshore wind policies, the Coalition states that we need to ensure access to a mix of energy sources that are reliable, affordable, and clean to meet future energy needs. The Coalitions states that this is exactly what the NESE project will provide for Long Island's 2.9 million people.

Also, the Coalition states that NESE addresses a sustained enhancement in energy reliability for ensuring stable electric generation across Long Island. Additionally, the Coalition states that NESE is the only major infrastructure project in the next fifteen years capable of meaningfully addressing the region's escalating reliability risks and securing our energy future. The Coalition asserts that NESE aligns with the state's climate goals by reducing our dependence

on oil. The Coalition states that NESE is a pragmatic step forward that balances our immediate energy reliability needs with our long-term sustainability objectives

For these reasons, the Coalition strongly supports the NESE project. The Coalition urges the NYS Public Service Commission to give full and favorable consideration to this plan and to support the timely advancement of the NESE project.

#### Assemblymember Jo Anne Simon

Assemblymember Simon stands with constituents and statewide environmental advocates in strongly opposing

National Grid's Supplement. Assemblymember Simon opposes the NESE project for the same reasons she opposed it in 2019, stating that it would endanger local communities and our climate, while further entrenching our state's dependence on fossil fuels, despite state law mandating a continued transition to cleaner energy sources.

be able to impact near-term reliability concerns.

Assemblymember Simon states that NESE would give National Grid unnecessary storage capacity as the needs for gas decrease while renewable energy and NPAs are increasing. Also, Assemblymember Simon states that National Grid's heart is in the gas pipelines, not in the NPA future of New York. Assemblymember Simon is

Further Assemblymember Simon states that NESE will not

concerned that we will be making a harmful choice if we proceed with the construction of NESE.

Assemblymember Simon states that National Grid bases its design day forecast on data that doesn't reflect the changes to our climate. Also, Assemblymember Simon states that National Grid's design day doesn't address the dynamic of electric generation. Assemblymember Simon states that climate change is

here and we will continues to see temperatures rise and unless we kick the habit of fossil dependence.

Assemblymember Simon says that the President is focused on destruction and self-enrichment, even as it harms the public's health and well-being to advance the interests of oil and gas companies steadily. Also, Assemblymember Simon says that New York should not permit NESE to get a second bite at the apple. Assemblymember Simon states that recent federal policy choices directly contradict New York's CLCPA. Further, Assemblymember Simon states that we must not go back to relying on dirty and unhealthy fracked gas, which hastens climate change, pollutes the environment, and harms the public's health.

Also, Assemblymember Simon states that cost of building a new unnecessary pipeline will be borne by the New York ratepayers. The Assemblymember states that many New Yorkers are utility-burdened (paying 6 percent or more of income on energy), have fallen behind in their payments, and/or have had service cut off. Assemblymember Simon states that the increase that this new pipeline would bring is one that we cannot shoulder. Further, the Assemblymember states that with this pipeline, ratepayers will subsidize benefits for the fossil fuel industry.

Assemblymember Simon states that this pipeline is unnecessary, citing PA's finding that building NESE results in an excess capacity risk. For these reasons, Assemblymember states that the Commission must reject National Grid's LTP and Addendum.

## Matthew Aracich, President, Building and Construction Trades Council of Nassau & Suffolk Counties (BTC)

BTC expresses staunch support for the NESE project. Further, BTC states that the NESE project will significantly

enhance the reliability of the natural gas supply across the Northeast and Long Island. Also, BTC states that the resilience that NESE will provide is crucial to ensuring consistent and affordable energy for homes, businesses, and institutions that depend on reliable service.

BTC states that NESE will be an economic engine that will generate thousands of good-paying union careers during both the construction and operational phases. Also, BTC states that NESE will provide meaningful tax revenue and support local businesses across the supply chain. Further, Mr. Aracich states that NESE will play an important complementary role as we move toward a cleaner energy future. BTC states that NESE will enable more efficient delivery of natural gas that will reduce reliance on higher emission fuels, support decarbonization of the energy system, and provide a reliable bridge to expanded and renewable energy deployment. BTC states that the Building Trades Council fully supports the NESE project.

#### Terri Alessi-Miceli, President & CEO, HIA-LI (HIA-LI)

National Grid's LTP and NESE. HIA-LI represents the Long Island Business community and is committed to ensuring the well-being, economic vitality, and environmental health of our region.

Additionally, HIA-LI states that the addendum will be positive for Long Island by making energy more reliable and affordable.

Further, HIA-LI states that NESE a critical investment in our energy infrastructure, that will help address the growing demand from residents, businesses, and emerging sectors such as high-performance data centers designed for artificial intelligence applications. Also, HIA-LI states that the added capacity will ensure resilience in the face of future challenges such as extreme weather events and supply disruptions.

Additionally, HIA-LI states that NESE offers significant economic and environmental benefits that could save New York up to \$6 billion in electricity costs over 15 years. Further, HIA-LI states that NESE aligns with the state's climate goals by reducing our dependence on oil. Further, HIA-LI states that NESE is a pragmatic step forward that balances our immediate reliability needs with our long-term sustainability objectives. Finally, HIA-LI recommends that the Commission give full and favorable consideration to National Grid's plan and support the advancement of the NESE project.

## Jonathan T. Mack, President, Energy Equipment and Infrastructure Alliance, Inc. (EEIA)

EEIA expresses its strong support for National Grid's LTP and the NESE project. EEIA represents numerous New York-based companies and workers who build, operate and maintain energy infrastructure. Further, EEIA states that the LTP will help address the growing demand from residents, businesses, and emerging sectors such as high-performance data centers designed for artificial intelligence applications

EEIA also states that the NESE offers significant economic and environmental benefits that could save New Yorkers up to \$6 billion in electricity costs. EEIA urges the Commission to give favorable consideration to National Grid's LTP and support the NESE project's advancement.

# Randy Peers, President and CEO, Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce (BCC)

BCC expresses their support for the NESE project. Further, BCC states that this critical infrastructure investment will enhance energy reliability for families, schools, and businesses. Also, BCC states that it is encouraged by the environmental and economic benefits NESE offers, stating that

reducing diesel truck deliveries will lower greenhouse gas emissions, which is especially important for vulnerable populations. Finally, BCC urges the Commission to support the NESE project for the benefit of all New Yorkers.

## Multiple members of the Laborers International Union of North America

Approximately 22 members of the Laborers International Union of North America commented, expressing their support for NESE. The commenters state that their union represents over 44,000 workers who build and maintain infrastructure for New York State. The commenters state that natural gas is the cleanest and most efficient energy source and is essential to meet growing energy needs. The commenters state that without NESE, there is a risk of energy shortfalls that force reliance on dirtier, less reliable alternatives.

### National Grid Reply Comments to PA's Report on the Supplement: National Grid

The Company states that the PA's Final Report validates the Long-Term Gas System Plan Addendum's conclusion that incremental pipeline deliveries from the Northeast Supply Enhancement (NESE) Project are the only option that can simultaneously enhance system reliability, lower commodity costs, reduce emissions, and meet critical system needs during the transition. The Company states that the Addendum, the accompanying LAI Study, Transco's May 2025 decision to reinitiate NESE, and recent developments raising concern about the energy system's ability to meet demand all confirm that NESE must be treated as a core component of the GSLTP. The Company states that PA's independent review confirmed that NESE confers substantial benefits in four focus areas within the Commission's

review: reliability, resiliency, energy affordability, and emissions reductions.

The Company states that it filed the Final LTP on March 7, 2025. The Company states that Transco announced in May 2025 that it would reinitiate NESE and committed to begin construction before year-end upon receipt of required permits. The Company states that it initially determined NESE could provide unique, significant benefits as a complement to the Iroquois Enhancement by Compression (ExC) Project, which serves the eastern portion of the service area, by enabling supply for the western portion. The Company states that it completed a comprehensive analysis and commissioned the LAI Study while Final LTP review was pending, and those analyses confirmed the initial determinations. The Company states that it proposed incorporating NESE into the Addendum and responded to questions at the July 22, 2025 Technical Conference.

The Company states that the NESE Project will improve pressure at key points on the distribution system, reduce reliance on transfers from Consolidated Edison at Newtown Creek and Lake Success, and expand firm supply for customers in the western portion of the territory. The Company states that NESE is a critical complement to the ExC Project, which serves the eastern portion of the territory, and that together both projects provide supply needed across the entire region.

The Company states that the NESE Project will reduce reliance on contingency resources, including compressed natural gas, which depends on truck deliveries during peak conditions, and costly city gate peaking services that are only available on a short-term basis. The Company states that NESE provides additional flexibility to manage load growth as gas and electric systems evolve, and flexibility to respond to disturbances and

curtailments on Design Day and during other peak winter conditions.

The Company states that the NESE Project will allow reduced reliance of most CNG sites and avoid risks and volatility associated with city gate peaking contracts. The Company states that NESE will avoid the need for enhancements such as new vaporizers at the Greenpoint LNG facility. The Company states that by improving system reliability and reducing reliance on trucked CNG and other contingency resources, NESE will reduce the likelihood that expensive emergency measures will be required. The Company states that these improvements will protect customers from abrupt cost spikes resulting from emergency fuel purchases or service interruptions.

The Company states that the NESE Project reduce emissions by eliminating hundreds of diesel truck trips required to transport compressed natural gas and by enabling thousands of oil-to-gas conversions. The Company states that NESE will reduce emissions from the power sector by lowering reliance on oil-fired generation and that it will reduce other pollutants, including nitrogen oxides and sulfur dioxide. The Company states that NESE will assist in achieving State climate objectives under the CLCPA. The Company states that the LAI Study found that the NESE Project would result in substantial net benefits by reducing wholesale natural gas and electricity prices. The Company states that the PA Report validated these conclusions and found them reasonable. The Company states that by adding firm pipeline capacity in a constrained market, NESE would put downward pressure on commodity prices, particularly during periods of high demand in summer and winter. The Company states that PA further found that excess pipeline capacity during off-peak periods could be marketed through capacity

release and that associated revenues would be returned to customers.

The Company states that the combined impacts of improved reliability, reduced reliance on contingency resources, commodity price reductions, and lower emissions confirm that NESE provides unique benefits. The Company states that, based on the Addendum, the LAI Study, and the PA Report, the NESE Project is the most prudent and effective project available to address current reliability, affordability, and emissions challenges. The Company states that the Addendum demonstrated that the NESE Project provides a unique opportunity to secure additional firm capacity that is both essential and prudent to continue meeting customer needs. The Company states that the project also provides broader benefits to the energy system. The Company states that the PA Report largely corroborates the Addendum's conclusion that the NESE Project will strengthen system reliability, lower emissions, and yield economic benefits for customers and the regional energy network.

The Company states that the PA Report concludes that the NESE Project's 400 MDth/d of firm pipeline capacity will directly address single-contingency and low-pressure risks identified in the Gas System Long-Term Plan. The Company states that the PA Report finds that NESE delivers the type of reliable and resilient supply resource the Commission has directed utilities to secure. The Company states that the PA Report finds the NESE Project will: improve gas pressure at critical points in the system to be well above minimum design levels; reduce reliance on gas transfers from Con Edison at Newtown Creek and Lake Success, which are currently required on design days but may not always be available simultaneously, thereby enhancing reliability for both systems; provide additional gas

stored within the pipeline system to serve as a buffer during supply disruptions and to allow more time to resolve issues without curtailing customers; deliver incremental capacity on newer infrastructure; reduce reliance on trucked compressed natural gas; and reduce dependence on short-term city gate peaking contracts, which face emerging risks of limited availability and price volatility, with no guarantee that sufficient peaking capacity can be secured in future years without bidding against other shippers for constrained supply.

The Company states that the PA Report finds the NESE Project will provide a reserve margin and operational flexibility, allowing the Company to better manage future demand uncertainties, including potential increases from electrification, economic development, and extreme weather. The Company states that PA confirms the NESE Project would diversify supply sources and reduce exposure to single points of failure or market volatility.

The Company states that incremental year-round pipeline capacity from NESE serves several distinct system's needs. The Company states that NESE increases supply margin by creating a buffer between expected peak demand and firm entitlements. The Company states that this buffer could otherwise be eliminated by a severe winter, an upstream curtailment, or a large new customer load. The Company states that the additional capacity from NESE restores the reserve margin to a prudent level and enables retirement of the most expensive and fragile elements of its supply portfolio, such as CNG facilities.

The Company states that incremental firm supply diversifies physical flow paths, reducing common failure risks identified by FERC and NERC. The Company states that NESE

provides a parallel path to the Rockaway Delivery Lateral, materially reducing exposure to a single point of failure. The Company states that NESE broadens the tools available to support integrated gas-electric operations. The Company states that with additional supply under contract, it will have flexibility to release or asset-manage surplus capacity, return revenues to customers, and structure such releases to regional generators on a recallable basis, thereby preserving reliability benefits.

The Company states that the PA Report confirms NESE would mitigate risks from severe weather events and upstream supply disruptions, referencing Winter Storm Elliott of 2022. The Company states that FERC, NERC, and regional entities documented risks beyond Design Day modeling during that event and concluded that additional natural gas supply would materially augment operational flexibility during severe weather. The Company states that the Winter Storm Elliott Report recommended expanding pipeline capacity, increasing storage, and enhancing interregional connectivity as essential to reliability and resilience, and that FERC and NERC urged policymakers and industry stakeholders to prioritize infrastructure investment and modernization as part of energy security.

The Company states that NERC's 2025 Reliability Risk Priorities Report similarly supports the need to expand gas infrastructure, noting that natural gas is the primary fuel for dispatchable generation in the near term. The Company states that the Northeast Power Coordinating Council study of the Northeast gas and electric system issued in January 2025 highlighted that insufficient pipeline capacity into New York has kept the region reliant on oil and constrained peaking resources, and emphasized the importance of preserving options

to sustain flexible operations as demand grows from electrification.

The Company states that PA confirmed both the NESE Project and the ExC Project are needed to mitigate reliability risks across the Company's territory. The Company states that the ExC Project is essential to reliability on eastern Long Island but cannot relieve constraints on the western portion of the system due to its location and the unidirectional nature of the high-pressure backbone in winter. The Company states that PA's review of hydraulic modeling confirmed that distribution pressures in Oueens would remain near minimum thresholds even with ExC fully commissioned and all CNG sites operating. Company states that in contrast, NESE would inject 400 MDth/d directly into the Rockaway Delivery Lateral, increasing line pack in the Lower New York Bay corridor and creating a second high-pressure path into the Brooklyn-Queens Interconnect. The Company concludes that while the ExC Project is an important enhancement, it must be complemented by NESE to provide a system-wide solution to pressure constraints and firm capacity needs.

The Company states that the NESE Project will reduce costs by avoiding contingency services, eliminating the need for new infrastructure, and lowering wholesale energy prices. The Company states that the LAI Study found that savings from the project exceed its costs, and the PA Report validated these findings. The Company states that NESE would allow retirement of three of the five existing compressed natural gas sites, avoid installation of Greenpoint LNG Vaporizers 13 and 14, and reduce reliance on city gate peaking contracts that are volatile, short-term, and increasingly difficult to secure. The Company states that NESE will lower wholesale natural gas prices

by relieving supply constraints, which in turn lowers wholesale electric prices because natural gas-fired generation sets marginal power prices.

The Company states that the LAI Study presented these findings in the provided table, quantifying annual wholesale electric savings averaging approximately \$670 million between 2028 and 2042, totaling \$6.0 billion in present value, with nearly half of the benefits accruing to Downstate customers. The Company states that avoided contingency costs and infrastructure investments, combined with wholesale price savings, demonstrate that NESE provides significant net benefits. The Company states that PA confirmed these conclusions were reasonable and consistent with market conditions. The Company states that lower energy prices will also generate broader economic benefits, including increased disposable income, reduced business costs, job creation, economic growth, and increased state and local tax revenues.

The Company states that the NESE Project advances New York's climate and energy policy goals by enabling oil-to-gas conversions, eliminating diesel-powered truck deliveries of compressed natural gas, and reducing reliance on oil-fired electric generation. The Company states that the PA Report confirmed these outcomes, including the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and co-pollutants such as nitrogen oxides and sulfur dioxide. The Company states that the NESE Project is aligned with the CLCPA requirements under Sections 7(2) and 7(3).

The Company states that the Draft 2025 State Energy Plan acknowledges the ongoing role of natural gas through 2040 and recommends continued investment in gas infrastructure to maintain safe, reliable, and resilient service during the energy

transition. The Company states that the NESE Project provides operational flexibility needed to address demand variability, electrification, and economic development, while reducing emissions and supporting environmental justice objectives by lowering local air pollution from diesel and oil use.

The Company states that the PA Report emphasizes the importance of coordinated planning that accounts for gas-electric system interdependence and the integration of non-pipeline alternatives and electrification efforts. The Company states that it agrees reliability, affordability, and compliance with the CLCPA must be treated as co-requirements rather than competing objectives.

The Company states that recent reports from NERC, NPCC, and NYISO highlight the continuing dependence of the bulk power system on natural gas. The Company states that the 2025 NERC Reliability Risk Priorities Report highlights that gas infrastructure must expand to meet the needs of dispatchable generation resources, which will remain the primary source of firm capacity over the next several years. The Company states that the NPCC and NYISO have likewise identified insufficient gas supply infrastructure as a growing risk to electric system reliability. The Company states that the NESE Project directly addresses these concerns by providing incremental capacity and operational flexibility, supporting both the gas and electric systems.

The Company states that although the June 2025 design-day forecast is lower than the prior year's forecast, this does not diminish the need for the NESE Project. The Company states that it must plan to meet its statutory obligation to provide safe and adequate service under all conditions, which requires preparing for outcomes where demand exceeds projections. The

Company states that its forecasting methodology is designed to balance risks, and actual demand could exceed forecasts due to electrification, economic development, or severe weather. The Company states that additional large commercial and industrial customer requests for service, not yet incorporated in the forecast, could further increase demand.

The Company states that the risk of stranded costs is mitigated by three factors: winter electrification load; capacity release and asset-management revenue; and retirement of costlier supplies.

The Company states that NYISO's 2025 Power Trends report projects that winter peaks will overtake summer peaks by the early 2030s. The Company states that no commercially viable dispatchable zero-emission resources or long-duration storage currently exist. The Company states that each new heat pump increases winter electric load, requiring more gas-fired generation until alternatives are developed. The Company states that NESE is the only near-term option to provide firm supply for this demand and to hedge against electrification-driven volatility.

The Company states that gas markets in New York and the region remain constrained, especially in winter, making released pipeline capacity valuable. The Company states that it has experience monetizing capacity and returning hundreds of millions of dollars in revenues to customers over the past decade. The Company states that NESE will provide additional flexibility to generate capacity release and asset-management revenues that will be credited back to customers. The Company states that NESE will allow the Company to retire city gate peaking contracts, which offsets the fixed demand charges associated with NESE volumes.

The Company states that even if demand growth slows, the NESE Project provides long-term price stability and reliability. The Company states that it offers flexibility to meet rising demand if forecasts prove low, while ensuring that excess capacity can generate revenues to reduce customer costs. The Company concludes that the risk of insufficient supply is greater than the risk of stranded costs, making the NESE Project prudent.

The Company states that concerns about inflexibility from long-term contracts are overstated. The Company states that the NESE Project can accommodate renewable natural gas and hydrogen blending as these resources mature. The Company states that nothing in the precedent agreement prevents substitution of conventional gas with low-carbon fuels.

The Company states that non-pipeline alternatives and electrification cannot yet provide the same reliability or scale as firm pipeline capacity during periods of peak demand. The Company states that the Commission has acknowledged this limitation in prior planning proceedings. The Company states that the NESE Project supports the CLCPA by enabling oil-to-gas conversions, eliminating trucked compressed natural gas deliveries, and reducing emissions from power generation by substituting natural gas for oil. The Company states that NESE provides flexibility to manage the transition while ensuring reliability.

The Company states that PA expressed concern that fixed pipeline costs could burden customers if demand falls. The Company responds that the opposite is true. The Company states that NESE reduces exposure to volatile short-term gas and oil purchases that most affect customers during winter peaks, particularly low-income customers.

The Company states that NESE avoids reliance on high-cost contingency services, including compressed natural gas trucking, city gate peaking contracts, and infrastructure upgrades such as new vaporizers at the Greenpoint LNG Facility. The Company states that with NESE in service, the Company would reduce the number of active CNG sites from five to two, eliminating hundreds of daily truck deliveries and removing the need for additional vaporizers.

The Company states that the LAI Study found that downstate customers, including disadvantaged communities, would realize nearly \$2.8 billion in wholesale electric savings because NESE enables gas-fired generation to displace oil. The Company states that these savings are broadly shared and provide targeted benefits to vulnerable communities.

The Company states that NESE lowers wholesale gas and electric prices, avoids contingency costs, and eliminates the need for capital investments, resulting in broad affordability benefits. The Company states that lower energy costs will stimulate economic growth, support jobs, and increase tax revenues.

The Company states that PA reaffirmed that non-pipeline alternatives and electrification are important but cannot replace the reliability and scale of firm pipeline supply. The Company agrees, noting that adoption rates, uncertain performance in extreme cold, and long timelines limit the effectiveness of alternatives. The Company states that NESE is the only near-term option that addresses design-day reliability requirements, controls exposure to wholesale electric price spikes, and reduces near-term emissions.

The Company states that PA observed that National Grid had not independently modeled scenarios with Marine Park and

Lake Success upgrades. The Company responds that its hydraulic studies confirm that with these upgrades in service, the system can accept the full 400 MDth/d of NESE capacity without adverse effects.

The Company states that cost estimates for on-system upgrades associated with NESE will be filed in its next Downstate New York rate case. The Company states that this will ensure transparency and allow for full Commission review.

The Company states that it has a statutory obligation to provide safe, adequate, and reliable natural gas service at just and reasonable rates. The Company states that the NESE Project is the most prudent and cost-effective option available to address pipeline constraints, reliability risks, affordability concerns, and emissions reductions. The Company states that the PA Report confirmed that the Addendum's conclusions are reasonable and that the NESE Project materially improves reliability, supports affordability, and reduces emissions.

The Company requests that the Commission issue an order confirming that incorporation of the Addendum into the Gas System Long-Term Plan complies with Commission directives, recognizing that the NESE Project materially improves reliability, affordability, and emissions outcomes compared with current supply options, and endorsing the NESE Project as a core component of the Company's Long-Term Gas System Plan.

### Comments from Public Hearings

#### April 10, 2025, 1PM

The first speaker is Amanda Rouse of Brooklyn New York. Rouse opposes dangerous chemicals being moved through New York neighborhoods, especially within marginalized communities.

In this time of climate crisis, Rouse states we have not contended with what it means for us as humans as we continue to poison the earth.

Rouse states that Governor Hochul could be making initiatives to help residents contend with what needs to be done to reduce reliance on fossil fuels. Rouse points out that pipelines fail and that incidents are a daily occurrence in the US, and the country has almost three times more pipeline mileage than the next leading country. Rouse notes there hasn't been any accountability from corporations for maintaining this status quo.

Rouse encourages people to think differently and consider ways to use less energy or different kinds of energy, and believes Governor Hochul has an opportunity to show leadership in these times to reduce fossil fuel dependence. We should look at the choices we're making towards living beings and earth systems, as they are being destroyed by the fossil fuel industry.

Rouse also suggests consideration of the construction going on with the LNG terminal in Greenpoint that has already been opposed, as it is not legal to continue the construction. Rouse asks Staff to please listen to the residents in opposition to the pipelines and consider the direction the future of the planet is heading in.

The next speaker is Jane Fasullo with Sierra Club - Long Island Group. Fasullo comments that she has gas at her house and while it is a reliable fuel, it is dangerous, especially if there are leaks. The leak that had harmed her tenant went undetected by the gas company after three house visits, so it seems to her that their servicemen are not

properly trained. Fasullo also had a gas leak outside her home for eight years as the Company would not do anything about it.

More money going into new pipelines binds us into decades of having to depend upon that fuel source because of the amount of money going into it. Fasullo also wonders if there is a plan to address possible unused pipelines in the future if we do transition to other forms of energy that do not use those pipes.

#### April 10, 2025 6PM

The first speaker is Margot Spindelman. Spindelman states that the Company has not found a pathway for everyone in downstate territory that gets ratepayers to the climate goals laid out in climate law. Instead, the proposed is a chaotic scenario that will not achieve climate goals, will skyrocket bills, and likely crash the electric grid.

Spindelman claims the Plan continues to embrace an inaccurate design day, overestimate customer growth, ignore the impact of customer legislation and customer electrification on future gas demand, and misrepresent the role that Greenpoint LNG plays in the gas network. The PSC continues allowing large infrastructure investment that falls on ratepayers. The focus on replacing gas with RNG and hydrogen and replacing LPP will need to be paid for long after gas is turned off, and promotes throwing money into the dangerous and unnecessary Greenpoint Energy Center. None of the stored LNG was used even during the cold snap at the end of last year, calling into question its purpose.

Spindelman states the PSC must reject this LTP and launch a new proceeding that will include the formation of a community advisory group focusing on planning for the rapid decommissioning of the Greenpoint Energy Center. We need to

triple down on solutions like thermal energy and geothermal installations instead, similar to how Massachusetts and California are focused.

The next speaker is Kanwaldeep Sekhon. Sekhon questions why we are still making and constructing new gas lines when we have solar and wind that is more affordable and better for the environment, and that National Grid should take this into consideration. We should be taking advantage of the nearby water for power, and not into more gas infrastructure.

### April 16, 2025, 1PM

The first speaker at this meeting was Nivo Rovedo. Rovedo resides in LaGrange, NY, and strongly opposed National Grid's LTP. Rovedo presented the LTP as an effort to expand fracked methane infrastructure that deviates from the intention of New York's climate goals and CLCPA. Rovedo asserted that the LTP would burden communities with pollution, health risks, and costs in the near and long term. Rovedo recommended that the LTP help to wean society from methane combustion for heating, cooking, and power generation and build out clean, renewable, and pollution-free energy sources. Rovedo recommended investment in thermal energy networks, energy efficiency, and electrification. Rovedo stated that investment in fossil fuel infrastructure would exacerbate affordability issues with utility bills. Rovedo claimed there were repeated findings of inflated demand forecasts in the LTP. Rovedo opposed continued operation of the Greenpoint LNG facility, citing both its location in a disadvantaged community and confirmation from a PSC consultant of possible retirement of the facility in 2035 through clean energy build out. Rovedo opposed the Iroquois ExC proposal, claiming that downstate New York did not need more

gas. Rovedo supported the New York HEAT Act as crucial legislation to cap energy bills.

The next speaker was Mary Finneran. Finneran protested the scheduling of this hearing during the most sacred weekend in the Christian tradition and a very holy time in Jewish tradition. Finneran challenged the need for the Iroquois ExC project as well as the possibility of moratorium without it. Finneran associated safety risks with increasing Iroquois throughput by referencing a supply service line explosion from 2018 in Merrimac, Massachussetts.

Finneran observed a cheaper alternative to this project: supply National Grid customers in Brooklyn and Long Island with space heaters. Finneran noted that the project would require turbine horsepower increases of 12,000 at the Athens conduction station; 12,000 at Dover; and 24,000 at Brookfield.

Finneran then asserted that these Brookfield increases have not yet been approved. Finneran affirmed that the Department of Environmental and Energy Projection in Connecticut denied the Brookfield project's request for Title 5 expansion. Finneran expressed concern that this and other potential delays to the Iroquois ExC project may culminate in the project's abandonment as with the northern access pipeline system. Finneran noted that National Grid currently has a twenty-year contract with Iroquois. Finneran challenged Rob Pearl's projection of twenty peak days during the winter.

Finneran expressed her appreciation for the PSC's work to make comments public and noted that the DEC does not. Finneran then advocated for in-person hearings, noting the coldness of looking at a computer screen.

Finneran supported Rovedo's advocacy for the New York HEAT Act. Finneran also supported the GAP Act.

The next speaker was Gabriel Recchio. Recchio identified as a campaign organizer with SC. Recchio supported Rovedo's and Finneran's comments and urged the PSC to reject National Grid's LTP. Recchio cited methane combustion for energy use in the building sector as the largest source of climate pollution in New York. Recchio recommends that the LTP grant greater prevalence to thermal energy networks, air and ground source heat pumps, and weatherization to increase energy efficiency in buildings. Recchio challenges RNG and hydrogenblending as components of a clean energy vision in terms of availability, cost, and climate benefits. Recchio commends the work of the PSC but recommends more action to align the LTP with climate law and the climate crisis. Recchio affirms the dangers of gas with regards to indoor air quality. Recchio references a citizen science report which found that 77 percent of urban residence with gas stoves in Washington D.C. had nitrogen dioxide levels over the EPA's threshold for outdoor air quality. Recchio rejects proposals to maintain the status quo for the gas system as social Darwinism.

### April 16, 2025, 6PM

The first speaker is climate justice volunteer

Catherine Du. Catherine alleges the PSC pushed back and did not want to conduct a requested in-person hearing.

Du claims the Greenpoint LNG facility is an example of expensive infrastructure that pumps toxins into the lungs of the community and actively killing us. Investment into this facility must be denied as it is wasteful, dangerous, underused and we are already transitioning away from gas. She expresses concern regarding the climate crisis, how methane exacerbates

climate change, and how the future is on the line even for as soon as 2030. Rejecting National Grid LNG is the first step forward as it just brings profits to the richest off the betrayal of our rights.

The next speaker is AJ Ruther of Alliance for a Green Economy, and they urge the rejection of the National Grid's GSLTP. He states the purpose of these proceedings is to align gas utility planning with the CLCPA, though the proposed Plan does the opposite and does not adequately prove a reduction in GHG emissions and would worsen the energy affordability crisis.

AJ states the PSC must not approve a plan that fails to address the impending climate chaos of unprecedented levels and will kill millions of people worldwide. RNG is viewed as a false solution, as National Grid as admitted that they failed to buy and retire renewable identification numbers, or RINs. They cannot claim emission benefits if they don't intend to own the RINs.

AJ believes the Company must also include the true public health costs of burning RNG in their benefit cost analysis. It harms the public and costs the public roughly \$2,500 in healthcare costs per person per year, and this harm is not considered in the analysis.

The PSC should investigate whether Greenpoint Energy Center is needed, according to AJ, as it is expensive, located in a flood plain, and PA Consulting determined it could be retired by 2034 to 2035 due to its disuse. Its unlikely to be the most cost-effective way to meet heating demand on extremely cold days. It is urged for National Grid's legacy of environmental racism to end, and for the Iroquois pipeline extension to be stopped.

AJ states that Governor Hochul and the New York State Assembly must pass the New York Heat Act now to cap utility bills and subsidies for gas expansion and fund the clean heating and cooling solutions we need for climate justice. The bill will enable National Grid to finally invest in real, proven climate solutions like heat pumps, thermal energy networks, and energy efficiency measures while protecting energy affordability, and prioritizing disadvantaged communities.

The next speaker is Monique Fitzgerald of the Long Island Progressive Coalition. She believes the GSLTP should be rejected and should stand for the people versus the corporate utility owners and shareholders. Utility bills are getting too high, and people are running out of options to pay their bills. Corporations should not be subsidized while ratepayers are struggling to pay for their services.

Due to the passage of the CLCPA, we should be getting off gas. Natural gas should also be called methane gas, as the name natural gas is a false narrative. National Grid should start decommissioning pipelines and focus on electrifying our homes, which also helps the people who are struggling the most with asthma and other health challenges due to such inaction.

The next speaker is City Council member Lincoln
Restler. He states that the climate crisis is here, and now is
the time to reduce our emissions, save our communities and save
our planet. National Grid instead proposes to expand reliance
on fossil fuels instead, which goes against recently passed city
and state legislation. Energy providers must meet the moment to
meet the ambitious mandates and the Greenpoint LNG facility does
not seem necessary. Lincoln states that any long-term plan that
does not propose working towards retiring this facility is not a
long term plan that meets the needs of our community. The plan

is responsible in that it does not put all our energy and resources into renewable energy. The PSC is urged to reject this plan and work with the Company on a proposal that meets climate commitments.

The next speaker is Jeanne Bergman with Sane Energy Project, who asks the PSC to reject the Company's GSLTP. She hopes in the future DPS will again offer in-person hearings.

Jeanne notes that the Plan itself is the result of a determined failure to plan and any emergency is that of their own making, and is a result of the PSC enabling Grid's transition procrastination. Jeanne notes the imposed moratorium in 2019, then the end of the moratorium, resulting in the preservation and growth of the Greenpoint Energy Center, which has seldomly, if ever, been needed. This information is used as evidence that the investments into Greenpoint have nothing to do with demand reliability or safety, it is purely for profits.

Grid is aware that the gas business is dying, but wants to continue business as usual according to this Plan,

Jeanne states. DPS treats it as if it just needs to be tinkered with and takes it seriously. Jeanne states it is fact that the demand for heat and hot water can be met by many gas free technologies and their adoption should have been initiated in 2019. Sane urges the PSC to reject the plan and demand a plan that shows how the Company will decommission its gas system as rapidly as possible. If it continues to delay, the PSC and governor should pull National Grid's license and transfer the gas utility to a competent utility.

The next speaker is Helene Filion Onserud, expressing concern for the young people in low-income neighborhoods.

Helene explains the National Grid is an expert in greenwashing, using the threat of safety and reliability failures to claim a

growing need of natural gas, causing ratepayers to pay for profitable, soon-to-be obsolete infrastructure.

National Grid not only creates economic and public health hardships, but also an environmental disaster with a significant increase in emissions, exacerbating the climate crisis that has already started.

Helene urges the PSC to reject the GSLTP as it violates NY's climate laws and endangers public health all to protect corporate profits, while New Yorkers are struggling to afford basic utilities. Investments should be in local, sustainable solutions such as thermal energy networks, solar, wind technologies, electrification, better storage, and greater efficiency. They are cleaner, safer and more affordable options, and create good local jobs. Additionally, Helene demands that Governor Hochul pass the heat act and that the PSC reject the GSLTP.

Next speaker is Judith Canepa from Sane Energy
Project. Judith states that National Grid's GSLTP was crafted
for one reason, to prolong dependance on fracked gas and make
money for investors. They plan to do this by increasing the
lifespan of the Greenpoint Energy Center that despite the
company's claims on how crucial these tanks are have not been
used even once this past winter, despite the frigid weather.

Judith comments that New York regulators but continue resisting climate denialism and must stay focused on moving in the right direction, which includes the rejection of the GSLTP and decide that Greenpoint is no longer needed. Other steps in the right direction include enforcement of the CLCPA, initiating a new proceeding on National Grid's LTP, reduce gas flow, respecting the voices of those in DACs. Or rejecting the

Iroquois expansion. Passing the Heat Act would also be a positive step.

The next speaker is Kim Fraczek of Sane Energy Project, who is also participating as a local resident close to the Greenpoint facility. Kim states that DPS has failed to provide basic transparency in this proceeding and it's let National Grid run unchecked.

Kim remarks that the LNG plant is counter to the intent of the Gas Planning Proceeding and the CLCPA and it instead represents business as usual wrapped in bureaucratic spin. Kim states Sane has to fundraise to hire an independent gas consultant, and is not allowed to ask PA consulting questions or see their data. Taxpayers should be able to see what the independent consult ratepayer dollars paid for, meanwhile DPS sent a letter to the DEC supporting the Company's need for more gas for the Iroquois pipeline without completing the necessary analysis. Sane was also told that their expert comments were never read that were filed in this case as intervenors.

Kim goes on to state that there were do answers received about the 2022 explosion at the Greenpoint LNG facility at Maspeth Ave. Simply fining the Company is not leadership and is disrespectful to the communities that are putting in the work.

Kim states the Greenpoint LNG facility should be retired, and a transparent, equitable, and just retirement plan should be developed. We need utility watchdogs, not corporate lapdogs.

The next speaker is Stef McGraw, testifying on behalf of Assemblymember Claire Valdez. Stef states her constituents face persistent problems of rate increases for investor-owned

utilities. The utilities are financially motivated to continually increase the reach and lifeline of the gas system not because it is needed, but because it makes investors and executives rich. There are better ways to meet heating needs, such as energy efficiency programs, electrification, and thermal energy networks. Implementing these would not only eliminate the need for Greenpoint LNG, but improve health and safety, are more affordable, and better for the climate. On behalf of her constituents, Stef urges the PSC to reject National Grid's proposal, and to order DPS to initiate a new, transparent, community engaged planning process focused on reducing gas infrastructure and transitioning to clean, healthy, affordable, renewable solutions.

Joe Leone is the next speaker who focuses his comments on the historic impacts on communities from pollution and against the Greenpoint LNG facility. Mr. Leone points out a long history of the negative environmental impact related to pollution in Greenpoint. Mr. Leone calls for the PSC to lead a decommissioning of the Greenpoint facility.

Bianca Cunnigham urges the PSC to deny National Grid's long-term plan on the grounds that New Yorkers cannot afford the continued use of fossil fuel infrastructure that burdens ratepayers with ever-growing costs. Ms. Cunnigham points to this gas infrastructure's location in disadvantaged communities as an example of environmental racism. Ms. Cunnigham calls for green jobs and housing that is safe, affordable and climate resilient.

Hennessy Garcia is a member and organizer for the No North Brooklyn Pipeline and Sane Energy Project. Ms. Garcia shows concern with the future of the climate due to the continued use of fossil fuels. Ms. Garcia believes that National Grid's

expansion of its gas infrastructure is not in compliance with our climate law and thus the Company's LTP must be denied.

Elliot Figman is a part of both the Sane Energy Project and the Jewish Climate Action Network. Mr. Figman's comments comprised of a quote from a previous Sane Energy comment filed in September. He begins by discussing the history of National Grid's relationship with the State of New York, specifically National Grid's threat regarding instituting a moratorium in 2019 and the blowback the Company received from then Governor Cuomo who threaten to revoke the Company's certificate to operate in the State. Mr. Figman then begins to discuss his concerns with the Company's demand modeling being portrayed in a way that supports continued investment into Greenpoint, Iroquois, and NESE. Mr. Figman believes that the PSC must reject the LTP to focus more on renewable energy solutions and energy efficiency measures rather than the continued investment into natural gas. Mr. Figman's last point is to call for the expedited decommissioning the Greenpoint facility. He points to PA Consulting's timeline of decommissioning the facility by 2034 or 2035 as proof that the National Grid system can function without Greenpoint despite believing that it should be decommissioned even faster.

Sarah Gronim speaks on behalf of C350 Brooklyn in calling for the PSC to reject National Grid's LTP. Ms. Gronim cites the CLCPA and Climate Action Council's scoping plan to show that National Grid is not in compliance with NYS Climate law. Ms. Gronim notes the age of gas lines of New York City and the large replacement costs for gas line becoming a growing burden on ratepayers. She believes National Grid's rehabilitation and expansion of the natural gas system is unnecessary and delays the adoption of cleaner options.

Laura Hofmann is a lifelong Greenpoint resident who was among the six original co-plaintiffs in the Riverkeeper lawsuit against the Company on Newtown Creek which included National Grid. Ms. Hofmanns comments are focused on her calling for the rejection of National Grid's long-term plan as well as calling for the continued preservation of Newtown Creek.

Piper Werle is a member of No North Brooklyn Pipeline Alliance and calls for the rejection of the National Grid LTP.

Ms. Werle believes that National Grid's business model is based on taking on all possible gas infrastructure projects to receive the return for placing it into service. Ms. Werle calls for state regulators to allow those impacted by National Grid's LTP and rate hikes input into where their utility bill goes. She notes concerns from Mark Henning in a 2023 analysis with National Grid's continued investment into the Greenpoint LNG facility despite its limited use. Ms. Werle cites a 2016 PSC report which read that utilities shouldn't cost more than six percent of annual household income when discussing the affordability issue this LTP could raise.

Laren Roper is a member of the No North Brooklyn Pipeline Alliance and a licensed environmental engineer. Ms. Roper raises her concern with the Greenpoint facility's continued operation and any detrimental harm to health and the environment. Ms. Roper cites the history of the LNG facility dating back to 1870 including as a glue factory and manufactured gas plant among a variety of other purposes as reason enough to remediate the cite. DEC classifies the site as a class two inactive hazardous waste disposal site and Ms. Roper notes all the potential pollutants associated with this classification and the harms they can cause. Citing a 2016 report Ms. Roper describes the soil down to twenty-five feet as saturated with

black liquid presumed to be from an oil spill in the 1970s. In 2022 National Grid introduced a project to prevent toxic vapor being inside their buildings, Ms. Roper cites this as further reason the site should be shut down and remediated.

Marina Tsaplina is an artist and disability culture activist as well as a resident of Greenpoint. Ms. Tsaplina begins her comments by discussing the environmental conditions around the Greenpoint facility specifically the 2016 Environmental Research publication describing the industrial pollutants found in the soil. After this discussion of the health impacts of these pollutants Ms. Tsaplina calls for the rejection of the LTP and for the New York Heat Acts passing.

Katherine Thompson is a longtime resident of Greenpoint as well as a member of Sane Energy and No North Brooklyn Pipeline Alliance. Ms. Thompson's comments focus on her opposition to the continued operation and investment in the Greenpoint facility. Specifically, Ms. Thompson is concerned with the environmental conditions of the site and the continued investment of ratepayer dollars towards an asset that could feasibly be decommissioned by 2035. Ms. Thompson calls for the PSC to reject National Grid's LTP and for a transition away from natural gas and towards the adoption of thermal energy networks.

Justine Ferretti's comments focus on her rising utility costs and the continuation of natural gas investment driving bills ever upward in her view. Ms. Ferretti calls for building electrification and the passing of the New York Heat Act.

Katerine Denby delivers comments on behalf of Senator Kristin Gonzalez who is the State Senator that represents North Brooklyn as well as parts of Queens and Manhattan. Senator Gonzalez's comments focus on her opposition to National Grid's

LTP on behalf of her constituents who are increasingly becoming vulnerable to flooding risks associated with climate change. These same constituents are already burdened by their utility bill and cannot afford further rate hikes in the Senator's view. The Senator believes that National Grid is not committed to NYS' CLCPA goals and in fact that this LTP is a step in the wrong direction. Senator Gonzalez points to National Grid's continued investment in Greenpoint and the Company's proposal to build two new vaporizers as reason to believe that National Grid is not focused on electrification. The Senator raises opposition to the Company's proposal to utilize RNG and transition from traditional gas by 2050 which she doesn't believe fits the CLCPA timeline or requirements for electrification.

Vincent Vespole is a sixty-year resident of Greenpoint who speaks in opposition to the Greenpoint facility as he believes it is a health risk for the facility to be located in the Greenpoint community and calls for renewable energy as an alternative.

Kevin Lacherra is a fourth-generation resident of Greenpoint and calls for the PSC to reject the National Grid LTP. Mr. Lacherra believes that fossil fuel infrastructure and especially the Greenpoint facility has led to long-term environmental damage in his community. Mr. Lacherra calls for the rejection of the LTP and investment into local sustainable solutions as well as returning the land the Greenpoint LNG facility stands on to the community.

Steve Chesler is a twenty-three-year resident of Greenpoint and serves as the Environmental Protection Committee Chair for the Brooklyn Tea Board number one. Mr. Chesler calls for the rejection of National Grid's LTP on the grounds that it is insufficient for combatting a warming planet. Mr. Chesler

calls for a transition to renewable sources and for the Greenpoint facility to be converted to be used safely by the community, proposing using the site for alternative energy production or as a public open space.

Willis Elkins is the Executive Director of the Newtown Creek Alliance and focuses his comments on specific issues as the Newtown Creek Alliance submitted comments to the PSC prior to this meeting. Mr. Elkins begins by focusing on the environmental conditions at the LNG facility, particularly the two federal superfund sites connected to the facility in Newtown Creek and the Meeker Avenue flume. Mr. Elkins believes that while this site is still being operated as an LNG facility there is no way to properly remediate the site. He continues by noting the potential cost of remediation being a financial incentive for National Grid to continue operations at the site to avoid a cleanup. In Mr. Elkins view there is no way to understand the scope of the environmental damage caused to Newtown Creek while the facility is in operation. Mr. Elkins final point regarding the Greenpoint facility is calling for the rejection of continued capital investment into the future. Mr. Elkins calls for reform in the LTP process to allow community members with full time jobs to properly participate.

Jane Pool stated they are not an expert and have come before the PSC in the past to fight the trans gas power plant. Pool stated they think it's the PSC responsibility to look at issues through various lenses, including environmental impacts. The commenter further stated that other countries believe there is a climate crisis, and that the world is not appreciating the way we are handing things environmentally. They continued to discuss fracking in Ohio and water quality changes. Pool further stated that they saved a newspaper from Ohio which described

earthquake activity and local drinking water alerts for surrounding townships. Pool stated that in the town where their family lives in Ohio they do not recycle or drink the local water but buy bottled water.

Gabriel Recchio stated that they are the electrification campaign organizer with Sierre Club in NY and noted that it is not only the climate crisis that Sierra Club is opposed to but also Grid's LTP. Recchio stated that the level of policy inaction is almost a gaslighting level from the State after passing the boldest piece of climate legislation in 2019. They note that we are not on track to meet climate goals. When Grid originally started putting forth a clean energy vision and then when challenged to provide details the outcome was not as anticipated. The commenter stated that the climate crisis is simple and requires decarbonizing the building sector. They urge the PSC to reject the Grid LTP and say that we can do better.

Mary Finneran: The stakeholder stated that the Green Point LNG facility needs to close and that it was not used this winter. They also state that the Grid LTP should be rejected. They further state that the ExC is not needed and that expansion by compression is not needed. They note that the pipeline is dangerous and state that after the original building of the pipeline it received the second biggest fine in EPA history in the 90's. They cite an explosion in Massachusetts which resulted in private property damage. They further state that there are compressor stations within 2,000ft of a school, and elaborate by stating the increase in horsepower will lead to explosions. They also state that the natural gas anticipated to come through ExC will be from the TransCanada pipeline and this creates worry about potential tariffs.

Dan Wiley from Congresswoman Valasquez's office stated that they are the Director for Congresswoman Valasquez and stated that in 2020 she stood in North Brooklyn amongst others to provide statements on pipeline infrastructure. They read the statement from 2020, which entailed mention of decreasing reliance on fossil fuels. They further state that they strongly urge Grid to be proactive and implement clean energy alternatives. They cite community offshore wind as an example for Grid to pursue. They also state that there should not be expansion of the Green Point LNG facility. They state that funding gas infrastructure means more rate hikes. They state that Grid needs to prioritize clean up of Green Point. urge all governmental level to support transformational investment into green energy. They also urge the PSC to initiate a new transparent planning process focusing on reducing gas reliance.

Margot Gregory identified themselves as a resident of Brooklyn and a member of the No North Brooklyn Pipeline Alliance. They state that the PSC must say no to expand fossil fuel consumption in NYS. They state that the PSC must stop the UK owned company, National Grid. They then continue to discuss cancer and water contamination associated with climate change. They state their demand to stop fracking gas in NYS.

Clifton Smith: They identify themselves as one of the facilitators of the North Pole Pipeline. They state that there is need to pass the New York Heat Act. They note fires in LA and also bus fires happening followed by the claim that pollutants pay.

Miguel Fesqueda identified themselves as a resident of North Brooklyn. They recanted a story of being notified by Greenpoint residents of the smell of natural gas. They continue

to state that people have reached out for their opinion to switch to electric appliances. They note that discussing funding for a fossil fuel company is useless and further state that investment could be put into clean energy.

Gloria Baksh stated they want the Grid LTP to be rejected. They state that gas is as bad as coal and petroleum because they increase greenhouse gases. They state that they were helped by the PSC in the past to upgrade electricity when requested in writing. They state that they are here tonight to request for investment in the community. They state that the soil is being contaminated and that there are holes being drilled to let out gas from the ground nearby their residence.

George Colval: They identify themselves as the Executive Director of Polar Energy and stated that there is no need for ExC. They stated that if Grid were to be held accountable for the undone efficiency programs, then there would be no discussion needed. They continue by stating that the PSC has not held Grid accountable. They state that the Grid LTP should be rejected.

"No One" did not like the LTP and did not want it to be passed.

Ralph Rahman identified themselves as a college student from CSI. They state they don't care about this nonsense. They state that they work with a network of student government and that they should be making calls but sometimes they forget. They also state that they must work for themselves and that they can withstand the fact that this is not being fixed for now.

Ms. Sanders stated they wanted to add that they support this fight because ultimately it is for us and that we are killing our own kind by not being mindful.

Mr. Kreisel identified themselves as a Brooklyn resident and state that Sane Energy has done a good job of discussing environmental data. They recited a story about a lighthouse.

Caroline Abel: They state that they want to fight fossil fuel companies that are poisoning water and air and making generations of citizens sick.

## April 17, 2025, 1PM

Ken Schles expressed strong opposition to National Grid's long-term gas assessment. He stated that National Grid's long-term assessment is not credible and that extending the life of gas infrastructure is not a viable response to long-term energy needs or climate goals, adding only to the utility affordability crisis in the short term. Schles mentioned his gas bill was just shy of \$500 despite energy-efficient upgrades to his home. Ken voices specific concerns with the implementation of Hydrogen into the system alongside a call for the Greenpoint LNG facility to be retired by 2035. He urged the Commission to reject National Grid's long-term gas proposal and focus on sustainable solutions like thermal energy networks, energy efficiency, and electrification for cleaner, healthier, more affordable energy solutions.

Mary Finneran reiterated concerns about the lack of need for the Iroquois ExC project, pointing to Greenpoint's gas usage during a strong winter as evidence that the gas was not needed despite the harsh conditions. She questioned whether the PSC would reconsider the project before permits from Connecticut are in place and before construction commences, urging them to stop the project if no need is demonstrated. She concluded her comments by singing a song asking, "Which side are you on, folks?" and pleading with the PSC to listen.

Roger Caiazza expressed concerns about the Climate Act's mandates and raised several technical issues with the plan. Specifically, he noted that the plan does not acknowledge the safety valves in Public Service Law section 66-P.4, which allows the Commission to temporarily suspend or modify Climate Act obligations if they impede safe and adequate service or cause significant increases in arrears or service disconnections. He also provided technical comments on what he considered an incorrect method used for calculating the societal cost of avoided greenhouse gas emissions, stating that the plan inappropriately calculates societal benefits based on avoided emissions over a time frame rather than using the proper social cost of carbon calculation.

Bill Nowak encouraged the Commission to push for both KEDLI and KEDNY to devote more resources to electrification rather than maintaining the gas system and using renewable natural gas and hydrogen to reduce climate impacts. He cited gas projection studies from March 17, 2023, showing that under a high electrification scenario, KEDLI would save \$6.3 billion compared to a medium electrification scenario. Nowak argued against hydrogen as a solution, referencing a report called "Debunking the Hydrogen Hype: Why Europe Should Pursue Electrification Instead of Hydrogen for Cooking and Heating" by Michael Scholand from April 2024. He noted that hydrogen energy is less dense than methane, requiring more supply for the same heat output, and that hydrogen can catch fire 13 times more easily than methane, making any home leaks more dangerous.

Diana Abadie, who lives in Athens, New York, highlighted concerns about carcinogens including various VOCs such as formaldehyde and benzene, and noted that particulate matter 2.5 is a grade one carcinogen. Living within two miles

of the Iroquois compressor station, she expressed concerns about the New York State DEC's approval of air facility permits for the Iroquois pipeline and the need for comprehensive health assessments. She emphasized the importance of affordable energy and urged that the Governor and lawmakers pass the HEAT Act to cap utility bills and end subsidies for expansion, noting that New York is at a critical crossroads regarding its primary energy source for the next 20 to 50 years.

Micheal Davis stated that he was not going to thank the commission for the opportunity to give testimony via the remote Webex platform, as these hearings should be in person with the commissioners present. He believes the public's right to be heard regarding National Grid's long term fracked gas plan supersedes the Department of Public Service's (DPS) desire to ignore the public and deal in secret with lawyers. Davis claims he has witnessed massive corruption in New York State in his 69 years and considers the DPS' consideration of National Grid's plan as perpetrating unthinkable economic injustice and human suffering well into the future. He accused the DPS of treating the public like children, while asserting concerns over the acceleration of global warming. He stated that the long-term plan will keep the public dependent on National Grid's fracked methane well into the 2080s, noting that while National Grid has included some renewable elements, hydrogen and biogas are not real solutions. He urged that the long-term gas plan must be killed because it ignores the CLCPA (Climate Leadership and Community Protection Act). He also advocated for the passage of the New York HEAT Act and the rapid development of wind, solar, geothermal, and thermal energy networks.

## April 17, 2025, 6PM

Commissioner Maggiore called into the hearing. ALJ Belsito named the seven registered speakers: Arrie Hammel, Gabriel Recchio, Miguel Peschiera, Catherine Du, Mary Finneran, Maggie Lee, and Marina Tspalina. ALJ Belsito then learned that none of them had joined the call. ALJ Belsito directed to keep the line open for another twenty minutes. Lee and Finneran eventually joined.

Lee located her residence in proximity to a National Grid plant in Brooklyn. Lee opposed National Grid expanding gas infrastructure according to community health and safety risks and state climate goals. Lee affirms that they suffer from health effects from growing up in the area. Lee notes that they receive gas bills over \$250 in the winter-time despite lowering the heat at night and drawing heavy curtains over their windows.

Finneran stated that she called on behalf of Tsaplina to notify the hearing that Tsaplina couldn't call in. Finneran stated that she did not plan on making a statement. ALJ Belsito provided Finneran with a phone number to share with Tsaplina for assistance with technical difficulties.

ALJ Belsito offered George Coffin the opportunity to speak upon their entrance to the call but they declined.

Tsaplina eventually joined and identified as an artist, disability culture activist, and Greenpoint resident. Tsaplina recited a self-written prayer poem called Into that Ruptured Place. This poem calls upon each person to enter a liminal space between flesh and earth that traces the alienation of the human individual from the earth; this poem envisions the alienation of each who enters this space turning upon itself to recover strength from the trauma of the amnesic imperialism

which wrought this alienation and to redirect each toward a bygone harmony with the earth.

A community-led stakeholder group must be created to plan to retire Greenpoint LNG, Rachel comments. The Company's gas network perpetuates a racist legacy of polluting black and brown communities and contributes to the climate crisis, in conflict goals to reduce GHGs.